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¢ GLOBAL DISTRIBUTION NETWORK

Main-brands/Sub-brands/
Countries and Regions Product Lines 31 Mar 2025 31 Mar 2024 | Y-o-Y Changes
ElR R it&E Emhg BImhe EmiR 2025%3H31H | 202453831H ¥EEE

Lukfook 7548 74 +6

3DG Jewellery & E & 63 +36
Mainland China' = 57 Py ! Goldstyle 1 0
Lukfook Joalllerie 71218 GalER 3 +4

Heirloom Fortune %2 % 2< -3

Sub-total /v&t +43

Hong Kong SAR, China? Lukfook 7<1& +1
AR B BT B 2 3DG Jewellery £ =& +3

Sub-total /\&t

+
H

Self-

operated - Lukfook 754& +1
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= Lukfook Joalllerie 7~4& 15 BB +1
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I
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N Lukfook 7545

Australia B AR +3
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iz e Lukfook Joaillerie 7 1848 S1ER

0
0
Sub-total /\&

Total 485t +53

Lukfook 7518 -329

3DG Jewellery £ £ & 150 -18

Mainland Pt Goldstyle 55 -29
Lukfook Joaillerie 7~ 421 fa B 24 +6

Heirloom Fortune f&m @5 +17

Sub-total /&t

CSIEECE S Cambodia BB 3 B

Shops i Ainae SE/EEE
Bk The Philippines JE2 & F
Laos £ 58 Lukfook 7512 -
Australia 8 .
+2

Thailand

ailand Z=E 3DG Jewelery &€ E & -

2

Sub-total /\&
Total4d &
Mainland P93t Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY

+!

Speciality

Shops Sub-total /%
=1 Total #8%
Worldwide Total k4%
Lukfook 754@ Sub-total /\5t 2,805 3,117 -312
3DG Jewellery & E & Sub-total /]\gt 239 218 +21
e onLbranda roduct Lines Sub-total /)&t 243 248 5
. Mainland P9t Sub-total /\5t 3,179 3,490 -311
By Region H K M 40
BHE g%g\ ﬁ?gg’&fgﬁu SICESOEeas Sub-total /)\&t 108 93 +15

Remarks ¥ :

T Mainland China: Hereafter refers to as "Mainland" FREIPIt : EE7E A PAytt)

2 Hong Kong SAR, China: Hereafter refers to as "Hong Kong" FEIEBIFFIITHE : TRIEAIEH
3 Macau SAR, China: Hereafter refers to as "Macau" FHEIEFIFRIITEE : E%&TBADRF



¢ GLOBAL DISTRIBUTION NETWORK
2P AR

“LUKFOOK” & SUB-BRANDS (INCLUDED “3DG | 7N HEIGMME (i€ EE))
JEWELLERY”) DISTRIBUTION NETWORK IN MAINLAND ﬁqiﬂz AR AR

As at 31 March 2025
2025938 31H

30.2%

Northern China Tier |
It& -

|

W G china W Te

W Souther China W Ten

W G China A

W Vs china
Total No. of Licensees & h& #4281 809(-50)
Total No. of Provinces & 42 8¢ 27(0)
Total No. of Municipalities B £ 42 % 4(0)
Total No. of Cities 3 48 555(-78)

Self-operated Licensed/
Shops Speciality Shops Total
BEE an R I )
iﬁ}, tier of cities No. of Shops No. of Shops No. of Shops
861(- 981(-

Tier | —?7? 120(+16)
Tier II =48 34(+15) 555(—42) 589(-27) 24(0)
Tier Il =4 13(-2) 477(-62) 490(-64) 56(-1)
Tier IV & below POz 5 LA 26(+14) 1,093(-179) 1,119(-165) 4B4(-77)

Total 485t 193(+43) 2,986(-354) 3,179(-311) 559(-78)

Licensed/

Speciality

Self-operated Shops
Shops unﬂﬂf"/ Total Provmces Munlclpalltles
BEE B L HESd

No. of No. of
By regions No. of Shops No. of Shops No. of Shops Provinces Mumcnpalntnes No. of C|t|es
& [ESHEF E#HEF HHF| HEDHEF
7(0)

Northern China ZJ5& 84(+23) 875(-73) 959(-50) 2(0) 185(-

Eastern China ZHE 49(+9) 472(-53) 521(-44) 4(0) 10) 111(- )
Southern China 2/ & 12(+3) 851(-86) 863(-83) 4(0) 0(0) 88(-2)
Central China ZHE 48(+8) 576(-128) 624(-120) 6(0) 10) 137( 37)
Western China %75 & 0(0) 212(-14) 212(-14) 0(0) 4(0)
T T I 7 T ) I

Remarks #* :
e The percentages refer to the contribution to the total no. of shops in Mainland B 43 EL R 5% /& &8 8 B 5 a5 S48 8 > {5 LE
e Figures in brackets refer to the 12-month changes 1&ESERNMI# T A+ B8 Z &1t



¢ OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
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REVENUE AND PROFIT ANALYSIS | WA R@FI o4

Revenue and Segment Profit by Market
58 5B A B 5 88 i A

Adjusted

Adjusted Segmem

60.5% Segment Segmem Profit
(65.5%) Profit

65.3%
(54.8%)

Margin
Revenue o
29.5% HKSM BEETT WA i A=

ECE I Hong Kong, Macau & 8,068
Overseas

34.7%
(45.2%)

&% B RES
Rovenue  oment Yoo-¥ Changes [N 1% +1.8pp. +78%  +42pp.
WA SERER BEE {EEpaEs (E[Epars
o apds Nacou & Oversezs I Matigand 5273 577 11.0% 89  157%
ainlan m
e H N Al % A% T4pp 78K 83pp
BEE EEpE EERE
Qverall 13,341 1,666 12.5% 2,159 16.2%
2
Yeo-Y Changes -12.9% -226%  -15pp. -36%  +16pp.
BEE BE2% (EERES

Revenue and Segment Profit by Business

BEBE DA KRS EF

Adjusted

Adjusted | Segment

Segment |  Segment Profit

6.8% 37.6% Profit Proﬁt‘ Margin
67%) (33.5%) Segment Margin | %

Revenue Profit Ak

HKSM BB 5T WA | pmen | wAE

82.7% Retailing 11,031
(83.2%)

0.8%
(8.6%)

10.5%
(10.1%)

F
<8

Y-0-Y Changes -13.5% -17.7%  -05pp. +84%  +2.6p.p.

o Seamen iz 13 EENE EENY
ST U \\/holesaling 1406 14 1.0% 115 8.2%
;eggailing . H:té;t
Wholesalin Y-o-Y Changes -8.8% R4%  -11.1pp. -457%  -55pp.
e | [ | BEE EERx EEpas]
Licensing Adjusted Wholesaling 3,489 14 0.4% 115 8.2%
e N ACEREH %

Yeo-Y Changes -17.9% 924%  -40p.p. -45.7%  -55p.p.
BEEL EEpaEs (EEpaEs

Licensing 904 626 69.2% 626 69.2%
MIEER

Y-o- VOhanges -12.6% -181%  -04p.p. -131%  -03pp.

BEE EE (EERE

%ve;all 13,341 1,666 12.5% 2,159 16.2%
EEE

Y-o-¥ Changes -12.9% -226%  -15pp. -36%  +1.6p.p.

BEE EFEp (EEpE

Remarks: Figures for the year ended 31 March 2024 are shown in brackets

5t ERAREE202453A31H LFEZ LLB#HT

! Adjusted Segment Profit refers to segment profit excluding gold hedging losses or gains
AR RH D B aN ZEMFE I T E R m D 8P EF)

2 Adjusted Wholesaling Revenue = Revenue of Wholesaling Business to External Parties + Inter-Segment Wholesaling Revenue
BRI B = BIIMEEERUA + DB EUA



¢ OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
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REVENUE AND PROFIT ANALYSIS (continved) | WA R @A DT @

Sales' and Gross Profit? by Product
RERISHEE REN

Gross
L Sales Profit Gross Margin
HK$M A& A TT i & EF EF=

Gold & Platinum 8,822 2,325 26.4%
= NIAE
38.0% Y-0-Y Changes -15.0%  +16.2% +7.1 p.p. EE D2
(41.6%) 20.4% FZFEL

Sl ixed Ry 3615 1424 SR

EEE
Y-0-Y Changes -7.6% +0.1% +3.0 p.p. @& 25
HFEL

70.9%

(726%) (58.4%)

62.0%

Sales  Gross Profit
E£7

e 12,437 3,749 30.1%

A Y-0-Y Changes -13.0% +9.5% +6.2 p.p. BB D2
;X{eigﬁrflﬁce Jewellery . . ff-ﬁ—c j%ﬁ fb

Gross
Sales Profit Gross Margin
KM BT 2

H

Gold & Fixed Price Gold 10,974 2,959 27.0%
\}cgwellery - 5

B REEETE

Gold & Platinum?
BHERAE .

-6.3%  +22.3% +6.3 p.p. BB 22

6%8'2% 87 2‘9% N/A
+6.3 p.p. +8.3p.p. .
EESE BEHL B

RETAIL SALES PERFORMANCE | ZEHERIR

HZESHIIHLEEE
W EBE ElE i E
2025
Overall 52 -13% +45% -25% +32%

Gold & Platinum =% &A% -16% +50% -28% +38%

-5% +32% -14% +16%
-23% +58% -28% +40%
-27% +63% -32% +46%
-8% +44% -15% +22%

Mainland it +10% +24% -12% 2%

+11% +30% -12% +2%
Fixed Price Jewellery & & &l +9% -8% -14% -21%

Gold & Platinum =% K%

Remarks: Figures for the year ended 31 March 2024 are shown in brackets

it HE2024F3H31 B ILFEZ#FRIERABET

Sales = Revenue — Licensing Income

THE = WA - MAREFURA

Gross Profit = Consolidated Gross Profit — Gross Profit of Licensing Income

EF = GRAEF - RBEBWRAEF]

Gold & Platinum refers to gold & platinum products sold by weight basing on international market price, i.e. at non-fixed price
HEERiNEEREERDSERRESHENSSRHSER AIIFEM®)

Same store sales (“SSS”) represented a comparison of sales of the same self-operated shop having full day operations in the comparable periods and such
data did not include sales of licensed shops and Mainland’s e-commerce business

FEHE ((AEHE) AR—HEEENTHERARNETEDEENHERILE AMEBLASE RS RN EF B ERNIHER
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4 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MR E

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE | B33k

o FY2024/25' FY2023/242 Y-0-Y Changes
HK$M BB BT 2024/2584 4 2023/2484 2 EE% E
Revenue WA 13,341 15,326 -12.9%
Gross Profit £ 4,417 4174 +5.8%

Operating Profit &= & 4] 1,412 2,116 -33.3%
Profit for the Year &£ iz A 1,068 1,758 -39.3%

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders
A AELET 1,100 1,767 -37.8%

Basic Earnings per Share E &7~ Z A HK$1.87# 7T HK$3.0178 7 -37.9%

Final Dividend per Share SR ARHHR S HK$0.55%& 75 HK$0.6478 75 -14.1%

Annual Dividend per Share 8RR EFE RS HK$1.10#7T HK$1.417H 7T -22.0%

Dividend Payout Ratio jJk = FE 59% 47% +12%
33.4% 279% 459 pp. EEA

Operating Margin &2 a H] 2< 10.6% 138% -32pp. EEDHY

Net Margin 7% # =& 8.0% 11.5% -35p.p AEDEH

EBITDA® R 5t#] 8~ 1018 ~ T8 ;e B sH Al A A 2,015 2,601 -22.5%

EBITDA Margin® o

RETH B TR IE 8 R ek Al AR A 22 15.1% 17.0% -1.9%

Adjusted EBITDA®

RRBBARSF BRI T E R AT B A 1,609 2,254 -28.6%

/Z\_djusteg EBITDA Margin®* _ o

RRE BRI B TRIE T8 R 8 Al B A =04 12.1% 14.7% -2.6%

Total Operating Expenses to Revenue Ratio®

AR SR AR A =R 19.6% 15.0% +4.6 p.p. BEDE

Effective Tax Rate B B = 22.6% 15.7% +6.9 p.p. EEDE

FY2024/25: Hereafter refers to as “FY2025” 2024/2584 4 11518 % 202584 4F |

FY2023/24: Hereafter refers to as “FY2024” 2023/2481 £ © {1 B 18 AT 202481 &£

Represent non-HKFRS measures $53F & B MBI E Gt £RIE 2

Adjusted EBITDA represents the EBITDA without adding back depreciation of right-of-use assets. Management considers the adjusted EBITDA better reflects the
operating performance of the Group after the adoption of HKFRS 16. X 8% & K517 8~ IRIE T E R B IEa BFAIR TR BRI ITE L@ HI & F)
AMEMERREENTE BEEIACHAERRNFE RE NEREHA R FERMAEBARBEEMHFREENFIGRBEZEERR

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS | EEE#EEE

FY2025 FY2024 Y-0-Y Changes

T
10,739 9,567 +12.2%
Average Inventory Turnover Days' 775 E#EH' 427 310 +117
451 322 +129
Cash and Bank Balances 3% K R1T4 68 1,991 1,998 -0.3%
Bank Borrowings & Gold Loans R{TEFH Ak =S 2,196 1,428 +53.8%
Net (Borrowing)/Cash® 3% (& X) & (205) 570 -135.9%
Debt-to-Equity Ratio® £ 18 a1 FE &4 36.0% 31.0% +5.0p.p. AEDE
Return on Equity (ROE)® IR 5 1& im 18] 3R 2X° 8.3% 187% -54pp. EEDE
Return on Total Assets® 885 /& [0] 35 K0 6.1% 105% -44pp. EAEDY
Current Ratio 7i&hEEE 3.1 35 0.4

B oo

" (Opening Inventory + Closing Inventory) =+ 2 = Cost of Inventories Sold x Number of Days for the Year
(RS + iRkES) ~ 2 - BEFERA x FRAHK

2 Closing Inventory -+ Cost of Inventories Sold x Number of Days for the Year
HR7FE - EEFEMAx FRNEH

5 Net (borrowing)/cash represent bank borrowings and gold loans less cash and bank balances (including structural bank deposit, that classified as derivative
financial instrument).
P (ER /RERBTETMBESEIRBRTRIRSER (@EIERTESR T ANGEBMIRITEN) °

4 (Long-term Liabilities + Current Liabilities) =+ Capital and Reserves Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company
(REBBIE + RHEE - AABEERHE ANEEE AR HE

5 Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company -~ Capital and Reserves Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company
AT E@RFE ARG - XABDRRFE ARGERRER

5 Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company —+ (Long-term Assets + Current Assets)
RATVERFEANEGEEN — (RBEE + RBHEE)
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Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), founded
by a group of jewellery specialists, is one of the leading jewellery
retailers in Hong Kong and Mainland. With the first Lukfook
Jewellery shop established in North Point, Hong Kong in 1991,
it has always been upholding the service motto of “Exquisite
Craftsmanship, Quality Services and Customer Orientation”. In
May 1997, the Group was listed on the Main Board of The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (stock code:
0590).

The Group principally engages in the sourcing, designing,
wholesaling, trademark licensing and retailing of a variety of
gold and platinum jewellery and gem-set jewellery products.
With a total of over 3,100 points of sale in 11 countries and
regions currently across Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland, Malaysia,
Cambodia, the Philippines, Laos, Thailand, the United States,
Canada and Australia, the Group will continue to identify new
business opportunities in the international market and actively
pursue further development in China and overseas markets in
response to its corporate vision, “Brand of Hong Kong, Sparkling
the World”.

On 12 January, 2024, the Group successfully acquired the
controlling stake in 3DG Holdings (International) Limited (“3DG
International”) (stock code: 2882), making it as a subsidiary of
the Company. This not only bolstered the Group’s control over
the “3DG Jewellery” brand but also advanced the realisation of
its multi-brand strategy, resulting in expanded market share and
heightened competitiveness. With a diversified portfolio of brands,
including Lukfook Jewellery, 3DG Jewellery, Heirloom Fortune,
Goldstyle, Lukfook Joalllerie and Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY,
the Group commits to crafting the finest jewellery and providing
quallity services for customers.

NEEE (BER) BRAE (EAE) REM
BRE #HETAEE) A—HEFNGES
TE REERAMFETER—-EH
NABEKEBIEFHMNEEEAILARE ) —
EXFELBE REAEUF A% R

S RE 199758  AEBEETBH ERS
FREMRAR (THEzSFr)) Mk BRHATE -
0590) ©

FEEFENERERNT A RHKE D
EmZHFBE R B - BRRERTEX
% WEAER A RPT Rt FARPE R  RIE

FEJEREEB RE - ER - MEARBEM
HAEBR KM & FEE A3, 100EZE 2 4

%@ﬁ%@naﬁ" R Em Bk Jikih
)E':PIEZ&%FE% NEea TEBmE BER
Il#JZJJ:%J?ER

2024F1H12H AEBERIIRNEEEEE
(B BERATE (EBEE) (BHA
5% 0 2882) MR ) FE M A AA T WM
BRB -EFEMAT AERH X8 &
RS R E— T EBRTAEENS R
FRERES > IBFF T B AR WIER T RF e
BEZTENRBES BEAGHRE 25
EEmER - Goldstyle ~ 7815 W@ K Love
LUKFOOK JEWELLERY > AR IR EE LS
HE AR
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
B

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group” or “We”), | hereby present the Group’s annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (‘FY2025” or the “Year under
review”).

Over the past year, the macroeconomic outlook has remained
clouded amid ongoing geopolitical tensions and trade
uncertainties. Meanwhile, surging gold prices and mounting
inflationary pressures have had a profound impact on the
retail sector, driving significant shifts in consumer behavior
and weakening market confidence. As a result, the Group has
experienced certain business headwinds. In the face of this
challenging landscape, the Group adopted agile strategies to
navigate market dynamics by optimising its business model
and enhancing operational efficiency, while also strengthening
market competitiveness and brand influence through effective
branding and product differentiation initiatives. With sound
financial management and forward-looking business strategies,
we believe that the Group will be able to sustain steady growth
in a challenging environment while creating long-term value for
shareholders and other stakeholders.

The Group’s total revenue for the Year under review
decreased by 12.9% over the corresponding period last year
to HK$13,341,295,000 (2024: HK$15,325,962,000). Profit
attributable to equity holders also decreased by 37.8% to
HK$1,099,864,000 (2024: HK$1,767,305,000), and the basic
earnings per share was HK$1.87 (2024: HK$3.01). The board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK$0.55 per share, together with
the interim dividend of HK$0.55 per share paid in December
2024, the total dividend for FY2025 amounted to HK$1.10 per
share (2024: HK$1.41 per share). The dividend payout ratio is
59% (2024: 47%) on a full year basis.

During the Year under review, the Group operated a total of 2
brands and 4 sub-brands/product lines under the multi-brand
strategy. There was a net decrease of 296 shops globally,
including a net decrease of 312 “Lukfook” shops, a net increase
of 21 “3DG Jewellery” shops and a net decrease of 5 sub-brands/
product lines shops. As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a
global network of 3,287 shops (2024: 3,583 shops), including
2,805 “Lukfook” shops (2024: 3,117 shops), with business
spanning across Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland, Malaysia,
Cambodia, the Philippines, Laos, Thailand, the United States,
Canada and Australia.

BRER

KANEREKRARER (FHR) BRAR (&R
B REWB AR @B IARER) o I#HM)
EIREAEEHE2025F3831HEFE
(M202581 FF 1 MEIREFE ) 2 2 F2EF-

BE—F ARMGEARFERREES T
HEMLRZBELOETHENR MEERTHA
BREAOME HEETHBRAETE &
BOHBERAHIRARAEE  mBE LA
HISS  EMAAREBEEH TR —ENB-1EE
TRk ERIRIET » A ER/RREELRIRES
BB EE IS OB EFREALERE
FTEENX TEBBEWREERENEMRE
RN E—PBETHERINEREF
B -RMBE BERENMFEIREANE
MREERE EERER MRBVIRIES
MERERR IKESRRRAMFNE
RIEREEE.

AEBREDEEFENRBNAREERBT
#£12.9%E13,341,295,000# 75 (20244 :
15,325,962,000/7T) > #@miFE AEERT
TR R B37.8%ZE1,099,864,000 7T ( 20244 :
1,767,305,000587T) » SR ELERFA1.8748
70 (20244 : 3.0187T) cAnEESE (&

g)) BEIRGRERBEMR0.558 7T EE
B 722024512 Bk TP R E & 880.565748
70 2025 R B & H AT K1.108 7T (2024
FE:8KR1.4187m)  2ERELEEA59%
(20244F © 47%) ©

REBEERN L RERE T A£ESG
HGEERNERAER R, E RG> 2K
FORL 7206 IE A BIEF R D312/ T
BES BENAE &2 E ) EHEFRLD
SRR, E AR E# o 12202553531
H> REER2IKIELES,287E 5 (20244 !
3,583)) » HE1#E2,805/] 7@ /S (2024
F13,117H) IBREE B it B2k FA
D TRIEEJERE ER -RE- =B M=
KBz o

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
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The increase in central banks’ gold reserves and escalating
worldwide geopolitical tensions have driven gold prices to rise
continuously. Although the spike in gold prices may affect sales
performance, an increase in profit margin will help mitigate
the impact of the decline in sales. Sales of the gold products
are expected to resume to the normal levels after consumers
adapt to the high gold prices. Furthermore, with the flourishing
development of jewellery craftsmanship, the Group will continue
to actively promote fixed price gold products and fixed price
diamond-set pure gold products.

With effective branding and product differentiation strategies, the
overall SSS of the Group from 1 April to 21 June 2025 was further
improved. SSS in the Mainland market saw a nearly 20% growth,
while the Hong Kong and Macau market remained relatively flat.
With ongoing optimisation of fixed price jewellery product mix and
improving Mainland market, the Group’s business performance
may improve in the remaining months of FY2025/26.

Given the all-round support of the Group, 3DG International,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively referred as “3DG
Group” had demonstrated strong business growth and significant
improvement on operation in 2024/25, with revenue amounting
to HK$712 million for the nine months ended 31 March 2025,
representing an increase of nearly 20% over the twelve months
ended 31 March 2024. The gross profit margin increased by
7 p.p. to 35%. When excluding the impact of gold hedging
losses, its retailing, licensing and e-commerce businesses and
overall business in Mainland all recorded a turnaround to profit.
Besides, the SSS of its Mainland market recorded a nearly 20%
growth from 1 April to 21 June 2025 as well. It is believed that
with continuous optimisation in various aspects, 3DG Group will
become an important driver for the Group’s growth.

The U.S. tariff policies continue to impact the global economy
and heightened tensions in China-U.S. relations. The Mainland
government has been actively forming a “dual circulation”
strategic layout which vigorously boosts domestic demand
with a number of policies being introduced in order to support
the property and capital markets. As such, the Group remains
cautiously optimistic about its medium- and long-term business
prospects in Mainland and will continue to expand in the Mainland
market in the future. Therefore, the Group targets to net add 50
shops for the Mainland market in FY2025/26. Apart from that,
the Group is optimistic about the immense growth potential in
the overseas market. As a result, the Group will allocate more
resources for expansion and plans to have a net addition of
approximately 20 shops in the overseas market in this financial
year. Furthermore, the Group also aims to net add 2 shops in the
Macau market.

The Group has set up its new three-year corporate strategy
starting from FY2025/26 with Overseas Market Expansion,
Market-Oriented Products and Operational Efficiency
Enhancement as its three main focuses so as to foster its future
business growth.

ZERTEFERSEERERMGES AT
BRANEREBCEEBRERA BRI
BAGREHE  BEEFMRNEAR AR
RHEETHRNTE - THEEBERSER
HTHEAZREER -Fh BEKRETE
RiffESER AEERGEBEITERE
BERTEmMEOERETEBEmMR-

EEMNRBEHEERERERERET &
EBEPR2025F481HE6H21 B AN EER
[EIHEE—F NS > R HIFHEEHEIE
EEAMA MBRETIBEARIFE-BEEE
BEMHERESFEELLURAMTIZN
= REBERAEN2025/268 F57 B D
S BERE

EAEENEZHUIIF N SEEHE EF
BB AR SBAT£EGEER] 72024/25
FERBEHAMNERREMNEENEIEN
5 B E2025%F3831H LB BB AZE
7. 128870 82024 FE3831HIE+ @B T+
M AL o EFZIEAN7E E D B E35% ° 5
SR EEE BN E HRApEE
MmN EFERERREREREEEA
B oR2025F4H1HE6B21HEAR » Hih
HHENREHETRSIMMAIE R -BEHE
EHFENFEELT 2EZSEERBIRA
AEERENEERS o

EFARBERFETER G  hEREF
B3R AMBUFIEE D8 TE 1B IR B& M
B RIVBENEMNHEHZIEBERKFED
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
B

In the future, the Group will actively expand its presence in
overseas market with plans to continue opening overseas shops.
Currently, the Group’s footprint spans 11 countries and regions,
with a goal to enter at least 3 additional countries and net add 50
new overseas shops within the next three years. Simultaneously,
we will strengthen our e-commerce business by deepening
cooperation with various e-commerce platforms and optimizing
our own platform to boost e-commerce sales revenue. We will
also continue promoting our affordable luxury jewelry line to
capture the global young consumer market.

The Group is committed to delivering market-oriented products.
In response to the polarised consumption trend, we are extending
our focus to both premium and affordable luxury segments.
Through in-depth analysis of consumer needs, the Group
continues to optimise its product mix, launch concept stores and
enhance product in-store merchandising. The Group is advancing
its product differentiation strategy by integrating brand storytelling,
innovative design, customized services, IP collaborations, and
quality assurance to strengthen competitiveness. Additionally, with
efficient product and inventory management, the Group remains
agile in responding to market dynamics, reinforcing the supply
of best-selling items, seizing sales opportunities, and driving
sustained business growth and value creation.

The Group remains committed to enhancing operational efficiency
by optimizing supply chain management, implementing full-
scale automation, leveraging advanced big data analytics, and
integrating artificial intelligence technologies to drive productivity
improvements. In addition, the Group enhances efficiency
and maintains competitiveness through cross-departmental
collaboration and agile management. Simultaneously, it promotes
an innovation-driven culture, strengthens employees’ strategic
thinking, and optimizes training and performance systems to
maximize productivity.

| would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to all our staff
members, shareholders, customers, business partners and other
stakeholders for their unfaltering support and contributions to
the Group’s continuing success. Going forward, the Group will
adhere to pragmatic and sound growth measures, strengthen its
competitive advantages and further enhance its leading position
in the market, so as to generate sustainable returns for its
shareholders and set a new benchmark for corporate excellence.

By order of the Board
WONG Wai Sheung

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SEER eSS

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

©

Revenue
KA
HK$13,341M
13,31 HEHETT
-12.9%

Basic Earnings per Share
SREFEF
HK$1.87
1.87#7TT
-37.9%

MERB

Operating Profit
BEEN
HK$1,412M
1,412B8 AT
-33.3%

[ —
m’
Proposed Flnal Dividend
rp hare
# ﬂﬁskﬁﬂﬂﬁ 2

DMdend P out Ratio
IR U\t

E'.$'

Profit Attributable to Equity
Holders
R E ARG
HK$1,100M
1,1008 B &t
-37.8%

(1]

Worldwide total no. of Shops

RIREHEH
3,287
-296
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

vail

SEERE

Results

Despite sustained geopolitical tensions and trade uncertainties
clouding the macroeconomic outlook and driving gold prices
upward, the Group’s performance across all regions showed
improvement in the second half of FY2025. The Group’s total
revenue decreased by 12.9% to HK$13,341,295,000 during
the Year under review (2024: HK$15,325,962,000). However,
benefitted from the rise in gold prices, the Group’s overall gross
margin rose by 5.9 p.p. to 33.1% (2024: 27.2%). As a result, the
Group’s gross profit increased by 5.8% to HK$4,417,006,000
(2024: HK$4,174,339,000).

The surge in gold prices caused the gold hedging losses
during the Year to increase from HK$121,055,000 last year to
HK$492,518,000. In addition, with the high base effect caused
by the related one-off gain of HK$213,467,000 attributed to
the acquisition of 3DG Group last year (“3DG Group Acquisition
Gain”), operating profit for the Year thus decreased by 33.3% to
HK$1,412,051,000 (2024: HK$2,115,623,000), and operating
profit margin also declined by 3.2 p.p. to 10.6% (2024:
13.8%). Furthermore, profit for the Year decreased by 39.3% to
HK$1,067,858,000 (2024: HK$1,757,838,000). The net profit
margin decreased by 3.5 p.p. to 8.0% (2024: 11.5%). If the
impact of gold hedging losses is excluded, the decrease in profit
for the Year would have been narrowed to approximately 17.0%.
If 3DG Group Acquisition Gain is excluded for comparison, the
decrease in profit for the Year would have been further narrowed
to approximately 6.3%. Moreover, the profit attributable to equity
holders of the Group decreased by 37.8% to HK$1,099,864,000
(2024: HK$1,767,305,000). Accordingly, the basic earnings per
share decreased by 37.9% to HK$1.87 (2024: HK$3.01).

BERNBEBMEB AT ERREE 5 1B
EUESLERBREELBRASEBRERA
EFEIMTHIBRIBN 2025 THEHEH R
HoNOBEEERN  BAREANEIRAT
#£12.9% % 13,341,295,0003 75 (20244 :
15,325,962,00087T) » S ER BB L7
NEBEBEENEX LA IMETDEESSA%
(2024% :27.2%) > At > ZREBWEF
FF5.8%%F4,417,006,0005 7T (20244 :
4,174,339,0005 7T) ©

SERASIRERNEESHFBIBEEN
121,055,000 JoiE A E492,518,0008 75 ° 5
I EFRBESEEEEMBRSH —XIEE
RN 53218,467,0008 ¢ (WA EEEE W
@m]) SRS EENE KREELE G AL
F33.3%ZE1,412,051,0005 75 (20244 :
2,115,623,0007& 7T) » &&= 5@ F K IR N E3.213
BOEE10.6% (20244 : 13.8%) o b9 &
PE T F439.3% % 1,067,858,00078 7T (2024
£ 11,757,838,000/87T) o FFEB] FE3.5
BEDEZES.0% (20244 : 11.5%) o &ifibs
BHEHABLANEE EREHRKIBEZWE
EN17.0%  EBIIBRKESESEEWRGEE
B FREFRIETHREEN6.3%F
b REBEETA ABMLRN TE37.8%E
1,099,864,00078 7t (20244 : 1,767,305,0007&
7o) AL EREARRF THI7.9%E1.87H
70 (20244 @ 3.0137T) ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Overview

During the Year under review, the Group operated a total of 2
brands and 4 sub-brands/product lines under the multi-brand
strategy. There was a net decrease of 296 shops globally,
including a net decrease of 312 “Lukfook” shops, a net increase
of 21 “8DG Jewellery” shops and a net decrease of 5 sub-brands/
product lines shops.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a global network of 3,287
shops (2024: 3,583 shops), including 2,805 “Lukfook” shops
(2024 3,117 shops), with business spanning across Hong Kong,
Macau, Mainland, Malaysia, Cambodia, the Philippines, Laos,
Thailand, the United States, Canada and Australia. In addition,
the Group had 239 “3DG Jewellery” shops (2024: 218 shops)
in Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland and Thailand; 39 “Lukfook
Joaillerie” shops (2024: 28 shops) in Mainland and Malaysia; and
also operated 27 “Goldstyle” shops (2024: 56 shops) in Mainland,
160 “Heirloom Fortune” shops (2024: 146 shops), and 17 “Love
LUKFOOK JEWELLERY” shops (2024: 18 shops).

s

REBEFER £ZmERE T AEEGH
LB R RAMER MR ERE 2P
DT 206 5 & 0 BLE R R 312/ [734E )
JEE PR T2 ) JEEH PR 5
Blimhg,/ G e EE o

R2025F3831H  ZREENEIkHEFS,287
RSE &8 (20244 © 3,583[) » EhE#E2,805/
[7fE) JEEE (20244 : 3,117/ » BREE
EPIN s BTG RIBRE FERE B
B RE =B NEAEEM; B KE
BRES VEF At R HFEES230E (£5
= [E&H (20244 © 218f) ; RAM & B HR A
o EB 3R 71815 fRER 15 # (2024 4F © 28H)
DR E 48 =271 [ Goldstyle | [E# (2024
F 1 56f) ~ 160 B mE S [E i (20244 : 146
R5) K17/ MLove LUKFOOK JEWELLERY J /& &
(20244 : 18F9) o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE MR

Revenue and Segment Profit by Business

BEBE D HIKRA K58 EF

6.8%
0,
(6.7%) 61.6%
(57.9%)
10.5%

(10.1%) 82.7%

(83.2%)

N \Pe-e B

Segment
Revenue Profit
KA S EREF
Retailing
& |
Wholesaling
15 H N
Licensing
SRR |

Remarks:  Comparative figures for FY2024 are shown in brackets

Ea EIRAIR2024F E 2 LEBR BT

Adjusted Adjusted

Segment Segment Profit

Segment Segment Profit? Margin

Revenue Profit Profit Margin g BEHN

HK$M BE# T ON 7B & 7 ER &A= ;

Retailing £ 11,031 1,026 9.3% 1,418 12.9%
Y-0-Y Changes ZEE1E -13.5% -17.7% -0.5p.p. AEDE +8.4% +2.6p.p. EEDH

Wholesaling #t 2 1,406 14 1.0% 115 8.2%
Y-0-Y Changes ZEZ1E -8.8% -92.4% -11.1pp. BAEDE -45.7% -5.5p.p. AEDE
Adjusted Wholesaling #5352 1 A & 3,489’ 14 0.4% 115 8.2%
Y-0-Y Changes ZEZ1E -17.9% 92.4% -4.0p.p. BEDE -45.7% -5.5p.p. AEDE

Licensing G875 904 626 69.2% 626 69.2%
Y-0-Y Changes & EE1E -12.6% -18.1% 0.4 p.p. BEDE -131% -0.3p.p. AEDE

Overall &2 13,341 1,666 12.5% 2,159 16.2%
Y.0-Y Changes #. -12.9% -226% -1.5pp. BEHH -36% +1.6pp. EESY

Remarks:

5

! Adjusted Wholesaling Revenue = Revenue of Wholesaling Business to External Parties + Inter-Segment Wholesaling Revenue
KRB BHH B = BIMEEER WA+ BER BUHA

2 Adjusted Segment Profit refers to segment profit excluding gold hedging losses or gains
RBEBNDEET RIEMRE S E BB R D 80 &)

9 Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 752 E (B HIRAE



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEE R T

During the Year under review, retailing business was the
main source of revenue of the Group. The Group’s retailing
revenue decreased by 13.5% to HK$11,031,223,000 (2024:
HK$12,748,906,000), accounting for 82.7% (2024: 83.2%)
of the Group’s total revenue. Its segment profit decreased
by 17.7% to HK$1,026,406,000 (2024: HK$1,246,853,000),
accounting for 61.6% (2024: 57.9%) of the total and its segment
profit margin was 9.3% (2024: 9.8%). When excluding the gold
hedging losses attributed to the retailing business, its segment
profit would increase by 8.4% to HK$1,418,134,000 (2024
HK$1,307,790,000) and the adjusted segment profit margin
would increase by 2.6 p.p. to 12.9% (2024: 10.3%).

Due to the continued sluggish demand for diamond products
in Mainland and the decrease in the number of licensed
shops, the Group’s wholesaling revenue declined by 8.8% to
HK$1,406,264,000 (2024: HK$1,542,590,000), accounting for
10.5% (2024: 10.1%) of the Group’s total revenue. Because of the
decrease in revenue and a higher sales mix of gold wholesaling
with lower gross margin, reduced government subsidies and
expenses incurred from staff optimisation, its segment profit
decreased to HK$14,053,000 (2024: HK$186,084,000),
accounting for 0.8% (2024: 8.6%) of the total, and its segment
profit margin was 1.0% (2024: 12.1%). As the segment profit of
wholesaling business included profits from inter-segment sales
to self-operated shops, if including inter-segment sales in the
denominator, its segment profit margin would be 0.4% (2024:
4.4%). When excluding the gold hedging losses attributed to the
wholesaling business, this segment profit would decrease by
45.7% to HK$114,842,000 (2024: HK$211,339,000), and the
wholesaling segment profit margin would decrease by 5.5 p.p. to
8.2% (2024: 13.7%).

During the Year under review, the licensing income decreased
by 12.6% to HK$903,808,000 (2024: HK$1,034,466,000),
accounting for 6.8% (2024: 6.7%) of the Group’s total revenue.
lts segment profit margin was 69.2% (2024: 69.6%), while its
segment profit decreased by 13.1% to HK$625,762,000 (2024:
HK$719,705,000), accounting for 37.6% (2024: 33.5%) of the
total.

REBEFERN TEEXEHEALAERLTE
WARBFE - REBTEWATEISE%E
11,031,223,0007 7T, (20244 : 12,748,906,000
BrT) EAEBEBANS2.7% (2024
F:883.2%) cHDEEF THI7T.7%E
1 ,026,406,000?575 (20244 : 1,246,853,000
HBIT) b A61.6% (20244 1 57.9%) » &
PDECEFNEA9.3% (20244 : 9.8%) o &l
MREEEBMAENESEH FIBL HD I
B G EF8.4%E ,418,134,000%75 (2024
£ :1,307,790,00078 7T) » ML FHEE I =6
A ER EFA2.6[EE DB E12.9% (20245
10.3%) ©

RS A ERERDRES 0L HE
[EHE R AREBAL WA EILH/8.8%
%1,406,264,0005 7T (20244F : 1,542,590,000
BIT) A EEAAWABN10.5% (20244 -
10.1%) c AW AR > 0 ERIEEF)ZH
B EHENLE EA - BB R & A
SBBtRELEER REPBEFRALE
14,053,00078 75 (20244F : 186,084,0007 7T) °
15 20.8% (20244 : 8.6%) » EOER#HF|=H
21.0% (20244 : 12.1%) o AR HEBF TR
DEFEF D WEHEETEENAE
i !nJrJ\ﬁ*LBF'%QE’ﬁ’“ B ER A

0.4% (20245 : 4.4%) > B MIBRIL 2 ZHEFEFT A
ERESE L LD IEF 2 T 45.7%
F114,842,00058 77 (20244 : 211,339,000

70) ML E DR EF TES SEE R EE
8.2% (20244 : 13.7%) °

ACIBEFEER BBEBWATE®KI26%E
903,808,000 7T (20244F : 1,034,466,000
Brr) A EEBLIMANG. 8% (2024
F:6.7%)  HPE&EMEA69.2% (2024
F:69.6%) HOEF TEHIZGA%E
625,762,000 70 (20244 : 719,705,000
70) * (i tEA&37.6% (20244 : 33.5%) ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
%:'EE IZI—_I-IIIH:FJ& 7|‘Ff

Sales' and Gross Profit? by Product
RERISHEE REN

70.9%
72 6%‘:) 62.0%
MEDR) (58.4%)
38.0%
0,
(41.6%) 29.1%
(27.4%)

Sales  Gross Profit

HE EF

Gold & Platinum?®

HERHAE .

Fixed Price Jewellery

EEE .
Remarks:  Comparative figures for FY2024 are shown in brackets
&t FESRRA202481 F 2 LB #F

Sales Gross Profit Gross Margm
HK$M B & HE £7 ER=

Gold & Platinum =% K iH% 8,822 2,325 26.4%
Y-0-Y Changes #4 -15.0% +16.2%  +7.1p.p. EEHAE

Fixed Price Jewellery & & & & 3,615 1,424 39.4%

-7.6% +0.1% +3.0p.p. BESE
Overall Z32 12,437 3,749 30.1%
-13.0% +9.5% +6.2 p.p. BEDE

Gold & Fixed Price Gold Jewellery E& K EBE S & 10,974 2,959 27.0%

Y-0-Y Changes %4 -6.3% +22.3%  +6.3 p.p. AEDH
Mix & 88.2% 78.9% N/A
Y-0-Y Changes #%4. +6.3p.p. BEDE +8.3p.p. BEHE TEHR
Remarks:
B

! Sales = Revenue — Licensing Income

HE = A - RIBEBIRA

2 Gross Profit = Consolidated Gross Profit — Gross Profit of Licensing Income
EF = 5B EF - mEEBBAEF]
s Gold & Platinum refers to gold & platinum products sold by weight basing on international market price, i.e. at non-fixed price

HERHNERERBEEETSERRESHENSTERNASER I EEBH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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During the Year under review, the average international gold price
in USD per ounce increased nearly 30.0% year-on-year. The high
gold price affected consumer sentiment. Consequently, sales of
gold and platinum products by weight decreased by 15.0% to
HK$8,822,535,000 (2024: HK$10,379,634,000), accounting for
70.9% (2024: 72.6%) of the overall sales amount (revenue of the
Group minus licensing income). Its gross margin increased by 7.1
p.p. to 26.4% (2024: 19.3%) because of the rise in gold prices.
Gross profit of gold and platinum products therefore increased
by 16.2% to HK$2,325,224,000 (2024: HK$2,000,275,000),
accounting for 62.0% (2024: 58.4%) of the overall gross profit
(consolidated gross profit of the Group minus gross profit of
licensing income).

On the other hand, the sales of fixed price jewellery products
of the Group decreased by 7.6% to HK$3,614,952,000 (2024:
HK$3,911,861,000), accounting for 29.1% (2024: 27.4%) of the
overall sales amount (Group revenue minus licensing income).
Nevertheless, because of the increased mix of retailing revenue,
which has higher gross margin than wholesaling, gross margin
of fixed price jewellery products increased by 3.0 p.p. to 39.4%
(2024: 36.4%). Its gross profit remained flat at HK$1,423,792,000
(2024: HK$1,423,075,000), accounting for 38.0% (2024: 41.6%)
of the overall gross profit (consolidated gross profit of the Group
minus gross profit of licensing income).

During the Year under review, the overall SSS of the Group was
-25.1% (2024: +31.9%). The SSS for gold and platinum products
was -28.5% (2024: +37.6%) and -14.1% (2024: +16.0%), for fixed
price jewellery products.

REBEEFER BREFHEEB (BEIRE
O BEARE= 2B EHEBE
REEHENEZESRASERBEERIL
F15.0%%E8,822,535,0005 75 (20244 :
10,379,634,000787T) » HEIEHERE (REE
WA B E B FEFUA) 8970.9% (20244 :
72.6%) c AEF XA E LAMIER?.1E
BOE26.4% (20244 : 19.3%) > = KA
®ESRENEUILIENMN16.2%%E2,325,224,000
70 (20244 1 2,000,275,00057T) » (G EEFEE
M (REBGEEMNREREEFBAET)
B962.0% (20244F : 58.4%) ©

S—rE EETEEMERNEEET
E7.6%%E3,614,952,000% 7T (20244 :
3,911,861,0008 70) »(HEEREIHERE (KEE
WARZ R EFEURA) 8929.1% (20244 :
27.4%) AT AN BMBEFEXFWE
EWRAMGLEEN EEEHEREFN X L
3.0EBEDEE39.4% (20245 1 36.4%) » H
ERBFFF A1,423,792,0005 7T (20244 :
1,423,075,000787T) BB EF (REBL
SEMFMBEFWAERN]) £938.0% (2024
1 41.6%) °

REBEEER  AEREEREHEA-25.1%
(20244 1431.9%) =& KMiAEERMNEE
THE %&-28.5% (20244 :+37.6%) » MEBE
B MmAA-14.1% (20244 1+16.0%) ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE MR

BUSINESS REVIEW e 0] ]

Revenue and Segment Profit by Market
FhinE 3R A K 53 BB i F

60.5%

65.3%
(54.8%)

34.7%

(45.2%)
39.5%

(34.5%)

Segment
Revenue Profit
KA S EREF

Hong Kong, Macau & Overseas .
EERPIR B

i H BN

Remarks:  Comparative figures for FY2024 are shown in brackets
BN HER N 7220240 F 2 LE BB F

Adjusted Adjusted
Segment Segment
Segment Segment Profit Margin

Revenue Profit Profit Margin & g HEBN
HKSM BB AT A aR= (vl aR: il E § LIES

Hong Kong, Macau & Overseas &7 5

R4 8,068 1,089 13.5% 1,330 16.5%
Y-0-Y Changes & FEE 1L -19.6% 77% +1.8pp. EEDE +7.8% +4.2p.p EEDE
Mainland 3 5,273 577 11.0% 829 15.7%
Y-0-Y Changes &£t -0.2% -40.7% 74 pp EEAY 17.6% -33p.p. AEDH
Overall 258 13,341 1,666 12.5% 2,159 16.2%
Y-0-Y Changes #E£1E -12.9% -22.6% -15pp. BEEDH -3.6% +1.6p.p. EHEDE
Remarks:
i

! Adjusted Segment Profit refers to segment profit excluding gold hedging losses or gains

EARRHOD B EF RIEMIF RSB RN EN D B ET)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRSO

Hong Kong, Macau and Overseas

F& BRI RiBH

89.0%
(89.3%)

4.6%
(3.9%)

0.6% 6.4% 97.6%
(©5%) \46-8%) _ (98.4%)
1.8%
(1.1%)
Segment
Revenue Profit
WA 53 Bz F

Rgeéailing .
\;It\ll:gglesaling . .

Licensing
LY .

Remarks:  Comparative figures for FY2024 are shown in brackets

5 RN #2024R F 2 LR BT

Adjusted Adjusted

Segment Segment
Segment Profit?
Revenue |Segment Profit Profit Margin Gokeyed:
sA | pmEA DAl o

Retailing 2 7,871 969 12.3% 1,141 14.5%

Y-0-Y Changes % E£&1E -20.4% 79% +1.7p.p. EEDE +4.6% +3.5p.p. AEDH
Wholesaling #t & 147 70 47.0% 139 94.0%
Y-0-Y Changes #% 4. +35.6% -14.1% -27.3pp. BEDH +44.0% +5.4 p.p. BAEDE
Adjusted Wholesaling #5521 Ay# & 2,111 70 3.3% 139 6.6%
Y-0-Y Changes #% 4. -20.4% -141% +0.3pp. BEEDH +44.0% +29p.p. BEDE
Licensing mmH& 35 50 50 101.6% 50 101.6%
Y-0-Y Changes &£t +9.0% +8.6% -04p.p EEDE +8.6% -04p.p EEHE
Overall 2258 8,068 1,089 13.5% 1,330 16.5%
Y-0-Y Changes BE£1E -19.6% 77% +1.8pp EEDE +7.8% +4.2 pp. EEDE

Remarks:

=

! Adjusted Wholesaling Revenue = Revenue of Wholesaling Business to External Parties + Inter-Segment Wholesaling Revenue
AEEEBHIRLE I = MBS+ D BRI B A
2 Adjusted Segment Profit refers to segment profit excluding gold hedging losses or gains

EABERHOD B EF RIEMIF RSB ER U ERN D B ET
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Hong Kong, Macau and Overseas

Hong Kong and Macau

During the Year under review, according to statistics released
by the Hong Kong Tourism Board and the Macau Government
Tourism Office, Mainland visitor arrivals to both regions recorded
year-on-year growth, reflecting a steady resurgence of tourism
across the region. Nonetheless, softening consumer spending
power led to a decline in per capita spending by Mainland visitors
in Hong Kong and Macau. Consequently, the Group recorded a
decrease in retailing revenue from both regions compared to the
same period last year, underscoring the impact of macroeconomic
challenges and shifting consumption patterns on its business
performance.

The Group’s retailing revenue in the Hong Kong market decreased
by 20.0% to HK$5,087,290,000 (2024: HK$6,355,946,000)
during the Year under review. As at 31 March 2025, the
Group operated 58 self-operated shops (2024: 54 shops) in
Hong Kong. Meanwhile, the Group’s revenue generated from
Macau decreased by 28.5% to HK$2,068,985,000 (2024:
HK$2,892,400,000). As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total
of 19 self-operated shops (2024: 18 shops) in Macau.

Overseas

During the Year under review, the Group actively expanded into
overseas market. As at 31 March 2025, the Group operated
a total of 31 overseas shops (2024: 21 shops), including self-
operated shops of 5 in each of the United States and Australia, 4
in Malaysia, and 3 in Canada, as well as 4 licensed shops in each
of Cambodia, the Philippines and Thailand, and 1 licensed shop in
each of Laos and Australia.

& B RS

EARREM

REIBFER  RESBREERD KRN
BT IR /5 38 M B AR 5t U > tlEh B AR
ERSRENER RMREANIREEFERR-
M RERHEBNRSEE BB RPN
fRE AHE KT TIB > B A S B
NWEEEBWARETERBEFRLD > KR
LB ERERHERAN BN A EEER
RIEHR—EREDE

AEBREEFEEEANETERAT
#20.0%E5,087,290,00058 75 (20244 :
6,355,946,00078 7T) ° 12025938310 » K&
EEEAKES8E BEE (20244  54f) o2k
BEPIAIUT A BT Bk28.5% EF 2,068,985,000
HIT (20244 : 2,892,400,0005 7T) © 122025
F3RNH AEBEERMELBI0EBEEE
(20244 : 18f)

=33
NEBNROIBEEERNBEBREREIITH R
20255 3H31H » AEBEMEHLEI1EEINE
#5 (20244 1 2178) > BIENEEFRNE R
5 R4 RN IMEZEASKBEEE 5
NSRBI FEREREED R RB4E
EROBRMNA R KB 1B RIS
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During the Year under review, retailing revenue from the Hong
Kong, Macau and overseas market decreased by 20.4% to
HK$7,870,911,000 (2024: HK$9,885,611,000), accounting for
97.6% (2024: 98.4%) of these markets’ total and 59.0% (2024:
64.5%) of the Group’s total revenue. Its segment profit decreased
by 7.9% to HK$969,025,000 (2024: HK$1,052,531,000),
accounting for 89.0% (2024: 89.2%) of these markets’s total
and 58.2% (2024: 48.9%) of the Group’s total, with a segment
profit margin of 12.3% (2024: 10.6%). When excluding the
gold hedging losses attributed to the Hong Kong, Macau and
overseas market, its segment profit would increase by 4.6% to
HK$1,141,064,000 (2024: HK$1,090,959,000), and the adjusted
segment profit margin would increase by 3.5 p.p. to 14.5% (2024:
11.0%).

In addition, due to the addition of 4 overseas licensed shops
during the Year under review, the wholesaling revenue from the
Hong Kong, Macau and overseas market increased by 35.6% to
HK$147,480,000 (2024: HK$108,739,000), accounting for 1.8%
(2024: 1.1%) of the Hong Kong, Macau and overseas market’s
total revenue and 1.1% (2024: 0.7%) of the Group’s total. Its
segment profit was HK$69,348,000 (2024: HK$80,752,000),
accounting for 6.4% (2024: 6.8%) of these markets’ total and
4.2% (2024: 3.8%) of the Group’s total. Its segment profit
margin was 47.0% (2024: 74.3%). As the segment profit of
wholesaling business included the profit of inter-segment sales
to self-operated shops, if including inter-segment sales in the
denominator, its segment profit margin would be 3.3% (2024:
3.0%). When excluding the gold hedging losses borne by the
wholesaling business, this segment profit would increase by
44.0% to HK$138,656,000 (2024: HK$96,318,000), and the
adjusted wholesaling business profit margin would increase by 5.4
p.p. to 94.0% (2024: 88.6%).

Moreover, licensing income increased by 9.0% to HK$49,577,000
(2024: HK$45,466,000), accounting for 0.6% (2024: 0.5%) of
these markets’ total and 0.4% (2024: 0.3%) of the Group’s total.
Its segment profit increased by 8.6% to HK$50,395,000 (2024
HK$46,394,000), accounting for 4.6% (2024: 3.9%) of these
markets’ total and 3.0% (2024: 2.2%) of the Group’s total. Its
segment profit margin was 101.6% (2024: 102.0%).

REBEEER B VB AEIHENEE
U AR /D020.4%%E7,870,911,00058 75 (2024
£ :9,885,611,000/87T) » hxEHIHEE
BJ97.6% (20244 : 98.4%) R A EBE TR
AHI59.0% (20244 : 64.5%) o EHD ERHF
Bl R/ 7.9% F 969,025,000 75 (20244
1,052,531,000787T) > 1 5% 5 15 A2 HY89.0%
(20244 :89.2%) RAEEEFEM58.2%
(20244 : 48.9%) » EDEimFIZEA12.3%
(2024%F 1 10.6%) - EMiBrE B BPIRE
SNTHIGFTARIENE SR B S EH SRR
B EF4.6%ZE1,141,064,000 7T ( 20244
1,090,959,00038 70) » &L B & 1 9 26 & 7
A EASSEEDEE14.5% (20244 ¢
11.0%) ©
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152 ETHIBTEEEMG.4% (20244 © 6.8%) K7
EEEIENL.2% (20244  3.8%) » HH BB
HZEA47.0% (20244 © 74.3%) o NI EE 2
BHABEFESOTEBEEEQESENF
MO ADEHE  HOIEF=RE
#3.3% (20244F : 3.0%) o EHliBRtE 25 275K
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%138,656,00078 7T (20244 : 96,318,00078
70) BB B ER R R EF5.4T D
2L794.0% (20244 : 88.6%) ©

BN > FHRR ZEFEUR A LE IN9.0% 2 49,577,00078
70 (20244F : 45,466,000/ 70) * (h% L 542
L A0.6% (20244 : 0.5%) S EEEEREUT A
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Overall speaking, revenue from the Hong Kong, Macau and
overseas market decreased by 19.6% to HK$8,067,968,000
(2024: HK$10,039,816,000) during the Year under review,
accounting for 60.5% (2024: 65.5%) of the Group’s total. Its
segment profit decreased by 7.7% to HK$1,088,768,000 (2024:
HK$1,179,677,000), accounting for 65.3% (2024: 54.8%) of
the Group’s total. Its segment profit margin was 13.5% (2024:
11.7%). When excluding the gold hedging losses incurred, its
segment profit would increase by 7.8% to HK$1,330,115,000
(2024: HK$1,233,671,000), and the adjusted segment profit
margin would increase by 4.2 p.p. to 16.5% (2024: 12.3%).

The overall SSS in the Hong Kong, Macau and overseas market
was -26.2% (2024: +35.7%), while its SSS for gold and platinum
products was -30.1% (2024: +42.0%) and -14.1% (2024:
+18.7%) for fixed price jewellery products.

wEEms PEEFER &8 B REN
HIZBIW AR 19.6%%E8,067,968,0007 75
(20244 :10,039,816,00078 7T) @ IEEH
R AB0.5% (20244 : 65.5%) o H 6
EFIBIEDT. 7%ZE1,088,768,0005 75 (2024
£ :1,179,677,00087T) > A EBEEREHN
65.3% (20244 : 54.8%) » HDEEH=H%
13.5% (20244 : 11.7%) ° =R FT AR
BaHHBL HoEH B LH7.8%E
1,330,115,0003 7T, (20244F : 1,233,671,0005%
70) BB O EENERR LT @B D
BLZE16.5% (20244 : 12.3%) ©

EB - BRMAEREBITENERRIEHEE
7-26.2% (20244 :+35.7%) ' EES K
HEERZBEHEA-30.1% (20244F !
+42.0%) » EEEMERIAB-14.1% (2024
F 1+18.7%) ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEE MR

Mainland

Pasth

59.9%
(54.2%)

23.9%
(27.1%)

16.2%

(18.7%) ,
Revenue

WA
Retailing
1 H

Wholesaling
ik .

Licensing

LY eSS

Remarks:  Comparative figures for FY2024 are shown in brackets
B ERA #2024 M EZ LEBREF
Segment Profit Adjusted
Segment
Profit?
B

Adjusted
Segment
Profit Margin

Segment
Profit Margin
Revenue Mix DE

HKSM BB AT LN iy PrGIIES

Retailing & 3,160 57 9.9% 1.8% 277 8.8%
Y-0-Y Changes #E£1E +10.4%  -705% -10.1pp. BEDE -50pp. EEDEH +27.8% +1.2pp. AR
Wholesaling #t & 1,259 -55 -9.5% -4.4% 23 -1.9%
Y-0-Y Changes #ZE£ 1L -122% -1525% -20.3 p.p. BEDH -11.7p.p. EEDH -120.7% -9.9p.p. HEDEH
Adjusted Wholesaling AZ55% # 1,378 -55 -4.0% -23 -1.7%
Ay

-18.7%  -152.5% NAFEBRH -106p.p. BEDE -120.7% -89 p.p. EEDH
Licensing fm Ha 27 854 575 99.6% 67.4% 575 67.4%
Y-0-Y Changes #E£ 1L -136%  -145% +30.4p.p. BEDH -0.7pp EEDH -14.5% -0.7 p.p. BEDE
Overall %82 5,273 577 100% 11.0% 829 15.7%
Y-0-Y Changes % E£16 0.2%  -40.7% - T4pp EESDE -17.6% -3.3p.p. EEDEH

Remarks:

i

" Adjusted Wholesaling Revenue = Revenue of Wholesaling Business to External Parties + Inter-Segment Wholesaling Revenue
RHBERH WA = BIMEEEBWA+D AR BUA
2 Adjusted Segment Profit refers to segment profit excluding gold hedging losses or gains
KA END T RIEMRE S H BB R DI ET)
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Mainland

Despite high gold prices and increased uncertainty from China-U.
S. trade tensions and tariffs during the Year under review, the
retailing business in the Mainland market showed gradual
improvement in the second half of the financial year. As a result,
the retailing revenue in Mainland for the Year increased by 10.4%
to HK$3,160,312,000 (2024: HK$2,863,294,000), accounting
for 59.9% (2024: 54.2%) of Mainland markets’ total and 23.7%
(2024: 18.7%) of the Group’s total. Its segment profit was
HK$57,381,000 (2024: HK$194,322,000), accounting for 9.9%
(2024: 20.0%) of Mainland markets’ total and 3.4% (2024: 9.0%)
of the Group’s total. Its segment profit margin was 1.8% (2024:
6.8%). The overall SSS in Mainland was -11.9% (2024: -2.4%),
with the SSS drop of fixed price jewellery products narrowing
from -21.3% last year to -14.0% and -11.5% (2024: +1.9%) for
its gold and platinum products. When excluding the gold hedging
losses attributed to the retailing business, its segment profit would
increase by 27.8% to HK$277,070,000 (2024: HK$216,831,000)
and the adjusted segment profit margin would increase by 1.2
p.p. to 8.8% (2024: 7.6%).

Although demand for diamond products in the Mainland market
remains sluggish, the launch of new collections of fixed price
gold products during the Year has significantly narrowed the
decline in wholesaling revenue to -12.2% to HK$1,258,784,000
(2024: HK$1,433,852,000), and accounted for 23.9% (2024:
27.1%) of Mainland market’s revenue and 9.4% (2024: 9.4%)
of the Group’s total. Because of the decrease in revenue and a
higher sales mix of gold wholesaling with lower gross margin, a
decrease in the government subsidies and expenses incurred
from workforce optimisation, segment turned from profit to loss
of HK$55,295,000 (2024 segment profit: HK$105,332,000),
accounting for -9.5% (2024: 10.8%) of Mainland market’s total
and -3.3% (2024: 4.9%) of the Group’s total. Its segment profit
margin reduced to -4.4% (2024: 7.3%). As the segment profit
of wholesaling business included the profit of inter-segment
sales to self-operated shops, if including intersegment sales
in the denominator, its segment profit margin would be -4.0%
(2024: 6.6%). When excluding gold hedging losses attributed to
the wholesaling business, this segment loss would decrease to
HK$23,814,000 (2024 segment profit: HK$115,021,000), and the
adjusted wholesaling segment profit margin would decrease by
9.9 p.p. to -1.9% (2024: 8.0%).

it
MANRCIEEFENSEBR R MEFEES
RREANBERAEE LN WEAM S
BHEEEBEN THEHEERDS NS FItR
EEZEWA EF10.4%%E3,160,312,000
T (20244 : 2,863,294,0005 7T) » 1A
HEEFERY59.9% (20244 1 54.2%) e REEEE
BER923.7% (20244F : 18.7%) » O ZBEF 2
57,381,0003 77 (20244 : 194,322,0005 7T) *
(HAM AT EERERY0.9% (20244 : 20.0%) &
IEEE EEREMS.4% (20244 1 9.0%) » D H
WA EA1.8% (20244 1 6.8%) o AMAIEERE
EIEHEEEA-11.9% (20244F :-2.4%) >
EEEHERNBEEHENLESEN-21.3%
WEZE-14.0% MEckilsERZBE
HEIRRAIA-11.5% (20245 (+1.9%) o &
W ESBNESHHEBL EHIER
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Licensing income in the Mainland market decreased by 13.6%
to HK$854,231,000 (2024: HK$989,000,000), which accounted
for 16.2% (2024: 18.7%) of Mainland market’s revenue and 6.4%
(2024: 6.5%) of the Group’s total. Its segment profit decreased by
14.5% to HK$575,367,000 (2024: HK$673,311,000), accounting
for 99.6% (2024: 69.2%) of Mainland market’s total and 34.5%
(2024: 31.3%) of the Group’s total. Its segment profit margin was
67.4% (2024: 68.1%).

To cater to the customer needs of different profiles, the Group
adopted a multi-brand strategy. The Group developed popular
product lines into independent shops, including “Goldstyle”, a
popular product collection well-known for pioneering exquisite
techniques, and “Heirloom Fortune”, which features traditional
craftsmanship of gold jewellery. In addition, the Group introduced
a brand and various sub-brands, including “3DG Jewellery”,
“Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY” for the affordable luxury market
and younger generation, and “Lukfook Joaillerie” for the high-end
market.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 3,179 shops
(2024: 3,490 shops) in Mainland, including 2,707 “Lukfook”
shops (2024: 3,030 shops), 231 “3DG Jewellery” shops (2024:
213 shops), 27 “Goldstyle” shops (2024: 56 shops), 37 “Lukfook
Joaillerie” shops (2024: 27 shops), 160 “Heirloom Fortune” shops
(2024: 146 shops) and 17 “Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY” shops
(2024: 18 shops). During the Year under review, the Group had
a net reduction of 329 “Lukfook” licensed shops (2024: +169
shops) in Mainland, while the number of “Lukfook” self-operated
shops increased by 6 shops (2024: -1 shop). Details are as
follows:

N mHEREEBBRARLDIS.6%E
854,231,000 75 (20244 : 989,000,000
BIT) AR B AR16.2% (2024
F118.7%) RAEBEFENG.4% (2024
F:16.5%) HYIWHEFEBDL14.5%F
575,367,000 75 (20244 : 673,311,000
7o) AT IR EER9.6% (20244 !
69.2%) R AEBERER34.5% (2024 :
31.3%) » EDE A ZEA67.4% (20244
68.1%) ©
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JEWELLERY J & = is T 5B 754818 GmER ) o

202593831 H  AEER R HEEFS,179
RS & (20244F © 3,490R9) » Erh @ 52,707
(7542l 588 (20244 : 3,030R0) ~231R &=
B B (20244 : 213f8) ~ 277 I Goldstyle |
[E 8 (20244 : 56/) ~ 37/ [7\E 15 RER &
# (20244 1 27/8) ~ 160 MEMEZR ][5
(20244 : 146f8) K17 MLove LUKFOOK
JEWELLERY JJE 8 (20244 : 18f) - R [EIRELE
FER - AREREARE R 7329/ 17518 @
FRIE (20244 (+169f) ' MINEBIEBEEHE
BI32 1N6RS (20244 :-1R9) o s#IEWT -
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Mainland Distribution Network Pyth 53 35445

31 March 2024

Shop number of Main-brands/Sub-brands/Product lines 31 March 2025
2024%3831H

E W BRI, ERSIEFEE 202553H31H

Y-0-Y Changes

wEEt

Lukfook Self-operated Shops
ax | BEE +6
Licensed Shops
i e s 2,962 -329
Sub-total
INEH 2,707 3,030 -323
3DG Jewellery Self-operated Shops
BRE 63 +36

L|censed Shops

Sub total
Net

Goldstyle Self- operated Shop
BEE
Licensed Shops
e rE & -29
Sub-total
INEF 27 56 -29

Lukfook Joalllerle Self-operated Shops
NEE M BEE

Licensed Shops

oA

24 +6
Sub-total
INEF 37 27 +10

Heirloom Fortune Self-operated Shops

EMExR BES

Licensed Shops

= e s 131 +17
Sub-total

/Nt 146 +14

Love LUKFOOK Speciality Shops
JEWELLERY =5

18 -1
Sub-total
NS 17 18 -1

Self- c;gerated Shops

iy
~

L|oensed Shops
el

Speciality Shops

17 18 -1
Total
3,179

3,322 -363
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During the Year under review, the overall same store sales growth
of “Lukfook” licensed shops in Mainland was -10.2% (2024:
+1.6%), while the same store sales growth for its gold and fixed
price jewellery products was -9.6% (2024: +7.6%) and -11.9%

vail

(2024: -13.6%) respectively. £ 1-13.6%) °

Mainland E-commerce Business Performance

PhEFEBHEHRE

Sales by Product
SHENERSR S
Gold & Platinum
HERAE

Fixed Price Jewellery

EEEH

7.9%
(8.1%)

Remarks: Figures for FY2024 are shown in brackets

51 RS AL024M FH T

Revenue WA

HK$1,844 Million B & &7t +0.4%
Y-0-Y Changes & &1k

Average Selling Price’ Y9 & &'

RMB2,200 +22.2%
AR #£2,2007T Y-0-Y Changes 12 & 1k

Contribution to Mainland Retailing Revenue? 1 P Z & Uk A2

58.4% (FY2024: 64.2%)
(202481 £ : 64.2%)

Contribution to Group’s Retailing Revenue? fl 7x £ B Z & Ug A2

16.7% (FY2024: 14.4%)
(202484 5 1 14.4%)

Remarks:

! ASP included value-added tax (VAT)
THEESZRER

2 Sales of self-operated shops and e-commerce business
BEEREFEHIHELHE
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During the Year under review, revenue of e-commerce business
from Mainland increased by 0.4% to HK$1,844,463,000 (2024:
HK$1,837,085,000), and accounting for 58.4% (2024: 64.2%) of
the retailing revenue in Mainland and 16.7% (2024: 14.4%) of the
Group’s retailing revenue. Sales of gold and platinum products
accounted for 92.1% (2024: 91.9%) of its sales mix and 7.9%
(2024: 8.1%) for its fixed price jewellery products.

Overall speaking, revenue from the Mainland market decreased
by 0.2% to HK$5,273,327,000 (2024: HK$5,286,146,000),
accounting for 39.5% (2024: 34.5%) of the Group’s total revenue.
Its segment profit decreased by 40.7% to HK$577,453,000
(2024: HK$972,965,000), accounting for 34.7% (2024: 45.2%)
of the Group’s total. Due to the reduced contribution of
licensing business of higher segment profit margin, its segment
profit margin decreased to 11.0% (2024: 18.4%). When
excluding the gold hedging losses attributed to the Mainland
market, its segment profit would be HK$828,623,000 (2024:
HK$1,005,163,000). The adjusted segment profit margin
decreased by 3.3 p.p. to 15.7% (2024: 19.0%).

REIBEFERN AMEFEHHEEFHIAE
00.4%%E1,844,463,0008 75 (20244
1,837,085,000787T) » A 2 & I A 1958.4%
(20244 1 64.2%) R AEBTEWAN6.7%
(20244 1 14.4%) - EF$ KiAE E MR
EHEEA92.1% (20244 : 91.9%) > TMETEE
EHHEREIAT7.9% (20244 1 8.1%) °
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577,453,000 75 (20244 : 972,965,000
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(20244F : 19.0%) ©
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Non-HKFRS Financial Measure

To supplement the consolidated results of the Group prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards, certain non-
HKFRS financial measures, EBITDA, EBITDA margin, adjusted
segment profit, adjusted segment profit margin and total
operating expenses to revenue ratio have been presented in this
report. The management of the Group believes that such non-
HKFRS financial measures provide investors with clearer view
on the Group’s financial results, and with useful supplementary
information to assess the performance of the Group’s strategic
operations by excluding the impact of certain non-cash items.
Nevertheless, the use of this non-HKFRS financial measure has
limitations as an analytical tool. These unaudited non-HKFRS
financial measures should be considered in addition to, not as
a substitute for, analysis of the Group’s financial performance
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards. In
addition, these non-HKFRS financial measures may be defined
differently from similar terms used by other companies.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s cash and bank balances
(including structured deposits stated as derivative financial
instruments) amounted to HK$1,991,000,000 (2024:
HK$1,998,000,000). Net borrowings, being bank borrowings
of HK$522,000,000 (2024: 362,000,000) and gold loans
of HK$1,674,000,000 (2024: 1,066,000,000) less cash
and bank balances, was HK$205,000,000 (2024 net cash:
HK$570,000,000). The debt-to-equity ratio was 36.0% (2024:
31.0%), being the ratio of total liabilities of HK$4,756,000,000
(2024: HK$3,990,000,000) against total shareholders’ equity of
HK$13,203,000,000 (2024: HK$12,891,000,000). As at 31 March
2025, the Group’s banking facilities amounted to HK$5.10 billion
(2024: HK$4.42 billion), of which HK$2.20 billion (2024: HK$1.43
billion) has been utilised. The Group’s income and expenditure
streams are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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Inventory
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Inventory Turnover Days (By Product)
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Gold
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Fixed price jewellery
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As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s inventory increased by 12.2%
to HK$10,739,000,000 (2024: HK$9,567,000,000). The average
inventory turnover days were 427 days (2024: 310 days) with the
average inventory turnover days of gold products being 276 days
(2024: 180 days) and 866 days (2024: 738 days) for fixed price
jewellery products.

The inventory turnover days calculated basing on closing inventory
were 451 days (2024: 322 days) with the closing inventory
turnover days of gold products being 306 days (2024: 191 days)
and 879 days (2024: 753 days) for fixed price jewellery products.

Capital Expenditure

During the Year under review, the Group’s capital expenditures
amounted to approximately HK$142,000,000 (2024:
HK$680,000,000), including the costs of leasehold improvements,
furniture, fixtures and equipment (2024: the costs of properties,
leasehold lands, land use rights, leasehold improvements,
furniture, fixtures and equipment).

Capital Commitments
As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total capital commitments
amounted to HK$17,000,000 (2024: HK$20,000,000).

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantee
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities.
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Human Capital Policy

As at 31 March 2025, the number of employees of the Group
was approximately 6,700 (2024: 6,900). The management
reviews and examines the remuneration policies on a regular
basis to ensure that fair rewards and compensation are provided
to our employees. Remuneration packages are determined with
reference to comparable market rates while bonuses and other
rewards are linked to the performances of the Group and the
employees. This policy aims to motivate employees with monetary
incentives to work together to enhance the Group’s business
performance.

The increase in central banks’ gold reserves and escalating
worldwide geopolitical tensions have driven gold prices to rise
continuously. Although the spike in gold prices may affect sales
performance, an increase in profit margin will help mitigate
the impact of the decline in sales. Sales of the gold products
are expected to resume to the normal levels after consumers
adapt to the high gold prices. Furthermore, with the flourishing
development of jewellery craftsmanship, the Group will continue
to actively promote fixed price gold products and fixed price
diamond-set pure gold products.

With effective branding and product differentiation strategies, the
overall SSS of the Group from 1 April to 21 June 2025 was further
improved. SSS in the Mainland market saw a nearly 20% growth,
while the Hong Kong and Macau market remained relatively flat.
With ongoing optimisation of fixed price jewellery product mix and
improving Mainland market, the Group’s business performance
may improve in the remaining months of FY2025/26.

Given the all-round support of the Group, 3DG Group
had demonstrated strong business growth and significant
improvement on operation in 2024/25, with revenue amounting
to HK$712 million for the nine months ended 31 March 2025,
representing an increase of nearly 20% over the twelve months
ended 31 March 2024. The gross profit margin increased by
7 p.p. to 35%. When excluding the impact of gold hedging
losses, its retailing, licensing and e-commerce businesses and
overall business in Mainland all recorded a turnaround to profit.
Besides, the SSS of its Mainland market recorded a nearly 20%
growth from 1 April to 21 June 2025 as well. It is believed that
with continuous optimisation in various aspects, 3DG Group will
become an important driver for the Group’s growth.

ADEFEE

2025383 1H AEBNE T A#AL
6,700 A (20244 : 6,900 \) - EI2E E HAtE 5T
BBIZEFMEE UERAS TREA TR
B R 1B o SN BT 8 BRI 5K F
BET MCAREMRENARERRE
EXRIFHH LR ETURERE  FEE
TREMREFAARERERRIBNEZ

ZERTHEFETSHEEREEMGE AL
BRNEREBCEEBRERT BRI
ARG EHEE  EEFMENEARE R
RHEETHNTE - THEEBERSSER
BEHEAZRBEE -/ BEKETZ
RifZEER *EERGEBSRITEREE
BERTERMNEOERESEEER

AENNRBREEREREEZCRET &
ER2025F481HE6H21 HEIB MR
[EHEE—FTHNE AMTIBNEEHEEIE
EEAMA MEBRMIBAARIFFE-BETE
BENHERESGHEELLURRMTEIHZHNK
Z EFEFEEN2025/268 Fx FHMHE
BEERR

AREEN2AUXHE T S E2EEEN
2024/25F ERIFHBIMNER A EMEEDN
EENE B E202553831H IEAE BRI
AZE7 A2BHB T B2024FE3831H L+ 1@
BFEme EFEEM7EE D HEIS%
WA RESH PEBENEE R RH
TE BB RETFERER R EREREE
AR R2025F481HE6H21 M B
P R E) E S & TR R 1S M AL IS = o 4R
EAESFENBEELCT s Z8E£ERE
HRANEBRRENEERSN /-

Annual Report 2024/25 R



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SEER eSS

The U.S. tariff policies continue to impact the global economy
and heightened tensions in China-U.S. relations. The Mainland
government has been actively forming a “dual circulation”
strategic layout which vigorously boosts domestic demand
with a number of policies being introduced in order to support
the property and capital markets. As such, the Group remains
cautiously optimistic about its medium- and long-term business
prospects in Mainland and will continue to expand in the Mainland
market in the future. Therefore, the Group targets to net add 50
shops for the Mainland market in FY2025/26. Apart from that,
the Group is optimistic about the immense growth potential in
the overseas market. As a result, the Group will allocate more
resources for expansion and plans to have a net addition of
approximately 20 shops in the overseas market in this financial
year. Furthermore, the Group also aims to net add 2 shops in the
Macau market.

The Group has set up its new three-year corporate strategy
starting from FY2025/26 with Overseas Market Expansion,
Market-Oriented Products and Operational Efficiency
Enhancement as its three main focuses so as to foster its future
business growth.

FEHBMBERFELELIEE  PEAHF
R RMBFIEE NBR TLEIR) BbsMH
B RARERFMNELZHBRKFED
REXRN G NEBREIIEHRAMPREE
BRRMRERES  RRNBSERAM
15 o AL » A5 B 5t 872 2025/268 £ 7F 15
KOO E & o b5 > REBE T BN IHAIE
RERE ALLBRBEZEREHERE
BN WET BN AR EEBINTIHAF
18 ROOM) E & » 5590 » ANEE @ TR 5 BIFSRPITH
P IE R I o

REEEE ST E2025/268 F RN =F
ERE U TBINTISERE  THEERER)
RIEENDBIEIFR=ZREL UBHER
EREEBRARRE R

Focus on Oversea Market Expansion

HENEALISER

Focus on Market-oriented Products

HEInthBERER

Sustainable Growth
BHEIER

Focus on Operational Efficiency Enhancement
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Overseas Market Expansion

The Group sees significant growth potential in the overseas
market and will allocate more resources to expand its footprint
across the world, including new shops openings. Currently, the
Group’s footprint spans 11 countries and regions, with a goal to
enter at least 3 additional countries and net add 50 new overseas
shops within the next three years. In addition, the Group is
committed to developing its overseas e-commerce business and
strengthening cooperation with various e-commerce platforms. At
the same time, it will also optimise its own e-commerce platform,
aiming to sustain the growth in e-commerce revenue. In light of
the enormous spending potential of young consumers on online
sales platforms, the Group will continue its endeavours to promote
the sales of affordable luxury jewellery products to expand its
global footprint in the young consumer market.
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Market-Oriented Products

The Group is committed to providing market-oriented products.
In response to the trend of polarised consumption, we are
extending our focus to both premium and affordable luxury
segments. Through in-depth analysis of consumer needs, the
Group continues to optimise its product mix, launch concept
stores and enhance product in-store merchandising. Furthermore,
the Group leverages market data to drive product innovation. The
Group continues to promote its product differentiation strategy
by delivering brand stories and values, combining its unique
design with craftsmanship innovation, providing personalised
customisation services, launching IP collaboration projects and
ensuring quality assurance to enhance its market competitiveness.
Additionally, efficient product management enables the Group
to effectively coordinate sales and marketing, and strengthen
the supply of hot-selling products, thereby fully capitalising on
sales opportunities to boost sales volume. On the other hand,
the Group enhances inventory efficiency by precisely managing
the product structure and flexibly adjusting the product portfolio
in response to market demands, based on data-driven product
management strategies.

Operational Efficiency Enhancement

In order to improve its operational efficiency, the Group
will promote its productivity by optimising its supply chain
management, implementing full automation, big data
management and data analytics, as well as the application
of artificial intelligence technology. At the same time, cross-
departmental collaboration and agile project management will
further help to enhance collaborative efficiency among teams,
ensuring companies to remain competitive in a rapidly changing
market. The Group will also strive to maximise employees’
productivity by cultivating cultures of continuous improvement and
innovation, nurturing strategic thinking and proactive attitudes,
optimising its training programmes and refining its performance
management system.
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As consumers increasingly pursue uniqueness, diversity, and
products that better reflect their values and lifestyles, Lukfook
Group has implemented a targeted approach through a multi-
brand strategy to precisely cover various market segments, fulfil
the needs of different consumers and seize market opportunities.
As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s brands include Lukfook
Jewellery, 3DG Jewellery, Heirloom Fortune, Goldstyle, Lukfook
Joalillerie and Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY.

“Lukfook Jewellery” focuses on the mass luxury market and
is committed to providing consumers with quality and good
value-for-money jewellery offerings. In 2025, Lukfook Jewellery
appointed famous actor Cheng Vi as its global brand ambassador.
This collaboration with Cheng Yi helps to elevate the brand’s
youthful image. Lukfook Jewellery looks forward to embarking
on a new journey with Cheng Yi to explore infinite possibilities in
future.
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In addition to its global brand ambassador, the brand also invited
fashion-forward artist Yu Chengen to be the “New Year Fashion
Ambassador” during the Chinese New Year period, to promote
the Lukfook Jewellery x rednote co-branded campaign and
boost market attention on stylish gold jewellery during the period.
The brand has also actively partnered with Hong Kong artists,
including collaborating with singer Gin Lee on photoshoots and
videos featuring the “DiaBling Shimmering Gold”, and inviting the
popular Hong Kong group P1X3L to attend an Lantern Festival
event at the Lukfook Jewellery shop in Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong, where they wore the “DiaBling Shimmering Gold” jewellery
and interacted with fans. During the Year under review, the brand
also sponsored the concerts of German Ku, the champion of
“Midlife, Sing & Shine! 2”, and veteran actor Woo Fung, further
strengthening emotional connections with consumers.

Lukfook Jewellery continues to be market-driven and actively
invests in product research and development. At the end of 2024,
it launched the “DiaBling Shimmering Gold” Collection crafted
with CNC radiant colours finish, 360-degree filigree and precision
laser cutting to create a multi-faceted radiant effect on gold. A
series of promotional campaigns were rolled out for this collection,
including the cross-over collaboration with “Harbin Ice and
Snow World” in hosting the “DiaBling Art Exhibition” at the 26th
Harbin Ice and Snow World to showcase 20 sets of “DiaBling
Shimmering Gold” jewellery in a 36-square-metre golden ice
house, making Lukfook Jewellery the first brand to hold a jewellery
art exhibition at Harbin Ice and Snow World. The exhibition
attracted numerous visitors and significantly increased brand
exposure. Besides, Lukfook Jewellery’s annual event “Lukfook
Jewellery Raceday”, also featured the “DiaBling Shimmering
Gold” theme. The brand invited Kelly Cheung, the champion of
Miss Chinese International Pageant 2012, and winners of Miss
Hong Kong Pageant 2024 to showcase the brand new “DiaBling
Shimmering Gold” jewellery at the glamorous diamond jewellery
shows on the Raceday.
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Lukfook Jewellery has also sparked new collaborations with “Miss
Hong Kong”. The brand was appointed as the official sponsor of
the crown and jewellery for the “Miss Hong Kong Pageant” for
the 23rd time, and launched the “Miss Hong Kong Love Yourself
Jewellery Collection”, which incorporated the pageant’s iconic
logo into everyday jewellery design. A limited-edition diamond
crown was also introduced, promoting the brand’s message of
female empowerment and self-confidence, fulfiling the beauty-
conscious women’s dreams of having a crown. Besides, “Lukfook
Jewellery” has also crafted the “King Pro League” champion rings
for 17 consecutive seasons, witnessing moments of glory and
enhancing its brand penetration in the youth market.

To carry forward the brand reputation of “Get Hulu at Lukfook”,
Lukfook Jewellery unveiled the “National Beauty” Collection during
the Year under review, continuing to lead the trend in gourd-
inspired design. It also participated in 11 wedding expos and the
4th China International Consumer Products Expo, co-organised
the “520 The Love Zone” pop-up store with the Platinum Guild
International, and was also invited to participate in the joint
promotion of the World Gold Council’s “2024 Hard Gold/Antique
Gold Jewellery Digital Social Media”, driving multi-channel brand
promotion.
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3DG JEWELLERY

Since its establishment, 3DG Jewellery has been adhering to
the service concept of “8DG Prestige Service”, offering delicate,
good-value-for-money products with creative design and exquisite
craftsmanship to cater to consumers’ demand for affordable
luxury jewellery.

During the Year under review, the brand unveiled four “Stylish
Femme” Collections based on the brand concept of “Pursue
Ultimate Beauty e Embrace a Golden Life”, empowering every
stylish woman to shine with confidence and radiate diverse
styles. In 2025, the brand held the “Style by you e KELLY All
Around” Shop Opening Ceremony and Meet-and-Greet at Central
Emporium in Nanjing. At the event, 3DG Jewellery officially
announced Kelly Chen as Stylish Femme, Friend of the Brand,
injecting “Her Fashion” power into the brand, and unlocking the
multifaceted charisma of “Stylish Femme” with stylish jewellery.

3DG Jewellery has collaborated with Kelly Chen for many years.
This year marks the 20th anniversary of 3DG Jewellery’s “Dreamy
Flying” Gold & Diamond Carriage which made a sparkling debut
alongside Kelly Chen’s nationwide tour in 2005. To commemorate
this occasion, the brand meticulously recreates the dazzling
replica of the gold carriage with gold and gemstones. During
the Year under review, the brand held the “The Gilded Seal:
Golden Carriage Glorious Parade” at Kingbuy Center in Foshan,
The Central in Nanjing, and InTime Department Store in Lu’an,
reigniting public memories of the brand and building anticipation
for officially announcing Kelly Chen as Stylish Femme, Friend of
the Brand.

During the Year under review, the brand featured the “Love Lane”
Collection as its iconic theme, emphasising the personalised DIY
styling for customers to mix and match freely and make a bold
statement of their personal style. The brand also joined hands with
its global brand spokesperson, Xu Kai, to hold the Shop Opening
Ceremony and Meet-and-Greet at New Mart Shopping Plaza in
Dalian. At the event, Xu Kai wore the “Fun Alphabet” charms from
the latest “Love Lane” Collection and spelled out “ALASO” to
interact with fans. The brand also launched the nationwide “Love
Lane” Collection DIY fun experience themed roadshow, promoting
its brand features and new products to consumers across the
country.
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HEIRLOOM FORTUNE

Heirloom Fortune opened its first independent shop in 2022. After
three years of development, it has become a key brand driving
the Group’s growth. Inspired by the design concept of “passing
down the traditional virtue of filial piety and conveying the blessing
for a blissful life”, Heirloom Fortune interprets the essence of
traditional culture with finely crafted gold pieces, and incorporates
craftsmanship including antique gold techniques, mother-of-
pearl inlay and gilt-colouring into gold products to showcase the
distinctive charisma of antique styles, convey cultural values and
best wishes, and live on as treasured family heirlooms.

During the Year under review, Heirloom
Fortune held the “Charm of Song
Dynasty” themed roadshow, with famous
actresses Samantha Ko, Hera Chan and
Kelly Gu appearing as special guests at
the Guangzhou premiere, showcasing
the gold jewellery featuring the elements
such as the sky blue enamel, Song
Dynasty ceramics, calligraphy and
paintings and embodying classical
oriental aesthetics. Additionally, the
“Tang Dynasty Style” Collection,
launched together with the “Charm of Song Dynasty” Collection, is
innovatively set with rubies to showcase the gorgeous splendour
of the Tang Dynasty and enchanting beauty of ancient style.
The brand also introduced the “Gold Splendour of Dunhuang”
Collection, using antique gold craftsmanship to bring out the
distinctive lustre and texture of gold, and combining precious
materials such as pearl, gilt-colouring, turquoise and chalcedony
to capture the essence of cultural fusion between the East and the
West during the prosperous era of the Silk Road.
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e Gold Splendour
of Dunhuang

To promote the inheritance of traditional Chinese intangible
cultural heritage crafts, Heirloom Fortune partnered with Jinan
University to hold a “Reviving the Ancient Art of Mother-of-Pearl
Inlay” themed workshop. Over 20 foreign language students
participated in an immersive experience in making mother-of-
pearl inlay, gaining a deeper understanding of the exquisite
craftsmanship behind each jewellery creation. Meanwhile,
the brand opened its first shop in the Hong Kong and
Macau region in Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong, further
deepening the local market’'s understanding of
Chinese-style aesthetic jewellery.
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Goldstyle is crafted with pioneering gold-crafting techniques to
nearly double up the hardness of gold jewellery compared to that
of conventional gold, to create a variety of gold jewellery that rivals
the design quality of karat gold. Building on the foundation of
Goldstyle, the Group introduced Goldstyle e X featuring a modern
aesthetic blend of gold and diamond, adding on-trend sparkle to
gold products.

Moreover, Goldstyle created an array of gold jewellery designs
featuring the vibrant gourd motifs with distinctive carved patterns
that are suitable for everyday wear and expressing personal
style. The brand also invited “Share Love and Fun Ambassadors”
Guo Junchen and Bi Wenjun to showcase these pieces at
events, and collaborated with actress Zhang Ruonan on product
photoshoots, unveiling gold’s contemporary appeal. In future,
the brand will continue to incorporate diverse elements into gold
jewellery designs, offering customers a wider choice of stylish and
fashionable products.

Featuring a prestigious and elegant brand image, Lukfook
Joalllerie is dedicated to providing quality products, including a
diversified selection of award-winning jewellery masterpieces,
and premium services for the customers who pursue high quality,
stylish design and personalised experience, striving to enhance
consumption experience.

MULTI-BRAND STRATEGY
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Lukfook Joaillerie actively pursued further development in
overseas markets with a particular focus on Southeast Asia. The
brand invited Moon Lau, who won favourite actress at TVB Star
Awards Malaysia, as guest of honour for its shop in Malaysia to
enhance the brand'’s influence there. During the Year under review,
the Group also opened its first Lukfook Joaillerie in the Hong Kong
and Macau region at MGM Cotai, Macau, and held the award
presentation ceremony during the opening ceremony to present
the diamond crown and precious jewellery pieces with a total
value of over HK$5,000,000 to Miss Hong Kong Pageant 2024
winners, further consolidating the brand’s position in the high-end
market.

Meanwhile, Lukfook Joaillerie also collaborated with renowned
artists including popular actresses Tan Songyun, Meng Ziyi
and Myolie Wu on photoshoots to showcase the exquisite
craftsmanship and international design vision of jewellery.
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Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY is built for young consumers who
value fashion, individuality and trendy lifestyle, as well as those
who pursue affordable luxury quality life. The brand, featuring the
theme “Love”, aligns with the branding theme of “Love is Beauty”,
and encourages consumers to love themselves, love their family
and love their friends to pursue love, live with love, and stay in
love.

MLove LUKFOOK JEWELLERY | &AM =6
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The shop design extends the signature colour tone of “Lukfook
Jewellery”, and features modern and classic elements, as well as
diversified photo-taking zones, aiming to create a heart-warming
romantic shopping atmosphere with simple yet stylish interior
design. The display cabinets are designed in an artwork display
style, highlighting the fusion of jewellery and design aesthetics
and emphasising the emotional interactions with consumers.
“Love LUKFOOK JEWELLERY” also actively seized the market
opportunities by opening its first overseas shop in Thailand to
expand its business territory and enhance brand influence.

PRODUCT DESIGN

Producing the finest products with exquisite craftsmanship and
stylish designs is one of the core competencies of the Group.
Therefore, the Group is committed to striving for excellence in
product design and quality, and bringing diverse elements to
our products to create a wide range of jewellery with ingenious
designs and exquisite craftsmanship.

Qur professional jewellery design team is equipped with great
sense of style to lead the trend. They have also actively taken part
in various local and international jewellery design competitions.
Our jewellery design team won three awards, including the
“Best of Show Award (Open Group)”, the “Craftsmanship and
Technology Award” and the “Merit Award (Open Group)” for the
design pieces “Romance & Classics” and “Shining Stars” at the
26th “Hong Kong Jewellery Design Competition”. As at 31 March
2025, our jewellery design team has won 220 awards.

Romance & Classicy

Shining Star%/
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RECOGNITIONS & AWARDS BRIRTAER

The Group’s continuous efforts in brand building have been ZAEBERBEER EHFES I EB/ER
recognised with the following awards and accolades from the KHIZRBEIT RSN FEERED > 81 !
industry and market, which included:

- “Hong Kong Star Brand Award - Enterprise” for 12 -  EBEI2EREFEBERBE—BEE)
consecutive years

- “Consumer Caring Company” for 12 consecutive years - EEIFEZFTABLILRE)
- Honoured once again the “Awards of Excellence in ESG - HBESEMRE HEehEATHEES
— Honourable Mention (Hang Seng Composite Index R ((BAEGEIE-MMGIRAR) ]

Constituent Companies)”

-  The first Hong Kong jewellery enterprise received the -  EfSREIKEERERBECETL TS
“Greater Bay Area Star Brand Enterprise Award” kB

—  Dual certifications of “O20 Customer Experience - (B IO20EEREINEIREEEE
Recognition” and “Quality Trusted E-Shop” [h BB ES

- Recognised in the 2024 “KPMG China Consumer 50” - ANE2024FETZ2E5E P EHES0FE)

 BLILAZANEE Grasews | BSINPEESTEHES

Consumer Caring Scheme

QUALITY ASSURANCE HER:E

The Group puts emphasis on quality control and authenticaton ZAEBE+ D TE RBEEILERETE  HFRAEE
to enhance consumers’ confidence, and is meticulous from BHRZ—MHE0RE > AFRBEETH—
procurement to authentication. In 1996, China Gems Laboratory — #4 F~%) o jR1996F » I AEB 2 BB A
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group which is B - EKEEETOERAG HEEK
operated and managed by experienced and certified gemologists, BRI B A E E AT E = E  IRMHERETE 5T
was established to provide services including authentication and #R R R EGERECKKEEEHRAZE
grading of diamonds, authentication of jadeite jade and coloured — ARF% ©

gemstones, and quality testing for jewellery.
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In addition, the Group set up Victoria Gemological Institute
Limited, which principally engages in jewellery authentication
and professional training, and operates a laboratory to provide
services for the jewellery sector and customers. The institute
has passed the ISO/IEC 17025 accreditation of the ANSI-ASQ
National Accreditation Board (ANAB) and the accreditation of the
International Laboratory Accreditation Cooperation (ILAC), and is
authorised to issue internationally recognised reports for diamond
grading, jadeite jade, ruby, sapphire and emerald testing.

Besides, the Group also collaborated with the National Gemstone
Testing Center and became one of the first jewellery brands
to launch e-certificate, making joint efforts to provide quality
assurance for consumers and protect the interests of consumers.

EXCELLENT SERVICE

Lukfook’s cultivation of a warm-hearted brand image would not be
successful without a commitment to service excellence. Adhering
to the service motto of “Exquisite Craftsmanship, Quality Services
and Customer Orientation”, we act in the customers’ best
interests. In line with the branding theme of “Love is Beauty”, the
Group has introduced the “Delivering the Beauty of Love with Six
Heartfelt Services” excellent customer service programme to fulfil
customers’ needs with a caring heart, and offer quality, sincere
services to customers to tie in with the “Six Heartfelt Services”
service standard, with a view to providing the most enjoyable
shopping experience for customers and relaying the corporate
culture of “Lukfook Family”.

In response to the changes in customers’ consumption patterns
in recent years, the Group has continuously optimised its
e-commerce system and e-Shop, and integrated a live chat
function where customers can communicate with our customer
service team anytime to receive professional shopping advice. We
strived to create a seamless and innovative 020 (online-to-offline)
shopping experience, delivering more convenient and diverse
consumption experience to customers.
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To keep abreast of market trend and create more diversified,
comfortable shopping space, the Group has unveiled three types
of new shop image for “Lukfook Jewellery” — “Image Shop”,
“Affordable Luxury Shop” and “Concept Shop”, aiming to provide
diversified and cohesive consumption experience for customers.

Featuring the brand logo colour tone and simple, fashionable and
youthful design, the “Image Shop” brings a sense of quiet luxury
with contemporary simple style and highlights a spacious and
comfortable space. The “Affordable Luxury Shop” features more
sophisticated and luxurious design. A spacious and comfortable
environment in chic and elegant style reflects impeccable taste
to create a pleasant space. Featuring a blend of Lukfook’s brand
culture and creative concepts, the “Concept Shop” subverts
the gorgeous and cool image of traditional jewellery shops with
different themes, including the “Moonlit Lotus Pond” and “Hong
Kong Nostalgia” themes, and incorporates cultural elements into
various zones through innovative commercial space design and
artistic presentation to create a comfortable environment, aiming
to provide diverse and immersive consumption experience for
customers.

In addition to enhancing the shopping experience at Lukfook
shops, the Group also held roadshows for various brands across
the country and participated in wedding expos. Through different
themed roadshows, the Group presented the distinctive concepts
of different brands to consumers, and endeavoured to provide
more channels for the public to experience Lukfook’s quality
products and services.
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
AND BOARD COMMITTEES
ESgREFZEENEE

As at 31 March 2025

R2025%3831H

Board of Directors

ESg

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung' (Chairman &
Chief Executive Officer)
BRBERE (FEFRTHAEH)
r. WONG Ho Lung, Danny' (Deputy Chairman)
,aa\/:.ﬁé%f (BIE/Z)

Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy'
{7 Lexequnl

Ms. WONG Hau Yeung'
FI5kE L

Dr. CHAN So Kuen'
PREIEIE L

Mr. TSE Moon Chuen?
EREY

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP?
SRR F AL

Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP?
22 1EBBS » MHA 4R =2
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP®
TS BGBS A T4 L0

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin®
SRS

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP®
QBN TS

Mr. HUI King Wai®

B P

Remarks: #3E

1 Executive Director #1178 %

2 Non-executive Director JFHITHE S

3 Independent Non-executive Director %17 JFHITE S

Audit Committee

Mr. MAK Wlng Sum, Alvin
ERBRILE (FE)

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP®
B EGBSA 4R =2

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP®
BB AR T AL

Mr. HUI King Wai®

5T 55t B ST A

Nomination Committee

?ze%éﬁ =

Mr. MAK ng Sum, Alvin® (Cha/rman)
TRBRITE (EE)

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung'
BEBLE

Mr. TSE Moon Chuen?

EiN bzt

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP®
EH GBS A 4R 8

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP®
ERBER AL

Mr. HUI King Wai®

5T 55t B ST A

Remuneration Committee

HNWEEE

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP® (Chairman)
S BCBSA T (/)

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin®
KRB LS

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP®
ERBER AL

Mr. HUI King Wai®

5 5 B ST A
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The Board of the Company recognises that sound and
effective corporate governance practices and procedures,
with an emphasis on integrity, transparency, accountability and
independence, are essential to enhance the shareholders’ value
and safeguard the shareholders’ interests. The Company is
committed to maintaining a good corporate governance standard
and endeavours to ensure that its businesses are conducted in
accordance with all applicable rules and regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

Shareholders

ARABNEZTGRA TRATEME BH
E-BEERBIMZBERT  BRREREMZ
TEEEARRKEFHREARREERRRE
RREDBHEER - AAFAEERRF R
XEARE U NHBFRERMEERRA
RIEHIETES

(TS

Board of Directors

Exg

Company
Secretary
REWE

Management
EIEE

Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee

RBREEE HWEEE

Internal Audit
Department
A EB & 5t EB

AR External Auditor

%‘g‘g“ﬁt‘g SNEE L BET

Risk Management and
Sustainability Committee

R B E IR K FT 5 48
RREET
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CORPORATE AND GOVERNANCE CULTURE

In order to achieve our corporate vision and long-term business
goals of “Brand of Hong Kong, Sparkling the World”, the Group
firmly believes that it must act with integrity, transparency, and
accountability. The Board serves as the cornerstone of the
Group’s governance framework, bearing the primary responsibility
for defining the Group’s mission and strategic direction. It
remains fully committed to leading the Group in adhering to the
corporate values of “Building a Family on Virtues”. These values
are grounded in six core pillars including Integrity, Practicality,
Innovation, Proactivity, Diversity, and Quality which shape the
essence of Lukfook’s virtues.

{29 Quality
mEBE BRI w
Be quality oriented and
commit to excellence

f&1B Proactivity
BiRmE Lo FHER Core Values
FHELE ARZOEE

Advocate a positive
attitude, learn proactively,
and pursue continuous

learning and self-
enhancement ‘

% 5T Diversity
TERE Lo #
BRSNS R ZE ) B
Embrace equality,
friendship, diversity

and inclusion, build a
harmonious corporation
both internally and
externally, and put the
overall interests as the
first priority to achieve
win-win outcome

EEXEREANIE
FEBEREMEENEBARME BEREE/
CEBSARENEBER CANHAGE B
PNaEENEENTE EFgHEAERE
ARBHNEL BEEFEAEEEMER
BAORANEEEE - A2 0RATALER
BEAEREZRUINEEBER ZFE
BHEUNBEBHAARZOIERER &
BHE-BE RN BB 2T REE-

%8 Practicality
Be realistic, modest and
pragmatic

313 Integrity
EWART EEEN
Act with sincerity and
honesty

B Innovation
Strive for change as well
as breakthrough thinking
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In order to realise the Group’s vision, mission, core values and
strategies, in addition to innovative design, superb craftsmanship
and continuous pursuit of excellence, the Board has also fostered
a corporate culture of “Lukfook Family” for the Company, which
integrates the six “Loves” (love for self, love for families, love for
careers, love for learning, love for lives, love for general public) in
all aspects of the enterprise, allowing employees to realise their full
potentials, and to enhance the cohesion and sense of belonging
to the Company amongst the team.

At the same time, we believe that strong governance is the
foundation for achieving strategic goals of long-term stability.
Therefore, we have established a robust governance structure,
rigorous risk management and an effective internal control system,
SO as to promote sustainable business development and bring
long-term value to all stakeholders.

Further information on the Group’s vision, mission, values and
management philosophy is available on Lukfook Group’s website
and the Company’s Sustainability Report.

REBEAEENES Eao ZOBERR
B bR T BERIF R BHE L2 RUNEE
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The Company has applied the principles and complied with all
code provisions and, where applicable, the recommended best
practices of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in the then Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on Stock Exchange during the
Year under review, except for the following deviation:

Code Provision C.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual, so that there is a clear division
of responsibilities for the management of the Board and the
day-to-day management of the Group’s business to ensure a
balance of power and authority.

In view of the increasing trend of business deriving from the
Mainland market, it is believed that Mr. WONG Wai Sheung
being the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
will further enhance the business development of the Group in
the Mainland market due to its norms on “status parity” when
future business negotiations are conducted in Mainland. Besides,
members of the Board also include qualified professionals and
other prominent and experienced individuals from our community.
The Board considers that the existing Board composition, with the
support of Board Committees and Deputy Chairman, can ensure
a balance of power and authority. The Board will nevertheless
review this structure from time to time and will consider the
segregation of the two roles when appropriate.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors is aware of any
information that would reasonably indicate that the Company
is not, or was not for any part of the Year under review, in
compliance with the CG Code.

The Company adopts the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry
of all directors, they confirmed that they had complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and its code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions during the
Year under review.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises five executive directors,
three non-executive directors and four independent non-
executive directors. They include persons with a wealth of
practical experiences in the jewellery industry, accountancy
profession, securities industry, banking industry and legal
profession. The Board possesses a balance of skills,
experiences and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. The composition
of our Board complies with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules. The current members of the Board are
set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung
(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny (Deputy Chairman)
Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy
Ms. WONG Hau Yeung
Dr. CHAN So Kuen

Non-executive Directors

Mr. TSE Moon Chuen

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP

Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP

Mr. HUI King Wai

The biographical details of the directors are set out in the
section of “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 80 to 92 of this Annual Report.
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(ii) Attendance Records at the Board, Board
Committees and General Meetings

The attendance records of the individual directors at
the Board, Audit Committee, Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and general meetings during the

Year under review are set out as follows:

Directors =

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung (Chairman & &RE&EE (FEF
Chief Executive Offcer) TEAE %)

Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny BREREE
(Deputy Chairman) e,

Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy BEFUT

Ms. WONG Hau Yeung BRI xogn

Dr. CHAN So Kuen BREREEL

Non-executive Directors FRITES

Mr. TSE Moon Chuen HRERE

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP By

Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP T E1EBBS  MHA T4+

Independent Non-executive BiFRiTES
Directors

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP  E#BGBSK T4+

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin BRREE

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP Ny

Mr. HUI King Wai FREE

During the Year under review, the Chairman held a meeting with
the Independent Non-executive Directors without presence of

other directors.

Board
Bxg

4/4
4/4

4/4
4/4
4/4

4/4
4/4
4/4

4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4

(i)

EFCER -EXELEY

RRE 2z HFEDE
B EEREEEERNET ESgY
#OEBZZEEER RLEEEEH

Nomination Remuneration

Committee

FMEES

N/A 145
N/A R

N/A 18R
N/A R
N/A R

N/A 1B
N/A T B
N/A 1B

2/2
2/2
2/2

FMEZEEE:
ESR 7l
No. of Meetings Attended/Held
HE/BITEERY
Audit
Committee Committee
EREZEY R4%EEE
N/A R4 11
N/A R N/A R
N/A B N/A RER
N/A R4 N/A REFR
N/A R N/A R
N/A R4 11
N/A R N/A R
N/A iR N/A R
2/2 1/
2/2 11
2/2 11
2/2 1/1

2/2

Bk

ERRERANG 2 HEL R

Annual
General
Meeting

RREFEAE

11
11

11
11
11

11
11
11

11
11
11
11
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BB IEHITERRIT T —
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(iii)

(iv)

EEAWMS

Board Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board’s role is to provide entrepreneurial leadership of
the Company within a framework of prudent and effective
controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed.
The Board controls the business but delegates day-to-day
responsibilities to the executive management. The Board
sets the Company’s strategic aims, values and standards
and ensures that its obligations to its shareholders and other
stakeholders are understood and fulfilled by the members of
the Board.

The Company has a formal schedule of matters specifically
reserved to the Board for its decision. The Board gives clear
directions to management as to the matters that must be
approved by the Board before decisions are made on behalf
of the Company.

All the directors of the Company have full and timely access
to all relevant information and have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary of the Company,
with a view to ensuring that all proper Board procedures,
applicable rules and regulations are followed. All the
directors including the independent non-executive directors
may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense in carrying out
their functions, upon making request to the Board.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance
to indemnify the directors for their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
regularly.

Independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors

The Company confirms that the Board has received from
each of the independent non-executive directors, namely,
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin,
Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina and Mr. HUI King Wai, an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules, and, having taken into account
the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules in
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors, the Company considers that all independent non-
executive directors are independent.

(iii)

(iv)

EFTRIRENNER

EFTZRESULEEH BEEREE
TABZAE REBERBRZEERE
N REERR -EFEEEED
MEEXFEFIRANTEEES
B-BFEHEIERBZREBER B
BERRE BREFGNETHRRET
HERRRAEMPFOEZEE

AABBERARIEEBFEFERTE
ZEH - EFGENAKESTGHES
AARAABEHREZEE > MEIE
B3 HBREIET

FABEREFHIEEARBERERMN
BEHEREEREREARTATWEZR
RRR% BREFRSKEMMEREZ
EXeREFRUKRETHREERRAKR
Rbl-2REE (BEBIFNTES)
RETHSR JRRAEFERHEENX
BOABEBRTSXRBIEERTR
BRI AAREEE-

FABDEREFTLHBEEETRE U
RERSEATCEETSHMEEZ SERE
& W E HRE (R 2 (R SEE ©

BIERTESZ2HIM
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TEF MEBBEE BEXKRLE
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BIE1D -

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

N

fi=

(iv)

v)

EEAWMS

Independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors (Continued)

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin has served as an independent
non-executive director of the Company for more than
12 years. He will retire and offer for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the
Company to be held on 21 August 2025. Pursuant to Code
Provision B.2.3 of the CG Code, his re-election as director
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved
by shareholders. The Company’s circular to be despatched
to shareholders on or about 29 July 2025 will contain the
biographical information of Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin and
the reasons why the Board believes he is still independent
and should be re-elected.

During the Year under review and up to the date of
this Annual Report, the Board had at all times met the
requirements under (i) Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise; and (ii) Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the board.

Mechanism for the Board to Obtain Independent
Views and Opinions

The Company has established the following mechanisms
to ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board:

(i) The Company adopts a vigorous selection process
for independent non-executive directors. The
Nomination Committee comprehensively evaluates
candidates’ backgrounds, external appointments,
skills and potential conflicts of interest, to ensure their
independence and objectivity in decision-making.

(i)  The composition of the Board must include at least
one-third independent non-executive directors. Each
director remains committed to dedicating sufficient
time and contributions to the Company.

(i) The board structure is effective and appropriate,
taking into consideration the proportion of
independent non-executive directors, annual
independence confirmations, and their non-
involvement in daily operations.

(iv)  The independent non-executive directors meet with
the Chairman in a closed door-meeting at least once
annually and they can interact with management and
other directors including the Chairman through formal
and informal means.

(v) BIIEMITERZ/ILMY (B)

v)
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v)

(vi)

(vii)

EEAWMS

Mechanism for the Board to Obtain Independent

Views and Opinions (Continued)

(v)  Independent professional advice is also available to
all directors whenever necessary at the Company’s
expense.

(v With strong capabilities, extensive experience,

diverse backgrounds, and professional knowledge,

independent non-executive directors share valuable
insights with the Board to ensure optimal corporate
governance and protect shareholder interests.

The Board has reviewed the implementation of these
mechanisms and considers them to have been properly
implemented and effective during the Year under review.

Directors’ Relationship

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there is no
financial, business, family or other material or connected
relationship between members of the Board.

Re-election of Directors

All directors are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the Company’s AGM in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws. The directors who are subject to
retirement and re-election at the forthcoming AGM are set
out on page 79 of this Annual Report.

(viii) Directors’ Ongoing Development

All directors have the opportunities to receive professional
training programmes arranged by the Company during their
terms of appointment which cover the topics of corporate
governance, updates on the Listing Rules and other
regulatory developments at the expense of the Company.
Directors are encouraged by the Company to participate in
the relevant continuous professional training to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company has also
engaged consultants to provide the training programmes.
The average training hours that the directors received were
not less than 10 hours.

v)

(vi)

(vii)

ESORESBRUBRMERAE

i (48)
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(viii) Directors’ Ongoing Development (Continued) (viii) EFHNFEZR (B)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company
arranged two seminars covering the topics of cyber security
awareness and generative Al and its compliance. The
current directors’ training records during the Year under
review are summarised as follows:

Directors BEX
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung HEBRE
(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer) (E/EFEITIEHEE)
Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny =GRS E
(Deputy Chairman) (CEES:)
Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy BEFLT
Ms. WONG Hau Yeung FI5BE L+
Dr. CHAN So Kuen fRERBE L
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Mr. TSE Moon Chuen HHmEiE
Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP FFERP KTt
Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP Z=EMBBS ) MHA 4+
Independent Non-executive Directors JHIIIEHITESE
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP BRI BBGBS K4+
Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin ERA/ESE
Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP BRBER T+
Mr. HUI King Wai ST R A

B E2025FE3H31HIEFE » AAT
BITMRATE AR HERELZE2E
HAREMRTA LS ERESRMEE
REBERER  IRTESMBINEC R
LA -

Training on regulatory development,
directors profession or duties,

or other relevant topics
EREEER ERHEgMEN

H {th 48 B s RE Y 35

v
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The Chairman leads the Board in the formulation of strategies and
in the achievement of objectives and ensures that all directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings
and receive adequate, complete and reliable information in a
timely manner. The Chief Executive Officer is delegated with the
authority and responsible for running the Company’s business,
implementing the Company’s strategies in achieving business
objectives. Both the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
positions are currently held by Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, the
executive director. The Board believes that the current governance
structure, with one person serving as both the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer and the majority being non-executive
directors, provides an effective balance of power and authority for
the management of the Company and is in the best interest of the
Company at the present stage.

All the non-executive directors are appointed for a term of not
more than two years, and the appointments are renewable from
time to time, subject to retirement by rotation at AGM.

The Board has established three Board committees, including
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, for overseeing the respective aspects
of the Group’s affairs.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to
seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense
in appropriate circumstances.

(i) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 1 February 1999
with written terms of reference accessible on the websites
of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited (“HKEX”). The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr.
MAK Wing Sum, Alvin, with three other members namely
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina and
Mr. HUI King Wai. All Committee members are independent
non-executive directors, exceeding the requirement of a
high majority of independent non-executive directors by
the Listing Rules. In compliance with the requirements of
Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules, majority of the
members possess appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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(i)

EEAWMS

Audit Committee (Continued)

During the Year under review, the Audit Committee held two
meetings to discuss and review, inter alia, the interim and
annual financial statements, the submission and publication
of the interim and annual reports and the Sustainability
Report, the disclosures in the Corporate Governance
Report, the corporate governance and compliance status
of the CG Code, the amended terms of reference of
the Audit Committee, the crisis management policy, the
risk management policy, the anti-corruption policy, the
whistleblowing policy, and the internal audit plan and
functions of the Group.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
FY2025 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee is of the view that the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2025 comply with
the applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules,
and that sufficient disclosures have been made.

The Company believes that a clear appreciation of the
separate roles of the management, the external auditor
and Audit Committee members is crucial to the effective
functioning of an audit committee. The Board is responsible
for selecting appropriate accounting policies and the
preparation of the financial statements. The external auditor
is responsible for auditing and attesting to the Group’s
financial statements and evaluating the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, to the extent
that they consider necessary to support their audit report.
The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the entire
process.

The major functions and duties of the Audit Committee
include:

° reviewing the Group’s interim and annual financial
statements, the interim and annual reports and the
Sustainability Report before submission to the Board
for approval;

° reviewing the financial reporting obligations and
considering any matters raised by the Group’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting
function, compliance officer or external auditor;

° reviewing and monitoring the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor, and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards;

(i)
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(i)

EEAWMS

Audit Committee (Continued)

° approving the remuneration and terms of engagement
of external auditor and making recommendations
on the appointment, re-appointment or removal of
external auditor;

° reviewing the internal audit programme and ensuring
that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and effective, and considering any major findings of
risk management and internal control matters;

° reviewing the financial control, risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and ensuring
that the management has discharged its duty to
establish and maintain effective risk management
and internal control systems, and particularly, the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s internal audit, accounting and financial
reporting functions as well as those relating to the
issuer’s Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) performance and reporting; and

° reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and the Company’s compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements.

As at 31 March 2025, the arrangements for employees and
stakeholders of the Group to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, risk management,
internal control or other matters and the whistleblowing
procedures are in place.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 1 April 2012
with written terms of reference accessible on the websites of
the Company and the HKEX. The Nomination Committee is
chaired by Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin, being an independent
non-executive director, with four other members, being one
executive director, namely Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, and
three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. IP
Shu Kwan, Stephen, Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina and Mr.
HUI King Wai. The Chairman of this Committee and four out
of five members are independent non-executive directors,
which is in compliance with the requirement of the CG Code
that a majority of the members should be non-executive
directors. In addition, Mr. TSE Moon Chuen ceased to be a
member of the Nomination Committee on 1 April 2025.

(i)
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Nomination Committee (Continued)

During the Year under review, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to assess the independence of the
independent non-executive directors, to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the structure, size and
composition of the Board, and to review the retirement and
rotation plan of the directors.

The principal role and responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee mainly include giving full consideration to
succession planning for directors and senior management,
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive directors. In order to achieve a
balanced and appropriately qualified Board, the Nomination
Committee is also responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and composition, including the skills, knowledge,
diversity and experience of the Board, and advising the
Board as to any changes that may be required. The
Nomination Committee has the authority given by the
Board to seek external professional advice in the selection
and recommendation for directorship, if necessary, to fulffil
the requirements for professional knowledge and industry
experience of any proposed candidates.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy sets out the criteria, procedures and
processes to be adopted when considering candidates to
be appointed or re-appointed as directors of the Company.
The Nomination Committee would select the candidates
based on the objective criteria, including but not limited to
qualifications, skills, experience, independence, age, culture,
ethnicity and gender. The Nomination Committee would also
take into account whether the candidate can demonstrate
his/her commitment, competence and integrity required
for the position, and in case of independent non-executive
directors, the independence requirements under the Listing
Rules and their time commitment to the Company. The
Nomination Committee monitors the implementation of
the Nomination Policy and reviews and recommends any
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval, when
necessary, to enhance effectiveness.

(i)
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Nomination Committee (Continued)

Board Diversity

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board, and sees diversity at Board
level as an essential element in maintaining a competitive
advantage. As such, the Company continued to adopt
the board diversity policy during the Year under review. In
achieving a truly diverse Board, candidates with different
talents, skills, knowledge, length of service and professional
experience, cultural and educational background, age,
gender and other qualities may be selected as members of
the Board. Selection of candidates is based on a range of
diversity criteria. The ultimate decision is based on merit and
contribution which would be brought by the candidates to
the Board if he/she is selected as a director. The Nomination
Committee is of the view that the current composition of
the Board has achieved the objectives set out in the above
board diversity policy.

The Board is composed of members from a diverse
background. The chief financial officer, an executive
director and two independent non-executive directors
of the Company are qualified accountants. There is also
an independent non-executive director who is a qualified
solicitor. The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee was
the Secretary for Economic Development and Labour of the
Government of Hong Kong. Six directors have experience
sitting on the boards of other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. The directors have extensive experience
in the retail jewellery business, finance and accounting,
taxation, business strategy, securities and investment,
communications and marketing, branding, and exposure
or experience in various countries including Mainland,
etc. They are members, or committee or panel members
of various industry bodies, public service or government
bodies or charities. The directors bring a wealth of diverse
experience to the Board, which is conducive to the business
development and growth of the Company over the years.

In terms of board gender diversity, the Company excels in
gender equality as female directors account for one third
of the whole Board. The Board is of the view that it is not
necessary to set numerical targets and timeline for board
gender diversity for the time being. However, the Board
is committed to maintaining an appropriate percentage of
female members, which shall be no less than 30% at all
times. The Board also places tremendous emphasis on
diversity (including gender diversity) across all levels of the
Group and maintain a workforce with balance of male and
female staff members. Details of the diversified talent team
including gender diversity in the workforce are disclosed in
our Sustainability Report which shall form part of this annual
report.

(i)

RBESE (@)
EEEgMESE
TABREAMZEAREE —BEZTIEES
N m URAEETEEMNZTE
DREGFEZNLNETR -EIL > &
AEREBRFEREBRMNESZTIHE
EREHR - BEREENEFENE
Zuit EmIEA S B R IR
BERRERER XERBME R
FE M REMERNESEEAR
BESEFTUE BEEFTAER
B—RIZTERBEREE - RE DR
E”1Ex RIEENEEREFT HBAES
HRNEBI R EMMIFLIRE - ’%
é%?aﬁ’%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%% Z R EER
FREEENEZ TEBRRAHZE
Re

EFTHREZTIEEROMEMEM -
FABDHNMHBE s —LRITEF KM
BBUIFATESR/GERG M5
E-RBUFNTEERGEREBER
flo-#MEEET TR B BB BBUFEE
?E& STRBER -NAEFEFHNH
R LR EMARREEFTENER
KE-BEZHRARETEER Sk
G5 MB EHRB - BSRRE R
kMG HE  RERENEEER
R T B8 P 3th 35 % {8 [ S (R B DO A B o
REDZETERE  AHIRB BT
WENESHBHRE - ZEE30/E
ME - BEEREFTHRIESZTIEE
B BANERBRZERNEBERKIE
-§0

EEZFGHEMRZTELE  AAF
YMEEHEFETERNEN =22
— ARHEAMRFESERRFEEM-
EXERNERNERUESTTUNZ T
EEJ L BEERKFR - AM EFE
RNORFEENRERELES BRE
ERARFERAMERBEDZ =T -EFE
FERERERERERZZ T (BN
%'J%T_nﬂz) TN RFEE S L LT

cHARARBZTEASEE (BEE
E\“}E;E'Jljyrsz) AR A NI B S
BERRE EREERETERN—I
) A

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERQRS

Board Composition & Areas of Diversity

Age Group
Fae4aR

58.3%
40-59 60-69 270
40FE595% 60ZE695% 70T MU £
Designation
o g6)
25.0%
£9-0%
41.7%
33.3%
Executive Non-executive Independent
Director Director Non-executive
BITES FEHITES Director
BIUFRPITES

EFEENEHEERSTIEHE

Gender

45

66.7%

Male Female

St oy

Length of Services of Non-executive Directors

FFHITEENRBFEH

85.7%

7-10 years Over 10 years
TE10F HBiB105E
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 7
April 2005 with written terms of reference posted on the
websites of the Company and HKEX. The Remuneration
Committee is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, being
an independent non-executive director, with three other
members namely, Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin, Ms. WONG
Yu Pok, Marina and Mr. HUI King Wai. The Chairman of this
Committee and all members are independent non-executive
directors, exceeding the requirement of a high majority of
independent non-executive directors stipulated in the Listing
Rules.

The principal role and responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee mainly include making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy, structure and
packages for all remuneration of directors and senior
management, reviewing and approving performance-
based remuneration and the terms of service contracts
of the directors and senior management, reviewing and
approving the compensation payable in connection with
any loss or termination of office or appointment of directors
and senior management, overseeing any major changes
in employee benefits structures throughout the Company
or the Group; and reviewing the on-going appropriateness
of the remuneration policy. No director or member of the
senior management determined his/her own remuneration
package.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during
the Year under review to review the remuneration policies
and recommend for the Board approval of the annual salary
increments for the calendar year 2025, the discretionary
year-end bonus for 2024, the performance bonus for all
non-sales employees working at the headquarters and the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee.

Details of directors’ emoluments, five highest paid
individuals and the remuneration of the members of
the senior management by band during the Year under
review are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 116 to 261 of this Annual Report.

(iii)
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Analysis of remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by the external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, was
as follows:

ERSNEZHMBERB KB G EMEBFTR
HES RIFEFRBZIEORWT ¢

2025

HK$’000

TAT

Audit services EFRTS 5,970
Non-audit services JEE RS

— Review service —BRRH 500

— Tax related service — M EIERARRTS 1,734

Total 4t 8,204

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to financial
reporting are stated in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of each financial period, which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the
financial period and of the results and cash flows of the Group for
the year. In the Company'’s interim and annual reports which are
issued within the time limits stipulated by the Listing Rules, the
Board presents a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment
of the Company’s performance, position and prospects.
The published consolidated financial statements adopt, and
consistently apply, suitable accounting policies complying with
HKFRS Accounting Standards.

The Board ensures that the Company maintains sound and
effective risk management and internal control to safeguard the
shareholders’ interests and the Company’s assets. The Audit
Committee, with the assistance of the Internal Audit Department,
regularly reviews the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Head of the
Internal Audit Department directly reports to the Audit Committee.

The Board establishes monitoring and procedural guidelines for
considering how it will apply the financial reporting and internal
control principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship
with the Company’s external auditor. The Audit Committee
established by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules has
clear terms of reference.
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In order to achieve enhancement of corporate governance of
the Company, the Board has undertaken and delegated to the
Audit Committee to constantly review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance, the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and the directors, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report. During the Year under review,
the Audit Committee performed the duties relating to corporate
governance matters as aforementioned.

During the Year under review, the company secretary of the
Company undertook over 15 hours of professional training
to update the skills and knowledge, which exceeded the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Board is responsible for the Company’s systems of risk
management and internal control and for reviewing their
effectiveness annually through the Audit Committee.

The risk management and internal control systems are aligned
with the Internal Control Integrated Framework of the Committee
of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSQO”), which comprises 17 principles under 5 components,
including Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activities,
Information and Communication and Monitoring Activities.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee has received the risk management and
internal control evaluation reports submitted by the Internal Audit
Department. The reports summarised information relating to the
work carried out in the following areas:

° the results of selective testing of internal control procedures,
assets, and financial records of the Company;

° a general evaluation of risk management and internal control
systems installed by the Company; and

° an outline of major control issues, if any, noticed during the
Year under review.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the reports and discussed
with the management.

The Audit Committee recognised that an evaluation of the risk
management system and an examination of the internal control
system on an annual basis have been adequately executed by
the Internal Audit Department during the Year under review.
The Audit Committee acknowledged that the management has
been progressively implementing adequate and effective risk
management and internal control systems in order to ensure the
effective functioning of the Company’s operations.

Risk Management and Sustainability Committee

The Group set up the Risk Management Committee in 2016 and
renamed it as Risk Management and Sustainability Committee
in 2022, which comprises the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, three executive directors (including Ms. WONG Lan Sze,
Nancy, Ms. WONG Hau Yeung and Dr. CHAN So Kuen) and a
senior executive of the Group. The aims of Risk Management
and Sustainability Committee include establishing and improving
the risk management system, ensuring timely identification and
management of risks for the achievement of corporate objectives,
SO as to advise and assist the Board on the strategies and
implementation of the Group’s sustainability, and the assessment
of the associated risks.

The Risk Management and Sustainability Committee is
responsible for (including but not limited to): () reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code regarding risk
management requirements; (i) coordinating staff training, which
includes risk management principles, assessment methodology
and its implementation; (i) assigning personnel to support
departments to perform risk assessment for newly established
business or projects, if necessary; (iv) formulating sustainable
development strategy and approach; (v) monitoring and evaluating
the implementation of sustainable development policies and
measures; and (vi) identifying sustainability risks. This committee
reports directly to the Audit Committee.

During the Year under review, the Risk Management and
Sustainability Committee held two meetings to discuss and
review, inter alia, reports on effectiveness of risk management
processes, reports on departmental risk assessment, the
implementation progress of the Group’s corporate strategies
and KPI targets, sustainability working reports, risk management
policy, anti-corruption policy, whistleblowing policy, crisis
management policy and amended terms of reference of the Risk
Management and Sustainability Committee.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Risk Management Framework

The Company’s risk management framework provides a
systematic and disciplined approach to risk management process,
which is embedded in the system of internal controls as an
integral part of corporate governance. The risk management
framework helps sustain business success, creates value for
stakeholders and supports the Board in discharging its corporate
governance responsibilities by proactively identifying, addressing
and managing key risks within the Group. Departments &
Management as risk owners take direct risk management
responsibilities and reports to the Risk Management and
Sustainability Committee.

A summary of the risk management framework of the Company is
shown as below:

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
B EIERE

AEEIR R NEPEEEE @

EREREE
FABNAREERESRREEREFREM
RIFIERREER TS A MABREF AR
WEEIERIE  REEERP TR NRAVE
B—IR-EBEKREEREA MR BB
BHREEREEANTEEBREAITEBR
o RFENEREBERXEEFETRTH
TCEREAET -HIIKEERFERERES
NEEEAERREEEETRRAREER
ANREREZEGER-

AT EBEERBENW IR

Board of Directors

Exg
Audit Committee
- — Control
BEXZEY x
Risk Management and Sustainability
Committee
R lﬁlﬁﬁﬁé‘fgﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁiég Procedures &

%p;; Standards
. Departments & Management BERE#

BRIKREEE

l

Objective Setting Risk

BRRE R kR

and Categorisation mp Identification mp Analysis mp Treatment mp Monitoring and Reporting

Risk Risk Effectiveness of
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Risk Management Framework (Continued)
Board of Directors

Setting the basic tone and culture of risk management
across the Group;

Approving the criteria of risk assessment;

Approving major decisions affecting the Group’s risk profile
Or exposure;

Approving changes to key elements of the risk management
procedures;

Approving the Group’s risk management and sustainability
policy; and

Monitoring significant risks

Audit Committee

Reviewing the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group; and

Ensuring that effective systems of risk management and
internal control are established by the management

BB IR (@)
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Risk Management Framework (Continued)
Risk Management and Sustainability Committee

Recommending the Group’s risk tolerance level and risk
criteria;

Approving standard risk management templates including
forms and tools;

Approving risk registers;

Reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code
regarding risk management requirements;

Appointing risk owners;

Appointing staff to support departments to conduct risk
assessments on new business and projects;

Conducting review on procedures and policies of risk
management;

Reporting, if any, significant risks to Audit Committee in a
timely manner;

Coordinating staff training;

Proposing and recommending on the Group’s sustainability
objectives, strategies, policies and framework;

Overseeing and monitoring the Group’s ESG reporting and
the implementation of the Group’s ESG-related policies and
initiatives;

Reviewing and evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of
the measures relating to the Group’s ESG;

Overseeing the setting and achievement of targets under
the Group’s sustainability strategies; and

Identifying and evaluating the Group’s ESG related risks and
opportunities
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Risk Management Framework (Continued) A EIRLEIE @)
Departments & Management MR ERE

Departments and management are responsible for the IFILEEEESHRBSHEARNNERERD
identification and assessment of risks within their areas of  JR&sf& :
responsibility:

Objective Setting and Categorisation BER IR EE

e Strategy; o REK;

e Operation; . EE

e Financial reporting; and o  UIHER; &

e Compliance . =

Risk Identification Va3 2l

e The Group provides examples of risk factors; and o  AEEREREHREREHM; &
e Risks should be relevant to strategies and objectives e [RAMBHREKBERR
Risk Analysis EEHT

e Considering existing control measures; o ERIBHEEEEN;

e Using a consistent risk scoring criteria; and e  KE#H—RERERESEL; K
e Assessing the residual risks o FHMEFIERER

Risk Treatment [ [ =

e Choosing a risk treatment strategy; o EIZR[REHEKE;

e Establishing a treatment plan; and o  FINEHEE K&

e Appointing risk owners e ZERABESEA
Effectiveness of Monitoring and Reporting EERREIR XA

e Monitoring and reporting risks periodically; and e THIRZERERERR &

e Setting up an emergent risk reporting mechanism o HRUTEERmERSIE
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Review Processes of the Effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems

The management and the Risk Management and Sustainability
Committee review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems. The Internal Audit Department also
conducts independent audit of the effectiveness of these systems.
Separate reports are submitted to the Audit Committee for its
review and appraisal. A final report will be submitted to the Board
for assessing the effectiveness of the systems.

If any material internal control defects are found, the Audit
Committee will discuss them with the management. The Internal
Audit Department will follow up and the management will classify
the defects as “severe” risk, where appropriate, in the risk
management system for further measures formulation to resolve
or prevent such defects.

Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company acknowledges its responsibilities under Part XIVA
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong and the Listing Rules and the overriding
principle that inside information should be announced promptly.
The Company has established a policy for the disclosure of
inside information (the “Inside Information Disclosure Policy”) with
close regard to the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information
issued by the Securities and Futures Commissions. The Inside
Information Disclosure Policy includes, among other things: (a)
only designated persons are authorised to communicate the
Company’s corporate matters with investors, analysts, the media
or other members of the investment community; (b) directors or
senior management shall report to the Chief Executive Officer any
potential/suspected inside information as soon as practicable for
him to consult (if appropriate) the Board thereafter for determining
the nature of developments and, if required, making appropriate
disclosure; (c) disclosure of inside information must be made
in a manner that can provide for equal, timely and effective
access by the public to the disclosed inside information; and (d)
inside information must be kept strictly confidential until a public
announcement is made and shall be disseminated in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules before it is released via
other means.
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Anti-Corruption and Whistleblowing Policies

Integrity, fairness and justice are the three pillars of the operation
of our Group, and business ethics and integrity are regarded as
our core values. We have developed a robust anti-corruption
system, strictly complying with applicable laws and regulations
regarding anti-bribery and corruption in every regions, as well
as industrial standards, in order to prevent corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud, money laundering and other illegal behaviours. In
terms of whistleblowing policy, we actively encourage employees,
customers, suppliers and partners to report any suspected
behaviours that are against business ethics and illegal behaviours,
with all reported cases being investigated in a rigorous and timely
manner. Details of the anti-corruption and whistleblowing policies
are disclosed in the Company’s Sustainability Report and the
Company’s website.

The internal audit is an independent function undertaken by
the Internal Audit Department which reports administratively
to the Company’s management and functionally to the Audit
Committee. The Internal Audit Department is authorised to obtain
all information necessary to accomplish internal audit work.

The Board has conducted an annual review to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s internal audit,
accounting, financial reporting functions as well as these relating
to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting.

A risk-based audit approach has been adopted by the Internal
Audit Department. Internal control reviews are conducted regularly
to closely monitor the business or operation changes. Regular
audit tests are carried out to ensure key controls are in operation.
The Internal Audit Department also conducts other projects and
investigating work as required.

Any significant internal audit findings are discussed with respective
department heads to have actions agreed and subsequently
followed up, in order to ensure that satisfactory control is
maintained.

In each semi-annual work plan, manning levels of the Internal
Audit Department are reported to the Audit Committee. A
summary of the internal audit activities and audit results are
also submitted to the Audit Committee twice a year. The Audit
Committee will review and assure the adequacy of resources of
the internal audit team.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene a Special
General Meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
shareholder(s) holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall have the right to submit a written requisition requiring a SGM
to be called by the Board. The written requisition () must state the
purposes of the SGM; and (i) must be signed by the requisitionists
and deposited at the registered office of the Company, and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionists.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the
requisitionists or any of them representing more than one-half
of the total voting rights of all of them may convene a SGM, but
any SGM so convened shall not be held after expiration of three
months from the said date of deposit of the requisition. A SGM
convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in any SGM to be convened
by the Board.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, either any number of shareholders representing not
less than one-twentieth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
or not less than 100 shareholders, can request the Company in
writing to (i) give to shareholders entitled to receive notice of the
next AGM notice of any resolution which may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (i) circulate
to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting
sent to them any statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited
at the registered office of the Company (contact details are
disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information”) with
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant
expenses and not less than six weeks before the meeting in case
of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one
week before the meeting in case of any other requisition.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose for
election as a director have been posted on the website of the
Company.
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We have always placed great importance on effective two-way
communication with our shareholders. The Board maintains an
ongoing dialogue with shareholders and in particular, endeavours
to provide transparency and strives to ensure that all shareholders
are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced
and understandable public information about the Company. With
the following measures in place, the shareholder communication
policy is considered to have been effectively implemented
throughout the Year under review:

@)

Note:

Interim and annual results, the interim and annual reports
and other corporate communications of the Company
(“Corporate Communications”)\e are published in a timely
manner on the websites of HKEX and the Company in
accordance with the Listing Rules;

The Company’s Chief Financial Officer and the Investor
Relations Team presented interim and annual results
through investor/analysts briefings and provided immediate
responses to questions during the meetings. In addition,
the Company also released quarterly operational data and
enhanced the capital market’s understanding with regard to
the Company’s business development and competitive edge
through various communication channels such as online or
physical meetings, non-deal roadshows, one-on-one/group
meetings;

Press releases and presentation materials were posted
on the Company’s website to facilitate stakeholders’
understanding of the Company’s latest developments and to
promote transparency;

Shareholders’ and investors’ enquiries are promptly
addressed by the appropriate Board Committees or the
Board, if necessary;

The AGM is an important forum to engage with
shareholders. At the AGM, separate resolutions were
proposed for each issue and were voted on by poll. The
procedures for conducting a poll were explained at the
meeting prior to the polls being taken; and

The Company’s website serves as a handy communication
channel for the Shareholders. They can access our
Corporate Communications electronically via the Luk Fook’s
website.

“Corporate Communications” refers to any document issued or to be issued by
the Company for the information or action of holders of the Company’s securities
including, but not limited to, annual and interim reports, notices of meetings,
circulars, or other publications of the Company (including any “corporate
communication” as defined in the Listing Rules).
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The Company informs shareholders of the procedure for voting by
poll in the circular to shareholders, and ensures compliance with
the requirements regarding voting by poll contained in the Listing
Rules and the Company’s Bye-laws.

Specific enquiries by shareholders requiring the Board’s attention
can be sent in writing to the company secretary at the Company’s
business address in Hong Kong at 25/F, Metropole Square, 2 On
Yiu Street, Shatin, New Territories. Shareholders may also make
proposals at the general meetings.

The Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines that the
Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment
or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders
of the Company. The Company intends to distribute 40% to 45%
of its annual net profits as dividends to shareholders, having
taken into consideration certain criteria set out in the Dividend
Policy, including the Group’s financial results; cash flow situation;
business conditions and strategies; future operations and
earnings; capital requirements and expenditure plans; interests of
shareholders; any restrictions on payment of dividends; and any
other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

No changes have been made to the Bye-Laws by the Company
during the Year under review. The latest version of Bye-Laws is
also accessible on the websites of the Company and HKEX.

RABRRRBRANGRRIZRBIKTET
ANRRZIERF WRENE EHRARER
Bl Z AEMRIFT 8 A B R BUR RS TUROR
ZIFTE

RERNMNBDEFSFHEEER  JUEAE
WMARRRABDME  FERRBNEBEE
it — R 5D A L B2 ER E 152518 0 55
Sh BRERFITERER A IR HEZ

REBRINEARABTDUEIR KGR D EH
MR TFARBRRERSREFEEBHRR
RFE5 c A RBHD B2 FFFHEV40%E
4% TREREBRE ARG TR ESEBERFTH
ETEAME BEAEENMBRE ; B
TR EFIRN RS  RREEBEREFR ;
BEARFEKRRFAZEE BRI @ ; E R
REBIRS ; REZZ R ERDBEBER
HK &R -

REEFEAN > AABDBEHASMAFL
EEMERT « RATNRAZ AB MBI TR I AR
B RBRBRZPELER

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEUHE

The directors submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for FY2025.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the sourcing, designing,
wholesaling, trademark licensing and retailing of a variety of gold
and platinum jewellery and gem-set jewellery products.

An analysis of the performance of the Group for the year by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year under review,
the material factors underlying its results and financial position and
material attributable factors of the development and likely future
developments of the Group’s business, are provided throughout
this Annual Report, particularly in the following separate sections:

(@) Review of the Group’s business — “Chairman’s Statement”
on pages 2 to 5 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 6 to 28;

(b)  The principal risks and uncertainties the Group is facing —
“Report of the Directors” on pages 70 to 102;

(c)  Future development in the Group’s business — “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 2 to 5 and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 6 to 28;

(d) Analysis using financial key performance indicators —
“Financial Highlights” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 6 to 28;

(e) Information about the Group’s ESG policies and
performance — “Sustainability Report” posted on the
websites of the Company and HKEX and “Report of the
Directors” on pages 70 to 102 of this Annual Report;
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()  Discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations — “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
40 to 69 and “Report of the Directors” on pages 70 to 102;
and

(@ An account of the Group’s key relationships with its
employees, customers and suppliers and others -
“Sustainability Report” posted on the websites of the
Company and HKEX and “Report of the Directors” on pages
70 to 102 of this Annual Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the risk
management practices of the Group are sufficient to mitigate
the risks present in our businesses and operations as efficiently
and effectively as possible. The Board delegates some of such
responsibilities to various departments.

The Group’s financial position, operations, business and
prospects may be affected by the following identified risks and
uncertainties. The Group adopts risk management policies,
measures and monitoring systems to pre-empt and contain
exposures associated with the identified risks.

Economic Risks

Global Economic Condition

Possible economic slowdown or prolonged downturn of the global
or Mainland’s economy may affect the retail market sentiment as a
whole.

Tourist Destinations
The increase in popularity of other tourist destinations weakens
the sentiment of Mainland tourists in Hong Kong and Macau.

Political Risks

Geopolitics

Global geopolitical tensions remain elevated, including escalating
China-U.S. trade frictions, regional clashes, and sanction policies,
which may adversely affect the Group’s supply chain, capital
flows, and market confidence.

Trade Policy

Adjustments to U.S. tariff policies may exert pressure on the
Group’s cross-border logistics and cost structure. As Hong Kong
serves as a hub for re-export trade, any reclassification of product
origin as Mainland may result in the loss of preferential tariff
treatments, which may affect the Group’s export arrangements
and pricing strategies. Uncertainty surrounding trade policies may
also have an adverse impact on consumer sentiment, capital
market performance, and investors’ appetite.
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Operational Risks

Rent

As a retailer, rent accounts for a considerable portion of the
Group’s expenses. Rental increment on retail shops directly
affects the profit of the Group. The Group strikes a good balance
between shop expansion and profit increment. The Group strives
to lower rent via negotiations with landlords, closure of branches
with low profitability and searching for suitable locations in other
areas for new shops.

Prices of Raw Materials

Fluctuations in prices of raw materials may adversely affect our
profitability. We strive to improve our purchasing procedures in
order to maintain reasonable raw materials costs. On the other
hand, the Group has a gold hedging policy with a ratio of around
25-30% which mitigates the potential adverse impacts on gross
profit margins and overall financial performance arising from
pronounced volatility in gold prices. Management regularly reviews
the effectiveness and coverage of the hedging strategy and will
make appropriate adjustments in response to market conditions.

Fierce Competition

There is strong competition from national and local competitors
in jewellery and watch industry. The Group has formulated a set
of branding strategies to enhance brand image and awareness.
Details of such strategies are set out in “Multi Brand Strategy” on
pages 29 to 39.

Inventory Turnover

Owing to the impact of volatile macro-economic environment in
Asia especially Mainland, our inventory turnover bears the risk of
slowing down.

Management of Licensed Shops

Licensed shops play an important role in raising the brand
awareness of the Group. Maintaining a good brand image and
reputation is a win-win situation for both the Group and the
licensed shops. Therefore, the Group uses best endeavours to
ensure their operations are consistent with the Group’s image and
operation standard. We maintain a close working relationship with
our licensed shops and provide one-stop support to them, such
as shop-opening training, provision of operation manuals and
regular operation review meetings.

We also closely monitor the licensed shops through a stringent
control system which consists of 6 areas of control, including
Operational Control, Product Quality Control, Distribution Network
Control, Pricing Control, Brand Image Control, and Service Quality
Control. Details of such system are set out on page 73.
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Control System on Licensed Shops

mhEEEE RS

Whistle-blowing System and Reward Scheme
BRAR R T E

Anti-corruption System

REFER

Sales and Inventory System Access
HERFERHEA

100% of the diamond products in Mainland
market are offered by Lukfook

Pt T 35 38 A 2 AR 100% FH 7 (B e 4
Authorised suppliers on other products
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Prior approval on retail locations
TRAEMZEEMAUE

Standardised retail price for products through
centralised labeling process
ERSm—IRERE U —ERTEE

Authorised renovation contractors
SEREREE
Prior approval on all advertising & promotion
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Mystery Shopper System on service
quality control
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DVR System

Operational Compliance Audit Team
SESRMES/E

Annual Contract Renewal Basis
FEBHORS

Cash On Delivery Basis
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Certificates issued by NGTC/GTC for

quality assurance
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Sightholder of De Beers — steady quality rough
diamond supply
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Centralised control on discount policy
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Standardised operational materials
(e.g. uniform, packaging) in all shops
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Centralised Staff Training
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Regulatory Risks

Changes in Laws and Regulations

The Group is required to comply on an ongoing basis with the
latest laws and regulations applicable in Hong Kong and other
jurisdictions in several areas including anti-money laundering,
import and export regulations, consumer protection, anti-
competition, and sanctions compliance. Failure to respond
promptly to changes in regulatory requirements, or to implement
effective measures across operating regions for preventing money
laundering and terrorist financing, may result in inadvertent non-
compliance. Such incidents could expose the Group to significant
risks, including legal liability, reputational damage, and business
disruption.

The Group has established a robust anti-corruption and anti-
money laundering compliance system and strictly adheres to
applicable laws and industry codes related to anti-bribery, anti-
corruption, and financial crime across all jurisdictions. The
management continues to closely monitor the latest developments
in relevant laws and regulations and make timely adjustments to
the Group’s operating strategies to ensure ongoing compliance
with legal and ethical standards, maintaining corporate integrity,
reputation, and competitiveness in the markets.

Intellectual Property

We recognise the importance of building a good reputation and
protecting our intellectual property. Any unauthorised use of our
trademarks in counterfeit products could harm our brand image
and reputation, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

In view of this, the Group’s legal department has set up teams
in both Hong Kong and Nansha in Mainland to handle tasks in
respect of intellectual properties (such as trademarks, design
patents and fighting against infringement).

The Group has successfully registered the “Lukfook” trademark
in the regions where “Lukfook” has a presence (such as Hong
Kong, Macau, Mainland, Malaysia, Cambodia, the Philippines,
Laos, Thailand, the United States, Canada and Australia). Our
legal department has reached a consensus with our product
development department, marketing department and design
department that any new product, collection, display prop and
fitting out design should be forwarded as soon as practicable to
the legal department as appropriate for the application of design
patent/copyright in Mainland, Hong Kong and Macau so as to
ensure the maximum protection for the Group.
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Regulatory Risks (Continued)

Intellectual Property (Continued)

The Group’s legal department and business department
constantly monitor any infringement by free-riding brands across
Mainland, and cooperate with the law enforcement agencies
to fight against infringement. The Group always encourages
colleagues to monitor any infringement during their business
trips and report the infringement to the legal department, and
endeavours to fight against infringement of the Group’s intellectual
properties.

Financial Risks
Details of financial risks are set out in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Cybersecurity Risks

With the increasing sophistication of cyber-attacks, especially
the widespread application of artificial intelligence technology in
cyber-crime activities, the Group places great emphasis on the
security of its information technology systems. Failure to effectively
guard against risks such as phishing emails, ransomware, identity
theft, and system intrusions may result in the leakage of sensitive
data, business disruption, financial losses, and non-compliance
with increasingly stringent data privacy regulations. These
consequences could lead to regulatory penalties, legal disputes,
and damage to the Group’s reputation. The management has
implemented various cybersecurity measures, including enhanced
employee training, regular penetration testing, adoption of multi-
factor authentication mechanisms, and reinforcement of cloud
platform defenses to improve overall information security.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements, and the non-compliance with such
requirements could lead to the risk of termination of operating
licences. The Group has been allocating systems and human
resources to ensure ongoing compliance with rules and
regulations, and to maintain cordial working relationships with
regulators through effective communications. During the Year
under review, as far as the Group is aware, it has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group places great importance on environmental protection
and endeavours to promote sustainable development. It
incorporates relevant environmental strategies in every aspect of
its business, and implements initiatives in areas such as energy
saving and waste management in manufacturing, administration
and daily retail operations to mitigate the impact on the
environment.

Relationships with Key Stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers and suppliers
are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is committed
to establishing a close and caring relationship with its employees,
providing quality services to its customers and enhancing
cooperation with its business partners. The Group provides a fair
and safe work environment, promotes staff diversity, provides
competitive remuneration and benefits and career development
opportunities based on their merits and performance. The Group
also puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate training and
resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of the
latest development of the market and the industry, while improving
their performance in their positions and helping them to realize
their self-worth.
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Relationships with Key Stakeholders (Continued)

The Group understands the importance of maintaining good
relationship with customers and providing products which
satisfy their needs and requirements. The Group enhances the
relationship by continuous interaction with customers to gain
insight into the changing market demand for different products
so that the Group can respond proactively. The Group has also
established procedures in handling customers’ feedbacks and
complaints to ensure that customers’ opinions are dealt with in a
prompt and timely manner.

The Group maintains stable business relationships with its
suppliers and service providers. In order to have a better
and close monitoring of suppliers’ performance, the Group’s
management regularly conducts performance reviews targeting
the Group’s major suppliers and service providers, and
communicates with them for rectification and improvements.

The results of the Group for the Year under review are set out in
the consolidated income statement on page 116.

The Board has declared an interim dividend of HK$0.55 per
ordinary share. A total of HK$322,909,000 was paid on 24
December 2024.

The Board proposed a final dividend of HK$0.55 per ordinary
share for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$0.64 per
ordinary share) to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 28 August 2025. Taking
into account of the interim dividend paid, the total dividend for
the year would amount to approximately HK$1.10 per ordinary
share, totalling HK$645,818,000 for the year (2024: approximately
HK$1.41 per ordinary share, totalling HK$826,871,000, including
the special interim dividend by way of distribution in specie of
3DG International shares paid). Subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming AGM of the Company to be held
on 21 August 2025, the final dividend will be paid on or around 10
September 2025.
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Donations made by the Group during the Year under review
amounted to approximately HK$4,400,000.

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the Year
under review are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the Year under
review or subsisted at the end of the year.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2025,
calculated under the Companies Act of Bermuda, amounted to
HK$922,842,000 (2024: HK$926,366,000).

The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for each of the last
five financial years ended 31 March are as follows:
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2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET FHET FET FHET
Results E 4
Revenue WA 13,341,295 15,325,962 11,977,844 11,737,803 8,861,335
Profit attributable to equity RABERFAA
holders of the Company FEL A 1,099,864 1,767,305 1,284,757 1,392,364 1,017,335
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Total assets BEE 17,897,655 16,854,064 14,928506 16,220,269 14,512,039
Total liabilities meE 4,755,533 3,090,166 2,707,564 4,141,741 3,187,815
Shareholders’ funds REES 13,203,047 12,890,860 12,221,440 12,078,996 11,324,665

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale
of treasury shares) (as defined under the Listing Rules) during the
Year under review. As at 31 March 2025, no treasury shares were
held by the Company.
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The directors who held office during the year ended 31 March
2025 and up to the date of this Annual Report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny (Deputy Chairmarn)

Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy

Ms. WONG Hau Yeung

Dr. CHAN So Kuen

Non-executive Directors
Mr. TSE Moon Chuen

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP

Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP

Mr. HUI King Wai

Pursuant to Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws, one-third of the directors
shall retire from office by rotation at each AGM of the Company.
Accordingly, Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny, Mr. TSE Moon Chuen,
Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin and HUI King Wai shall retire from office
by rotation at the forthcoming AGM. Al the retiring directors, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM, except Mr. HUI King Wai who does not offer himself for
re-election owing to personal reason. Mr. HUI King Wai, who is
retiring, confirmed that he has no disagreement with the Board
of the Company, his retirement is not due to reasons relating
to the affairs of the Company, and there are no matters relating
to his retirement that need to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company. The Board would like to express its
sincere gratitude to Mr. HUI King Wai for his valuable efforts and
contributions to the Board during the tenure of his office. Details of
the proposed directors to be re-elected are set out in the circular
sent together with this Annual Report.
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Executive Directors

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, aged 74, is the founder, Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the Group. He
is also a member of the Nomination Committee. Mr. WONG
has over 58 years of experience in the jewellery industry and is
responsible for the overall strategic planning and management
of the Group. He is the Honorary Life President of The Kowloon
Gold Silver and Jewel Merchant’s Staff Association, the Honorary
Permanent Chairman of Hong Kong Jade Association, the
Chairman of Supervisory Committee of The Kowloon Pearls,
Precious Stones, Jade, Gold and Silver Ornament Merchants
Association, the Consultant of the Gems & Jewelry Trade
Association of China, the Founding Member and Vice President
of Shenzhen Gold & Silver Jewelry Creative Industry Association,
a Respectable Advisor of H.K. Gold & Silver Ornament Workers &
Merchants General Union, the Honorary President of the Jewellers
& Goldsmiths’ Association of Hong Kong Limited and a Senior
Adviser of International Collaboration and Development Centre for
the Gold and Jewellery Industry, Gold Association of Guangdong
Province. Mr. WONG is the father of Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny;,
Deputy Chairman and Executive Director of the Group and Ms.
WONG Lan Sze, Nancy, Executive Director and Deputy Chief
Executive Officer of the Group. He is also the elder brother of Mr.
WONG Wai Tong, Senior Business Director of the Group.
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Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny, aged 48, is the Deputy Chairman
and Executive Director of the Group. Since 2024, he has been
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
of 3DG International, a subsidiary of the Company, which is
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He joined the
Group as an Operations Manager in 2002. Mr. WONG is an
active participant in the community and is currently a Member
of Sihui Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, a Member of The Association of the
Hong Kong Members of Guangdong’s Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Committees Limited, a Permanent
President of Sze Wui and Kwong Ning Clansman’s Association
(Hong Kong) Limited, a President of Sihui Dasha Town Clansman’s
Association (Hong Kong), an Executive Committee Member of
Diamond Federation of Hong Kong, China Limited, a Director of
Examination of Hong Kong Jewellers’ & Goldsmiths’ Association,
an Executive Committee Member of The Kowloon Pearls,
Precious Stones, Jade, Gold and Silver Ornament Merchants
Association, a Member of Lions Club of Sham Shui Po Hong
Kong, an Executive Committee Member of The Jewellers &
Goldsmiths’ Association of Hong Kong Limited and Senior Adviser
of International Collaboration and Development Centre for the
Gold and Jewellery Industry, Gold Association of Guangdong
Province. In December 2008, Mr. WONG received the GIA
Diamond Graduate title, and awarded the “CEO of the Year” by
Capital CEO in 2017. He is the son of Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, the
Group’s Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director,
the elder brother of Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy, Executive
Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group, the
spouse of Ms. CHEUNG lIrene, the Executive Director and Chief
Operating Officer of 3DG International, and the nephew of Mr.
WONG Wai Tong, Senior Business Director of the Group.
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Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy, aged 44, is the Executive
Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group.
She joined the Group in 2006 and assists in formulating and
implementing the Group’s overall business strategies. She is
also responsible for the Group’s corporate branding, marketing,
corporate communications, product design and development,
merchandising and production functions and e-commerce
operations. Ms. WONG holds a Bachelor's Degree in Commerce
from the University of Toronto and a Master’s Degree of Science
in China Business Studies from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is also a Certified Public Accountant of the United
States of America. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. WONG worked
for an international professional accounting firm in Hong Kong,
where she performed auditing and accounting assignments for
a variety of business organisations including listed companies.
She received the GIA Diamond Graduate title in 2007 and was
awarded the “Young Entrepreneur of the Year” at JNA Awards
2020. She is also a Member of Young Diamantaire Group of
Diamond Federation of Hong Kong, a Member of Greater Bay
Area Hong Kong Women Entrepreneurs Association and a 18th
Outreaching & Youth Affairs Sub-committee Member of Hong
Kong Jewelry Manufacturers’ Association. Ms. WONG is the
daughter of Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, the Group’s Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and Executive Director and the younger sister
of Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny, Deputy Chairman and Executive
Director of the Group. She is also the niece of Mr. WONG Wai
Tong, Senior Business Director of the Group.
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Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. WONG Hau Yeung, aged 52, is the Executive Director
and Chief Operating Officer of the Group. Since 2024, she has
been an Executive Director of 3DG International, a subsidiary of
the Company, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Ms. WONG initially joined the Group in 1994 and
served various departments for about 8 years until 2002. She
rejoined the Group in 2004. Currently, she is responsible for the
Group’s operations and development of the retail, wholesale
and licensing businesses. In addition, she is also responsible
for the administration and human resources functions of the
Group. She holds a Master's Degree in Business Administration
from University of Southern Queensland. Ms. WONG is a
Member of Guangzhou Panyu District Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, a Member of District
Fight Crime Committee (Kwai Tsing District), a Member of The
Association of the Hong Kong Members of Guangdong’s Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Committees Limited,
an Honorary Life President and the 20th Term Vice-Chairman
of Hong Kong Pun Yue Industrial and Commercial Fellowship
Association, the 6th Term Standing Director of Guangzhou Panyu
Overseas Friendship Association, a Director of Guangzhou Panyu
Overseas Exchange Association, a Vice-President of Panyu
Hong Kong Charity Fund Limited, a Chairperson of The Jewellery
Industry Training Advisory Committee of Hong Kong Qualifications
Framework, a Member of Watch & Jewellery Industry Consultative
Networks of Employees Retraining Board, an Industry Advisor
of Fei Cui Standard Project of The Gemmological Association of
Hong Kong Limited and a Member of Greater Bay Area Hong
Kong Women Entrepreneurs Association. In 2021, Ms. WONG
was awarded the “Greater Bay Area Outstanding Women
Entrepreneur Awards” by the Hong Kong Small and Medium
Enterprises Association and Metro Finance. She has over 31
years of experience in the jewellery industry.
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Executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. CHAN So Kuen, aged 65, the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the Group, joined the Group in 2012
and was appointed as an Executive Director of the Group in
2015. Since 2024, she has been an Executive Director of 3DG
International, a subsidiary of the Company, which is listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Dr. CHAN graduated
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and Oklahoma City
University (the United States of America), with a Doctorate Degree
and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration, respectively.
She is also a Fellow Member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Dr. CHAN has substantial financial and
management experiences in vast varieties of businesses for more
than 38 years. Prior to joining the Group, Dr. CHAN worked in
international professional accounting firms in Hong Kong for
auditing duties. She also served in various Hong Kong listed
and private companies across different industries in a senior
capacity, such as finance director, chief financial officer or chief
executive officer. Dr. CHAN is currently responsible for the overall
financial management, corporate finance, information technology,
sustainability, investor relations and company secretarial matters
of the Group.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. TSE Moon Chuen, aged 74, is the co-founder of the Group.
Presently, he is the Non-executive Director of the Group. Mr. TSE
has over 52 years of experience in jewellery retailing business.
Mr. TSE is an Executive Committee Member of the Diamond
Federation of Hong Kong, China Limited, a Vice President of
The Chinese Gold & Silver Exchange Society, a Vice Chairman
of The Kowloon Pearls, Precious Stones, Jade, Gold and Silver
Ornament Merchants Association, a President of The Tsuen
Wan Festival Lightings Organizing Committee, the 35th Vice
Chairman of Macau Goldsmith’s Guild, an Honorary President
of Tsuen Wan Committee for Celebration of Reunification of
Hong Kong with China, an Honorary President of Tsuen Wan
Preparatory Community of National Day, an Executive Committee
Member and Director of Finance of Hong Kong Jewellers’ &
Goldsmiths’ Association, a Vice Chairperson of Tsuen Wan District
Fire Safety Ambassador Honorary Presidents’ Association, a
Respectable President of H.K. Gold & Silver Ornament Workers
& Merchants General Union, the 14th Term Executive Director
of Guangzhou Panyu Jewelry Manufacturers Association, the
22nd Term Honorary Consultant of Hong Kong Precious Metals
Traders Association Limited, the 10th Term Honorary President
of Tsuen Wan District Elderly Welfare Association, an Honorary
Chairman of Hong Kong Gemstone Manufacturers’ Association,
a Vice Chairman of the Jewellers & Goldsmiths’ Association of
Hong Kong Limited and an Industry Advisor of Fei Cui Standard
Project of The Gemmological Association of Hong Kong
Limited. Moreover, Mr. TSE was awarded the “Chief Executive’s
Commendation for Community Service” by the Government of the
Hong Kong SAR.
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Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP, aged 78, joined the Group in 1997. He
was re-designated from an Independent Non-executive Director
to a Non-executive Director of the Company on 1 October 2011,
owing to changes in factors concerning his independence. Mr.
HUI has 54 years of experience in the securities and investment
industry. Mr. HUI had for years been serving as a Council Member
and Vice Chairman of the Stock Exchange, a member of the
Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission, a Director of the Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited, a member of the Listing Committee of the
HKEX, an appointed member of the Securities and Futures Appeal
Tribunal, a member of Standing Committee on Company Law
Reform, a member of the Committee on Real Estate Investment
Trusts of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission
and also an appointed member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants Investigation Panel A. Mr. HUI was
appointed by the Government of the HKSAR as a Justice of the
Peace in 2004 and was also a member of the Zhuhai Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’'s Political Consultative
Conference from 2006 to 2017. He had also been a member
of Government “Appointees” (independent member) of Appeal
Panel of the Travel Industry Council of Hong Kong. Mr. HUI is an
Independent Non-executive Director of Gemdale Properties and
Investment Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 0535), China South
City Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1668), Agile Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 3383) and FSE Lifestyle Services Limited
(Stock Code: 0331) which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He
also serves as an Independent Non-executive Director of Lifestyle
International Holdings Limited (former Stock Code: 1212), the
shares of which were delisted from the Stock Exchange on 20
December 2022. He was an Independent Non-executive Director
of HKEX (Stock Code: 0388), HK Acquisition Corporation (Stock
Code: 7841), a Special Purpose Acquisition Company (SPAC) and
SINOPEC Engineering (Group) Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 2386), until
his retirement effective from 29 April 2015, his resignation effective
from 30 October 2024 and 8 November 2024 respectively.
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Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. LI Hon Hung, BBS, MH, JP, aged 68, was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company in 2011. Mr. LI holds a
Diploma of Architectural Design from Humber College of Toronto,
Canada in 1981 and a Bachelor’s of Architecture from New York
Institute of Technology in 1984. Mr. LI was awarded the Certificate
of Registration Authorized Person (List of Architects) in 1989 and
the Certificate of Registered Inspector in 2012, by the Hong Kong
Government respectively. In professional qualification aspect, Mr.
Ll is a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Architects and a Member
of Architect Registration Board. He also got the PRC Class 1
Registered Architect Qualification. Mr. LI has extensive architecture
experience and is a Director of Li & Siu Associates Ltd. and
A. Li & Associates Architects Ltd. In addition, he is a Director
of Keen Mind Kindergarten. Mr. LI was appointed as a District
Council Member of Sham Shui Po District from 2000 to 2007 and
awarded the Chief Executive’s Commendation for Community
Service and Medal of Honor. He was also appointed by the
Hong Kong Government a Justice of the Peace in 2008 and was
awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) in 2017. Mr. LI has been
appointed to various positions over the years, including Chairman
of Sham Shui Po District Office (East Liaison Team), Chairman of
Sham Shui Po District Fire Safety Committee, Chairman of Sham
Shui Po Council for the Promotion of Cultural and Recreation
Service Limited, Chairman of Sham Shui Po District Fight Crime
Committee, Honorary President of Sham Shui Po District Junior
Police Call, Honorary President of Kowloon City District Junior
Police Call, Honorary President of Yau Tsim District Junior Police
Call, Chairman of Yau Yat Chuen Residents Association Ltd.,
President of Police Dragon Boat Club and Chartered President
of Lions Club of Sham Shui Po Hong Kong. Mr. Li is a member
of The Sixth Election Committee of the HKSAR. He is also an
Independent Non-executive Director of Sheung Yue Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1633) which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP, aged 73, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
2011 and is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. IP graduated from The University of Hong
Kong with a degree of Social Sciences in 1973. He subsequently
pursued further studies in Oxford University and Harvard
Business School. Mr. IP joined the Hong Kong Government in
November 1973 as an Administrative Officer and had served
various government departments. Mr. IP was promoted to the
rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997. He worked in the Hong
Kong Government as a Principal Official from July 1997 to
June 2007. Senior positions held by Mr. IP in the past included
Commissioner of Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary
for Economic Services and Secretary for Financial Services. Mr.
IP took up the position of Secretary for Economic Development
and Labour Bureau on 1 July 2002. His portfolio in respect of
economic development covered air and sea transport, logistics
development, tourism, energy, postal services, meteorological
services, competition and consumer protection. He was also
responsible for labour policies including matters relating to
employment services, labour relations and employees’ rights.
In his capacity as Secretary for Economic Development and
Labour Bureau, Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong Airport
Authority Board, the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board
and the Hong Kong International Theme Parks Company Board
as well as the Chairman of the Logistics Development Council,
Port Development Board, Maritime Industry Council and Aviation
Development Advisory Committee. Mr. IP retired from the Hong
Kong Government in July 2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia
Star award from the Government of the HKSAR in 2001, and is
an unofficial Justice of the Peace. Mr. IP is also an Independent
Non-executive Director of Lai Sun Development Company Limited
(Stock Code: 0488), Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1888), Nameson Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1982), Milion Cities Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2892) and
C-MER Medical Holdings Limited (formerly known as C-MER Eye
Care Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 3309) which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an Independent
Non-executive Director of China Resources Building Materials
Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 1313) until his retirement
effective from 24 May 2024.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. MAK Wing Sum, Alvin, aged 72, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in 2012
and is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. MAK graduated from the University of Toronto with
a Bachelor of Commerce degree in 1976. He is a member of the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. After working in Citibank
for over 26 years, Mr. MAK retired on 1 May 2012. He last served
as the Head of Markets and Banking for Citibank Hong Kong,
being the country business manager for corporate and investment
banking business. Mr. MAK had also held various other senior
positions in Citibank including Head of Global Banking responsible
for managing all the client relationship managers. Prior to that, he
also managed the bank’s Hong Kong corporate finance business,
regional asset management business and was the Chief Financial
Officer of North Asia region. Before joining Citibank in 1985, Mr.
MAK was an audit group manager at Coopers & Lybrand (now
known as PricewaterhouseCoopers). He worked for Coopers &
Lybrand for 8 years, 5 of which was in Toronto, Canada.

Mr. MAK is an Independent Non-executive Director of Lai Fung
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1125), Hong Kong Technology
Venture Company Limited (Stock Code: 1137), Crystal
International Group Limited (Stock Code: 2232) and K Cash
Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 2483) which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an Independent
Non-executive Director of Goldpac Group Limited (Stock Code:
3315), until his retirement effective from 21 May 2024. Mr. MAK
was admitted as a member of Hong Kong Housing Society
in May 2015 and is currently a member of its various working
committees.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. WONG Yu Pok, Marina, JP, aged 76, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in 2013.
Ms. WONG is also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Ms. WONG had been working with PricewaterhouseCoopers
for over 37 years specialising in the Mainland tax and business
advisory services. Since 1978, she was responsible for the
development of the firm’s business in the Mainland. Ms. WONG
joined Tricor Services Limited as a director from 2004 to 2006
after her retirement as a partner from PricewaterhouseCoopers
in 2004. She is also a Fellow Member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.

In addition, Ms. WONG is also an Independent Non-executive
Director of Hong Kong Ferry (Holdings) Company Limited (Stock
Code: 0050), KLN Logistics Group Limited (formerly known as
Kerry Logistics Network Limited) (Stock Code: 0636) and SJM
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 0880), which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. She was an Independent Non-
executive Director of Kerry Properties Limited (Stock Code: 0683)
until her retirement effective from 20 May 2024.

Mr. HUI King Wai, aged 75, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in 2015 and is a member
of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is a solicitor
practising in Hong Kong. Mr. HUI is currently a consultant of
Holman Fenwick Willan. Mr. HUI was a Non-executive Director of
the Group during the period from 1999 to 2013.
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Senior Management

Mr. WONG Wai Tong, aged 64, is the Senior Business
Director of the Group. He initially joined the Group in 1998 and
served various departments for over 10 years until 2013. Mr.
WONG rejoined the Group in 2014. He has over 48 years of
manufacturing and purchasing experience in jewellery and gold
industry. Mr. WONG is responsible for the Group’s merchandising
and polishing of rough diamonds and assembly and production
functions of diamond products. He is a Principal Advisor of
Honorary Consul for Republic of Fiji in Hong Kong, a Director of
Guangzhou Diamond Exchange, a Director and Vice-Chairman
of Hong Kong Guangzhou Nansha Association, the 6th Term
Director of Guangzhou Panyu Overseas Friendship Association,
the 4th Term Director of Guangzhou Nansha District Chamber
of Commerce (Chamber) and the 7th Term Honorary Director of
Guangzhou Overseas Friendship Liaison Association. He holds
the titles of a Diamond Grader of National Gemstone Testing
Center and a Certified Diamond Grader of HRD Antwerp Institute
of Gemmology. Mr. WONG is the younger brother of Mr. WONG
Wai Sheung, the Group’s Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director.

Ms. WONG So Kuen, aged 63, is the Financial Controller
(Financial Accounting) of the Group. Ms. WONG joined the Group
in 1997. She is mainly responsible for financial accounting and
tax planning matters of the Group. Ms. WONG often travels to
Mainland in search of information on national tax policies and
privileges in order to develop relevant tax plans for the Group. She
has over 39 years of experience in financial and accounting for
commercial firms.

Ms. CHUNG Vai Ping, aged 55, is the Deputy Corporate Gift
Director of the Group. She has over 37 years of experience in the
jewellery industry. She joined the Group in 1990 and is responsible
for the corporate gift business of the Group. In 2001, Ms. CHUNG
won the Best of Show Award for her design “Flashing” in the 2nd
Hong Kong Jewellery Design Competition. She received the GIA
Diamonds Graduate title in 2004. Ms. CHUNG is a Fellow of the
Professional Validation Centre of Hong Kong Business Sector
Limited, an Executive Committee Member and Director of General
Affairs of Hong Kong Jewellers’ & Goldsmiths’ Association, an
Executive Committee Member of The Kowloon Pearls, Precious
Stones, Jade, Gold and Silver Ornament Merchants Association, an
Executive Committee Member and Vice Director of The Jewellers
& Goldsmiths’ Association of Hong Kong Limited, and a Member
of Hong Kong Trade Development Council Jewellery Advisory
Committee.
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Senior Management (Continued)

Ms. CHEUNG Irene, aged 48, the Senior Legal Counsel of the
Group, joined the Group in 2005. During her tenure, the Legal
Affairs Department has attained awards and recognition in the
areas of compliance, data protection, employment and labour,
dispute resolution and intellectual property. Since 2024, she has
been the Executive Director and the Chief Operating Officer of
3DG International, a subsidiary of the Company, which is listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. CHEUNG received
a Bachelor's Degree of Arts from the University of Toronto and
a LL.B. from Osgoode Hall Law School and was qualified as
a solicitor, barrister and notary public in Ontario, Canada. She
is also a member of the Law Society of Ontario. Ms. CHEUNG
was awarded the “Women of Excellence 2019” by “JESSICA”,
a leading women’s magazine, “The Awards of Women of Times
2019” by “InStyle”, an international fashion magazine and “GBA
Outstanding Women Entrepreneur Awards 2023” by HK Small
and Medium Enterprises Association and “Metro Finance”, in
recognition of Ms. CHEUNG's overall outstanding leadership skills
and excellent career achievements. In the realm of legal expertise,
Ms. Cheung received individual recognition by awarded with
the “Winner in the category of Consumer & Retail”, the “Highly
Commended - Environment, Social & Governance (ESG)’, and
the “Highly Commended - Intellectual Property” from the “CBLJ
In-house Counsel Awards” for five consecutive years from 2020
to 2025. These honours reflect a high regard for Ms. Cheung’s
outstanding corporate legal governance and legal expertise.
Ms. CHEUNG is the spouse of Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny, the
Deputy Chairman and Executive Director of the Group.

Mr. CHAN Cheuk Him, Paul, aged 54, is the Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of 3DG International, a
subsidiary of the Company, which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. He graduated from the University of
Toronto and Canada and the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology, with a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce and
a Master's Degree in Business Administration, respectively. He
is also a Member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has about 31 years’ experience in
auditing and financial management with audit firm and various
listed companies in Hong Kong. He was the executive director
and chief financial officer from August 2010 to April 2022 of
Bossini International Holdings Limited (former Stock Code: 0592).
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Details of the retirement scheme operated by the Group are set
out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM have service contracts with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which are not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The fees and other emoluments of directors are determined
by reference to industry norm and market conditions, with
discretionary bonus on performance awarded to executive
directors.

Save as disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company, its subsidiaries or its holding company was a party, and
in which a director of the Company or an entity connected with
a director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the Year
under review.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the Year under review.
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As at 31 March 2025, save as disclosed below, none of the 202593831 H BT XFIIREZIN AR
directors and chief executives of the Company had interests and BlEEKRESTHAEMERARA S M
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of ~ 1RE#EE (& B S RS KA EXVER) >~
the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning &% ~ MHEAIR D R ER#EE > BB ()IR1EE
of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required, pursuant to  SHERE&HI5E3521& 4R E B 8 I sZ (& PR it &
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to 50 ; SU(b)IR B 3T P - 7 78 Bl B $2C3Fr &
therein; or (b) were required, pursuant to the Model Code set out  BITEAESFB) BHI G R A S KRBT 2 &
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange, to K& :

notify the Company and the Stock Exchange:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares T ATIRG RIERAKRSZEFE
of the Company
Number of Ordinary Shares
LERYE
Beneficial Controlled Beneficiary Other Total % of
Name of Director Owner Spouse  Corporation of a Trust Interests Interests Shares
Sty BEEA Eff  SENEE  GREEA Hfts EadE (ROEMM
Note (a)
Wi (a)
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung 14,999,946 514,000 7,352,504 238,661,722 - 261518172 () 44.54%
BRERE Note (o) Note (c) Note (d)
I3 (o) M (o) WEE ()
Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny 360,000 - - 238,651,722 - 239,011,722 1) 40.71%
BRAE Note
BizE ()
Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy 894,184 - - 238,651,722 - 239,545,906 (L) 40.80%
ERELT Note d)
BizE ()
Dr. CHAN So Kuen 250,000 5,000 - - - 255,000 (L) 0.04%
BRBET Note (g
Bz (o)
Mr. TSE Moon Chuen 463,344 - - - - 463,344 (1) 0.08%
ek
Mr. HUI Chiu Chung - 50,000 - - - 50,000 (1) 0.01%
iyt Note (]
Wiz ()
Mr. LI Hon Hung 1,387,437 270,000 - - 8,956,855 10,564,292 (L) 1.80%
FERLE Note (g) Note )
Wz (o) g
(L) Long posttion ##&
Note (a) M5 (@)
The percentage is based on the total number of issued shares of the B ThRE2025F3A31 H 2 AR A B E&E1TKRHD
Company as at 31 March 2025 (i.e. 587,107,850 shares). “Bgh (B1587,107,85008 88 15) 518 o
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Long positions in shares and underlying shares
of the Company (Continued)

Note (b)

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung’s spouse, Ms. LUK Chui Yee, held 514,000 shares of
the Company.

Note (c)

The directors of Dragon King Investment Ltd. were accustomed to act in
accordance with the directions of Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, hence Dragon
King Investment Ltd. was deemed to be a controlled corporation of Mr.
WONG Wai Sheung, and in return Mr. WONG Wai Sheung was deemed to
be interested in 7,352,504 shares of the Company held (whether directly or
indirectly) by Dragon King Investment Ltd.

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung together with other parties acting in concert in
respect of the voting matters in Dragon King Investment Ltd., collectively
controlled (whether directly or indirectly) over 30% of the voting power of
Dragon King Investment Ltd.

Note (d)

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung and Ms. LUK Chui Yee are the founders and settlors
of The WS WONG Family Trust (the “Trust”). Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Ms.
LUK Chui Yee, Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny and Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy
are the discretionary beneficiaries under the Trust. The Trust was interested
in 238,651,722 shares in the Company, comprising (i) the 1,511,050 shares
in the Company held by the Trust and (i) the 237,140,672 shares in the
Company attributable to Luk Fook (Control) Limited. The Trust indirectly
controls over one-third of the voting power of Luk Fook (Control) Limited
(being approximately 46.29%) and is therefore deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Luk Fook (Control) Limited in the Company.

The members of the Trust, together with other parties who act in concert with
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung in respect of the voting matters in Luk Fook (Control)
Limited, collectively controlled (whether directly or indirectly) over half of the
voting power of Luk Fook (Control) Limited.

Note (e)

Dr. CHAN So Kuen’s spouse, Mr. LO Kwing Chi, held 5,000 shares of the
Company.

Note (f)

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung’s spouse, Ms. SHEK Milly, held 50,000 shares of the
Company.

Note (g)

Mr. LI Hon Hung’s spouse, Ms. LI Irene, held 270,000 shares of the
Company.

Note (h)

Mr. LI Hon Hung, as the administrator of the estate of the late Mr. LEE Shu
Kuan, held (i) 6,370,231 shares of the Company (which were beneficially held
by the late Mr. LEE Shu Kuan); and (i) 33.3% of the issued share capital of
Wah Hang Kimon Investments Limited and 51% of the issued share capital of
Wah Hang Kimon Holdings Limited, which each in turn held 630,624 shares
and 1,956,000 shares of the Company respectively.

T AERMRAERMRSGZETE @

MI5E (b)

BHEBAEZRMBERZRZLIRAES14,000EF 2
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EEEWRG
Long positions in shares and underlying S EEE R RERRKRGN (EE
shares of 3DG International (“3DG International HEERRR) 2FE
Shares”)
Number of Ordinary Shares
LERYE
Beneficial Controlled Beneficiary Other Total % of
Name of Director Owner Spouse  Corporation of a Trust Interests Interests Shares
Exfta BaEA Bff  REHNEE  GEEREA Rtz EolE  ROEMM
Note (a)
Bz (o)
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung 514,972 18,614 301,452 201,722,651 - 202,557,589 (1) 75.11%
BRERLE Note (o] Note (c) Note (d)
Kzt o) i (o) M (d)
Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny 14,760 - - 201,722,651 - 201,737,311 () 74.81%
BARETE Note (d)
et (o)
Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy
e 29,643 - - 201722551 - 201,752,194 (1) 74.81%
Note (d)
izt (o)
Ms. WONG Hau Yeung 20,500 - - - - 20,500 (1) 0.01%
InRELt
Dr. CHAN So Kuen 32,380 205 - - - 32,585 () 0.01%
BRABET Note (g)
Wi (g)
Mr. Tse Moon Chuen 60,187 - - - - 60,187 (L) 0.02%
EI ek
Mr. HUI Chiu Chung 160,034 144,650 - - - 294,584 (1) 0.11%
FRARE Note (7
iR
Mr. LI Hon Hung 34,334 6,970 - - 367,230 408,534 (1) 0.15%
FEERE Note (g) Note (n)
fitzE Q) iz ()

(L) Long posttion $7&
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Long positions in shares and underlying
shares of 3DG International (“3DG International
Shares”)(Continued)

Note (a)

The percentage is based on the total number of issued 3DG International
Shares as at 31 March 2025 (i.e. 269,671,601 3DG International Shares).

Note (b)

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung’s spouse, Ms. LUK Chui Yee, held 18,614 3DG
International Shares.

Note (c)

The directors of Dragon King Investment Ltd. were accustomed to act in
accordance with the directions of Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, hence Dragon
King Investment Ltd. was deemed to be a controlled corporation of Mr.
WONG Wai Sheung, and in return Mr. WONG Wai Sheung was deemed to
be interested in 301,452 3DG International Shares held (whether directly or
indirectly) by Dragon King Investment Ltd.

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung together with other parties acting in concert in
respect of the voting matters in Dragon King Investment Ltd., collectively
controlled (whether directly or indirectly) over 30% of the voting power of
Dragon King Investment Ltd.

Note (d)

The Company is held as to approximately 40.39% by Luk Fook (Control)
Limited, which in turn is indirectly held as to approximately 46.29% by the
Trust via LF Holding Services Limited where Mr. WONG Wai Sheung and his
spouse, Ms. LUK Chui Yee, are the founders and settlors and Mr. WONG Wai
Sheung, Ms. LUK Chui Yee, Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny, and Ms. WONG
Lan Sze, Nancy are the discretionary beneficiaries. LF Holding Services
Limited held 100% of the issued share capital of LF Enterprises Limited and
46.29% of the issued share capital of Luk Fook (Control) Limited, which in
turn were interested in 61,953 3DG International Shares and 201,660,598
3DG International Shares respectively. Hence, LF Holding Services Limited
was deemed to be interested in 201,722,551 3DG International Shares. By
virtue of the SFO, each of Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Ms. LUK Chui Yee, Mr.
WONG Ho Lung, Danny, and Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy was therefore
deemed to be interested in 201,722,551 3DG International Shares indirectly
held by LF Holding Services Limited.

Note (e)

Dr. CHAN So Kuen’s spouse, Mr. LO Kwing Chi, held 205 3DG International
Shares.

Note (f)

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung’s spouse, Ms. SHEK Milly, held 144,550 3DG
International Shares.

Note (g)

Mr. LI Hon Hung'’s spouse, Ms. LI Irene, held 6,970 3DG International Shares.

Note (h)

Mr. LI Hon Hung, as the administrator of the estate of the late Mr. LEE Shu
Kuan, held 367,230 3DG International Shares (which were beneficially or
indirectly held by the late Mr. LEE Shu Kuan).

EEGERRORERRGS ((EE
SERRS) 258 (@

MEE (a)
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M5 (o)

HEBAEZEBERELIHHI8614REET
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ZREFZE IEEREREREANEERE
BIRAT (T ERAMEEM) BA301,452KREE
SRR Z e

ERETEBFEMMEEREARADRREEH
—HITE AL HES (TRBERRE R B
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So far as known to the directors and chief executive of the
Company, as at 31 March 2025, save as disclosed below, no
person, other than a director or chief executive of the Company,
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which are required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of

12025538318 » Br T XFTIREEE SN » ;A
RAEFR&RSTHRAESME  BHEAEMIF
FRBEFHURSTHRABEZALRERF
RIDRABBERD B EERBEES R AR
PIEXVED B2 K 3D B IR LR M AR F W ER
ZREm KA -

the SFO.

Number of Total
Name of Shareholder Shares Capacity Interests % of Shares
R, BB i ®E st AR R E AL
Note (a)
I3 (a)
Ms. LUK Chui Yee 514,000 (1) Beneficial Owner 263,711,765 (1) 44.92%
BEERZL BTGB
21,981,814 (1) Spouse
Note (o) [
MiIzE (o)
241,215,951 (1) Beneficiary of a Trust
Note (c) EREZmEA
fizE )
Ms. CHEUNG Irene 239,011,722 (1) Spouse 239,011,722 (1) 40.71%
RIER T T Note (d) [
FigzE (o)
Luk Fook (Control) Limited 234,924,672 (1) Beneficial Owner 234,924,672 (1) 40.01%
TNE () BRAE BTGB
LF Holding Services Limited 239,284,877 (1) Interest of controlled 239,284,877 (L) 40.76%
Note () corporation
MiH5E (o) RERER B
BOS Trustee Limited as Trustee 239,359,877 (L) Trustee 239,359,877 (L) 40.77%
Note (f) ZEEA
BiF=E
Silchester International Investors LLP 76,421,600 (L) Investment Manager 76,421,600 (L) 13.02%
RELE
Silchester International Investors 35,094,600 (L) Investment Manager 35,094,600 (L) 5.98%

International Value Equity Trust

() Long position 7 &

RELE
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Note (a)

The percentage is based on the total number of issued shares of the Company as at
31 March 2025 (i.e. 587,107,850 shares).

Note (b)

By virtue of SFO, Ms. LUK Chui Yee was deemed to be interested in the shares of
the Company held by her spouse, Mr. WONG Wai Sheung.

Note (c)

Ms. LUK Chui Yee and Mr. WONG Wai Sheung are the founders and settlors of
the Trust. Ms. LUK Chui Yee, Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny
and Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy are the discretionary beneficiaries under the Trust.
The Trust was interested in 241,215,951 shares in the Company, comprising (i) the
1,611,050 shares in the Company held by the Trust and (i) the 239,704,901 shares
in the Company attributable to Luk Fook (Control) Limited. The Trust indirectly
controls over one-third of the voting power of Luk Fook (Control) Limited (being
approximately 46.29%) and is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held
by Luk Fook (Control) Limited in the Company.

Note (d)

By virtue of SFO, Ms. CHEUNG Irene was deemed to be interested in the shares of
the Company held by her spouse, Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny.

Note (e)

LF Holding Services Limited held 100% of the issued share capital of LF Enterprises
Limited and 46.29% of the issued share capital of Luk Fook (Control) Limited, which
held 1,511,050 shares and 237,773,827 shares of the Company respectively. Hence,
LF Holding Services Limited was deemed to be interested in 239,284,877 shares in
the Company.

Note (f)

BOS Trustee Limited owned 100% of the issued share capital of LF Holding Services
Limited and was deemed to be interested in 239,359,877 shares in the Company in
the capacity of the trustee of the Trust.

In addition, BOS Trustee Limited, as trustee of another trust, was deemed to be
interested in the 75,000 shares in the Company held by the trust.

The related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the Year under review as disclosed in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements do not constitute connected transactions
under the Listing Rules.

At no time during the Year under review was the Company, its
subsidiaries, its associates, its fellow subsidiaries, or its parent
company or its other associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors and the chief executive
of the Company (including their spouse and children under 18
years of age) to hold any interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its
specified undertakings or other associated corporations.

MI5E (a)

BTy IRE2025F3831H 2 AR B 31T H 485 (BD
587,107,8508% 8% 1) 5t ©
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&R Ay RE & ©
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During the Year under review and up to the date of this report, the
Company has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under the
relevant statutes for the benefit of the Directors (including former
Directors) of the Company or its associated companies. The
permitted indemnity provisions are provided for in the Company’s
Bye-laws and in the directors and officers liability insurance
maintained for the Group in respect of potential liability and costs
associated with legal proceedings that may be brought against
such Directors.

During the Year under review, the percentages of sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major customers are as follows:

The largest customer RAER
Five largest customers combined hBRAERGST

The percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers combined is less than 30%.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had interest in the major customers
noted above.

The percentages of purchases for the Year under review
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers are as follows:

The largest supplier BRAMIER
Five largest suppliers combined AR AHER S

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had interest in the major suppliers noted
above.

REBEFEARSBEARSARRLL T2
BIRARERN A BAURAT AR
BNEEE (BENES AZam ARNBER
X BHEFBERXHNEEHN AL ZL
AR URRAEEREE RS RITHA
ERENEEIRBA BEEFRBULERENE
EMER SRS AR AT ELARERM
fEHBE(E -

REBEEFEN FEBXT2FFAEERE
ERZBADLENT

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TAET
0.7% 1.0%
2.1% 2.4%

AEBLLRATRHERAMGLEES DR
30%°

BEZ REZMBALTHNBEEEZMAES
RABSNU ERAZAFRER  HEES L
MEEERZEmeo

REBEFEN ~&EET2HEBMAEES
BZBEDLEINT

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TET
34.8% 45.3%
84.8% 82.6%

RES REZHMBALHNBRESAAES
KRFSRU ERAZERRR  BIEER L
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Particulars of bank loans, overdrafts and other borrowings of the
Group as at 31 March 2025 are set out in Notes 31 and 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws although there are no restrictions against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

Below are the updates and changes of directors’ information since
the date of the Interim Report 2024/25, required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

1. Mr. TSE Moon Chuen ceased to be a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from
1 April 2025.

The register of members of the Company for the forthcoming
AGM will be closed from 18 August 2025 to 21 August 2025,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to qualify for attendance at the AGM
to be held on 21 August 2025, all transfers accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 15 August 2025.

The register of members of the Company for the final dividend will
also be closed on 28 August 2025 and no transfer of shares will
be registered on that day. In order to qualify for the final dividend,
all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 27 August 2025.

RERMPN2025F3A/BNBZRITER - BX
REMESHBEN GG M BHREMEITR
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The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group
is based on their merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the directors are reviewed and determined by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics. No director, or any of his or her associates is involved in
deciding his or her own remuneration.

The Company had 71.18% interest in 3DG International as at 31
March 2025. Therefore, interests of Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Mr.
TSE Moon Chuen, Ms. WONG Hau Yeung, Dr. CHAN So Kuen
and Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, who were directors of the Company,
in 3DG International, were not considered as having an interest
under Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

As at March 31, 2025, none of the Directors or their associates
has any competing interests in the businesses which compete
or are likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our Group or
would otherwise require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to shareholders by reason of their holdings of the
Company’s securities.

Based on information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its directors as at the date of this Annual
Report, the public float of shares in the Company has remained
above the minimum percentage required by the Stock Exchange
throughout the year.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
under review have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment.
The Company has not changed its auditor in the past 3 years.

By order of the Board,
WONG Wai Sheung
Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

The consolidated financial statements of Luk Fook Holdings
(International) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which are set out on pages 116 to 261, comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2025;
° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.
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s HEZALFENGER@mEIHE,

s RFREUBHRERMTE SEEXRGSHER
REMPBREER -

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Mt : +852 2289 8888 » fHEL : +852 2810 9888 » www.pwchk.com
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

EMRA 2SRV HFREERESED
R A BMEN(E B BRE G ENNE
EMASHRIET SEBER202543831H
NiEaMBR I RESHEZHEFENGS
PHERR NGRS @ﬁ%jﬁeﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁ@
EMER) IR BRE S AkE -

HRPEREEBEMAERMHI(EBE
RV ETE - RAEXFEI T RENS
FEELRRS UMM B RSV BRERAK
EEEIEyhIEE— DMt

RPIERE RAFMESHNEF RIRERTER
BEMDHEMNEATRIBHER
REEBGSHIAEEMHN(EEGSHENER

TR AT RETB PR > BB B85
B wEETTRITHNEMEEEREE

HREBSTFEESRERFNEEHAE BR
HEARGESUBRENESRSEENSF
BH-GEFEEARMEFBREGGMBR
KERHEBRRETREN KM IEHE
LEERHEBNER-

Annual Report 2024/25 R



The key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as

follows:
° Existence and valuation of inventories

° Impairment assessments of goodwill and trademarks

Key Audit Matters
Bt EE

Existence and valuation of inventories

FEHFEERAEE

Refer to Note 4(a) and 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The carrying value of inventories of the Group is
HK$10,739 million as at 31 March 2025. The Group’s
inventories mainly comprised gold, platinum and gem-
set jewellery products in the retail stores, manufacturing
facilities and warehouses. Valuation of inventories is at
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. Significant portion of
the carrying value of the inventories represented cost
of precious metals and gems which are subject to the
risk of changes in market value. The assessment of net
realisable value of inventories is based on estimates and
judgements by management in respect of, amongst
others, authenticity and valuation of gold, platinum and
gem-set jewellery products, historical sales performances
of gem-set jewellery products and the estimated selling
price of precious metals and gems for gold, platinum
and gem-set jewellery products. Management engaged
independent gemmologists to assist them in evaluating
the authenticity and valuation of selected gem-set
jewellery products. Furthermore, there is a higher inherent
risk of theft and pilferage given the high intrinsic value
and portable nature of individual inventory item.

B 2 RR G MBI 4@ K23
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EMME N RERRE T E1E

Our procedures in relation to existence and valuation of
inventories included:

1) We obtained an understanding of the
management’s internal control and assessment
process of existence and valuation of inventories
and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud;

2)  We evaluated and validated management’s key
controls over the existence of inventories;

KM FENEEEREBECFHVERTT -
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TEM - SCERHEEERRINFRSRL
DEHEEXRHERRAMBI AT R

2) HFAEFEAkEEEERHFENFEMEAR
BES

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]



Key Audit Matters
RSBt HIH

Existence and valuation of inventories (Continued)

FEHFEERREE (&

We focused on auditing the existence and valuation of
inventories because the existence of inventories is a
heightened risk given the high value and portable nature
of individual item, which are susceptible to potential
misappropriation or theft while the assessment of net
realisable value of inventories involved estimates and
significant management judgements.

RPZEEBERFENFREEREMGE REERE?
FEEEEESAEZINRE FERPBNERHNA
B WHEFTEEBRS AREE  MEEFa 221
FEAY KGR EEEERHE -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BAEH N EEMRENEE

We evaluated and validated management’s key
controls over the authenticity of gold, platinum and
gem-set jewellery products;

We attended the annual physical inventory counts
close to year-end date in selected retail stores,
manufacturing facilities and warehouses of the
Group and performed sample count procedures.
We compared our sample count results with the
counts performed by the Group and the records
in the inventory system. We also selected samples
and tested the authenticity of gold, platinum
and gem-set jewellery products using electronic
testers. We performed roll backward testing on
the inventory movements between the annual
physical inventory count dates and year-end date
on a sample basis by checking relevant supporting
evidence;

BTG REEEENES R RHKEEH
EmEBERRIFRIZER ;
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Key Audit Matters
RSBt HIH

Existence and valuation of inventories (Continued)

FEHFEERREE (&

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BAEH N EEMRENEE

In evaluating management’s assessment of net realisable
values and provision of inventories:

5)

We evaluated the net realisable values of gold
and platinum inventories with reference to the
estimated selling price of precious metals and
other supporting documents;

We obtained an understanding of management’s
processes for the identification of slow-moving
gem-set jewellery products;

We evaluated the reasonableness of
management’s inventory provision by considering
key estimates including costs to re-work of
gem-set jewellery products and historical sales
pattern of these products and checking relevant
supporting evidence;

EAEEEERFE SRR EREEMETENE
ZEeel

5)

HFE2EE BT EEREMEFE XM 51
HERERAEFENERFE

BT REEEH# FHGKERHAERNRE

RfiZEB2EaEEmNIE8REaREER
A RZEERNBEHNERNAEANIR R
st WIRBHEMXFER UETEEERS R
FERBNGEN
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Key Audit Matters
RSBt HIH

Existence and valuation of inventories (Continued)

FEHFEERREE (&

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BAEH N EEMRENEE

We obtained and reviewed gemological appraisal
reports for selected samples of gem-set
jewellery products performed by the independent
gemmologists to verify the authenticity and
valuation of the selected samples. We also
challenged and further evaluated the basis and
technique used in the gemological appraisal
reports; and

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent gemmologists and
obtained an understanding of their scope of work
and the terms of engagement;

Based on the procedures performed, we found that
the existence of inventories, as well as the estimates
and judgement made by management in respect of the
valuation of inventories, are supportable by the available
evidence.

8)

FFIER IS 0 28 B2 48 1L B8 1 i TE BT 39 28 7 AU SR BR
BOREELRAMETHERREERS XU
RBEEERANAEEEREE -RATHERSR
BERSTERNER MR HE I FE
—FEHh s &

HAEHEBIELEERMAA B ENRER
Mo 3T AR F R TIFEE KBS R ARAR o

REBETHRER RAXRFEZFE BEEE
MEFEZEBEFHZ A RH B ERSRE -
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Key Audit Matters
RSBt HIH

Impairment assessments of gooadwill and trademarks
BEEREBIZ R EFTE

Refer to Note 4(c), 4(d), and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group carried HK$278 million goodwill and HK$504
million trademarks with definite useful live on the
consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2025.

Goodwill is required to be assessed for impairment at
least annually. In performing the impairment assessment,
management compared the carrying amount of the
cash generating unit (“CGU”), to which the goodwill
is allocated, with its recoverable amount based on
a discounted cash flow forecast to determine if any
impairment provision was required.

2R B M B IREMEE4(0) ~ 4(d) 18-
R2025F3A31H EEXERGEEEEERLES
2T8EEATTHEMENKAEB B TEABREAFRE
HARY AR

BEEVSFEREETAENMG - RETRESEE
EEEROEIBENREELEN ((REELS
i) MEREEEEAENFTRESRERANTREIE
BRETLLBO R ERERERMERE-

B T

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BAEH N EEMRENEE

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessments of
goodwill and trademarks included:

1)  We obtained an understanding of the
management’s internal control and process
of impairment assessments of goodwill and
trademarks and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud;

R E KA RBETEEFHNERLT -

1) BRAPETHEEBRHBERBRAESTEHA
BIER B WRBE B TREMENRE
EREMAERBRERN KT MEME - T8

M BIERBEIEE R R SUREFRSRUME - LGT
HERERERARAN TR ;
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Key Audit Matters
RSBt HIH

Impairment assessments of gooawill and trademarks (Continued)

BERBIZRHEE (B

Trademarks with definite useful lives are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. Management considered there are
impairment indicators on the trademarks because the
CGUs or groups of CGUs, to which the trademarks
are grouped, were loss-making during the year. In
performing the impairment assessments, management
compared the carrying amounts of the trademarks with
their recoverable amounts based on discounted cash
flow forecasts to determine if any impairment provision
was required. Such forecasts covered a 15.5-year
period, which aligned with the remaining useful life of the
trademarks.

Management engaged an independent external valuer
to assist them regarding the impairment assessments
of goodwill and trademarks. Based on management’s
impairment assessments, management concluded
that there was no impairment in respect of the Group’s
goodwill and trademarks as at 31 March 2025.

EREFEHHBFERECRBHRE A A E AW
B BARRDERFMNARERZETHESS
EEERABREFTAETR  AAZBRAENIER
TEEBUNREELBMUARNFARRBE-NE
TRENLR  EEBRBERNREEERAENITR
R REVAN WL IRETILE UEEREH
ERERE - TR RE15.5F IR > B i IR A R R
AIEREH -2

BRI S B L T B R RN
B RRERERE SEERLER
12025F3A31 8 EEENEERHRL R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BAEH N EEMRENEE

We assessed the reliability of management’s cash
flow forecasts by comparing budgeted results in
prior year’s forecasts with actual performance of
the current year;

We evaluated the key assumptions adopted in
the cashflow forecasts, including average revenue
growth rates for 1st to 5th year, average gross
profit margin rates, terminal growth rate or revenue
growth rates for 6th to 15.5th year, and discount
rates, by considering approved budgets, historical
data, actual performance as well as industry data,
with the involvement of our internal valuation
specialists;

HMER LFERANBREERELSFENE
RERETLE HEEEBRERERANA

%S

RAERREIEERNSRT  EREEDE
BT I S0 B ~ R PREE LU R AT U
HERERBEARRANRRER OFHS
1EBEENTHRA L E X TIHERE X E
1 EE N B6E H15.5E N TR L EER T
E
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Key Audit Matters
RSBt HIH

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BAEH N EEMRENEE

Impairment assessments of gooawill and trademarks (Continued)

BERBIZRHEE (B

We focused on auditing the impairment assessments
of goodwill and trademarks because the estimation of
recoverable amounts is subject to heightened inherent
risk and significant management assumptions used in
determining the discounted cash flow forecasts under
the value-in-use or fair value less costs of disposal
calculations. The key assumptions used are as follows:

° Average revenue growth rates for 1st to 5th year;

° Average gross profit margin rates;

° Terminal growth rate or revenue growth rates for
6th to 15.5th year; and

° Discount rates.

HMEEERHERERVEEN G RAERGE
AREIEESRRENEARREAREREEERR
ZEBRRANEABERNRAABRBEERESFEET
BENMRESRERA -PRTANERKRKRNT

s EIEEFNTHRAREX;

. THEAE;

o KEEEXRFOEFI5SFNTHRARES
R

S £

4)  We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer
engaged by management and obtained an
understanding of their scope of work and the
terms of engagement; and

5)  We evaluated sensitivity analyses performed by
management over key assumptions in the models
in order to ascertain the extent of change in those
assumptions would be required for the goodwill
and trademarks to be impaired.

Based on the procedures performed, we found that
management’s judgements and assumptions used in the
impairment assessments of goodwill and trademark, are
supportable by the available evidence.

4)  HMENEEEBEFRIEILINE T (MY
BENBENRERM I T RMPIR TSR E RS
PR 5 R

5) HFMEFGEEEERERETHBRIROSNE
D UEESERHERBERRENZERR
PREBREEIZE -

RECETHNRER RAEREEBNEERBRH
BHE R PR AR EY I K R ERIEFR 1S /ReE ST ST o
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the 2024/25
Sustainability Report and all of the information included in the
2024/25 Annual Report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

ENDESEAHHEMEEEaE -HMEEE®
¥52024, 25 F A I B R IR 5 22024, 255
FEHRANFTEGEE  BFEEEEMBRE
B F PRIz BEMER 45 o
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AYEESR AR °
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PRYBNBEREFEEARENELUTEEE
REGERERIMAYIF T °
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

RANER EHGEEOMBREERERS T
FAEBRIGFHIERMENH B AERRM
NREEEFRR THARSERMAERNZH
BN e - HFIERBAREIBGIE(RTE S
Q0fFm RBT (FRER) REHMANER I
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BENABSRAERFEMATE EHAEER
S GEFRBESKFHRE > ERERE
RIR(EAESHEDETHES R —EX
R F R AR A 3R - SE R R AT LA
M ERSIE RGERBEMEBN
EBERAETEFRASVBREEAERE
A BRARPIELEBVEERE I ARA
SH SRR A ARTEE K o

ERB(EBEHERDETESNBRES &K
PIERTEXHFE RFTEXREREEE R
375

o HAIMITEBENIRFSRERMER L
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RETRPITENRFUEHRE LR
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m RE ERER ERRIM EE
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

s HERRARELCESFTERNKEEN
R 455 o RIBFTE NP ESHRE B
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is LAIl, Pui Ling, Sandra (practising certificate
number; P05146).

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
B E2025F3831HILEFE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other (losses)/gains, net

Selling and distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Net provision of impairment losses
on financial assets and financial
guarantee

Operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance costs, net

Profit before income tax
Income tax expenses
Profit for the year

Profit attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share for profit

attributable to equity holders of

the Company during the year
Basic and diluted

The above consolidated income statement should be read in

A
HE A
EH)
HMA

Hith (548 Waa o P ER
HERDIHER

THER

TREEMVBER
REREEEFER

EEERN
LUEC TV ON
MHER

MBER FE
FRERTS TR ATEF

PSR
FAimFl
FE(S R

AT REmTFAA

FEERR R

FAFARRERFE ARG
mHzEikERN

BEARR S

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note
g

~N N 00 O

10

11

N
iRE

2025
HK$’000
FAERT
13,341,295
(8,924,289)

4,417,006
132,540
(523,516)
(2,233,305)
(379,928)

(746)
1,412,051

26,511
(59,119)

(32,608)
1,379,443
(311,585)
1,067,858

1,099,864
(32,006)

1,067,858

1.87# 7T

2024
HK$'000
FET
15,325,962
(11,151,629)

4,174,339
197,181
92,206
(2,043,459)
(254,107)

(50,537)
2,115,623

28,977
(59,596)

(30,619)
2,085,004
(327,166)
1,757,838

1,767,305
(9,467)

1,757,838

3.01787T

m AR A BB P SE— B EE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025

B E2025F3831HILEFE
2025 2024
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FAERT FHET
Profit for the year FERiEH 1,067,858 1,757,838
Other comprehensive HithZm (§5518) WA :
(loss)/income:
Items that may be reclassified OJREE B D EE I8 m 2~
to profit or loss HH
Exchange differences on translation & /E N EFFE R ZE 48
of foreign operations (88,463) (383,138)
lterns that will not be reclassified T BB TEEIRm
to profit or loss EHH
Revaluation of financial assets BAESAEMEE
at fair value through other WAZEREBEESEG
comprehensive income 21 - 655
Remeasurements of employee EBEENEENEM=
benefit obligations 30 (2,513) 3,487
Other comprehensive loss for FRHEME@EESE
the year, net of tax Nkp#IE (90,976) (378,996)
Total comprehensive income for  FRAREAEUA
the year 976,882 1,378,842
Attributable to: THIALEW:
— Equity holders of the Company —RANBERTFAA 1,010,845 1,389,358
— Non-controlling interests —IEERER (33,963) (10,516)
Total comprehensive income for  FRAREAEUA
the year 976,882 1,378,842

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income ¥4z & & E U A ¥R 2% FE B2 8 Fd B 5% — 5 B
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. o

B
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As at 31 March 2025
#2025%F3831H

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Right-of-use assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Trading licence
Deposits, prepayments and

other receivables

Deferred income tax assets

Current assets
Inventories
Right of return assets
Trade receivables
Deposits, prepayments and
other receivables
Derivative financial instrument
Income tax recoverable
Cash and bank balances

Total assets

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable
to the equity holders of
the Company
Share capital
Share premium
Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Note
b5
'5E
ERHEE
ME- -BEREE 15
"B 16
FREEE 17
S 18
mELEE 18
R HIR
%BE& FANIRER
HihpEUW RIS 22
FIEFTISMEE 29
MENEE
=8 23
BEIEEE
B 5 EWERIE 24
e FATERER
HhpE AR 1A 22
TEEmMITA 20
AU EIFF1EHR
e KMIRTTHERR 25
HEE
Em
TAREGERE AR
BERRiHE
[N 27(a)
R aE 27(b)
(G 28
JEPERE R
REia4REE

As at 31 March

#3831H
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#T THT
1,154,839 1,176,194
846,662 925,726
1,276,220 1,346,143
277,674 077,674
504,265 537,241
1,080 1,080
77,082 103,050
167,973 154,648
4,305,795 4,521,756
10,738,527 9,567,062
75,084 105,194
293,801 265,773
485,951 366,595
77,510 -
7,001 29,465
1,913,986 1,998,219
13,591,860 12,332,308
17,897,655 16,854,064
58,710 58,710
2,494,040 2,494,040
10,650,297 10,338,110
13,203,047 12,890,860
(60,925) (26,962)
13,142,122 12,863,898
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As at 31 March 2025
#2025%F3831H

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities
Lease liabilities
Employee benefit obligations

Current liabilities
Trade payables, other payables
and accruals
Contract liabilities
Derivative financial instrument
Lease liabilities
Sales refund liabilities
Bank borrowings
Gold loans
Current income tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

afR

ERBAMR
BEFFSIRARE
HE&R
EBERAEE

mERE
B 5 E(IIRIE BN
BRIAR fE5TTRIR

aaR
TTEERMIA
HE&R
HERMER
IRTTE™

"BEEE

BRI aE

wam
xR & RAEHE

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note
B 5

29
17
30

26

20
17

31
32

it

AN
o

&

A=
=]

As at 31 March

#3831H

2025
HK$’000
FHET

112,240
277,730
42,742

432,712

1,213,254
227,874

333,964
176,891
521,807
1,674,562
174,469

4,322,821
4,755,533
17,897,655

k)

v

2024
HK$'000
TAET

119,789
319,420
34,148

473,357

1,226,814
188,264
8

287,697
214,374
362,000
1,065,805
171,847

3,516,809
3,990,166
16,854,064

S B R AR S B B B Y 5 — B

RAEMBRRIVBEES /202556526 H#H
BRI EERREE !

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the
Board of Directors on 26 June 2025 and were signed on its behalf
by the following directors:

Wong Wai Sheung Chan So Kuen

=HEE BFRRE
Director Director
E-E2 E-E2
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
B E2025F3831HILEFE

For the year ended #HE202453A31H
31 March 2024 LLEE
As at 1 April 2023 1202354810
Comprehensive income/(loss) 2EKA ~ (§58)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERiaF/ (E58)
Other comprehensive Hitt2EKA  (5538)
income/(loss)
Exchange differences BEEIN BN
on translation of EREE
foreign operations
Revaluation of financial BAnEHFAREMEE
assets at fair value WAz EHEESH
through other comprehensive (Ff5E21)
income (Note 21)
Remeasurements of employee ~ BEBFEENEHR
benefit obligations (Note 30) 52 (HI5£30)

Total other comprehensive loss Efti2 H4 518

Total comprehensive 2EAMA (5518)
income/(loss)

Transactions with owners HBEEAZRS

Non-controlling interests on G AEYNSIE 2y
acquisition of subsidiaries (Pf5E34)

(Note 34)
Reclassification of exchange

B —RAHE

difference arising from step NEIESENERERE
acquisition of a prior associate  BIEHT4E (fH5E34)
(Note 34)

Dividends paid or provided for ENHEEERE
(Note 28) (Pf5¥28)

At 31 March 2024 1202453 831H

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share
capital
&
HK$'000
FET

58,710

58,710

AAREGRHA NEG
Non-
Share controlling Total
premium Reserves Subtotal interests equity
s E 1] INet o SRR R R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FTET FET FET
(Note 28)
G E)

2,494,040 9,668,690 12,221,440 (498) 12,220,942
- 1,767,305 1,767,305 (9,467) 1,757,838
- (382,089) (382,089) (1,049) (383,138)
- 655 655 - 655
- 3,487 3,487 - 3,487
- (377,947) (377,947) (1,049) (378,996)
- 1,389,358 1,389,358 (10,5616) 1,378,842
- - - (8,026) (8,026)
- 17,767 17,767 - 17,767
- (737,705) (737,705) (7,922) (745,627)
- (719,938) (719,938) (15,948) (735,886)
2,494,040 10,338,110 12,890,860 (26,962) 12,863,898
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
B E2025F3831HILEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FAREERA AEMY
Non-
Share Share controlling Total
capital premium Reserves Subtotal interests equity
g RHIEE s et JEEEREREE 0 RDRE

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FER TER FER FER Fi#n TR

(Note 28)
(P¥zE28)
For the year ended #ZF2025%E3A31H
31 March 2025 IHEE
As at 1 April 2024 1202454811 58,710 2,494,040 10,338,110 12,890,860 (26,962) 12,863,898
Comprehensive income/(loss) 2EKA / (§58)
Profit/(loss) for the year EREF/ (518 - - 1,099,864 1,099,864 (32,006) 1,067,858

Other comprehensive loss Hith2ma5i8

Exchange differences BEBIINERN

on translation of EREHE

foreign operations - - (86,506) (86,506) (1,957) (88,463)
Remeasurements of employee  EE@FEENEH

benefit obligations (Note 30) 52 (MtEF30) - - (2,513) (2,513) - (2,513)
Total other comprehensive loss E 2 E4& 518 - - (89,019) (89,019) (1,957) (90,976)
Total comprehensive 2EBKA  (5518)

income/(loss) - - 1,010845 1,010,845 (33,063 976,882
Transactions with owners HBBBEAZRS
Dividends paid (Note 12) BIRE (MEE12) - - (698,658)  (698,658) - (698,658)
At 31 March 2025 12025%3831H 58,710 2,494,040 10,650,297 13,203,047 (60,925) 13,142,122

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be  _E #tt 4% & # %3 % Eh 3% FE B4 B8 B Y 5% — 1 B
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
B E2025F3831HILEFE

2025 2024
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5 FAT FET
Cash flows from operating activities &3&;5E1 ZIR&HE
Net cash generated from operations EIEES ZIRSHRE 33(a) 1,226,569 1,954,594
Hong Kong profits tax paid EAEENER (103,294) (32,038)
Mainland and overseas income BT it K g ISR
taxes paid (204,079) (259,643)
Net cash inflow from BRI IHEMAFER
operating activities 919,196 1,662,913
Cash flows from investing activities 2E;ZBIZIREHE
Payment for acquisition of MREWEIRES®E
subsidiaries, net of cash acquired g A NEIRNEER 34 - (135,076)
Purchases of property, BEVME -BREMSE
plant and equipment (141,857) (293,373)
Purchases of land use rights, BE T MERE
included in right-of-use assets (BiEEREEE) - (383,014)
Proceeds from other receivables LRIHE—XWB AT
arose from prior disposal B4z HEKRERIE
of a subsidiary Frigs18 - 58,635
Placement of a derivative financial EATTEEMIA
instrument (77,510) -
Interest received BUF] 2 26,511 28,977
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEVZE - -BEK
plant and equipment KBRS FRIE 2,793 15
Proceeds from disposal of a land HE R A By L3 B
use right in Mainland HEPTISRIE 7,580 -
Placement of bank deposits with EAZBRBBE=EA
maturities over 3 months HERITER - (53,500)
Net cash outflow from KEEESZIRES M FEE
investing activities (182,483) (777,336)
Cash flows from financing activities FiE ;ZBIZIREHE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERPTISRIE 33(c) 1,115,957 1,764,700
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIRITTER 33(0) (956,150) (3,263,720)
Repayment of other borrowings BEAMER 33(0) - (84,500)
Proceeds from gold loans with DREHFENEEEE
cash settlement FrigFIa 33(c) 10,260,216 2,938,298
Repayment of gold loans with BEUREEEDN
cash settlement =EEE 33(c) (10,111,075) (2,361,076)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREESR
(including interest) (B E) 33(0) (411,085) (343,4398)
Interest on bank borrowings and IRITERREEEE
gold loans FE (18,358) (35,642)
Withdrawal of restricted bank RENZHIRITER
deposits 14,108 873,670
Dividends paid EftIRE (698,658) (745,627)
Net cash outflow from RMEEES RS MR R
financing activities (805,045) (1,257,335)
Net decrease in cash and RERRNEEBEMZ
cash equivalents W BEE (68,332) (371,758)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April  R4B1EZIHRES K
REEEY 1,930,611 2,347,651
Exchange differences b &7 A EH (1,443) (45,282)
Cash and cash equivalents #3B31HZHRER
at 31 March REEEY 25 1,860,836 1,930,611

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in =~ _E #li 47 & IR & 7% & K FE B4 BE MY i 53 — B
conjunction with the accompanying notes. o
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Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda on 3 September 1996 as
a company with limited liability under the Companies Act
of Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Victoria
Place, 5th Floor 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10,
Bermuda.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the sourcing, designing,
wholesaling, trademark licensing and retailing of a variety of
gold and platinum jewellery, and gem-set jewellery.

The Company’s shares were listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 6 May 1997. 3DG Holdings (International)
Limited (“3DG”, together with its subsidiaries collectively
referred as “3DG Group”, formerly known as Hong Kong
Resources Holdings Company Limited) are subsidiaries of
the Company, and listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange with Stock Code 2882.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated, and
have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors (the
“Board”) on 26 June 2025.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap.622.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention except for certain
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
(including derivative financial instruments), and gold loans
which are measured at fair value, as explained in Note 3.

NEEE (BERF) BRAR (TRAE])
1996 F9B3H T AR EREBEARE
REVEFMMIIABRRE  H5E M
ME M AVictoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10,
Bermuda-e

AT REMBAT R TAER) £
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BReh B AREERTEER-

EABRD 7T ESH6HEE B S
RGMBRAT (THFR)) ik Emme
TEGER B BERAR (X8
ERAENBARSAEB SEEERE) A
MEAERIZERERAR) AARNEM
BRAB MR ER LT BRMH A
5E 1 2882) o

P ERBEIN LEEEHHREKY
LB T (MHE7T)) 2% B 5202556 3
6HESZEg ((E5g)) AT

ISR EM B RRFFAERZEE
BETHREN T -BRRBEHRAEN
EBRERFIEZ2RFEEERER -
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The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

The Group has applied the following amended
standards and interpretation that are effective for the
first time for the financial year beginning 1 April 2024:

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
(Amendments) Non-current

HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(Amendments)

HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

HKFRS 16 Lease Liabilities in a Sale and Leaseback
(Amendments)

HK-Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
(Revised) - Classification by the Borrower

of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

The adoption of amended standards and
interpretation did not have any significant impact
on the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

RREBBMBRE S ENER—R
2BV BRRBECRETHES
HE ARTREEEETRALER
G5t BUR B (R F B o 0% e 5 B2 ) R 3
SEEMRENER  SSRHEREMH
BRBEABRMEENSRE £
4RI EE o

AEBDR2024F481 BRI
FEEHRFEEA T EMLET %
AR a2 e

ERgst BEEDEARE
ZER 5515k ERE
(BRI )

ERGHERN  HELENIERS
198 ={
(BRI )

ERGHEN HEGRETH
BIRREE
B SR & 2R
BT (1B5TA)

ERMBRE ERELOTNEE
#E R 551657 =1
(BRI )

ERREESE HHERRNEY -
(BRI ) BERAERER

AREREERF
MBI EHERBY
pay-

RAGESTEAREEHAER
HREMBREAERITEEFTEKR
=% 13

=
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Certain new standards, amendments and improvements
to existing standards and interpretation and have
been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year beginning 1 April 2024 and have not been early
adopted:

HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 Lack of Exchangeability
(Amendments)

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Classification and Measurement of
(Amendments) Financial Instruments @

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature —
(Amendments) Dependent Electricity @

HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, Annual Improvements to HKFRS
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 Accounting Standards - Volume
and HKAS 7 1@

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements ©

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures ©

HK-Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements

(Amendments) - Classification by the Borrower

of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause ©
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets
(Amendments) between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

M Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January

2025

@ Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2026

© Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2027

@ To be announced by HKICPA
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HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
financial statements, introducing new requirements
that will help to achieve comparability of the financial
performance of similar entities and provide more
relevant information and transparency to users. Even
though HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition
or measurement of items in the consolidated
financial statements, its impacts on presentation and
disclosure are expected to be pervasive, in particular
those related to the consolidated income statement
and providing management-defined performance
measures within the consolidated financial statements.

The Group expects to apply the new standard
from its mandatory effective date of 1 April 2027.
Retrospective application is required, and so the
comparative information for the financial year ending
31 March 2026 will be restated in accordance with
HKFRS 18. Management is currently assessing the
detailed implications of applying the new standard on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Group will adopt the above new
standards, amendments and improvements to existing
standards and interpretation when they become
effective. Except for the above disclosed impact, the
directors of the Group are in the process of assessing
the financial impact of the adoption of the above
new standards, amendments and improvements
to existing standards and interpretation, none of
which is expected to have a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in the
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.
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The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks, including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and
fair value interest rate risks, commodity price risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses
derivative financial instruments to manage certain risk
exposures. The use of financial derivatives to hedge
certain risk exposures is governed by the Board of
Directors of the Company.

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates retailing and
wholesaling businesses in Hong Kong with
most of the transactions settled in HK$, and in
Mainland with most of the transactions settled
in Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group also has
retail operations in Macau, Canada, the United
States, Australia and Malaysia, etc. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not
the entity’s functional currency. The Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risk from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect
to RMB. The majority of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary items are cash
and bank balances denominated in RMB, which
are held by group companies whose functional
currency is not RMB. In addition, certain group
companies whose functional currency are
HK$, have intra-group advances from their
subsidiaries denominated in RMB.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk
by performing regular reviews of the Group’s net
foreign exchange exposures. The Group also
uses foreign exchange derivative contracts to
manage their foreign exchange risk arising from
future commercial transactions and recognised
asset or liabilities denominated in a currency that
is not the group companies’ functional currency,
primarily with respect to RMB, if necessary.
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@

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group’s assets and liabilities, and
transactions arising from its operations primarily
do not expose the Group to material foreign
exchange risk. The Group’s assets and liabilities
are primarily denominated in the respective
group companies’ functional currency.

As at 31 March 2025, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against HK$, with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit would
have been approximately HK$13,106,000
(2024: HK$10,488,000) higher/lower
respectively, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of RMB
denominated monetary items in entities whose
functional currency is not RMB.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks
The Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates as the Group has no
significant interest-bearing assets except
for bank deposits, other receivables arose
from prior disposal of a subsidiary and other
receivables from licensees, which were entered
at fixed interest rates, and expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s interest
rate risk also arises from gold loans and bank
borrowings. Gold loans at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest-rate risk. Bank
borrowings at variables interest rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest-rate risk. The Group
does not enter into derivatives to address these
risks.
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(i)

(iii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, if interest rates on
bank borrowings had increased/decreased by
50 basis points with all other variables held
constant, the impact on post-tax profit would
have been approximately HK$2,179,000 (2024:
HK$1,511,000) lower/higher respectively.

Commodity price risk

The Group mainly engaged in the sales of gold
jewellery. The gold markets are influenced by
global as well as regional supply and demand
conditions. A significant change in the prices of
gold could adversely affect the Group’s financial
performance. The Group manages commodity
price risks mainly by hedging gold price
fluctuations through certain derivative financial
instrument-trading of gold contracts and gold
loans. Should the gold price go up, the Group
would charge a loss representing the increase in
gold price compared to the contract price, and
largely net against the increase in gross profit in
sales of gold products as a result of gold price
increase.

The gold contracts are settled on daily basis and
the differences between the contract price and
market price are immediately recognised in the
consolidated income statement. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, the notional amount of
contracts under daily trade was 547 kilograms.
As at 31 March 2024, if the market price of
gold had increased/decreased by 5%, post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 March 2024, due to
changes in fair values of gold contracts, would
have been approximately HK$12,477,000 lower/
higher respectively. During the year ended 31
March 2025, the Group ceased to engage these
gold contracts. Hence, there is no sensitivity
analysis disclosure in connection with such
commodity price risk necessary as at 31 March
2025.

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

(i)

(iii)

RERERARENERME
(@

202538310 » HiR1T
BRFEXLEF FBES50ME
HE>MAABEM2H8RTF
T BIBRIR 1B % ) 5 A FE
B NN492,179,00058 7T
(20244 : 1,511,0005&7T) °

8 o (B AR 3L B
rERIFENRETESHE
HEZEB - BEHER2
PR R & IR TR & o
EEERANREHIEH A
ERZMBRREMAHE
E-AEETEBRERSE
TREEEEGNTEESRT
BErREzBEGNHETES
BERBUEEDRERR
HoMETBS LA &R
"Iz BEERENREE
BERGNEZIE Hip
Ao B/AETEER EAE
BN ETERBEENEM
PRIEEH -

BREANRHEHE BB
KRG ER =8B
MR EERR RN N E
E2024F3H31HIEEE
BEEXZETEHZEE
BNEAABATA T o 1R2024 453
B31B  HEEZzmIHER
R THS5%  BIRES
ERZRAAEEBHENE
F2024FE3H31HILEEEZ
BRI B E A DR L1
fN12,477,0008 75 c NEE
2025FE3H831HIEEE » &
EEEFLETIZEES
B4 AL 7202553531
B AEBEERZSEE R
BRI TR E o T i

Zo



(iii)

(iv)

Commodity price risk (Continued)

The gold loans (Note 32) are settled at maturity
which usually mature in 1 to 9 months (2024: 1
to 3 months) from date of inception and the fair
value changes are immediately recognised in the
consolidated income statement. As at 31 March
2025, gold loans of HK$1,674,562,000 (2024:
HK$1,065,805,000) represents gold loans
involved cash settlement.

As at 31 March 2025, if the market price of
gold had increased/decreased by 5%, post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 March 2025, due to
changes in fair values of gold loans, would have
been approximately HK$69,913,000 (2024:
HK$44,497,000) lower/higher respectively.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in a financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to cash and bank balances, deposits and
derivative financial instrument with banks and
financial institutions, trade receivables, rental
and other deposits, other receivables, mainly
including other receivables arose from prior
disposal of a subsidiary and other receivables
from licensees. Credit risk is managed on a
group basis. Management has policies in place
to monitor the exposures to these credit risks on
an on-going basis.

(iii)

(iv)
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(iv) Credit risk (Continued)

Risk management

Cash is deposited and derivative financial
instrument is transacted with banks and
financial institutions with sound credit ratings
and the Group has exposure limit to any single
financial institution. Given their high credit
ratings, management does not expect any of
these financial institutions will fail to meet their
obligations.

Management has performed recoverability
reviews on trade and other receivables regularly
and actively followed up the overdue balance
of trade and other receivables in order to
minimise the exposure to credit risk. In relation
to trade receivables related to retail sales,
retail customers normally settle in cash or
credit cards issued by major banks with low
credit risk, mitigating credit risk. The Group’s
concessionaire sales through department
stores and e-commerce platforms are generally
collectible within 30 days from the invoice date
while credit sales are generally on credit terms
within 90 days. Normally the Group does not
require collaterals from trade debtors. The
Group performs periodic credit evaluations of
its customers, taking into account their financial
position, history of default and other factors. The
utilisation of credit limits is regularly reviewed.
No material credit limits were exceeded during
the reporting year, and management does
not expect any material losses from non-
performance by these counterparties. For other
receivables, mainly including other receivables
arose from prior disposal of a subsidiary and
the receivables from licensees, to manage
credit risk, the Group has considered the
long-established business relationship with
the counterparties and obtained security in
the form of guarantees and collaterals which
can be called upon if the counterparty is in
default under the terms of the agreement. As
at 31 March 2025, these receivables were fully
performing, and the credit risk is assessed to be
insignificant. Refer to Note 22 for details.
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(iv) Credit risk (Continued)

Risk management (Continueq)

The Group has no concentrations of credit risk
in view of its large number of customers. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated balance sheet.

Impairment of financial assets and other item
Expected credit losses are unbiased probability-
weighted estimates of credit losses which are
determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes and taking into account past events,
current and future conditions, on the ability of
the Group’s customers and creditors to repay
the debts.

The Group has derived the expected loss rate
by referencing to historical payment profiles,
credit rating analysis and external default data
to determine the probability of default of its
financial assets and other item and incorporated
forward looking information, including significant
changes in external market indicators which
involved significant estimates and judgements.

The Group has the following types of financial
assets and other item that are subject to the

expected credit loss model:

o Cash and bank balances and derivative
financial instrument;

° Trade receivables; and

o Deposits and other receivables;
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(iv)

Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item
(Continueq)

U)

Cash and bank balances and derivative
financial instrument

All bank balances, bank deposits and
derivative financial instrument are held at
reputable financial institutions with sound
credit ratings and there is no significant
concentration risk to a single counterparty
and there is no history of defaults from
these counterparties. The expected credit
loss is close to zero as at 31 March 2025
and 2024.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected credit
loss provision for trade receivables. The
expected credit loss provision rates for
trade receivables are based on historical
payment profiles and historical credit
loss experience, adjusted to reflect,
where relevant and appropriate, current
and information specific to the debtors,
future economic and market conditions
and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the debtors to settle the receivables that
the Group considers are reasonable and
appropriate.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

Trade receivables relating to customers
with significant doubt on collection of
receivables are assessed individually.
These include receivables from
department stores in Mainland. As at 31
March 2025, there were in aggregate
of loss allowances of approximately
HK$296,000 (2024: HK$52,000) in
respect of these individually assessed
receivables.
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(iv) Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item

(Continued)
(i)  Trade receivables (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on

collective basis

Expected credit losses are also estimated
by categorising the remaining trade
receivables based on the nature of
customer accounts sharing the similar
credit risk characteristics. These include
receivables from electronic payment
service providers, department stores
in Mainland, e-commerce platforms in
Mainland and individual wholesalers/
licensees. Trade receivables have been
further grouped based on the days
past due. As at 31 March 2025, there
were in aggregate of loss allowances of
approximately HK$499,000 (2024: Nil)
in respect of these collectively assessed

receivables.

The following table presents the total
gross carrying amount of the trade
receivables and the loss allowance
provision, analysed by aging band, as at
31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024:

As at 31 March 2025 2025538310

Expected credit loss rate TEHIE SEEER

Gross carrying amount SR E481E

Lifetime expected credit 2 HEHIEERBEE
loss allowance

As at 31 March 2024 1A2024&3831H

Expected credit loss rate BHiE BB

Gross carrying amount  BREI43(E

Lifetime expected credit 2 HATEHAEEREERZ
loss allowance

Current

EDH
HK$'000
FiEn

0.0%
238,918

0.0%
221,341

1-30
days
past due
B
1-30Kk
HK$’000
TER

0.1%
33,226

1)

0.0%
24,006

31-60
days
past due
B
31-60%
HK$'000
FET

0.1%
13,757

(15)

0.0%
14,614
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m) o
THREF 2025934
31H 202443831 H
HNESEWKREBENIER
HARE ML RE S E
DB IEEE
61-90 91-180  Over 180
days days days
pastdue pastdue pastdue Total
bl bal bl
61-90X  91-180%X 180KM L Eohs
HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FHET FHET FAT FHERT
0.0% 26.5% 50.0%
6,363 1,741 591 204,506
@ (461) (296) (795)
0.0% 0.0% 50.0%
4,929 831 104 265825
- - (52) (52)
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(iv) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item
(Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, expected credit
loss rates are close to zero for the trade
receivables aged current and aged 1 to
90 days past due, respectively, as there
is limited recent history of default (2024:
Same). The expected credit loss rates are
26.5% (2024: 0.0%) for those aged 91
to 180 days past due, and 50.0% (2024:
50.0%) for those aged over 180 days past
due, respectively.

Trade receivables are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery
includes, amongst other, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan
within the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.
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(iv) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis (Continued)

The movement of loss allowance for trade
receivables as at 31 March 2025 and
2024 is as follows:

(ivy ESERMKE @)
THEERAMERBE
(#)

iy EBZEWERE (@&
B G EE S E TR
EEE778 ()
B EKKRBEWNEIS
B 20254 22024
FEIFIEANEBHNT

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET THET

Opening loss allowance 4818 Z F¥EEEH

at 1 April

(Provision for)/reversal of 548 (Bifs) /#[0]

loss allowance

Acquisition of subsidiaries Wt BEHMI B AT (Ff5E34)

(Note 34)
Exchange difference PE R ERE

(52) (199)

(746) 279

Closing loss allowance M3A31H Z FREEEE

at 31 March

A provision of loss allowance on trade
receivables amounted to approximately
HK$746,000 (2024: reversal of loss
allowance of approximately HK$279,000)
was included in the consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 March
2025.

Other financial assets

Other financial assets include deposits and
other receivables, mainly including other
receivables arose from prior disposal of
a subsidiary and other receivables from
licensees that are subject to the expected
credit loss model.
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(iv) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item
(Continued)

(i)

Other financial assets (Continued)
Deposits and other receivables were
mainly rental deposits and utilities and
management fee deposits. These deposits
are mainly placed with various landlords
and property management companies in
Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland and other
regions and are due to refund upon the
expiry of the tenancy agreements and
handover of the leased premises. As at
31 March 2025, management considered
that the risk of default for such deposits
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, therefore, the impairment
provision, which is determined based on
the 12-month expected credit loss, is
assessed to be close to zero.

Management has closely monitored the
credit risk in relation to other receivables
arose from prior disposal of a subsidiary
and other receivables from licensees. As
at 31 March 2025, certain collaterals from
counterparties are held to cover potential
exposure to credit risk. Refer to Note 22
for details of collaterals. Furthermore,
the risk of default of the counterparties
is assessed taking into account their
repayment history, financial position, and
other factors, including the economic
environment in which the counterparties
operate. As at 31 March 2025, these
receivables were fully performing,
therefore management has considered
that the credit risk of these receivables
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and the impairment provision,
which is determined based on the
12-month expected credit loss, is close to
zero.
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(iv) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item
(Continued)

(iv)

Financial guarantee contracts

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, there was
no corporate financial guarantee issued
by the Group to any independent third
parties.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
credit risk on financial guarantee contracts
represents the risk of default of a prior
associate. The Group assessed the default
risk and measured the expected credit
loss arising from such financial guarantee
contracts.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, prior
to a step acquisition of a prior associate
(Note 34), the maximum amount that the
Group guaranteed under the respective
contracts was HK$1,075,000,000,
which represents 50% of the aggregated
amount of bank facilities granted to a
prior associate. The bank facilities utilised
by the prior associate was approximately
HK$1,746,000,000, which were partially
secured by pledged bank deposits of
the prior associate of HK$887,778,000.
Immediately before the step up
acquisition date, the Group recognised
a loss allowance of HK$50,816,000 in
the consolidated income statement in
accordance with expected credit loss
model under HKFRS 9, and the total loss
allowance amounted to HK$87,647,000.
Details of the financial guarantee contracts
are set out in Note 36.

(v) EERKE (&)
THEERAMELBE

()
(v)

HihsmEE (&)
20255 K 2024F3H
31H AEE T EET
MBI E=ZFEER
S A TEIE R

B E2024F3H31H1E
FEE BHEREHN
EERBEIERHE
NEVEHW RS o A
B 5T 4 2 49 & by
Bt EZERHIER
BENEENFEBEE
5380

B E2024F3831H 1L
EE RESWE—
MATHE A B A (M
34) » REEIRIEIER
BHRBERNERES
£%871,075,000,000
B mAI#E QS
ERSNIRTHEEEE
50% il E AT E
BAMNIRTHRELS
1,746,000,0008 75 °
2 AR Al BE QS
MEIXBIRITER
887,778,000 7t 1E I
o B A W BB H HA
Bl REBRIBEE AR
BHREEANFEFRIBT
BHEEREER
RizaERmRPED
E518#:1%50,816,00058
T BFIERERES
B i&87,647,0007T ° B
BEREGNNEBH
M sE36©

Annual Report 2024/25 R



v)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and bank balances
and the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The Group’s primary cash requirements
have been for additions of and upgrades on
property, plant and equipment, payment on
debts, purchases and operating expenses. The
Group finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of internal resources and
bank borrowings, as necessary.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure it
maintains sufficient cash and bank balances and
has available funding through adequate amount
of committed credit facilities to meet its working
capital requirements.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows, including
interest payments computed using contractual
rates, based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay.
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v)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Maturity Analysis — Undiscounted cash outflows

Repayable
on demand
BEREXEE
HK$000
TERT
As at 31 March 2025 1#2025%3A31H
Trade payables and other payables &5 FE{TERIERE
[RERE >
Lease liabilies with WERANENHEESR
interest payables -
Gold loans with cash settlement ~ HAREIZSEE 1,674,562
Bank borrowings RITER 521,807
2,196,369
Repayable
on demand
BREREER
HK$000
FERT
As at 31 March 2024 R202443A31H
Trade payables and other payables B % Ef1RIB R E (T IR
15 -
Lease liabilities with interest WEEMHENEESR
payables _
Gold loans with cash settlement  B&REZSEE 1,065,806
Bank borrowings RITER 362,000
1,427,805

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, there was no
corporate financial guarantee issued by the
Group to any independent third parties.

(v) HEBHEZERE ()
BRI A 2T — KT H R 7

HE

More than More than
1 year 2 years but Total
Within but less less than  undiscounted
1year  than2years 5years cash outflows
BiR-F BREmE  KARERE
—-FR  EMREE  EOREE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR
1,044,308 - - 1,044,308
349,109 179,634 121,482 650,225
- - - 1,674,562
- - - 521,807
1,393,417 179,634 121,482 3,890,902

More than More than
1 year 2 years but Total
Within but less less than  undiscounted
1 year than 2 years 5years  cash outflows
BB—F BBEmE  KTREE
R EOREE BOREE O REEEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TiER
946,116 - - 946,116
330,175 216,165 117,155 663,495
- - - 1,065,805
- - - 362,000
1,276,291 216,165 117,155 3,037,416

120254 &2024F3H31H »
AEBMEDEMBIIE=
FHiRERBEFFEIER
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(v) Liquidity risk (Continued) (v) wENEERARE @&

Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings and gold B H W — IRIEIE R IR
loans with cash settlement subject to repayment MR Z RITEFRIELE
on demand clauses based on scheduled BT EEZERY (BITEN
repayments including interest payables FE)
More than More than
1 year 2 years Total
Within but less butless undiscounted

1year than2years than5years cash outflows
B BRRE KRR E
—£R BLRmE BLREE A

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERx TERT TERT FTERT

As at 31 March 2025 2025538310
Bank borrowings RITEM 525,959 - - 525,959
Gold loans with cash settlement  BETIESEE 1,682,707 - - 1,682,707
2,208,666 - - 2,208,666

As at 31 March 2024 2024538310
Bank borrowings RITER 362,250 - - 362,250
Gold loans with cash settlement ~ BELEEEHEE 1,066,203 - - 1,066,203
1,428,453 - - 1,428,453
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v)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, there was no contractual
cash outflow requirement in connection with the
outstanding derivative financial instrument for
the Group.

The table below analyses the Group’s derivative
financial instruments that will be settled on a
gross basis into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at 31 March
2024 to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances
due within 12 months equal their carrying
balances as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

As at 31 March 2024 202438318
Foreign exchange forward contracts ~ SMERHI A4

- Inflow —mA

- Outflow —mi

(v) HEBHEZERE ()

20253831 H » ANEE I
EARETHEIMIEESRTA
BENENRERHEK.

TRBENR2024%F3831H

ZERTHBESHNE

88 8>

R EEENSRQREES
ENTESMIARAER
BH AR ET DM RN
KENEESBHRTIRE
ERE -HRNINENZER
K 1218 B A B B BV A& 8%
BN EREAARES -

More than More than
1 year 2 years Total
but less butless undiscounted
than 2years  than 5 years cash flows
BiA—F BAmE - KIEREE
BLRRE BOREE mEEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn T#n TR
- - 1,668
- - 1,676
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(i)  Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the Group’s assets
and liabilities measured at the end of the
reporting period at fair value, categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1: inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices included within Level 1, that
are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.
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(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025 1#2025%3A31H
Assets BE
Derivative financial instrument #7448 TE
Liabilities =LE
Gold loans with cash BERIESEE
settlement
As at 31 March 2024 1R2024%3831H

Liabilties afR
Derivative financial instrument {74 £ 8T A
Gold loans with cash ReRi=sREE
settlement

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer
into and transfer out of fair value hierarchy
levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

There were no transfer between levels 1 and
2 during the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024.

Valuation techniques used to determine
Level 2 fair values

As at 31 March 2025, the derivative financial
instrument is an over-the-counter derivative, of
which the fair value determined with reference
to the present value of future cash flow based
on forward exchange rate at the reporting date
(2024: Same).

As at 31 March 2025, the fair value of gold loans
is determined with reference to quoted market
bid price of gold traded in active liquid markets
as a key input (2024: Same).

Level 1
B
HK$000
THET

) 2RESEHEHB
Level 2 Level 3 Total
EH E=H st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FERT FER FERT
77,510 = 77,510
1,674,562 = 1,674,562
8 - 8
1,065,805 - 1,065,805
K%E@E&%%Fﬁ@z@;%ﬁ
ZEHBEFBERREZ
TR EE%“%ME‘&ZL)\%D
B o
%i§2025ﬁ&2024$3)§ 31
HEFER F—RHEAFZ
A 2 [0 ST ey B 3 o
i) FRIFEANREEE_RE

AERHER
720253831 H TSR
TEABWMNIETE HA
AETL2ERRELPEE
HEXAEMR Z RKBER
=EREMETE (20244F : 18
@) ©

202538310 = EE
BAREBITRZZRER
MEBHBEEE &G 2™
BABRBEATERHAZIE
M E (20244 : 18R °
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(iii) Financial instruments that are not
measured at fair value
The fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities is determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payments to shareholders, issue of new shares or
obtain new bank borrowings.

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of
gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as
net debt divided by total capital. Net debt/(cash)
is calculated as total borrowings (including bank
borrowings and gold loans) less cash and bank
balances. Total capital is calculated as “equity’, as
shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net
debt/(cash).
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The table below analyses the Group’s capital structure
as at 31 March 2025 and 2024:

Bank borrowings (Note 31) IRITE (F5E31)

Gold loans (Note 32) ;aﬁfﬁ‘% (MF3E32)

Less: Cash and bank balances A IRESRIRITARRR
(Note 25) (FFE25)

Net borrowing/(cash) BEM (AR

Total equity HBEm4BEE

Total capital HER

Gearing ratio BEBEELLE

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a solid capital
base to support the operations and development of its
business in the long term.

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the
consolidated financial statements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are set out below.

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and selling
expenses. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of similar nature.
[t could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions in response to
severe industry cycle. Management reassesses these
estimates at each balance sheet date.

AEE B FR20255F F72024F3H31H
ZEREEITUWT

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#T FET
521,807 362,000
1,674,562 1,065,805
(1,913,986) (1,998,219)
282,383 (570,414)
13,142,122 12,863,898
13,424,505 12,293,484
2.10% NEA

Zl—‘%@ HREAERFETCNER
o U AHESERERZERERM
Eﬁﬂi‘ihc’

EREEESMBERREMXAB 2GR
FlE > et RAEMER (81
RIBFEIERERREHELEZGIETE
) REMEH TG -FRE EstBEIRET
HF BEVEHBEMBBRERESZE -TX
NmBEARBREN T —VEFEEE
BBz REBEBEHERAR 2L
K ff5% o

FEUE2RFEAHEERTHN
HETE BN T TR A K& i
ERSBIEEE ST HIRE
REMRREERHESAMUES
E&m‘ FARER TR o 7] (KIS

EFNEERFIHFESR

m TEBHBAAENTEMEE
AEBR-BEEENRESGEEBDENT
el g i
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The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, related depreciation or amortisation
charges for its property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets including trademarks (other than
goodwill). This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment, investment properties, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets including trademarks of
similar nature and functions. Management will increase
the depreciation or amortisation charges where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives. It will
write off or write down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable or amortisable lives and therefore
depreciation and amortisation expense in future
periods.

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment. For the purposes of
impairment reviews, the recoverable amount of
goodwill is determined based on the higher of
fair value less costs of disposal or value-in-use
calculations. The recoverable amount calculations
primarily use cash flow forecast based on financial
budgets and forecasts covering a period of 5 years
approved by management and estimated terminal
value at the end of the budget period.

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]
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There are a number of assumptions and estimates
involved in the preparation of cash flow forecast for
the period covered by the approved budgets. Key
assumptions include average sales growth rates,
average gross margin rates, terminal growth rates and
pre-tax discount rates to reflect the risks involved.
Management prepares the financial budgets and
forecasts reflecting actual and prior year performance
and market development expectations. Judgment is
required to determine the key assumptions adopted
in the cash flow forecasts and the changes to the key
assumptions and hence the result of the impairment
reviews.

As at 31 March 2025, no impairment is needed for
goodwill (2024: Nil). Details of result of impairment
assessments, key assumptions and impact of
possible changes in key assumptions are disclosed in
Note 18.

Non-financial assets including property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, right-of-use assets,
and intangible assets including trademarks (other
than goodwill) are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based
on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs
of disposal. These calculations require the use of
judgements and estimates.

RAEH ETRE AT BB A AYIR
TREBFRAY RZERKZ AL -
HRBEREETFHRARER F
BEHR KB REKRRIRATHT
R DIRBFTY KRB ER - BIE
BREVBRERE URRE
Rk ELEENFEEURTHER
B -NEERTAERATRA
PRI IRER R RRAVEE UK
B ET YA R T8 B (E 0 FU R
T3 BEHERE ©

R2025%E3831H  EmEEAELT
A (2024%F | ) - BRABEE
ER - RARBRR A ERRENAAE
BIEREFZENE BRI 181

HHREFEHRBEREBETIFE
MEE (BEYE -BERRE R
EYE - ERREEKRBEBRN
B EE BERIN) REERAE
FORURE ) AR R (E ° AT UR[E]
THENREBEERESERZ AR
B ERATEE - ILE St B A
1B PR H B R {5t o
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Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether
an event has occurred that may indicate that the
related asset values may not be recoverable; (i)
whether the carrying value of asset can be supported
by its recoverable amount, being the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal and the net present value
of future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and
(iiiy the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in
the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
net present value used in the impairment test and as
a result affect the Group’s reported financial condition
and results of operations. If there is a significant
adverse change in the projected performance and
resulting future cash flow projections, it may be
necessary to take an impairment charge to the
consolidated income statement.

As at 31 March 2025, after reviewing the business
environment as well as the Group’s strategies and
past performance of its cash-generating units,
management concluded that provisions of impairment
of HK$6,805,000 and HK$6,462,000 were made for
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets,
respectively (2024: Nil). Refer to Note 15 for details.
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As at 31 March 2025, certain property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets (other than retail
store assets), which are considered as corporate
assets of the Group, are reviewed for impairment. The
Group has first assessed the recoverable amount of
corporate assets of 3DG, management concluded
that no impairment is needed for these corporate
assets of 3DG (2024: Nil). Afterwards, the Group
assessed the recoverable amount of the remaining
corporate assets of the Group, excluding 3DG
(referred as the ‘Luk Fook Group’), management
concluded that no impairment is needed for the
remaining corporate assets of the Group (2024: Nil).
Management believes that any reasonably possible
changes in the assumptions used in the impairment
assessments would not affect the amount of
impairment provision (if any) at 31 March 2025 (2024
Same). Refer to Note 15 for details.

As at 31 March 2025, after assessing the recoverable
amounts of investment properties with reference
to their respective carrying amounts, management
concluded that impairment losses of HK$45,747,000
should be recognised for certain investment properties
(2024: Nil). Refer to Note 16 for details.

As at 31 March 2025, after assessing the recoverable
amounts of intangible assets including trademarks
(other than goodwill) with reference to their respective
carrying amounts, management concluded that no
impairment is needed for intangible assets (2024: Nil).
Management believes that any reasonably possible
changes in the assumptions used in the impairment
assessments would not affect management’s view on
impairment at 31 March 2025 (2024: Same). Refer to
Note 18 for details.

R2025FE3831H IR A NI E
ENETYE BERREBRER
BHEE (TEREERKRI BET
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ENTWE£iE EEERAR
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The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong,
Mainland and other jurisdictions. Judgement is
required in determining the provision for income taxes
in each of these jurisdictions. There are transactions
and calculations during the ordinary course of
business for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such as differences will impact the income
tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made. Deferred income
tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary differences
or tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities relating to undistributed
profit of those subsidiaries in Mainland are recognised
based on the undistributed profit of those subsidiaries
in Mainland generated since 1 January 2008 which is
expected to be distributed in the foreseeable future.
When the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the recognition
of deferred income tax assets and liabilities and
taxation charges in the period in which such estimate
is changed.
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The executive directors and senior management collectively
are identified as the chief operating decision-makers
(“CODM"). The CODM considers the business by nature of
business activities and reviews the Group’s internal reporting
in order to assess performance and allocate resources. The
operating segments are reported in accordance with the
internal reporting reviewed by the CODM.

The Group’s reportable segments included the following
segments:

Retailing — Hong Kong, Macau and overseas
i Retailing — Mainland
ii. ~ Wholesaling — Hong Kong
iv.  Wholesaling — Mainland
V. Licensing

Results of reportable segments exclude finance income and
costs, income tax expenses, and corporate income and
expenses. These form part of the reconciliation to profit for
the year on the consolidated income statement.

Assets of reportable segments exclude certain land and
buildings, investment properties, deferred income tax
assets, income tax recoverable and corporate assets,
all of which are managed on a central basis. Liabilities of
reportable segments exclude deferred income tax liabilities,
current income tax liabilities, bank borrowings, gold loans
and corporate liabilities, all of which are managed on a
central basis. These form part of the reconciliation to total
assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Sales to external customers are stated after elimination
of inter-segment sales. Sales between segments are
carried out at mutually agreed terms. The revenue from
external parties, assets and liabilities, reported to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated balance
sheet.
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Revenue - at a point of time
Sales to external customers
Sales of scrap

Inter-segment sales

Sales of merchandises
Revenue - over time
Royalty and service income
Consuttancy fee income

Total

Results of reportable segments

A reconciliation of results of
reportable segments to profit
for the year is as follows:

Results of reportable segments

Unallocated income

Unallocated expenses

Operating profit

Finance income

Finance costs

Profit before income tax

Income tax expenses

Profit for the year

Add: Loss attributable to

non-controlling interests

Profit attributable to equity

holders of the Company

WA - R ERE
HERHE
HERH

HBERE

HEES

HA-R-BH
RIEREBRNA

EBRNA

23t

REECEES

TR PLARER
EHHENT

AERABEG
FNEHA

FNEHX

gEE

ST ON

WBER
FRFAfRIRAT R
FrigtRx

R
m:FEREREGER

KRR ARIGER

Retailing -
Hong Kong,
Macau and
overseas
ZE-FE.
BMREs
HK$'000
Ti#n

7,870,911

7,870,911
70,532

7,941,443

7,941,443
969,025

Retailing -
Mainland
8-
At
HK$'000
Ti#En

3,160,312

3,160,312
14,549

3,174,861

3,174,861
57,381

Year ended 31 March 2025

HE2025F3R1ALFE
Wholesaling-  Wholesaling -
Hong Kong Mainland
& -
&% At
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n TEn
146,933 1,258,784
547 -
147,480 1,258,784
1,968,787 119,155
2,111,267 1,377,939
2,111,267 1,377,939
69,348 (55,295)
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Licensing

LS
HK$'000
FEn

785,487
118,321

903,808
625,762

Inter-
segment
elimination

HEREHE
HK$'000
TiER

(2,168,023)
(2,168,023)

(2,168,023)

Reportable
segments
total
B
poriEhy
HK$'000
TEn

12,436,940
547

12,437,487

12,437,487

785,487
118,321

13,341,205
1,666,221

1,666,221
108,727
(362,897)

1,412,051
26,511
(59,19)

1,379,443
(311,585)

1,067,858

32,006

1,099,864



Net realised losses on derivative

financial instruments

Net realised and unrealised losses

on gold loans

Staff costs

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Depreciation of investment properties
Amortisation of intangible assets

Net provision of impairment
losses on financial assets

Impairment losses on investment

properties
Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment

Impairment losses on right-of-use

assets

Additions of other non-current assets

Additions of right-of-use assets

Segment assets

Leasehold land and buildings
Investment properties
Deferred income tax assets
Income tax recoverable
Other unallocated assets

Total assets
Segment liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities
Current income tax liabilties
Bank borrowings

Gold loans

Other unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

TEEMIAZBER
BE3E

BREEZEERR
FEGBRFE

BIRA

NE BERRERE

REEEERE
REMERE

B EERHE
SHEEAERRERIR

RENEAESE
NE BERRERESA
REEEEAERR

At FRBEERE
REEEERE

NHEE

BETHRIET
REME
BLFAEREE
FRERER
Atk DREE

HaE
AaRE

BEFRERER
HEmERaR
RTEM

AthkpEERE
aaf

Retailing -
Hong Kong,
Macau and
overseas
2E-FR.
BIREIH
HK$'000
T#n

(32,846)

(139,368)
(487,424)

(40,348)
(341,208)

(3,648)

(1,898)

(5,039)
64,063
326,167

Retailing -
Hong Kong,
Macau and
overseas
ZE-FE.
BREIH
HK$'000
T#n

7,351,731

(817,113)

Retailing -
Mainland
BE-
At
HK$'000
T#Ew

(17,620)

(201,994)
(199,616)

(24,159)
(39,826)

(12,545)

(746)

(4,907)

(1,423)
53527
55,497

Retailing -
Mainland
-
pysth
HK$'000
TET

2,924,173

(215,999)

Wholesaling -

Wholesaling -

Year ended 31 March 2025

HE2025%3AHLERE
Wholesaling -
Hong Kong Mainland
#HH- HE-
& At
HK$'000 HK$'000
T TF#T
(16,887) (6,619)
(52,350) (24,834)
(65,188) (231,282)
(654) (16,308)
- (862)
(1,59)
359 4,824
- 2,153

As at 31 March 2025

1R20253A31H
Wholesaling -
Hong Kong Mainland
in o HE-
&% At
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n T#n
613,867 2,379,183
(28,664) (257,013)

Annual Report 2024/25 R

Licensing

S
HK$'000
FER

(181,076)

(10,717)
(3,887)

(15,190)

9,506

Licensing

LS
HK$'000
F#En

800,118

(715,248)

Unallocated

28
HK$'000
TR

(165,627)

(43,437)
(19,728)
(28,838)

(45,747)

9,578
9,181

Unallocated

A8
HK$'000
TR

1,407,276
846,662
167,973

7,001

1,399,671

(112,240)
(174,469)
(521,807)
(1,674,562)
(238,418)

Total

st
HK$'000
TEn

(73,972)

(418,546)
(1,330,213)

(135,623)
(405,511)
(28,338)
(82,976)

(746)
(45,747)
(6,805)

(6,462)
141,857
392,098

Total

it
HK$'000
TiEn

14,069,072

1,407,276
846,662
167,973

7,001

1,399,671

17,897,655
(2,034,037)

(112,240)
(174,469)
(521,807)
(1,674,562)
(238,418)

(4,755,533)



Revenue - at a point of time
Sales to external customers
Sales of scrap

Inter-segment sales

Sales of merchandises
Revenue - over time
Royalty and service income
Consultancy fee income

Total

Results of reportable segments

A reconciliation of results of
reportable segments to profit
for the year is as follows:

Results of reportable segments

Unallocated income
Unallocated expenses
Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs

Profit before income tax
Income tax expenses

Profit for the year
Add: Loss attributable to
non-controlling interests
Profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company

BA-REEE
WIREHE
BERH

DEEHE

BEBR

WA -1 —&ER

iR RHEMA

EEERA

st

AERNNER

ERNBEERENERH
ROF

AERABEG
LS ON

FNEHX

g

ST ON

WBER
FRFRRIRAT R
Frigthix

iR

e FEREREGER

FARRENA AR

Retailing -
Hong Kong,
Macau and
overseas

HK$'000
TER

9,885,611

9,885,611
103,197

9,988,808

9,988,808
1,052,531

Retailing -
Mainland
TE-
st
HK$'000
TER

2,863,204

2,863,204
651

2,863,945

2,863,945
194,322

Year ended 31 March 2024

HENUEIRNBLEE
Wholesaling - Wholesaling -
Hong Kong Mainland
- i
BE Akt
HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL FE
108,527 1,433,862
212 -
108,739 1,433,852
2,543,267 163,264
2,652,006 1,597,116
2,652,006 1,597,116
80,752 105,332
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Licensing

mIEET
HK$'000
Thn

939,065
95,401

1,034,466
719,705

Inter-segment
elimination

HEEHE
HK$ 000
TER

(2,810,379
(2,810,379

(2,810,379)

Reportable
segments total
S
DM
HK$'000
T

14,291,284
212

14,291,496

14,291,496

939,065
95,401

15,325,962
2,162,642

2,162,642
349,402
(386,421)

2,115,623
28977
(59,596)

2,085,004
(327,166)

1,757,838

9,467

1,767,305



SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 SEIEE G
Year ended 31 March 2024
HENUEIFIHLEE
Retailing -
Hong Kong,
Macau and Retaling-  Wholesaling-  Wholesaling -
overseas Mainland Hong Kong Mainland Licensing Unallocated Total
ZE-FH 2E- #hE- #E-
RPIRES b i At RIBEH FAR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR TR TER TER FET
Net realised losses on derivative fTESMIAZEER
financial instruments BB (12,134) (6,509) (6,238) (2,445) (27,326)
Net realised and unrealised EeEEZBERRFER
losses on gold loans BESE (35,070) (39,484) (13,439) (5,736) - . (93,729)
Stalf costs BIfA (491,835) (137,726) ©92,709) (222.912) (180,781) {71,654 (1,207,617)
Depreciation of property, NE BRRRENE
plant and equipment 29862 (13531) 792) (14214 (10054) (0915 (109,369)
Depreciation of ight-of-use assets A EEERE (301,392) (3741) - 328 (3939) (17,787) (347,186)
Depreciation of investment properties R B EHE - - - - - (29,121) (29,121)
Amortisation of intangible assets EREESH - - - - - (6,870) (6,870)
Net provision for impaiment losses £ HBERMEEREE
on financial assets and financial EREETE
Quarantee - 279 - - - (60,816) (50,537)
Addtion of goodwill (Note 18) BERE (f1:18) - - - - 277,674 - 277,674
Addition of intangble assets (Note 18) Ef/EERE (fizH18) 60,198 206,985 - 26,286 250,642 - 544,111
Additions of other non-current assets  EftIEABEERE (RBIE
(excluding right-of-use assetsand AR EERMENE
by acquisition of subsidiaries) A7) 52,173 22,885 350 18,278 13,595 189,928 297,209
Additions of other non-current assets  WEEH B AT RIE MIER
by acquisition of subsidiaries BE (F1OEFREER)
(excluding right-of-use assets) #E 1,811 10,754 - 19 235 3,483 16,302
Additions of right-of-use assets BREEE (TaEKE
(excluding by acquisition of WBAR) KE
subsidiaries) 574,023 19,756 - - - 383,014 976,793
Additions of right-of-use assets by~ WEMBAGNERREE
acquisition of subsidlaries (Note 34)  7RE (HizE34) 8,674 683 - - - 11,843 21,200
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Segment assets

Leasehold land and buidings
Investment properties
Deferred income tax assets
Income tax recoverable
Other unallocated assets

Total assets
Segment liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities
Current income tax liabilties
Bank borrowings

Gold loans

Other unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

NHEE

BELHRIET
BERES
BLFREREE
FRERER
At RNEEE

wEE
AHERE

BLFAERER
HEFmERaE
RTEM
EDfEE
Atk pRERE

Hafm

Retailing -
Hong Kong,
Macau and
overseas
2E-FH-
BPIRES
HK$'000
TEn
6,532,796

(864,044)

Retailing -
Mainland
BE-
st
HK$'000
TER

2612415

(144,820)

Wholesaling -
Hong Kong
o
BE
HK$'000
TET
705,380

(29,002

As at 31 March 2024

1202438318
Wholesaling -
Mainland Licensing Unallocated
i
Pyt mIEEH ROk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TEw TET
2,546,408 1,233,123
1,490,047
925,726
154,648
29,465
724,056
(209,413) (788,664)
(119,789)
(171,847)
(362,000)
(1,085,805)
(234,782)
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Total

@t
HK$'000
TER
13,630,122

1,490,047
925,726
154,648

29,465
724,006

16,854,064
(2,035,949

(119,789)
(171,847)
(362,000)

(1,065,805)
(234,782)

(3,990,166)



An analysis of the Group’s revenue and cost of sales by
location in which the transaction took place is as follows:

Revenue WA
Hong Kong 58
Mainland P it
Macau and overseas TP R s
Cost of sales HE A
Hong Kong 5B
Mainland P it
Macau and overseas R S VSRS TN

During the year ended 31 March 2025, revenue recognised
of HK$188,264,000 was included in the contract
liabilities balance as at beginning of the year (2024:
HK$162,962,000).

The Company is domiciled in the Bermuda while the Group
operates its business primarily in Hong Kong, Mainland,
Macau and overseas. For the year ended 31 March 2025,
no revenue was generated from the Bermuda and no assets
were located in the Bermuda (2024 Nil).

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of goods and services
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown net of value-added tax, sales returns and discounts,
after eliminated sales within the Group.

BRZETZ M D2 FEBBAK
SHERADWT :

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT THET
5,284,348 6,510,151
5,273,326 5,286,146
2,783,621 3,629,665
13,341,295 15,325,962
(3,513,267) (4,922,203)
(3,539,509) (3,594,192)
(1,871,513) (2,635,228)
(8,924,289) (11,151,623)

B E2025F3H31HIEFEE  ERAZ
W A 188,264,000 T EF AFETEN
BE4EER (20244F : 162,962,00057T) ©

RABMNRERE MAEETERS
B R RBIMEEET - HE
2025F3HSTHIEFE  MWERERE
EEWAIEBEMNRBRE (2024
F ) o

Wamis A EREREBEXBRHEGY R
REBRBMERNERAEZARE
Wm R HBRIBER  BRE R W H
HAEENEZ HEEBIR
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(@)

Sales of goods - wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of gold
jewellery and gem-set of jewellery products in the
wholesale market. Sales are recognised when control
of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the licensees/wholesalers,
the licensees/wholesalers have full discretion over the
channel and price to sell the products and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the acceptance
of the products. Delivery does not occur until the
products have been delivered to the specified location,
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the licensees/wholesalers, and either
the licensees/wholesalers have accepted the products
in accordance with sales contract, the acceptance
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective
evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied.

A sales refund liability and an asset for the right of
return goods are recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet. The Group uses the expected value
method to estimate the credit refund or return which
best predicts the amount of variable consideration to
which the Group entitled.

A contract liability is also recognised when the
licensees/wholesalers pay deposits before the Group
transfers control of the products to the licensees/
wholesalers.

(@)

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

HEGm— %
FEBRERNHETS LHE
—RIETEMRHKEERER
EEMZEFREERE MEER
R F e, MR RS
HEBHHEELNRERER
BEEEENER BXEREBTE
ERJSER B E MBI UL E) 88
ERDTUER EEMEHESE
EREMEL  BERNERERCEE
F R, AR Mg, i
LHORBHESNBRRER Z
WIRREIERE  RAEBAEREHE
BREBEE W E T A = U IR 1
& HiEstFERYEme

HERSRMNHEERNABRE
ENRGaEERRRTES &
EEXBRBEEEIGGHEER
MEREG EBAEEARERHY
PENESERETRA -

EmhEE MEFRNAEERE
MRS T QIR
BRI RER TERIE08

f&e



(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Sales of goods - retail

The Group operates a chain of retail stores selling a
variety of gold and platinum jewellery and gem-set
jewellery products. Revenue from the sales of goods
is recognised when the product is transferred to the
customer who takes delivery in store.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately
when the customer purchases the gold and platinum
jewellery and gem-set jewellery products. For gem-set
jewellery, it is the Group’s policy to sell its products to
the end customer with a right of return within one year
at an agreed discount on the original selling price. A
sales refund liability and an asset for the right of return
goods are recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the sales refund or return which best predicts
the amount of reliable consideration to which the
Group entitled.

Royalty and service income

Royalty and service income in respect of the use of
the Group’s trademarks is recognised over time on
an accrual basis in accordance with the substance
of the relevant agreements. The refund of credit to
licensees when certain credit refund criteria is met
are considered as variable consideration. The Group
uses expected value method to estimate the credit
refund which best predicts the amount of variable
consideration to which the Group entitled.

Consultancy fee income

Consultancy fee income in respect of technical
support and consultancy services are recognised over
the period in which the services are rendered.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the promised
goods or services to the customer and payment by
the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence,
the Group does not adjust any of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

HEGm—T&
FEEKEBRTEE EESHE
HNEENAGKEEHER - EE
mERERR (HRIEHMNIE)
iR aiEEmEA -

ERBREERNTEMRAEEN
B AR R S (IR 5 B o sk
HEHNMS  AEERNBERERK
mERHERER LNARIK—
FRUREENBERNNRE
B RERNHERNEEREE
R EEERRRER - AEEF
RAEREEEGEFHEEMIER
5 ERATEEARESHIER
BETRARERR-

b8 B BRFS B A
ERMERTEEBRZ MR RR
BEWATRBEERGZOIAS
RESTEEBRERD -ENEE
TEERMFRER BTmEEZ
EEMBENR DI EE FEE
RERBEEEEEERM A
REERERESHNIENES
Bz RERR-

EERIE WA
BERRERMXERBEBRSE 2
BB IR IR Z iR

.
R

=104
AEEBRILEAES RARS
HETERARTRARZEEE
B—FRNERNGH AL ~&EE
TEAEEFHEERABEETMAR
FBRE o
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An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets (other than BEEMEMBE D AEBIERHEE

deferred income tax assets, and deposits, prepayments and (FEREEILFSREENREZES FEN
other receivables) by location of assets is as follows: IRIBR EAnFEWARIE) 2 ATan T -
2025 2024
Macau and Macau and
Hong Kong ~ Mainland  overseas Total HongKong ~ Manland  overseas Total

B M BFIRESH it &% RS 3t
HK$000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKSO00  HKSDOD  HKS000  HKS'000
Tén FEn TR FER  TEn  TEnT  TExm T

Property, plant and equipment VENE T 506506 547,060 101,264 1,154,839 527272 556,803 2119 1,176,194
Investment properties RENE 200,226 637,436 - 846,662 216456 709,270 - 957
Right-of-use assets FREEE 261,080 751,088 244,052 1,276220 346711 780286 210,146 1,346,143
Goodwil EE - 271674 - 21674 - 764 - 21T
Intangible assets EVEE 55460 448,796 - 504,265 50438 477,803 - 5374
Trading licence G EES 1,080 - - 1,080 1,080 - - 1,080

1,083,361 2,662,063 345316 4,060,740 1150957 2810836 3022656 4,264,058
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Government subsidies
- Value-added tax (“VAT”) refund (Note (i)

— Other government subsidies (Note (ii))
Rental income

TR
(B )

AEWA

Others HAth

Notes:

(i

(a)

(b)

This represents refund from the tax authority in Mainland. The amount
of refund is based on the VAT payment made in excess of 4% of
the original input VAT. The Group is entitled to the refund as it is a
member of the Shanghai Diamond Exchange and the diamonds are
imported through the Shanghai Diamond Exchange.

This mainly represents subsidies from a municipal government in
Mainland.

Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease period.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

—HEER (MEER) '™

— BB RhRs (EEa)

FysE

(i

(a)

(b)

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ERT TERT
148 13,467
20,451 61,963
59,198 70,886
52,743 50,865
132,540 197,181

It 73 2R B POt AR 514 R 2 3R 70 o R AR 8RR
B8 RERIE ER4%F H 2 1B BRI G
HoHRAEER LEEARZAZME
MBANER LEEAXZAMED WAL
EARERN -

b E B2 BT 3 i 2 Rk o

HEWA
M WA TR TRIA LU ERARESD -

BRI #ERD
EARERERWERME  BARE
| 7 2 T — D) BAY A 19 1R B > LT 8
BRE A ERES -
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The operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting) the

following:

Cost of sales (Note (i)
— cost of inventories sold
— cost of licensing business

Staff costs (including the directors’
emoluments) (Note (ii))

Expenses relating to short-term leases
and variable lease payments

Commission expenses to payment service
providers

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 15)

Depreciation of investment properties
(Note 16)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 17)

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment (Note 15)

Impairment losses on right-of-use assets
(Note 17)

Advertising and promotion expenses

Other taxes

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Gain on lease modification

Legal and professional fees

Auditor’'s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services

-

SRR (Y 3EG)
—BEFERE
— i EF A

ETHE (BFEESHD)
(B 5E(i))

MR EREAEIR
iElliER

SARBMHER
i aha

ME- BB KR REITE
(M45E15)

HEYEITE (f:16)

FREEEE (MisE17)

ER B EHN (f:E18)

ME- -BEKRRERERE
(M45E15)

FREEERERRE
(MF5E17)

BEEREBREY

Hiig 1A

HEME BERREZEE

HEET W

FRENEXER

T EREMBN =
—BZRH
—IFERRE
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KR

2025
HK$’000
F#RT

8,688,471
235,818

8,924,289

1,071,992
171,407
92,614
135,623
28,838
405,511
32,976
6,805
6,462
179,228
116,639
6,244
(445)

24,102

5,970
2,234

FEgMkR Gt THIEBRS

2024
HK$'000
TET

10,868,146
283,477

11,151,623

967,143
188,870
96,171
109,368
29,121

347,186
6,870

106,886
111,264

3,600
(275)
20,882

7,218
2,980



Notes:

(i) Save as disclosed above, staff costs of HK$258,221,000 (2024: (i)

HK$330,474,000) are included in cost of sales.

(ii) Breakdown of total staff costs are as follows:

Basic salaries, wages, bonus and allowance

Pension costs — defined contribution plans
(Note 13)

Long service payment (Note 30)

Net realised losses on derivative
financial instruments (Note (i)
Net realised losses on gold loans (Note 32)

Net unrealised losses on gold loans
(Note 32)

Net realised gains on exchange
forward contracts (Note (ii))

Net unrealised losses on exchange
forward contracts (Note (ii)

Remeasurement gain on previously held

interests in a prior associate, net (Note 34)

Fair value gain on settlement of a
shareholder loan due from a prior
associate (Note 34)

Impairment losses on investment
properties (Note 16)

Net exchange gains/(losses)

B ESUREE SN ) B T AA258,221,00058 7T
(20244 : 330,474,000587T) B 5t ASHER
FNANES

i) ETRAEEREIWT

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
BEARF& B TEAL 2R 1,230,177 1,214,262
RORE AL AN — E BR AR 5T &
(H$5£13) 93,955 79,565
EHRB® (MFE30) 6,081 3,790
1,330,213 1,297,617
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
TTESMTI Az BE2IREIE
R (|3ﬁ =) (73,972) (27,326)
HeBEEZBEEIREEFE
(Bt a£82) (359,386) (20,188)
HeBEZ RBIREEFRE
(MFE32) (59,160) (73,541)
ZHEMNESGH Z BEEIRN G
JHEE (M k(i) - 2,075

EHAMNES K 2 R EIRETIE

AER (I EEG) - )
SRR — KA E QT

Hmz BNt E W FEE

(FF5E34) - 186,711
EAER—REBE AT
REERZAAERE
(M35¥34) - 26,756
REYERERE
(Iiﬁ 5£16) (45,747) -
W (B518) FE8 14,749 (2,273)
(523,516) 92,206

Annual Report 2024/25 R



Notes: B 5E -

[0) Derivative financial instruments mainly represent gold contracts. These 0] TEEMTETEAESEN -NEBYH
derivative financial instruments are not qualified for hedge accounting REEBFSRET ZETESRIAR
within the context of HKFRS 9. REHAETERS-

(ii) Exchange forward contracts are not qualified for hedge accounting (ii) REBMBREENFIREF  ZEEH
within the context of HKFRS 9. IEENARRTEHFEER-

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Finance income: BRI

— Bank interest income —IRTTRIBURA 26,511 26,129

— Interest income on other receivables —HMEWIRE
FEWA - 1,995

— Interest income on gold loan receivables —EWRESEE
FEUA - 853
26,511 28,977

Finance costs: HFER -

— Interest expenses on bank borrowings —IRITERZMERZ (5,594) (31,280)
— Interest expenses on gold loans —BeEEZMERE (11,760) (3,551)
— Interest expenses on gold loans from —H—REEEART
a director BEZHEMZ (1,004) ®11)
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HESGEZHER% (40,761) (23,954)
(59,119) (59,596)
Finance costs, net MBER B (32,608) (30,619)
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Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits arising from
Hong Kong for the year, except for one subsidiary of the
Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2 million of estimated
assessable profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and
the remaining estimated assessable profits are taxed at
16.5% (2024: Same). Taxation on overseas profits has been
calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year
at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which
the Group operates.

Current taxation: BIHATRIA :
- Hong Kong profits tax —5BMER
- Mainland and overseas taxation — A R BINMRIE
— Withholding tax on dividend declared - RARAMEIRKREZ
in Mainland BN
— Over-provision in prior years —BEFEBERE
Deferred income tax (Note 29) EIEPTSH (FY5E29)

EBMNERIERAEENEBESL
Z BT FEERFR A L0 K 16.5% 51 1 #
B EAERE—KIWBRABRIN ZA
BIFEaMMBEFESNEGNEZEE &
MEB AR Z Gt EREREFIT > 8288
BITI28.25% 2 MEMIR - M E R (& st
FER MR F1216.5% 2 MMERIR (2024
F R o BINENZRIETAEE
TR B R IE A E B EHEAERR
ERRETH

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
105,512 63,857
211,423 228,345
17,889 46,848
(2,365) (10,699)
(20,874) (1,185)
311,585 327,166
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The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax
calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to the profits of
the consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as
follows:

Profit before income tax
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates

applicable to profits in the respective BMREFTERIE
jurisdictions
Income not subject to taxation BIAEFRZ A
Expenses not deductible for taxation ARz 2

PRPR1S I AT ]

purposes

Over-provision in prior years
Recognition of previously unrecognised

tax losses

Tax losses of which no deferred tax asset FRHERIEIERIBEE Y
is recognised RIEkEE

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax &/ MU {E R FER

losses

Withholding tax on undistributed profit of
the subsidiaries in Mainland

Note:

AR

The Group is within the scope of the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development (‘OECD’) Pillar Two model rules. Under
the Pillar Two legislation, the Group is liable to pay a top-up tax for the
difference between the Global Anti-Base Erosion Proposal (‘GloBE’)
effective tax rate for each jurisdiction and the 15% minimum rate.

Pillar Two legislation has been enacted or substantially enacted in
certain jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The Group is in
scope of the enacted or substantively enacted legislation (including in
Australia, Canada and Malaysia), while Hong Kong has enacted but
not yet in effect at the end of the reporting.

The Group has assessed the effective tax rates as per HKAS 12 of
Australia, Canada and Malaysia based on the financial data for the
year ended 31 March 2025. Based on the assessment, the effective
tax rates as per HKAS 12 of Australia, Canada and Malaysia are
both above 15%. Hence, there is no top-up tax liability arising from
Australia, Canada and Malaysia’s operations. The Group continues
to monitor local legislation and other development of the Pillar Two
legislation in relevant jurisdictions and assess the potential impact.
The Group has applied the mandatory temporary relief from the
accounting requirement to recognise and disclose deferred taxes
arising from the jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar Two
legislation, as provided in HKAS 12.

BEFEBERE
FESBLUEARFESR I AR 18

AEEFFTSHRANERN 2 MIBAERE
AR&AEReGHER ST HEMR
KB MBEELE 2 ERESBEERN
o

REANRE AR EETNR

MIER1E

P B A B AR D TKiE A 2

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#Ex FET
1,379,443 2,085,004
298,371 338,965
(5,701) (43,998)
10,910 15,073
(2,365) (10,699)
(8,067) -
4,930 10,615
(2,966) (6,335)
16,473 23,545
311,585 327,166

GER

() FEEBEREEGFEEERMAM (KEE
B B TERANEE - RIBEE -
BiE AEEAFEEHMEHRRNERE
2% (TGloBE ) B X AR EZ BN ERR
KE1%RBMNE 2 MR EENHER

BB UZERAEBEERER AR
BEMIBREM  AERBREEMAE
HEMNIDERER (8RN NEAR
FE2RFE) - MEBBEME % B
RREIRERER

RIBEZE2025F3831HIELEEZHBEE
B AREBRBE LSS ERF125H R
M- MEARERATDHNERREETT
EoRBFTE > BN - MEAKRERAEEHN
BREAGHERFI2ERTEERRELS
1215% o Rl » SN ~ N A R B2k P TR Ay 3
BliEEEMERERE NEBFERFHE
BB A @M S A RS AN
Hithg R Wi EEERE - AEEBRE
ERGTENFE125RMIRE » FEARGIILEE
BEAG RRREBAREENHE Sk
£ MIRIER BN & st B IR BIRE ©
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The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and considers whether it is probable
that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax
treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either
based on the most likely amount or the expected
value, depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

HIMR IR X B 1E R HA R R SE AR IR © 2
ERFEEIRmRES EHREERHE
theEWA DN EZN EDES ZE
BERERII -EXBRT RETE
DHREthEEWARERN BN E

Bl
a0 ©

MMM IAR X IR R 15T E BRI UK
AREBEEFREZBRAMEREAEYN
FEMIRIE Wl B R E R REARNE
BIEMERRELEREEER A REEEF
HEEE

(@) ENHAFRTSR

BIERPR S DR EPRTE
TRBARENBARKERESE
BRMBAZEREEGHEES
a2 AT E - BIEEE MG
MERAMBERERREZENR
Z IR ¥R EREBUEBE » 15 EAR
BHREESSAERITRER
R  rERRERAIELTRES
BRATEMEE RIRESD AL
EEEA N EERNRBRTS F
MmE) stEHRIEREER
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(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amounts and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

(b)
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The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the Group’s profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company of HK$1,099,864,000 (2024: HK$1,767,305,000)
and the weighted average number of 587,107,850 (2024:
587,107,850) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 are the same as the basic earnings per
share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares
outstanding during the years.

2024/25 interim dividend, paid, of HK$0.55
(2023/24 interim dividend: HK$0.72) per
ordinary share

20283/24 special interim dividend, by way of
distribution in specie of 3DG shares (Note (i)

Notes:

(i)

0.72%7T)

On 28 March 2024, the directors resolved to declare a special
interim dividend in form of a distribution in specie of 24,071,422
issued shares of 3DG. Based on the closing price of HK$1.18 per
issued share of 3DG as traded on the Stock Exchange on 28 March
2024, the aggregate market value of the distribution shares was
HK$28,404,000. The dividend distribution in specie was equivalent to
HK$0.05 per ordinary share.

At a meeting held on 26 June 2025, the directors recommended
the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.55 per ordinary share. Such
dividend is to be approved by the shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting of the Company on 21 August 2025. The aggregate amount
of the proposed dividend is expected to be paid out of retained
earnings at 31 March 2025, but not recognised as a liability at year
end.

B k2024/25%F R HARG
EEREER0.55ETT
(202324 EEHHARG S ¢

SEREABHNOBREALNDIHRF
BANELAREREF,099,864,000
T (20244 1 1,767,305,0003% 7T)
EERBETETERZMEFHSH
587,107,8508% (20244 : 587,107,850
%) st& o

AR E R 1T BB SN EN
TEAS WE E 20254 K20244E3 431
HEFEZEREERIEASREAR
FARR o

2023/24F E B HARR B
UEYDREEEZRH
ZARNEIK (FIEE()

2024/25 final dividend, proposed, of HK$0.55 #E:k2024/255 E R HAAR
(2023/24 final dividend: HK$0.64) per
ordinary share (Note (i)

EEREER0S5ETT
(2023/24FEEREARE S -
0.64787T) (MIEE()

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET TAET
322,909 422,718
- 28,404
322,909 375,749

Md5E

0] 2024538280 EFZ AT IR A F
KRS > UBYW DIk 72 K24,071,422
REEZBEEITRM - RIF202453528H
SRERTEEZERMD N HE
FR118EBTHE DIRRMHNETES
28,404,000 70 c DIk D IR EHEN S
&I i@ A%0.05 7T °

(i) 1220266268 BT & L EFEE
TRAT AR HARG B8 I 4B AR0.5578 7T o BRI
EARFREEAATN2025548H21HET
2 REEFRE FHOE - FEHRRAR S 4278
% B 12202553831 H Z RE B F IR
ERERERERAE G
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2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$ 000
F#ET FET
Net contributions to pension plans charged R &8RP Z B
to the consolidated income statement SETEIHERFEEE 93,955 79,565
The expense is recognised in the following line items in the ERMEEZIRGeERR 2 U TEERE
consolidated income statement: 3
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FH

Cost of sales HHE R AR 22,694 28,020

Selling and distribution costs HE RDIHER 59,495 44,244

Administrative expenses THER 11,766 7,301

93,955 79,565

Notes: B 5E

[0) The Group contributes to a MPF Scheme for its employees in Hong 0] AEEAEEBREER AT ELATER
Kong, under which both the Group and each employee make monthly B BItAEE RS REELERREREZEE
contribution to the scheme at 5% of the qualifying earnings of the BUALRIEE MR S B HRE LR
employee, subject to a maximum of HK$1,500 (2024: Same) per #1,500/8 7T (20244 © #8[F) °
month.

(ii) The Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland also contribute to retirement (ii) AEBRAMZ M EASINEST AR R
plans for their employees in Mainland at a percentage of their salaries THRZHREAERAMNEEFHAE
in compliance with the requirements of the respective municipal re—E BN 2R EMER - EBUFIR
governments in Mainland. The municipal governments undertake BAEAEBRPRAMBPMERE KAKE
to assume the retirement benefit obligation of all existing and future NEE Z BRIKEFFE-

retired employees of the Group in Mainland.
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The aggregate amounts of emoluments payable to the FREGERBDESE RESTH
directors and chief executive of the Company during ABZME4EEEMT
the year were as follows:

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$ 000
F#ET FAT
Fees BE 1,650 1,705
Salaries e 19,191 14,950
Performance and discretionary BRIFWIEE R IE4L
bonuses 43,488 58,053
Contributions to pension plan BIREETEIMERR 528 595
Total directors’ emoluments, payable FE R B irE M7 ERE
and expensed in the consolidated Sz BRI SARER
financial statements 64,857 75,303
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a MEEAATHREARRBDRENWE
person’s services as a director, whether of the NEEFEHEWRINE :
Company or its subsidiary undertaking:
For the year ended 31 March 2025 #E202553831HILELFE
Performance Estimated Employer's
and money  contribution to
discretionary Housing  values of other a retirement Total
Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits  benefit scheme emoluments
Name of director and BRERRNE HitiERZ EEmlfk
chief executive ESREATHASLS g B¢ BHZRA EEEE  GHENEE  ERHEER HeLE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin TR TR TR TR FiEn TR
WONG Wai Sheung (Note) BEE ) 55 5,993 27,633 - - 20 33,911
TSE Moon Chuen B 55 1,469 - - - - 1,524
WONG Hau Yeung e 55 1,276 6,021 - - 52 7404
WONG Lan Sze, Nancy = 55 1,046 7,626 - - 45 8,772
CHAN So Kuen REE 55 4742 2,208 - - 201 7,206
WONG Ho Lung, Danny =¥t 55 4,545 - - - - 4,600
HUI Chiu Chung SFBR 110 60 - - - - 170
LI Hon Hung TEE 110 60 - - - - 170
WONG Yu Pok, Marina® i 250 - - - - - 250
IP Shu Kwan, Stephen® =3 300 - - - - - 300
MAK Wing Sum, Alvin* ERE 300 - - - - - 300
HUI King Wai* SFRE 250 - - - - - 250
1,650 19,191 43488 - - 528 64,857
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
bR SRR MY 5

14 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 14 EERSHRAEEASENRED

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued) (48)
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s (@) ESRERSTHASME (&)
emoluments (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 B E2024F3831HLLEE
Performance Estimated Employer's
and money contribution to
discretionary Housing ~ values of other aretirement Total
Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits  beneft scheme emoluments
Name of director and RRENE HftgRlz EIRER
chief executive EZRERAHASHS e e B2l tREE  AHENEE  BURBER Wews
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TER TEn TER TEn TR TEn TEr
WONG Wai Sheung (Note) ERE () 55 5614 31,804 - - 248 37811
TSE Moon Chuen EEES 55 1,829 - - - % 1,408
WONG Hau Yeung 55 55 1,148 9,934 - - 57 11,19
WONG Lan Sze, Nancy BEE 55 975 12,583 - - 49 13,662
CHAN So Kuen RZH 55 4368 3,642 - . 217 8282
WONG Ho Lung, Danny BiER 110 1,39 - - - - 1506
HUI Chiu Chung FBER 110 60 - - - - 170
LI Hon Hung FEE 110 60 - - - - 170
WONG Yu Pok, Marina* e 250 - - - - - 250
[P Shu Kwan, Stephen* g 300 - - - - - 300
MAK Wing Sum, ANin® EXE 300 - - - - - 300
HUI King Wai* EiTe 250 - - - - - 250
1,705 14,950 58,053 - - 595 75,303
# Independent non-executive directors # BUERITES
Note: Wizt
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung is also the chief executive officer of the EEBEENARAT ZITHAES
Company.
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Aggregate emoluments paid to or MIEBRRAHE
receivable by directors in respect of ~ MYB AT EE 2 IRFS
their services as directors, whether ~ BATESE o ESEW

of the Company or its subsidiary B 48 %8
undertaking

Aggregate emoluments paid to or MBERABIEARBHHA
receivable by directors in respect of MIBABEHZESE
their other services in connection HRF B I E UK

with the management of the affairs il 48%8
of the Company or its subsidiary
undertaking

Except for the employer’s contribution to a retirement
benefit scheme as disclosed in (a), no other retirement
benefits were paid to the directors of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2025 in respect of
their services as directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries (2024: Same).

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year ended 31 March
2025 (2024: Same).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company
did not pay any consideration to any third parties
for making available the services of themselves as
directors of the Company (2024: Same).

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TET
1,650 1,705
63,207 73,598
64,857 75,303

FR(a)BFTINE 2 &+ MR AKREF
sHEIMERIN ) B ZE2025%3H31H
EFEE UTERARTDZEEH]
HESARIKRERBARDES
FriR i 2 BR 7% 2 19 H iR K& 7
(20244 : #8[A) °

REZE2025F3831HIEEE > #f
5 2 25 A of) e B WA B A 1T b B
BF (2024 : 1BA) ©

REE2025F3H31HIEFE » &
NEMEBEANE=ZSRIREE
BEANDEBRMBZRB LT
BB (20244 : M) o
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Save as the gold loan arrangement with a director
disclosed in the Note 37, no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements were entered into by the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking in favour of the
directors of the Company, a controlled body corporate
or a connected entity of such directors at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Same).

Save for transactions disclosed elsewhere in the notes
to these consolidated financial statements, no other
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company has a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Same).

Among the five highest paid individuals, all (2024:
Four) of them are directors of the Company and
the details of their remuneration are disclosed in the
preceding paragraph.

No amount has been paid by the Company or
receivable by the directors or the five highest paid
individuals during the Year under review as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Company nor
for the loss of office as a director of any subsidiary
of the Group or of any other office in connection with
the management of the affairs of any subsidiary of the
Group. No director has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the Year under review.

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

R EES7TAIIN B — R EENE
SERZHIN S REE2025538
31HIEFEERERERE > A AF)
HBABWET L UARAEE
EREEE I REAERREEE
BASHAZER BELUEHRE
S B L2 (20244 : HH[A) ©

RZEREM BRI EE M
DAIRBEZ X FIN KRB LEF
REBREHKITUAATDEENE
hEEAEERYBEERBENE
F2025F3H31H IEFEEREF
FREMREBERZEMEAR

G THEREH (20244 © FHFA) ©

A2 ESHMATE D 25
(20244 : Y4%) AERATEE
MEZHEFBEEN LERKE-

REEFER > ART I EOEM
EFENLfUReFMALZIAN
WEERRUR  (EREH AL RF
WIMAR AT RBVEER > TFEME
REGREERBEANBARTE
ENBAUNELAERTANER
5] 75 5 1 A B B9 AT H th B AL
M s AHERIFRIE © b5 > FE I RE S
ER IHBEENESKEIARE
TREAE B o



The emoluments fall within the following bands:

Nil - HK$1,000,000

HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 - HK$3,000,000

£ 51,000,000/ 7T

1,500,001 75 £2,000,0007% 7T
2,000,001 771 22,500,000 7T
2,500,001 771, 23,000,000 7T

Senior management represents senior management
staff who are non-directors of the Company.

At 1 April 2023
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net book value

Year ended 31 March 2024
Opening net book value

Addtions

Acaisition of subsidiaries (Note 34)
Disposals

Depreciation charge (Note ()

12023%4B 1R
[
ZHAERAE
BEFE

HENUEIPNALEE
EREFE

HE

IR AT (334)
e

ESH (1)

Transfer from investment properties (Note 16) E&Z R &% (Hz16)

Transfer
Exchange differences

Closing net book value

At 31 March 2024
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net book value

Year ended 31 March 2025
Opening net book value
Addltions

Disposals

Depreciation charge (Note ()
Transfer

Impairment losses

Exchange differences

Closing net book value
At 31 March 2025

Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net book value

&
EREE
FREEFE

1202453B318
S
RATERAE
REFE

#ZE2025F3A31HILERE
EREFE

HE

e

e (k)

=2

AEBE

EREE

EXREFE

12025%3B318
[
SHAERAE
a3

Land and
buildings

1T
HK§ 000
TEL

929,825
(143,922)

785,903

785,903
181,417

(36,899)
76,264

(14,983)
991,702

1,181,550
(189,848)

991,702

991,702

(37,269)

(11,349)
943,000

1,169,705
(226,615)

943,090

Furniture

and fixtures

Leasehold  and computer
improvements equipment
R RER
RENERE Bk
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn
491,295 217,952
(429,172) (170,089)
62,123 47,863
62,123 47,863
61,806 38,557
10,200 5678
(95) (8,454)
(43,732) (23,397)
8,131 -
(1,025) (1,934
97,408 63,313
547,708 242,664
(450,300) (179,351)
97,408 63,313
97,408 63,313
100,714 37,238
(5,060) (3,429)
(66,258) (26,260)
10,007 (666)
(6,738) (67)
(143) 211)
129,930 69,918
642,241 291,319
(512,311) (221,401)
129,930 69,918
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2025

1
2
2

5

M= F T5IAER)

2024

PREEEELTRGBIIFESFZS

E=FEPN=E
Plant and Motor
machinery vehicles
BERES HE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TER
57,494 20,809
(48,334) (18,391)
9,160 2,418
9,160 2,418
6,072 2,201
- 24
(66) -
(3,995) (1,345)
(452) (138)
10,719 3,560
59,076 21,344
(48,357) (17,784)
10,719 3,560
10,719 3,560
767 2,293
= (548)
(4,490) (1,352)
(29 (14)
6,067 3,939
55,258 22,595
(48,291) (18,656)
6,967 3,939

Construction-
in-progress

ERIE
HK§'000
TR

11,098

11,093

11,003
7,156

9492

9,492

9,492

9,492
85

9,341)

()
995

995

995

Total

e
HK§ 000
TEn

1,728,468
(809,908)

918,560

918,560
297,209
16302
(3615)
(109,368
76,064

(19,158)
1,176,194

2,061,834
(885,640)

1,176,194

1,176,194
141,857
(9,087)
(135,629)
(6,80)
(11,747)

1,154,839

2,182,113
(1,027,274)

1,154,839



Notes:

U]

(ii)

(iii)
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Depreciation expense of HK$3,433,000 (2024: HK$2,591,000)
has been included in cost of sales, HK$100,870,000 (2024:
HK$100,258,000) in selling and distribution costs and
HK$31,320,000 (2024: HK$6,519,000) in administrative expenses.

Impairment on retail store assets, including certain plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group considers each individual retail store as a separately
identifiable cash-generating unit. Management performed impairment
assessments for the retail stores that had impairment indicator.
The carrying amount of the retail store asset is written down to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is in excess of
its estimated recoverable amount. The estimates of the recoverable
amounts were based on value-in-use calculations using discounted
cash flow projections based on the management’s forecasts covering
the remaining tenure of the lease, with major assumptions such as
change in revenue, change in running cost and change in gross profit
and product mix.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, impairment losses on
property, plant and equipment of HK$6,805,000 (2024: Nil) and
right of-use assets of HK$6,462,000 (2024: Nil), respectively, were
recognised in ‘selling and distribution costs” in the consolidated
income statement.

Impairment on corporate assets, including certain property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (other than retail
store assets)

As at 31 March 2025, management has assessed the recoverable
amount of corporate assets of 3DG. The carrying amounts of
corporate assets of 3DG are not significant to the Group. Based on
the result of impairment assessment, management concluded that
no impairment is needed for these corporate assets of 3DG (2024:
Same).

Management performed impairment assessment for the corporate
assets of the Group, excluding that of 3DG (referred as the ‘Luk Fook
Group’), that had impairment indicators. Impairment assessment was
performed by measuring the estimation of the recoverable amount of
the Luk Fook Group. The recoverable amount of the Luk Fook Group
is estimated based on value-in-use calculation using discounted cash
flow projection based on approved financial budgets. Management
determined the length of the discounted cash flow projection covering
a 22-year period based on the consideration of remaining useful life of
certain principal operating assets in the Luk Fook Group. Certain key
assumptions include average revenue growth rate for 1st to 5th year,
revenue growth rate for 6th to 22nd year, gross profit margin, and
discount rate.

st

U]

(i)

(iii)

HrEERI23,433,00078 7T (20244 : 2,591,000
HB7T) Bt AfHE A~ 100,870,000/ 7T
(20244 1 100,258,000 7T) Bt A&
R 888 > 31,320,000 75 (2024£ -
6,519,000 7T) Bt AT E °

SEEHEE (BRETRERRBURE
AEEE) #E
FEBRHEBENTEEE 2B H
AREELBU -BEEERERERAEIR
NEEEHETRETG - HTEEHEE
ZAREEBHEMGSAIKOEEE RIARE
EZIREEMAZEEATKOSER - ARG
I EIEELREEEEREGR FNEEH
BTRA AN RRE S REFRIFTt ERE
REBEMEE Wt R A S EERE
gE  ENREREEEHEIBZRR-

HZE2025F3831HIEEE  REEaEA
Z2HHERDHERI PRIAVE -BEX
% 85 78 {8 548 %36,805,00038 7T (20244 :
) > e RS &R E 518 %6,462,00078 7T
(20244 : 4E) o

AREE (BEETWE -BERRHBEURK
EREEE (FEEREERD) HE

12025638310 EREET T EEMN
ANEABENTREOZHE - EEENRTEE
PRI EISAHAEBMS LA EKR BRI
HEFLER EEEIRATEENZER
BIEEEBHRAE (20245  18F) ©

EEBHALERESEY (BB 7EEE))
DS~ B & E BT R BT L HIRRE
PR R ET AT BB BN EEEN I
O Bh5HETT o N REEB R R8RS
ERCHEMBRERBIRERERER
R EREES BT -EERRERBE
BETTELSEENTBREREHN X
HERX2FHNFRESREBTAMR - EF
FRBREEF-ELFNTHRAER
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Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

Myt : (&)

Impairment on corporate assets, including certain property, i) AFNEE (BEETVE BERREUR
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (other than retail FEREEE (SEEREERIN) BE @
store assets) (Continued)
Management has made reference to the valuation report issued by an EEBE2EZBUGEMAMEAENGEER
independent valuer for the calculation of the recoverable amounts of S ERREENKREEEE AR ERE
the Luk Fook Group. The key assumptions used for the value-in-use BETENRERERNT :
calculation are as follows:
The Luk
Fook Group
NEEE
31 March 2025 202553831
Average revenue growth rate for 1st to 5th year (Note (a) 1 ZESENFHRAIE ER (i5E@) 7%
Revenue growth rate for 6th to 22nd year (Note (b)) FOE2EMR AL RR (MizE(D)) 2%
Average gross profit margin EHERE 29%
Discount rate (Note (c)) HrIRE (MI5ke) 10%
Notes: P5E

() Average revenue growth rate covers a five-year forecast
period. It is based on the past performance and
management’s expectations on market development.

(b) The revenue growth rate for 6th to 22nd year does not exceed
the long-term average growth rate of the business in which the
Luk Fook Group operates.

() Pre-tax discount rate is applied to the pre-tax cash flow
forecast.

Based on the result of the impairment assessment, the recoverable
amount of the Luk Fook Group exceeded its carrying amount, no
impairment is needed for these corporate assets as at 31 March
2025. A fall in average revenue growth rate for 1st to 5th year to -3%,
a fall in revenue growth rate for 6th to 22nd year to -92%, a drop to
gross profit margin rate to 27%, or a rise in discount rate to 13%, all
changes taken in isolation, would remove the remaining headroom.

As at 31 March 2024, there was no impairment indicator identified
on corporate assets of the Luk Fook Group, hence, no impairment
assessment was performed.

@ THRAMEEEERFENE
ERBERREREEEY TSR
PR

(b) FOE22EMNM AL EERBB/NE
EEMCEEFNRATIOERESR.

© EARKRRAERESRSEANRR
GIEEEEE

RERETGEE R AN EEEN AW %28
BB EEREE Mt2025E3831A AT E
EBEHERE B 1 E5ENFHURALL
EEXTRE-3% FER2FHWAEEERT
[ZE-92% EFERTREE27% HITRE L
FIE13% > Fi A EBEE B S HRTRNF
ZE{E o

2024538310 L RERREEN A
ABEFEEARENS Rl Fe T
st
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Notes: (Continued)

(iv) As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, no bank borrowings were secured by
fixed assets.

(v) The aggregate market values of the Group’s owner-occupied
properties, classified as property, plant and equipment, and land
use rights in Mainland, classified as right-of-use assets, were
approximately HK$1,694,461,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$1,932,901,000), comparing to the carrying value of approximately
HK$1,644,839,000 (2024: HK$1,747,474,000). Such market values
are determined by an independent valuer, Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited who holds a recognised and relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in the location and category
of the land and buildings being valued, with comparison approach
(2024: AVF Corporate Valuation Advisory Limited).

As at 31 March 2025, certain fair value less costs of disposal
calculations of land and buildings of Luk Fook Group are lower than
their respective carrying amounts. These land and buildings are
corporate assets of Luk Fook Group. Impairment assessment was
performed by measuring the estimation of the recoverable amount of
the Luk Fook Group. Details of the impairment assessment, including
certain key assumptions and sensitivity analysis, are set out in above
Note (jii).

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of
the replaced part is derecognised when replaced. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

Myt : (&)

(iv) 5220265 k202453831 H » M LEE &
EIRIRRVRITER

(v) R2025%3831H > AEEDLEAME M
ERRENEFERAMEARDBAGER
BEEZRAMIMEREZETELY
1,694,461,0005 75 (20244F © 1,932,901,000
Bor) o IHHIREELN 51,644,839,0007 7T

(20244 :1,747,474,00087T) - BT E
BB EME 2RI EBAERAR
(AR REMBEEER URAEELT
R 18T > (LB RSB R A T HR A )
WHEBOEEE (20244 © HIE ¥ (ELS
BIRAED)

R202543831H AT NEBEEN K
BFNAAEBREERAHEBRAESE
FEEEE ST RIEFTANEBERNA
BEE - REGI BBt ENEEENT
U (o] < BB (4 5t M 1T o BUETEHE (B8
BETHARBRABEEDN 8 XXM
(i)

M3~ RS R s B TH A% [E S B AR AT ER
PR EEMABIEWRERSTHE BZ
L2 Fx e

EREBEEARz BREER AR
AREE BZEBE Z ARSI A T 5t
ERHBNADEStAZEBEEEZR
HENEDIA—BHHIEE RERB
MME) cEEMD 2 REENEERK
IEFESR - PRE HAtiEE RIRE SN HE
EZHMBIERERS TR
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Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold land and 50 years or over the unexpired
buildings lease period of land,
whichever is shorter

Leasehold 5 years or over the unexpired

improvements lease period, whichever is
shorter

Furniture and fixtures 5 years
and computer
equipment

Plant and machinery 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction or pending installation and is
stated at cost less impairment losses, if any. No provision
for depreciation is made on assets under construction
in progress until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and available for their intended use. On
completion, the relevant assets are transferred to property,
plant and equipment at fair value or cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
net proceeds with carrying amount of the relevant assets
and are included in the consolidated income statement.

WENFEREGEN AT ERE
D ECHMA FIRRRISHER 58 ¢

HELMRIET S0FaiE it
AT 5] BR AR
(UEBIEE %)
SEF S IREAY 8 R A
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At 1 April
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Year ended 31 March

Opening net book value

Depreciation (Note (i)

Impairment losses (Note (iii)

Transfers to property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Note (ii))

Exchange differences

Closing net book value

At 31 March
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Rental income from operating leases
(Note 6)

Direct operating expenses arising
from investment properties that
generate rental income

Fair value (Note (iii)

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

HEHIELEE

FYREFE

e (IEE3)

BERE (ki)

EREYE -BE KR
REURERAREE

FREREFE

REHrERRE

KEHEZEZIWRA

EEHTWAZREYX
FREXZE#

ARG (D))

2025
HK$’000
FET

1,164,893
(239,167)

925,726

925,726
(28,838)
(45,747)

(4,479)
846,662

1,159,366
(312,704)

846,662

2025
HK$’000
FHET

59,198

(31,967)

2025
HK$’000
FAT
1,264,819

2024
HK$'000
TAT

1,362,672
(234,945)

1,127,727

1,127,727
(29,121)

(129,467)
(43,413)

925,726

1,164,893
(239,167)

925,726

2024
HK$'000
TAET

70,886

(32,236)

2024
HK$'000
FET
1,445,409



Notes:

(i)

(i)

)

(vi)

Depreciation expense of HK$28,838,000 (2024: HK$29,121,000) has
been recorded in administrative expenses.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has leased
certain office premises to a prior associate, and classified those
office premises as investment properties, with carrying amounts
of HK$129,467,000, on the consolidated balance sheet. After a
step acquisition of the prior associate to a subsidiary, the Group
has reclassified such investment properties to property, plant and
equipment of HK$76,264,000 (Note 15) and right-of-use assets
of HK$53,203,000 (Note 17) due to the change of use as owner-
occupied.

The fair value of the investment properties was determined by an
independent valuer, Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, who
holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification and has
recent experience in the location and category of the investment
properties being valued, with comparison approach (2024: AVF
Corporate Valuation Advisory Limited).

As at 31 March 2025, the recoverable amounts of certain investment
properties, which is determined by higher of value-in-use calculation
and fair value less costs of disposal, are lower than their respective
carrying amounts, impairment losses on investment properties of
HK$45,747,000 were recognised in ‘other (losses)/gains, net’ in the
consolidated income statement (2024: Nil).

Future aggregate minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable
leases are as follows:

—FR

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, no bank borrowings were secured by
investment properties.

—EEERBBAE

5T -

(i)

(i)

)

)

rEERI % 28,838,000 7T (2024 :
29,121,000% 7t) BERTERERF AR

HZE2024F3A3THIEEE  AEFABE B —
KA E R HBEETMAEYE X
LMAEYENEARENE NEEEE
BERMNEEEA129,467,0008 7T c RES
WERTE AT ANB ARG ~EEER
AR AXTERMSBRARENES
MPDEEYE - BB KK #76,264,00078 7T

(MF5E15) Ko fE AR ## & E53,203,00078 7T ([t
E17) o

REMENAAEBRB I GEMG SR
SEERARAR RWADREMEXE
o WRFEEREYEZUERERN S E
WERRHKER) RILBUEREE (20244F : H2
TEGEZHFRAR)

R2025%3831H » AT R EM I A e[l
T (REREEERAABREERAS
THBRSEET) BERESENEREEE &
BB R ER51B45,747,0008 TGS
BmRW TEHAM (B18) - 358 PR
(20244 : f®)

R A8 2 T B A SR SR U 2 B
AEMBWT -

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
55,788 63,684
80,289 123,911
136,077 187,595

1220265 [ 202438310 » A wMLUIREY)
FIRMBVIRTTEM
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As at 31 March 2025

Location

i

Office A on 10th Floor, Bank Tower,
Nos. 351 and 353 King's Road,

North Point, Hong Kong
BRI AR EED1RIEIRIRETLI0EAE

Flat 3 on 10th Floor, Hong Kiu Mansion,
No. 313 Nathan Road, Yaumatei, Kowloon,
Hong Kong
ERNEAMARIESISREBAEI0EE

Luk Fook Jewellery Centre, Jordan,
No. 239 Temple Street, Kowloon,
Hong Kong

AN B30T N R E L

Unit 15 on 3rd Floor, Guanghua Changan Building,
No.7 Jianguo Men Nei Avenue, Dongcheng District,
Beijing, the PRC

FELRTREEREFNABT N ERZAE
3MB15%E

Use

R&

Commercial building
for rental

[EEFNEER

Commercial building
for rental

[EEFNEER

Commercial building
for rental

[EEFNEE

Commercial building
for rental

[EEINCE

§12025%3831H

Tenure

ik

Medium-term leases

HRTEA

Short-term leases

FEERA

Long-term leases

REHEA

Medium-term leases

IR

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

Attributable
interest of
the Group

FEEEGEREE AL

100%

100%

100%

100%



As at 31 March 2025 (Continued)

Location

i

Units 1907-1910 on Level 19, Tower 1,
Kerry Everbright City, No. 218 West Tianmu Road,
Zhabei District, Shanghai, the PRC

FE EETELEXRERABISREERRINE L
191£1907-1910%

Units A1802 on Level 16, Fulllink,
No. 18 Chaoyang Men Wai Avenue,
Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC
FEIIERmHAG RGN 18 SHE 51612
A1802E

Level 32-34, Reith International Building,
Xinxiu Village, Xinxiu Road, Luohu District,
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the PRC
FEERERImBNENSET AN ERRERAE
32-341%

Use

R&

Commercial building
for rental

[EEFNEER

Commercial building
for rental

[EEFNEER

Commercial building
for rental

[EEFNEER

2025838310 (&)

Tenure

i

Medium-term leases

HRTEA

Medium-term leases

HRTEAY

Medium-term leases

HRTEAY

Attributable
interest of
the Group

FEEEGEREE AL

100%

100%

100%
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As at 31 March 2025 (Continued) 2025838310 (&)

Attributable
interest of
Location Use Tenure the Group
e Ri& L TEERIGHEZ TR
Units 2807, 28th Floor, Block 1, Commercial building Medium-term leases 100%
Yongwei Times Centre, Zhangba Second Road for rental
and Jinye First Road, High Technology Zone,
Xian City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC
FEREEALTETE LN\ _BRRE—BKEE BEAELHE FRERTRA
KA E 18122807
Units 1401-1412 on Level 14, Commercial building Medium-term leases 100%
Units 1501-1512 on Level 15, for rental
Units 1601-1612 on Level 16,
Block B, IBC, No. 3008 Buxin Road,
Luohu District, Shenzhen City, the PRC
FEANTEAEHOIK008H K ERELLAE  HEAELA FRERTRA
(IBC)BEE141£1401-1412F ~ 15£1501-1512F ~
161£1601-1612F
Unit 3101-3112 on Level 31, Commercial building Medium-term leases 100%

Units 3201-3212 on Level 32, for rental

Units 3301-3312 on Level 33,

Units 3401-3412 on Level 34,

Units 3501-3512 on Level 35,

Block B, IBC, No. 3008 Buxin Road,

Luohu District, Shenzhen City, the PRC
FEIFINMESERLBI008T K EHREEHERE  BERELHA FERTRA

(IBC) BEE311£3101-3112%  321£3201-3212%

331£3301-3312% ~ 341£3401-3412%F ~ 351£3501-

3512
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Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land
and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and is not occupied by the Group.

Investment property is measured at cost, including related
transaction costs, less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method
to write off the cost of the investment properties over
their estimated useful lives of 30 to 50 years. Where the
carrying amount of an investment property is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair
and maintenance costs are expensed in the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is
reclassified as property, plant and equipment. At the date of
reclassification, its cost and accumulated depreciation are
transferred to property, plant and equipment and become
its cost and accumulated depreciation for accounting
purposes. If an owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property because its use has changed, it is
reclassified as investment property.

KREMEXFERHE T M RIEFPIA
PR RESERREAT WA EARAED
MEREMSA BUIFEHAERG
e

REYMERRAE (BEERRZ S M)
HMESHTER R RERRE (WAE) 7
ke

TERBEREINESHABES0EZ
EE R E A F MR EYEZ A -
HIREYEREESNREGS I KREE
g2 RUBDBSMUB E K P R Bl 28 o

ERRESRAMZ AREEN I8
MAREE > BZEB Z A FEH R 5
STER B EERBENRERE
XoPREEMEERFREREIREEZ
BB RS Bm R

HREMFEHEETER AEHLER
ME-BERRE-REFIEEH>
HAERAITENBREYXE - KF
K&t WARIR G 5T R A A H Al 2 E2
REtTE -HEZTERYERARERR
MlBREDFE AEMDER/REY
#,
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Right-of-use assets EHEEE
Opening net book amount FYEREFE
Additions RE

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34)
Depreciation (Note 7)

Impairment losses (Note (iii)
Transfer from investment

ireEE (NEE7)

properties (Note 16)

Lease modification MHEE:]
Disposal HE
Exchange differences FERERE
At 31 March M3A31H
Notes:

(i)

The Group leases various retail spaces and premises and
warehouses. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of 1 to 5 years but may have extension options. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The Group also leases
certain land use rights in Mainland. These land use rights are
leased for a period of between 16 and 51 years on which
plants and buildings of the Group are situated on.

Extension and termination options are included in a number of
leases across the Group. Most extension options in property
leases have not been included in the lease liabilities, because
the Group considers these terms are used to maximise
operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts and
assesses the exercise of extension options on a periodic
basis. During the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no
revisions of lease term due to the exercise of extension option
(2024: Nil).

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants and no
leased assets are used as security for borrowing purposes.

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

W B AR (MEE34)

EEETE (5 (i)
EEEREYE (:5316)

PIEE

(i)

2025 2024

HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FHT
1,346,143 670,058
392,998 976,793
- 21,200
(405,511) (347,186)
(6,462) -

= 53,203
(15,154) (2,031)
(7,580) -
(28,214) (25,894)
1,276,220 1,346,143

FEREESESREEHRMEN
kaE-HEGNEER/IESFZE
AR A ETE BRI
BRI BESETE AR
o AEBIF AMBES T LM
A ZF L MERAR BN F16
E51F WAEERE RIEFHE
o

AEENZEEEHEIEIERRE
IEBEIR R o KDY EE RAVIEER
BRERTRSFAREEE REAL
EEALZSERDBIENREES
HHERAEEMESEEEEE
W E HA PG T EIE RSB o R E
2025FE3H31HIEEE WA T
JEHA B M A E KR (2024
Fim) e

HERRLEEINERZE EEE
EETGAFEEZRRR-



Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment on retail store assets, including plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

During the year ended 31 March 2025, impairment losses
on property, plant and equipment of HK$6,805,000 (2024:
Nil) and right of-use assets of HK$6,462,000 (2024: Nil),
respectively, were recognised in ‘selling and distribution
costs” in the consolidated income statement. Details of the
impairment assessment are set out in Note 15.

Impairment on corporate assets, including property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (other than
retail store assets)

Impairment assessment was performed by measuring the
estimation of the recoverable amount of the Luk Fook Group.
As the result of the impairment assessment, the recoverable
amount of the Luk Fook Group calculated based on value-in-
use calculation exceeded its carrying amount, no impairment
is needed for the corporate assets as at 31 March 2025.
Details of the impairment assessment, including certain key
assumptions and sensitivity analysis, are set out in Note 15.

5T

(iii)

(iv)

(&)

TEEREE (OEBRERSHEUAR
ERAREE) RE
HE2025FE3H31HIEEE  Rird
BmaR o MHE R H A PR
¥ B R 55 R E 518 46,805,000
BT (20245 \8) "MEREEE
JRE 18 76,462,00078 7T (20244 :
) o BRI E ST AT 1B B M 5
150

ATEE (BIEVE -BERRZRHEU
REREEE (TEEHEERID))
WA
BERGDEBHENEBEENA
W (Bl BB & 51 1T o ARIR BB TG AS
B ANREEREREESENTIR
[o]& 28848 2 AR @ & > M 72202543
BB AT EEBHTRAMG AR
BEF GRS (BEE TRRRR
ESREE D) SR HIEE150
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The consolidated balance sheet shows the following
amount relating to the leases:

Right-of-use assets EREEE

Land use rights in Mainland (Note) PRz TR (5D
Properties leases MERE

Lease liabilities HEaR

Current TREN

Non-current JETRE)

Note:

The aggregate market values of the Group’s owner occupied
properties, classified as property, plant and equipment, and land
use rights in Mainland, classified as right-of-use assets, were
approximately HK$1,694,461,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$1,932,901,000), comparing to the carrying value of approximately
HK$1,644,839,000 (2024: HK$1,747,474,000). Such market values
are determined by an independent valuer, Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited who holds a recognised and relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in the location and category
of the land and buildings being valued, with comparison approach
(2024: AVF Corporate Valuation Advisory Limited).

As at 31 March 2025, recoverable amount based on fair value less
costs of disposal calculations of certain land use rights in Mainland
of Luk Fook Group are lower than their respective carrying amounts.
These land use rights are corporate assets of Luk Fook Group.
Impairment assessment was performed by measuring the estimation
of the recoverable amount of the Luk Fook Group. Based on the
result of the impairment assessment, the recoverable amount of
the Luk Fook Group calculated based on value-in-use calculation
exceeded its carrying amount, no impairment is needed for the
corporate assets as at 31 March 2025. Details of the impairment
assessment, including certain key assumptions and sensitivity
analysis, are set out in Note 15.

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

EEERXZFNUTARA

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAET
701,749 755,772
574,471 590,371
1,276,220 1,346,143
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THET
333,964 287,697
277,730 319,420
611,694 607,117

MI5E

R2025%3A31H  AEBMDIERME K
ERRENETFERAMEUARDEBAGER
WEEZRAMIMEREZETESLY
1,694,461,0003 7T (20244 : 1,932,901,000
Br) o IBHIREELN 51,644,839,0007 7T
(20244 :1,747,474,00087T) - BT E
BB EM G 2RI E B A ERAR
(AR REMBEEER URAEET
BT 2 (LB R AB R E R T A )
WHEBOEEE (20244 © HIE2 ¥ (ELH
BRAT) ©

R2025€E3A31H  ANEEENAMET -
165 A2 A A B R B R A 5T B R A] U
CESEENESENEEE %S itER
BAHNREBNQAREE RENEHEBR
FFEAREETREISENGHET IRIE
WEFEER NEEEREREESEN
AWElezEs R EREE 8522025538
31THMAREEBBHRRE - BRRET
EEEE (B1EE TRIBRR RBRE D)
BN



B
St

The consolidated income statement shows the

GEBEREIINTERAEAE
& 28

following amounts relating to the leases: Era I
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET TAET
Depreciation of right-of-use ERESEIRE
assets
Land use rights in Mainland PRz + AR 21,018 20,081
Properties leases MEHRE 384,493 327,105
405,511 347,186
Interest expense MBS GEAMKEER)
(included in finance costs) 40,761 23,954
Expense relating to short-term leases 52 HAFE SHRAR X
(included in selling and distribution GTAHE R HER)
costs) 1,164 1,283
Expense relating to variable lease Tt AEEEaE s
payments not included in lease Al E MBS
liabilities (included in selling and GIAEERDHER)
distribution costs) 170,243 187,587
For the year ended 31 March 2025, depreciation B E2025F3A31HILEEE b
of right-of-use assets of HK$405,511,000 (2024: B EIEL05,511,0008 7T
HK$347,186,000) was included in selling and (20244 : 347,186,000 1) 5T A
distribution costs. HERDIHER -
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cash HE2025FE3831HIEEE - HE
outflow for leases was HK$582,942,000 (2024: Z IRE M 48 8R 43582,942,00078
HK$532,308,000). 7T (20244 : 532,308,000/ 7T) ©
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Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar
economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs; and

o restoration costs.

HETHEEENHAEEERZ HiE
RBAERAREE THESARAR.

HEELEZEERGRYY LEREET
STE-HEREEEUTHEHEMRZ S
RE:

BEN R (BEEEBEENNR B
FEBWEEERS

BERE#EA R sl E %
(MPERRRAB AR ERN

FIEHE) ;

FFBEERTZAERBAHRE
HRIE 5

BEESEZITEER HEEE
BEMRETEZEER &

RIETBEPISZ Y Z 8Tk (HFA S
[ BR A £ 1T R s BE 1 AE) o

HENREABREMRRS ZF KT LU
R MEEEEZM R BIEAABEA
Z BB ERMF] R AAE A B LUHEE
RIS DUBLURRU R (B AT R
BEBEMBESMIOAIHIFR.

ERREERRAFE BENTEE:

HERRZYPETEE
ReRRte B BAS Z Bl PR F Z (2 R 78

B BRI Z EAEEE
o -

TR )

EEEERRE ; &

B -
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Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in consolidated income statement. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets comprise small items of office equipment.

(@) Variable lease payments
Estimation uncertainty arising from variable lease
payments
Some property leases contain variable payment terms
that are linked to sales generated from a store. For
individual stores, up to 100 percent of lease payments
are on the basis of variable payment terms and
there is a wide range of sales percentages applied.
Variable payment terms are used for a variety of
reasons, including minimising the fixed costs base
for newly established stores. Variable lease payments
that depend on sales are recognised in consolidated
income statement in the period in which the condition
that triggers those payments occurs.

(b) Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in
certain property and equipment leases across the
Group. These terms are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The
majority of extension and termination options held
are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is
a lessor is recognised in income statement on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred
in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the underlying asset and recognised as expenses
over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The
respective leased assets are included in the consolidated
balance sheet based on their nature.

ERAREE —RINEENRERFRK
B (UBREERE) AUEHETU
FE-HAERESERETEREREE
B RIERAREENEAEEN &R
FHRNTURE-

IS ERBEEEEREMER A
MUBBERGEREmRTEDBSH
X MR HAE R A 12E B 12
BRZEE -REEEESE/NEBRA

e R

(@) FIEAEER
PJEHA BB 1G5 T HE
4
BOMEHELIREHEEZ
i AR R = PTE{T RARTR © B
875 & &8 BRI & RIFRZE
EMEBERSIE100% I HK
BZEBRDttHEERE A
BUMERZREBZE > GiEfE
% I B 2 [B] 1 A4S £ U E &
R-BURMIHERRZ P 2 E I
RN R IR ERB AR
BIRmRPER

(b) MEFERILESRE
FEBZETYMERRFBEHER
SRERRIEEEZ EER - ZF
BERARTERAEN A ERKAR
EHiR SRS L TR
BoBHERKIEEEERERED
MAAEETRE MIFASEZHA
ANiTfiEe

AEBFAHBEANLCEHENHEER
AL EGER AR W m & A FESS o
EREEEEEENBERMAETA
TR E EBIREE > I /S AE B P9 LUFE 32
1B & W A BIE R A ZEFE D R B S o (8 Al
HEEERHUEEFAGRGEERR
*o
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Year ended 31 March 2024

Opening net book value

Acquisitions of subsidiaries
(Note 34)

Amortisation (Note)

Closing net book value
At 31 March 2024

Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Year ended 31 March 2025

Opening net book value
Amortisation (Note)

Closing net book value

At 31 March 2025
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Note:

#HE202453H31H
IEEE

HBYIERTE R E

UK BERS B AT
(M35¥34)

#ay (s

HARERTE 3B

4202453H31H
(%N
S geie

#HF2025%3H31H
ILEE

YR EF(E

iy ()

AR EREFE

420255 3H31H
%N
KRty

Amortisation expenses of HK$32,976,000 have been included in ‘cost of

sales’ (2024: HK$6,870,000).

Goodwill
[i5E
HK$’000
FHET

277,674

277,674

277,674

277,674

277,674

277,674

277,674

277,674

s -

Trademarks

i1
HK$’000
F#Ex

544,111
(6,870)

537,241

544,111
(6,870)

537,241

537,241
(32,976)

504,265

544,111
(39,846)

504,265

Total
st
HK$’000
Fi#n

821,785
(6,870)

814,915

821,785
(6,870)

814,915

814,915
(32,976)

781,939

821,785
(39,846)

781,939

#14395232,976,000/8 T E 5 A THE A A (2024
£ 6,870,000787T) ©
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Goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to CGUs for the purpose of impairment
testing. The allocation is made to those CGUs or groups
of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or
groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes,
being the operating segments.

Goodwill of the Group is monitored by management at the
level of an operating segment of 3DG. The following is a
summary of goodwill allocation for the operating segment of
3DG.

Ba

AETRENS BERSIEERTE
EEA -BEERARSETFTELEEDN
ER M aMNREEEBEMNRIR
SELEBMUMARN BAEMAER
HEEENHBEEETEENRERBR
BEEDEB) BE -

FEEHEHEEBRNEEEEEDH
BEHETHEZE - UTREEEZEDH
NEEDEREE-

HK$’000
THET

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024 420255 2024538310
Licensing Ry e 277,674

In accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”,
the recoverable amount of a CGU or group of CGUs is
determined based on the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal or value-in-use calculation.

Goodwill is allocated to the Licensing CGU of 3DG for the
purpose of impairment testing. Impairment assessment was
performed by measuring the estimation of the recoverable
amount of the Licensing CGU of 3DG. The recoverable
amount of the Licensing CGU of 3DG is estimated based
on value-in-use calculation using discounted cash flow
projection. The calculation uses a pre-tax cash flow forecast
covering a five-year period based on approved financial
budgets of 3DG. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the terminal growth rate stated below.
Certain key assumptions include average revenue growth
rate, terminal growth rate, gross profit margin, and discount
rate. Changes in assumptions or estimates could materially
affect the determination of the recoverable amount of the
Licensing CGU of 3DG, and therefore could eliminate the
excess of recoverable amount over carrying amount of the
Licensing CGU of 3DG entirely and, in some cases, could
result in impairment.

REEB G ERIFE365 EERE]
REELBUIREEEEMUAHRRA
Wy [o] s 2R TS AR # H 2 fo (8 Rl S A A 2
HERBETERSEEE

BENEESESNmMERREES
B LUETTRBAIE o BET &S
B EEEERMEBREELEUN
A El Gt ET T EEmEER
REELBANAWEEEEHERBI
HRERERAAREHABESEMbETo
FEREBEEESCEMEMBREESER
HERAFHAKRRAIRSRETARE T
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Goodwill (Continued)

Management has made reference to the valuation
reports issued by an independent valuer for the value-in-
use calculation of the Licensing CGU of 3DG. The key
assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as

follows:

31 March 2025
Average revenue growth rate (Note (i)
Average gross profit margin rate

Terminal growth rate (Note (ii))
Discount rate (Note (iii))
31 March 2024

Average revenue growth rate (Note (i)
Average gross profit margin rate

Terminal growth rate (Note (i)
Discount rate (Note (iii))

Notes:

*202553H31H

e (8

EEEENEEEnMERREELS
UNEREEESEBUGEMHA
BEERS - EREENEAMANE

W

FHWAERE (M)

FHER

KRB RER (MY EE)

ITIRE (B EE(i)

14202453H31H

FHWAERER (EE))

TER %

IKAEIE R (MY 5E())

IR (B EEG)

(i) Average revenue growth rates cover a five-year forecast period. They
are based on the past performance and management’s expectations

on market development.

(i) The terminal growth rates do not exceed the long-term average

growth rate of the business in which the CGU operates.

(iii) Pre-tax discount rates are applied to the pre-tax cash flow forecasts.

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of
the Licensing CGU of 3DG. Management determined
the financial forecast based on past performance and its
expectations for the market development. The discount
rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the

Licensing segment.
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Goodwill (Continued)

In the Licensing CGU of 3DG, the recoverable amount
calculated based on value-in-use of HK$724,071,000
(2024: HK$887,223,000) exceeded the carrying amount by
HK$75,087,000 (2024: HK$235,109,000) as at 31 March
2025. A fall in average revenue growth rate to 35%, a fall in
gross profit margin rate to 55%, a fall in terminal growth rate
to 1%, or a rise in discount rate to 12%, all changes taken
in isolation, would remove the remaining headroom (2024 a
fall in average revenue growth rate to 37%, a fall in average
gross profit margin rate to 24%, a fall in terminal growth rate
to -0.2%, or a rise in discount rate to 15%).

The results of the impairment tests undertaken as at 31
March 2025 and 2024 indicated no impairment charge
was necessary for the goodwill of the Group. In performing
the impairment tests for the goodwill, management has
considered and assessed reasonably possible changes for
key assumptions and has not identified any instance that
could cause the recoverable amount of the Licensing CGU
of 3DG to fall below its carrying amount.

Trademarks

For the purpose of impairment testing of trademarks, the
Group identified () Retaiing — Hong Kong, (i) Retailing —
Mainland, (iiij Wholesaling — Mainland, and (iv) Licensing
of 3DG as 4 separate group of CGUs or CGU as the
businesses of each group of CGUs or CGU of 3DG are with
separate customer bases and market focuses. Management
performed impairment assessments for all 4 groups of
CGUs or CGUs as there are impairment indicators.

In accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”,
the recoverable amount of a CGU or group of CGUs is
determined based on the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal or value-in-use calculation.

EE (@

R2025F3H31H MEEERIEXETE
HeELBENUMs  RERAEETE
R BT U [E] £ 28724,07 1,000 75 (2024
£ 1887,223,000% T) BHEREE
75,087,000 7T ( 20244F : 235,109,000
BT o HIFHRALERTEEIS%
EFRTBRESSY  KEEEXTRE
1%IITIRE EFAE12% FREERE

B HBRRIGREE = E (20244 1 F1Y
WA ERTREEI% FHEFNRT
FEZE24%  XEIMEETEE-0.2% o
WIRE LFHE15%) ©

20255 202453831 HETHRE
IRERRE ~AEEBEEETRR
BEEE - NETEEAENSR S8
8 B & Rl 5T (& B R R BV & 12 0 e
B BUEERAMIEENESEE R
EERIRSELBMNEISBETRE
BEREREENIER

[k

METEERENZMsS  ~EBS
ZEHONZE-FE (IS E — K- (i)
- A KR (ivEEE MR EFRHR A
MEBIIIREEEEMUARNNIRSESE
B RRASZEESREESEUA
AR EEEEMUERARERILER
BATEBER AREERESNR &
EEH2BERsEEEMARNIR
SESBUETREN G

RiEE B ERBE36R EERME
ReELBUNREELEBUMERNA
s [o] £ REFEIZ A A E R H & A SR
BESFETRSEEE-
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Trademarks (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the recoverable amounts of these
trademarks were estimated based on fair value less costs of
disposal (2024: value-in-use) calculations using discounted
cash flow projections. Such projection covered a 15.5-
year period, aligning with the remaining useful life of the
relevant trademarks. These calculations use post-tax cash
flow forecast covering a five-year period based on approved
financial budgets of 3DG, Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using revenue growth rate for 6th
to 15.5th year stated below (2024: terminal growth rate).
Certain key assumptions include average revenue growth
rate for 1st to 5th year, revenue growth rate for 6th to
15.5th year, average gross profit margin rate, and discount
rate (2024: average revenue growth, terminal growth
rate, average gross profit margin rate, and discount rate).
Changes in assumptions or estimates could materially affect
the determination of the recoverable amounts of a group of
CGUs or CGU, and therefore could eliminate the excess of
recoverable amounts over carrying amounts of a group of
CGUs or CGU entirely and, in some cases, could result in
impairment. The fair value less costs of disposal calculations
of these trademarks are categorised within level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy in accordance with HKFRS 13.

Bz (@

R2025F3H31H  ZEMEN A U [E]
SBLIREBEAABREERAK (2024
F I FERER FRITRERERETEG
o ZFEAIHE15.5FH  BARRI R IZH
FRFEARFR R -ZEHAENERSE
ZEEHENMBREEGERREAFEDN
BRREREAEEAN AFEENIERER
SR TXFRtE6E15.5FM R AL
FE (202445 | KB EXR) HH - BT
REREBIES1EFSEN TR AL
B FH6E155FHNBAEREE  FHHE
FERITIRE (202445 : FHW AL £
KBIEEE N FHEANERITRE) o R
R AT e e IR EL BN
AR IR EEBANT RO EENE
EEEEAFE AILTET T2 HGE
HEeEEBUARNNIRESELEBUNA
Bl & 288 HEREEN I D WEZL D
BRI ERRE RIEE B HBREE
AEE135E > ZE/ENARBERBE K
Rt BERDEARNANERBRIIEMR
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Trademarks (Continued)

Management has made reference to the valuation report
issued by an independent valuer for the calculation of
the recoverable amounts of these trademarks. The key
assumptions used for recoverable amount calculations are
as follows:

Retailing -
Hong Kong
TE-FE
31 March 2025 2025%3H31H
Fair value less costs of AREREEMREFE

disposal calculation
Average revenue growth rate for F1ZE SE5EHIFHURA

1st to 5th year (Note (i) 1BEE (5E() 12%
Average gross profit margin rate FIEF|E 33%
Revenue growth rate for 6thto ~ 56ZE15.5FHIUIA

15.5th year (Note (i) 18R (k) 3%
Discount rate (Note (i) IR (B k(i) 1%
31 March 2024 2024%3R31H
Value-in-use calculation EHEENE
Average revenue growth rate  FIHU AL E R (i 5H()

(Note (i) 37%
Average gross profit margin rate FIEFE 28%
Terminal growth rate (Note (i) K&EIEER (i) 3%
Discount rate (Note (v)) HERE (MaEv) 12%
Notes:

(i) Average revenue growth rates cover a five-year forecast period. They

are based on the past performance and management’s expectations
on market development.

(i) The revenue growth rates for 6th to 15.5th year or terminal growth
rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rate of the
business in which the groups of CGUs or CGUs operate.

(iii) Discount rates are applied to the post-tax cash flow forecasts.

(iv) Pre-tax discount rates are applied to the pre-tax cash flow forecasts.

EiR (8
EEEEMZEBRIWEERAES
ERUEEMEANGERS - ATWE
TR ERANERERRNT

Retailing -  Wholesaling -

Mainland Mainland Licensing
TE-Rith # 3 —posth MRS
24% 41% 39%
30% 13% 60%
2% 3% 2%
11% 11% 11%
25% 41% 46%
28% 13% 30%
3% 3% 3%
12% 12% 12%
B 5E -

0} FHWAEREFRERLFEAR DERB
FRBREEBHHISERNTER-

() HEEI5EMRAMEFAKEREET
BB EE BRI AR E L B
CEEBNERTIRER.

i) EARBRERSTEEINFTEE-

(v FERRBRAIBESRBRANBRATER

o
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Trademarks (Continued)

These assumptions and parameters have been used for the
analysis of each group of CGUs or CGU within the operating
segments of 3DG. Management determined the financial
forecasts based on past performance and its expectations
for the market development. The discount rates used reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

In the Retailing — Hong Kong group of CGUs of 3DG, the
recoverable amount of the relevant trademarks calculated
based on fair value less costs of disposal (2024 value-in-
use) calculation of HK$79,976,000 (2024: HK$312,562,000)
exceeded the carrying amount by HK$24,186,000 (2024:
HK$5,271,000) as at 31 March 2025. A fall in average
revenue growth rate for 1st to 5th year to 7%, a fall in
average gross profit margin rate to 32%, a fall in revenue
growth rate for 6th to 15.5th year to -4%, or a rise in
discount rate to 14%, all changes taken in isolation, would
remove the remaining headroom (2024: a fall in average
revenue growth rate to 36%, a fall in average gross profit
margin rate to 27%, a fall in terminal growth rate to 3%, or a
rise in discount rate to 13%).

In the Retailing — Mainland group of CGUs of 3DG,
the recoverable amount of the relevant trademarks
calculated based on fair value less costs of disposal
(2024: value-in-use) calculation of HK$742,506,000 (2024:
HK$823,116,000) exceeded the carrying amount by
HK$550,679,000 (2024: HK$136,141,000) as at 31 March
2025. A fall in average revenue growth rate for 1st to 5th
year to -0.3%, a fall in average gross profit margin rate to
24%, a fall in revenue growth rate for 6th to 15.5th year to
-82%, or a rise in discount rate to 37%, all changes taken
in isolation, would remove the remaining headroom (2024 a
fall in average revenue growth rate to 21%, a fall in average
gross profit margin rate to 27%, a fall in terminal growth rate
to -1%, or a rise in discount rate to 14%).

EiR (8
ZEBRRBBEARDMEEGEE
DBAZREELEMERNNREEE
B -BEEERBEETRERANTIES
ERNFEREEM B -FRERTER
K [ Bk E248 RE] 23 BB AR R A 455 E LB o

MEEENTE-SERSELBMMA
AME  R2025FE3831 A A ER
HERA (20245 : FEREE) sTEW
1B RE A28y o] (o] Uk £ 2879,976,00078 75
(20244F : 312,562,000 7T) B HIRE
824,186,00078 75 (20244 © 5,271,000
BIT) o WEIEFSENFHRAEER
EREET% FHEHETEEI2%
F6E15.5FHNWNAIE EE T EE-4%IL
WX LFAFE14% FAEBEBEeHEE
SHBRFIGRAYF 2ME (20245 @ FHWA
MERTHREIY  FHEMNRTHRE
27% KB ERETEEI%BHITIRE L
FZE13%) ©

20254 3831H MEEENE
E-RmMREcELEEUANmS
BARBEREERA (2024F 1 FH
BE) tENAEEEEN TGO K38
742,506,00078 75 (20244F : 823,116,000
Bt) BHREES50,679,0008 7T
(20244 : 136,141,000 7T) © fi4
F1IEFESFNFHBAEREETR
E-0.3% FHEHNEXTEE24%
EOE1I5.6FMNKAEBEERTESRE
-82%WITIRE L FAE37% FREERE
B HBRTIGRAE =ME (20246 @ F
HWAEERTREE21% FHEFH X
TRERE27T% KB REETHEE-1%3
WIRE EFHFE14%) ©
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Trademarks (Continued)

In the Wholesaling — Mainland CGU of 3DG, the recoverable
amount of the relevant trademarks calculated based on fair
value less costs of disposal (2024: value-in-use) calculation
of HK$78,749,000 (2024: HK$102,554,000) exceeded the
carrying amount by HK$54,387,000 (2024: HK$26,718,000)
as at 31 March 2025. A fall in average revenue growth rate
for 1st to 5th year to 11%, a fall in average gross profit
margin rate to 8%, a fall in revenue growth rate for 6th to
15.5th year to -53%, or a rise in discount rate to 29%, all
changes taken in isolation, would remove the remaining
headroom (2024: a fall in average revenue growth rate
to 33%, a fall in gross profit margin rate to 12%, a fall in
terminal growth rate to -3%, or a rise in discount rate to
15%).

In the Licensing CGU of 3DG, the recoverable amount
of the relevant trademarks calculated based on fair value
less costs of disposal (2024: value-in-use) calculation of
HK$422,177,000 (2024: HK$887,223,000) exceeded
the carrying amount by HK$189,891,000 (2024:
HK$235,109,000) as at 31 March 2025. A fall in average
revenue growth rate for 1st to 5th year to 22%, a fall in
average gross profit margin rate to 39%, a fall in revenue
growth rate for 6th to 15.5th year to -22%, or a rise in
discount rate to 20%, all changes taken in isolation, would
remove the remaining headroom (2024: a fall in average
revenue growth rate to 37%, a fall in gross profit margin rate
to 24%, a fall in terminal growth rate to -0.2%, or a rise in
discount rate to 15%).

The results of the impairment tests undertaken as at 31
March 2025 and 2024 indicated no impairment charge was
necessary for the trademarks of the Group. In performing
the impairment tests for these trademarks, management
has considered and assessed reasonably possible changes
for key assumptions and has not identified any instance that
could cause the recoverable amounts of the trademarks to
fall below their respective carrying amounts.

Bz (@

R2025F3B31H MEEE AL ZE—
AMMIREELBEMUMES > 202543
B31HEAABRHERZK (2024
FIFEAER) CTENERBEDN
B[Oy £ %878,749,000% 7T (2024
£ 102,554,000 T) BHEEE
54,387,000 7T ( 20244 : 26,718,000
BIT) cMBE1IEFSENFHUW AL
EXTEREI1% FHEMNEXTHRE
8% FHOE15.5FHNWAEEETEE
-53% I ITIRE FFHFE29% > Fi A B IEE
e R TIGREIF B (20244 @ F
BHIRAE EETEEIZ%  EFIET[E
F12%  KBIBEEXTEE-3%HITIR
K EHE15%) ©

FR2025%3831H  MEEE M MIEE
BIRTELBUMS  BRAABRKEE
B AR (20244  FREE) stEAERE
1Z Ry ] [B] W £ 5E422,177,00078 7 (2024
£ :887,223,000%t) BHEKREE
189,891,000 7T, (20244 : 235,109,000
BT MBI EESENFHRALRE
TRERE2% FHEMNETEEII%
FEOE15.5FNBAEEXRTEE-22%

GHBRSRAFETE (20245 1 ¥
WA EXRTBREIT%  EMRTEE
24% N KB RE TIEE-0.2% W ITIRE
EFFE15%) o

20255 202453831 HETHRE
RERBEN ~NEEEIZE AR
ERE RETZERERENHAR
EEEEE BRI EARRENGER
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(a)

(b)

(c)

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included
in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Trademarks

Intangible assets other than goodwill, including
trademarks, are measured initially at cost or, if
acquired in a business combination, fair value at the
acquisition date. An intangible asset with a finite useful
life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful
life as follows and carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Trademarks 16.5 years

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Other non-financial assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value-in-use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

(a)

(b)

(c)
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2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
As at 1 April r4B1H - -
Remeasurement upon step acquisition B INBEBRENTE - 204,478
Transfer to subsidiaries upon step acquisition & & Wi BT B A S
(Note 34) (Fi534) - (204,478)
As at 31 March 3H31H - -
Note: P 5T
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group acquired 79.39% of the HE2024F3831HIEFE AEANRESES
issued shares of 3DG, which represented 39.70% of effective capital of CGS BEETRMPNTI% HFEEEERELRDN
and thus the Group is able to exercise control over CGS. As a result, CGS 39.70% > A Ith A & [ At ¥ R Bl S SR T B I #E o
ceased to be an associate and CGS and its subsidiaries became non-wholly It FEESIRFBABE AR PEEIRAENB
owned subsidiaries of the Group since then. Refer to Note 34 and Note 38 NEIBUERAERERNIEZENB AR 55155
for details. B 5E34 5 i 5138 ©
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FR7 FE
Current assets MENEE
Structured bank deposit (Note (i) ERERITIERR (BTEEG) 77,510 -
Current liabilities mENE (R
Foreign exchange forward contracts (Note (i) ZMNEEHIS AT (B 5E(i)) - 8
Notes: B 5E
0} As at 31 March 2025, the Group has placed a USD denominated () 20255 3A331H  AEBMEBFA—FMUE
foreign exchange linked structured bank deposit with maturity less sHEA I E D 1E R B INER RS
than 1 month. MIRTTFR
(ii) As at 31 March 2024, the notional amount of the outstanding foreign (i 1202453 R8310 > RFRIINERBEHZ
exchange forward contracts represented RMB denominated foreign LEREFBIEUARBHEZIIEEREH
exchange forward contracts of HK$1,668,000. 1,668,000 7T ©
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2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT THET
At 1 April R481H - 788
Net fair value gain recorded in equity REmARZ ARERR
(Note 28) %8 (f1EE28) - 655
Deemed disposal upon acquisition of WEEM B AR BRIEHE
subsidiaries (Note 34) (F5E34) - (1,443)
At 31 March M3A31H = -
As at 31 March 2024, financial assets at fair value through 2024538310 ' A AREST AEHM
other comprehensive income represent the Group’s 2HBAZ ERHEEIENEB T
investment in common shares issued by 3DG listed on the I EEERET o EERIKRE -
Stock Exchange. The financial assets at fair value through BAnEst ARth2ERAZ EMEE
other comprehensive income are denominated in HK$ and DB TTEHE IR A EFER

stated at fair values.
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Non-current JEBNHA
Rental deposits HeZs
Prepayments FE{TERIE
Other receivables arose from prior LHHE—KKBRE
disposal of a subsidiary (Note (i) B4z HEEWERIE
(B %))
Current EPHA
Rental deposits HeEEe
Other deposits Hihies
Value-added tax recoverable EERE =
Prepayments FA{TERIE
Subsidy receivables from a municipal RERHEBT Z
government in Mainland FE A A5 Bl
Other receivables arose from prior EHHE—KIB AT
disposal of a subsidiary (Note (i) B4z HEEWERIE
(BT EG))
Other receivables from licensees (Note (i) 2K B Sa b8 7 =~ EthFELR
BRIE (B 5E (i)
Other receivables HEUR RIS
Notes: B 5T
(i) As at 31 March 2025, the other receivables arose from prior disposal (i)

of a subsidiary represent the balances due from a licensee upon
the completion of disposal of a subsidiary in 2020. The receivables
are interest-free, repayable on demand, and secured by collaterals
including certain properties located in Mainland (2024: Same).

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
74,531 91,485

2,551 2,568

- 8,997
77,082 103,050
66,635 43,007
42,739 41,704
218,975 110,068
56,216 70,814
- 18,735
24,835 16,002
19,348 33,164
57,203 33,101
485,951 366,595
563,033 469,645

20255438318 LAIHE —RME AT
EEZ HEWIRIEISE20204F & — KM
B AT ER—R RG24 kR o % IE
WIRTEA %2 AR EREE TLUEER

(BEMRAMZETYE) FIRE (2024
£ AER) -
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Notes: (Continued)

(i)

As at 31 March 2025, trading facilities in aggregate of
RMB18,180,000 (equivalent to HK$19,348,000) were made available
to the licensees in purchases of inventories from the Group or other
destinated external suppliers (2024: RMB30,760,000 (equivalent to
HK$33,164,000)). The facilities bear interest at 6.00% (2024: same)
per annum and are secured by collaterals including certain properties
located in Mainland, inventories of the licensees’ retail shops, equity
interests of certain private entities and cash deposits received from
the relevant licensees, which were classified under ‘trade payables,
other payables and accruals’ (2024: Same).

As at 31 March 2025, HK$19,348,000 trading facilities were utilised
by the licensees (2024: HK$33,164,000). These receivables bear
interest at 6.00% (2024: same) per annum with a maturity of 6
months (2024: same) from the date of inception. Such balances
were pledged with cash deposits received from the relevant licensees
totalling HK$24,237,000 which were classified under ‘trade payables,
other payables and accruals’ (2024: HK$40,848,000).

The carrying amounts of deposits, prepayments and
other receivables approximate their fair values and are
denominated in the following currencies:

HKS$ BT
RMB AR
MOP BT
Other currencies Hhgk

Details of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arisen from
other receivables, risk management and the expected credit
loss assessment are disclosed in Note 3.

Myt : (&)

(i) 202538310 REEAAERRHE
MisENEHIEE R EE SR EIRME
B5m&E%E ARE18,180,0007t (4
E17219,348,0008 50) (2024%F | AR
30,760,0007T (1R E#433,164,000587T)) ° %
£ BB IR6.00% (20244 : 8[E) 2 ERIKE
B LURE R (BN At 2 ETHE-
REETERMCEE - BETAASEZ
RiEREEEAREERR RS (FIE
W Hh DS TEZ MRS HEL SR
B FESTE R (20244 © #HE) ©

22025538310 RIEEEB 2 EZME
#97519,348,00078 75 ( 20244 : 33,164,000
FBIT) o ZEEUARTEIRET)Z6.00% (2024
FAER) 58 > BB BEREt6@E A (2024
F 1 HEE) B - BRI B BRI RARE UK
Bz IRE$ e 4 24,237,000 7T EHE >
Hh D45 T8 3 A HIE  HiE 8
R FEsTE ) (20244 © 40,848,000787T) °

Be FAMREREMEWIREZ RE
EHEAEAANERE WA TIEBEE:

2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FET
126,297 132,505
356,979 266,054
60,423 58,468
19,334 12,618
563,033 469,645

AEBEFAAZZ HMBUWREBEEEZ S
ERE RBREERBHREEBETG
2 5F B EESP K ER
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The inventories net of provision are as follows:

Finished goods & pk
Raw materials By vt

At 31 March 2025, inventories carried at net realisable value
amounted to approximately HK$1,293,832,000 (2024:
HK$1,200,610,000). As at 31 March 2025, the Group
recognised inventory provision of HK$138,581,000 (2024:
HK$120,878,000), resulted in inventory provision charge
amounting to HK$17,703,000 (2024: HK$35,087,000)
included in ‘cost of sales’ in the consolidated income
statement.

Inventories, comprise raw materials and finished goods,
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. The
cost of finished goods comprises raw materials, direct
labour and other direct costs. It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

Trade receivables B 5 ERERIE
Less: Allowance for impairment of

trade receivables B 5

B SRR R (E

HBEzFawT !

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
10,738,380 9,565,187
147 1,875
10,738,527 9,567,062

R2025F3H31H » & A] &R FES R
217 E#7%41,293,832,0005 75 (2024
£ :1,200,610,0007870) ° 12025534
310 AEEERF SR #138,581,000
HIT (20244F : 120,878,000 7T) » B
FEEERS 17,703,000/ 7 (20244 :
35,087,000/ 7T) » Wt ARS8 E
Z EHERA ©

FE (BEEMEREMS) BDEAE
BEEERFEME ZBREESER MK
AERBIRASHEEE - AL AE
BERMAMBRE TAREMBERZR
Ao ERBIEERAN A AT E T FETY
BRAEXEBBERTZAFEERER
ZRJEHEER-

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TAT
294,596 265,825
(795) (52)
293,801 265,773
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The Group’s sales comprised mainly cash sales and credit
card sales to retail customers and sales to licensees.
Concessionaire sales through department stores, sales
through e-commerce platforms and sales to wholesale
customers are generally on credit terms ranging from 0 to
90 days. The ageing of trade receivables, based on invoice
date, is as follows:

0 - 30 days 0ZE30H
31 - 60 days 31E60H
61 — 90 days 61F90H
91 - 120 days 91Z2120H
Over 120 days 8381208

Less: Allowance for impairment of
trade receivables B

The carrying amounts of trade receivables net of allowance
for impairment approximate their fair values and are
denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ T
RMB AR
MOP BPITT
Other currencies HhE

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which use a lifetime
expected loss model for all trade receivables. The Group
does not hold any collateral for its trade receivables. Details
of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arisen from trade
receivables, risk management and the expected credit loss
assessment are disclosed in Note 3.

The provision and reversal of provision for impaired
receivables was charged and credited to the consolidated
income statement. Amounts charged to the allowance
account are generally written off when there is no
expectation of recovering the amount.

B SR ERIER(E

FERBHETZOENTERRZRE
HERERAFHERNREBZHE -
BEBSRFHE - EBFTAHEENRD
HEEFPHEZEEH RN F0EWD
H-BZRUWRRZEZAAZREN
o

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
238,918 221,341
33,222 24,799
14,382 14,339
6,099 4,412
1,975 934
294,596 265,825
(795) (52)
293,801 265,773

MR ERERNEZBEIRBZRE
BEARAANERE LA THEEHE:

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
39,139 41,564
226,038 198,278
19,087 18,071
9,537 7,860
293,801 265,773

AEERAEBUYHREENFORMG
LAt ERMEERER HBfBEES
FEWERIESR B 2 HATR AR IR AL - K&
B R H B 7 R W ARIB R A IR T
meoREEMAR B RWIRIAEL
ZEERE RBREERBHREERR
Sl Z FFIB I B sESP I B

sHE R B EBIE R ERWERBEZ BHT I
FEREKRMRILA - BRI EI
O EERNGZ AR ZEEBEE
T LU o
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Short-term bank deposits, with maturities ~ ZIEEE/DR3ER =~

less than 3 months FRHRERITER
Cash at bank and on hand IRTTIRERFRRES
Cash and cash equivalents HEMREEEY
Restricted bank deposits, for certain ZIRBIIRITERBR

banking arrangement aTiRITLHE

Bank deposits, with maturities more than ~ Z|HAHB@E3E S =

3 months RITHER
Total cash and bank balances
Maximum exposure to credit risk mEEERR
As at 31 March 2025, the cash and cash equivalents
denominated in RMB, amounting to approximately
HK$539,590,000 (2024: HK$1,095,078,000), are held
by the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland. The conversion
of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies is
subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by Mainland government.

As at 31 March 2025, short-term bank deposits
with maturities less than 3 months, amounting to
HK$500,000,000 (2024: HK$146,761,000). The interest
rates of the short-term deposits ranged from 3.55% to
3.60% (2024: 2.70% to 5.33%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2025, there are bank deposits
with maturities more than 3 months, amounting to
HK$53,150,000 (2024: HK$53,500,000) bear an average
interest rate of 3.15% (2024: Same) per annum.

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances
approximate their fair values, and are denominated in the
following currencies:

HKS$ BT
RMB AR
usD ETT
MOP BT
Other currencies Hihg &

RBE RIRTTHERRABER

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
500,000 146,761
1,360,836 1,783,850
1,860,836 1,930,611
- 14,108

53,150 53,500
1,913,986 1,998,219
1,873,949 1,959,611

20253831 H  MARKEZ
HE&MIBEEFBEYA539,590,00078 7T
(20244 : 1,095,078,0003& 70) JH H A
ERRAMZIB AT - BHZEU
AR EZ EHRREBINEBETA
BT P D8 5 2 SN EE & 1 AR BY Ko 7R 451) o

7202538310 BIEAH DR3ER =

DHASR 1T 730 4500,000,0007 7T (2024
£ 1146,761,00078 7T) ° SR EATERV LA EF)
TN F3.55%FE3.60% (20244 : 2.70%
ZF5.33%) 5tE e

7202543831 H » BIHAHBB3ME A K
SR1TF N A53,150,000/ 7T (20244 :
53,500,000 7T) * FHEF)EA3.15%
(20244 : #8[A)) ©

RERRITEFRZIREEZEQAER
WL EEEHE !

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT THETT
1,026,824 402,759
539,590 1,092,020
220,117 258,416
77,506 70,090
49,949 174,934
1,913,986 1,998,219
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The above figures reconcile to the amount of cash shown in
the statement of cash flows at the end of the financial year

as follows:

Balances as above
Less: restricted bank deposits,
for certain banking arrangement
Less: bank deposits, with maturities
more than 3 months

Trade payables

Deposits from customers and licensees
Salaries and welfare payables

Other payables

Accrued expenses

PHBBREAMRFERRERERT

HIRESSEEHRW T ©
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHEx
itadeR 1,913,986 1,998,219
B RREERTTER AR
B TIRITZHE - (14,108)
BRI HBE=EEN
RITFENR (53,150) (53,500)
1,860,836 1,930,611
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#ET FAET
B 2B IRIE 248,291 177,651
REELARMEEZZE 611,395 628,265
FET & R @F 157,132 262,948
HihfE(TARIE 184,589 140,200
FEStE R 11,847 17,750
1,213,254 1,226,814

The ageing of trade payables, based on invoice date, is as

follows:

0 - 30 days
31 - 60 days
61 — 90 days
91 - 120 days
Over 120 days

0ZE30H
31Z60H
61%E90H
91E120H
#BiB120H

The carrying amounts of the trade payables, other payables

and accruals approximate their fair values.

BERUREREZAMHZIRENT :

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
231,099 170,476
15,224 5,634
1,145 844
324 109

499 588
248,291 177,651

B 5 R IRIE  HthE (I ARIB R EET R
BZ REEREARERSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
bR SRR MY 5

27 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 27 BAEKRRGEE
(@) Share capital (a) B
2025 2024
No. of shares HK$'000  No. of shares HK$'000
LaRE G FER E G FTHET
Authorised: AT
Ordinary shares of EREEIBTZ
HK$0.1 each B 800,000,000 80,000 800,000,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
Ordinary shares of EREEIBTZ
HK$0.1 each TER 587,107,850 58,710 587,107,850 58,710
(b) Share premium (b) BRIPEE
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FET
At 31 March *3H31H 2,494,040 2,494,040
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28

211

RESERVES 28 f#ffE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
Capital income
Capital redemption revaluation Exchange Statutory Other Retained
resene resene resenve resenve Teserves resenves earnings Total
BAREEHA
el ON
ZEREE
Exith  ERBERE EXnY EREE EEEE Atk RERF e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Fin TR TR TR Tin TR TR
Note)  (Note(y) (Note i) Note i)
(GE) (H5E0)) (GE) (It 32)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE20453A31ALERE
As at 1 April 2023 1202354518 135,713 200 (11,236) (171,217) 112,315 17,569 9,085,346 9,668,690
Comprehensive income 2EHA
Profit attributable to equity holders KATERHEAEGER
of the Company - - - - - - 1,767,305 1,767,305
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ Eft2ERA / (Hi8)
Exchange differences on translation of BEBINEENEREE
foreign operations - - - (382,089) - - - (382,089
Revaluation of financial assets at fairvalue B2 A B AEMZERAZ
through other comprehensive income SHEEEMR (1)
(Note 21) - - 655 - - - - 655
Remeasurement of employee benefit BERNEFNENHE (H:0)
obligations (Note 30) - - - - - - 3487 3487
Total comprehensive income/(loss)  2EAIKA / (548) - - 655 (382,089) - -T2 1,389,358
Transfer to retained eamings on deemed ~ EHEERAA B AR
disposal of equity investments at 2ANAZRERERER
fair value through other comprehensive REBA (H:21)
income (Note 21) - - 10,581 - - - (10,581) -
Transactions with owners AEEAZRS
2022/23 final dividend paid Bf02/BEERERE - - - - - - (322,909) (322,909)
2023/24 interim divicend paid Bf2023uEERERE - - - - - - (422,718) (422,718)
2023/24 special interim dividend provided 2023/ 4 E BRI DR B
for (Note (v) (FizEw) - - - - 36,326 (28,404) 7922
Profit appropriations il - - - - 3,139 - (3,139 -
Reclassffication of exchange difference BENE-BAEEATEED
arising from step acquisiion of a prior EREBNEFNE (H:34)
associate (Note 34) - - - 17,767 - - - 17,767
- - - 17,767 3139 36,326 (777,170) (719,938)
At 31 March 2024 12024538318 135,713 200 - (535,539) 115,454 53,8% 10,568,387 10,338,110
Representing: b
Reserves (excluded proposed dividend)  BEf (FEIEERRE) 135,713 200 - (535,539) 115,454 53895 10,192,638 9,962,361
Proposed final dividend (Note 12) HERERE (H:12) - - - - - - 375,749 375,749
At 31 March 2024 12024535318 135,713 200 - (535,539) 115,454 53895 10,568,387 10,338,110
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
As at 1 April 2024

Comprehensive income
Profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company
Other comprehensive loss
Exchange differences on tranlation of
foreign operations
Remeasurement of employee benefit
obligations (Note 30)

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
Transactions with owners

2023/24 final dividend paid
2024/25 interim dividend paid

At 31 March 2025

Representing:
Reserves (excluded proposed dividend)
Proposed final dividend (Note 12)

At 31 March 2025

HEN2BFIABLEE
1200454518

2ERA
FRRRLFAE ARG ER

Rth2EGH
BEENEBREREE

{EEEFBANENHE (:30)

2EABA/ ()

BREAZRS
B0y uEERBRE
Bff2024/25EERERE

20053318

&
fEf (FRERIRE)
RRRERE (512)

1R202653A318

Capital
reserve

Bnfife
HK$'000

Tén
(Note (i)
(GE)

135,713

135,713

135,713

135,713

Capital
redemption
reserve

ASREGE
HK$'000
TiEn

(Note (iv)
(HtzE ()

200

200

200

200

Financial
assets

at fair value
through
other
comprehensive
income
revaluation
reserve
BAREHA
Rh2ERA
A 1113
Efifi
HK$'000
TiEn

Exchange
reserve

ER i
HK$'000
TiEn

(535,539)

(86,506)

(86,506)

(622,045)

(622,045)

(622,045)
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Statutory
reserves

-1 ]
HK$'000

TER
(Note (i)
(M5

115,454

115,454

115,454

115,454

Other
reserves

Eihfite
HK$'000
TR
(Note (ii)
(GE)]

53,895

53,895

53,895

53,895

Retained
earnings

REER
HK$000
FEn

10,568,387

1,099,864

2519)
1,007,351

(375,749)
(322,909)

(698,658)

10,967,080

10,644,171
322,909

10,967,080

Total

aE
HK$'000
TR

10,338,110

1,099,864

(86,506)

(2513)
1,010,845

(375,749)
(322,909)

(698,658)

10,650,207

10,327,388
322,909

10,650,207



Notes:

(i)

(i)

)

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

The capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at
the time of the Group’s reorganisation in 1997.

Statutory reserves of the relevant Mainland subsidiaries are non-
distributable and the transfers of these funds are determined in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland.

Other reserve represents the differences between the fair value of the
consideration paid and carrying amount of additional equity interests
acquired in non-wholly owned subsidiaries and the differences
between the fair value of the issued shares of 3DG under distribution
and the change in the carrying amount of non-controlling interest of
3DG.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group purchased
2,000,000 of its shares on the Stock Exchange at a total
consideration of HK$29,143,000. All the repurchased shares were
cancelled and the issued share capital of the Group was reduced by
the nominal value of these shares accordingly. The premium paid on
repurchase was charged against the share premium of the Company.
An amount equivalent to the nominal value of the shares cancelled
was transferred from retained earnings to the capital redemption
reserve.

On 28 March 2024, the Group provided for a special interim dividend
in form of a distribution in specie of 24,071,422 issued shares of 3DG.
Such change in ownership interest of 3DG that does not result in a
loss of control was considered an equity transaction. The identifiable
net liabilities of 3DG (including goodwill) remain unchanged, and any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest
is recorded and the fair value of the distribution shares is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the controlling interest. The change
in the non-controlling interest was recorded at its proportionate
interest of the carrying value of 3DG.

5T -

(i)

(i)

)

REBZERFBEEAERNI097TEEMR
<5 P ST B8 B 85 2 ) =2 AR 17 T 18 2 Wi S 3
TARBRNZEEMERZER

HARAPY 0 B 2 B 0K R R T R AT
W B RUE TS 1R 38 P AR R R AR
RIE

HiEREENREZAAEREIFEE
MEABWBENERINRAREREEZE
BRAOKREEGEZRTROZANERS
EOREREDRIMELS BEE-.

REZE20165F3B31HIEFE > AL
MHE29,143,000 8B T XA EH
2,000,0008& f& 17 = Fr A BEEIR A 19 B 5184
MAEENBEETRAEEERDZER
PZEREE - BEAMEEERAE
BRMEENR REFHEROEERSEZ
THEBRERNBEEEABOIHE-

R2024F3H28H » REBMBHEUBY DK
RSB EARR 824,071 422 R E T
BETRMD ESHERESNILEZS
TEEWMKAELEHE MEEERERS -
SEEMAHAETFE (BERED #RT
2o IR E 2 AIRSBEEDIRKERND 2 A
AEZENERER BiEREE PR
5B R PR A o JE IR IR R BB T R
HESZOREAETFGLAICE-



The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities FIERIBE EMBIERIBEEEZ 2T

is as follows:

T

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#Ex FET
Deferred income tax assets: EIEFTISINE & ¢
— Deferred income tax assets to be —REet+@ER%E
recovered after more than 12 months H IS Bl AR EFR 1S 75
BE 178,491 147,613
— Deferred income tax assets to be —+ 1@ B g Eliiy
recovered within 12 months EIEFRSINEE 47,989 49,263
Total deferred income tax assets IRICFRSIMEEE 226,480 196,876
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities (Note) ERIES IR () (58,507) (42,228)
Net deferred income tax assets RICFRSMFEE 167,973 154,648
Deferred income tax liabilities: EILFRSIREaE .
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be —RBe+_@ER%
recovered after more than 12 months R UL Bl B IREFT ISR
afE’ (170,747) (162,017)
Set-off of deferred tax assets (Note) IRERIBE EILHH () 58,507 42,228
Net deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTRIR R EE (112,240) (119,789
Note: MF5E :
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable EEEREENPARIEE EREEWETE T HITER
right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax BRI TE45 67 B[R — IR FS 1S AR RA BE - IR EFR IS
balances relate to the same taxation authority. BERBEANTIRE
The net movements on the deferred income tax account are PIEFRSIMER 2 SHFERUT ¢
as follows:
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
At 1 April R4B1H 34,859 87,010
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34) WHEMT B A B (MI5E34) - (53,336)
Credited to the consolidated income stAGZEEEEE (T5E10)
statement (Note 10) 20,874 1,185
At 31 March R3HE31H 55,733 34,859
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The gross movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
during the year, without taking into consideration the
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as

follows:

At 1 April 2023

Credited to the consolidated
income statement in respect of
withholoing tax on dividend
declared in Mainland (Note 10)

(Charged)/credited to the consolidated
income statement

Acauisition of subsidiaries (Note 34)

At 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024
Credited to the consolidated
income statement in respect of
withholoing tax on dividend
declared in Mainland (Note 10)
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated
income statement

At 31 March 2025

1202354518

RN RREZ BN A
faBEER (o)

SaBER MR /HA

WEHEAT (H534)
1#202453F31 B k2044 1B

RN RREZ BN A
faBER (o)

REARER (8) /34

12025530318

Right-of-use
assets

EREEE
HK$000
TER
(28.904)

(18.324)

(42.228)

(17.79)
(60.024)

Withholding
taxes on
undistributed
profit of
subsidiaries

HEARFR
HHZ RN

HKS$000
TR

(54,669)

46,848

(23,545)

(31,366)

17,889

(16.473)
(29,950)

EERBEERBRNERNZ EEIBER
(PEt RIBSHAERIR B R A EE RN 24
BmT

Accelerated
tax depreciation

INERIRHE
HK$'000
Fién

(4.987)
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Fair value
adjustment on
intangible assets

EEEZ
DRERR
HK$'000
TiEn

1,081
(81,617)

(80,586)

4,946
(75,640)

Fair value
adjustment on
inventories by
acquisition of
subsidiaries
ERREHBAR
HERQAEZ
HK$'000

TiEn

(2,789

2789

2,789

Total

Bt
HK$'000
TR

83,560)

46,848

(35,899)
(84,406)

(162,017)

17,889

26619
(170,747)



Lease Decelerated

liabilities  tax depreciation

HEaR ARRIENRE

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TiEn

At1 April 2023 1202354A18 28904 34,008

Acquisition of subsidfaries (Note 34) WEREAT (Hz34) - -
Credlted/(charged) to the consolidated & EHETA/ (15

income statement 13,147 (1,577)

At31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 1#2024£E3R31 B R202454R 18 42,051 32,431
Credlted/(charged) to the consolidated & EHETA/ (15

income statement 17,412 (611)

At 31 March 2025 1R2025%3R31R 59,463 31,820

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax
losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profit
is probable. As at 31 March 2025, the Group had
potential unrecognised deferred tax assets amounting
to HK$40,687,000 (2024: HK$32,853,000) in
respect of tax losses to be carried forward against
future taxable income. Cumulative tax losses of
HK$73,350,000 (2024: HK$74,926,000) can be
carried forward indefinitely; cumulative tax losses of
HK$115,366,000 (2024: HK$82,730,000) will expire (if
not utilised) within the next five years.

Accounting policy on deferred income tax are
disclosed in Note 10.

Unrealised

profit on

closing
Tax losses inventories Others Total

HxEHZ
AR FERER it &3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn Tén TEn TiEn
73,342 39,316 - 175,570
23921 3547 3,59% 31,070
(24,138) 3,158 (354) (9,764)
73,131 46,021 3242 196,876
14,077 (7,953) 6,679 29,604
87,208 38,068 9921 226,480

FIEFTSME ETMAAE 2 MIBE R
BRI ESARRBRERRENE
MR IEHR] mEIE o 122025938318 »
AEBEBERERNELERBEEH
40,687,000 7T ( 20244 : 32,853,000
B NEBETAELURHERERE
BRBMAZRIEBEE Rt RIEEIE
73,350,000 7T (20244 : 74,926,000
Brr) JERIGEE ; RetRIBEEIR
115,366,0007 75 (20244 : 82,730,000
Br) WMABA AR EAEEENE
R ©

EIEFTISTR & 5T BRI MY SE 108 88
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Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group
is obligated to make lump sum payments on cessation of
employment in certain circumstances to certain employees
who have completed at least five years of service with
the Group. The amount payable is dependent on the
employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plan
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.
The Group does not set aside any assets to fund any
remaining obligations. The long service payments are paid
out from the Group’s cash in hand when such payments are
required.

The latest actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024 specifically designated for the Group’s
employees was completed by a qualified actuary, Palace
Consulting Limited (2024: Same), using projected unit credit
method (2024: Same).

(@  The amount recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet is as follows:

Present value of defined benefit
obligations

(b)  Movements in the long service payments recognised
in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

RERMEEZRE

REEB(RERG)  XEBAESER
ETERT RERFAERR VAT
ZETRERIEZEBRAEI G-
ME-EBNRENRFEREEZRE
HERRBERME  WHEFERR
AREABETRAERZHRBEZRE
oo AEETEREHERNEEFHE
A FTEEZET RNEEXNBRMR
BR EEAERZ FRBS AN
RERBE -

SERIEEMZHERERAT (2024
F R UTBFTEMEE A (20244 ©
HE) TREALAEREEMBER
20253331 H &202453831 HE IS
HihEe

@ RNREEEEBBRXRMENDBZAIE
T

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FET

42,742 34,148

b NREEEEERREIZEIR
BB -

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#ET FAET
At 1 April P4B81H 34,148 33,872
Expenses recognised in the RizaEmRER X
consolidated income statement (EXO)
(Note 7 (i) 6,081 3,790
Remeasurements recognised in other R Ef2EURAFESR 2~
comprehensive income (Note 28) BHstE (F28) 2,513 (3,487)
Benefits paid directly by employer BEFEZEZNZEHN - 27)
At 31 March M3A31H 42,742 34,148

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no
contributions to plans made by the plan participants
(2024 Nil).

REZE2025F3831HIEFEE > #
ER B2 HEFGIESTEER
(2R (20244 © f®) o
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Expenses recognised in the consolidated income © MRizeiEmRMRZEINT
statement is as follows:

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Current service cost BNERRRE & 4,660 2,571
Interest cost B A 1,421 1,219
6,081 3,790
Income recognised in the consolidated statement of o) RiEc2EWARTER ZWA
comprehensive income is as follows: wmr
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Remeasurements of employees B ERERNET
benefit obligations 2,513 (8,487)
The principal actuarial assumptions used as at 31 ) H2025F K%202453831HERZ
March 2025 and 2024 (expressed as weighted FERBERSK UMEFHET)
average) are as follows: o
2025 2024
Discount rate rIRE 3.6% 4.0%
Future salary increment KRG T 1L 1R 3.0% 3.0%
Return of MPF balances BR T MEEROIRE 4.0% 4.0%

Impact on employee benefit

obligations
HESENEENTE

Change in Increase in Decrease in

assumption assumption assumption

FE =1 fREztgm E

Discount rate WRE 0.5% Decrease by 6.6%  Increase by 7.2%

7.06.6% 18117.2%

Salary growth rate HeREX 0.5% Increase by 5.8% Decrease by 6.7%

1%105.8% 6.7%
The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change U EBRED IR RRES)
in an assumption while holding all other assumptions MAEEMEBREFT T EER-B
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and R B R KA —LE

changes in some of the assumptions may be R BB O] BEARRE ©

correlated.
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The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
amounts payable on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance is the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior
periods.

The long service payment liabilities are assessed by using
the projected unit credit method by a qualified actuary.
The cost of providing the long service payment liabilities is
charged to the consolidated profit and loss account so as to
spread the costs over the service lives of employees.

The long service payment liabilities are discounted to
determine the present value and reduced by entitlements by
employees accrued under the Group’s defined contribution
retirement scheme that is attributable to contributions made
by the Group. The reductions are deemed as contributions
from employees which are linked to service and hence,
the contributions reduce service cost. The Group
attributes the contributions from employees to periods
of service on a straight-line basis. Actuarial gains and
losses arising from experience adjustments and changes
in actuarial assumptions are credited or charged to other
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise,
respectively. Changes in the present value of the defined
benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or
curtailments are recognised immediately in profit or loss as
past service costs.

FEENREZR(BRBHRADEETE
NN EERLEZEFTRAREE
ZEEFEREREENRTB BT
HAR LU PR (AR 5 MR BN 2 AR 2R 4B F) o

RERB A EXRARABEMAAY
BB ZFE XA RARBEEE
ZHAGRAGERIm R TG UER
AR EEZIRBERRED

RYIRFcaGBRITRECRE I
2 Rl A & B (AR T S A S L E B AR
BN E TRANEERZEF 8D
WAR = B IRFS ARV R B H A EIE
R D AR 75 B AS o 45 £ B 1% B 4R A
BEMHMREt AR - AR ARG
BERREFHMELNBERTDAITA
NGB ELEHENEMEE R -
STEMEST AR M B WA ERRRN &
RENEHTRINEZREIS /B ER
FERLAS
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Bank borrowings, secured IRTTEZ AL

As at 31 March 2025, bank borrowings of HK$521,807,000
(2024: 362,000,000) were secured by corporate guarantees
given by the certain subsidiaries.

As at 31 March 2025, the bank borrowings are due for
repayment within 3 to 12 months (2024: 1 month). The
interest rates of bank borrowings are ranging from 1.75% to
3.50% (2024: 4.96%) per annum.

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings approximate their
fair values, as the impact of discounting is not significant
due to their short-term maturities, and are denominated in
the following currencies:

HK$ BT
RMB AR

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
521,807 362,000

12025538311 » #R17&#521,807,000
HIT (20244 362,000,000 7T) AETF
M B A BRI A SR IEH IR

F22025%3831H » IRTTERHSE12E
BB HEE (2024  1EA) < R1T
BEFRNENENTF1.75%ZE3.50% (2024
F 1 4.96%) °

BRRIBITERERIB FREELR
XoRIEHERESEAQAAEBRE I
LIRS EHSIME -

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT THETT
500,000 362,000
21,807 -
521,807 362,000
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2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHET
Current liabilities REBAE
Gold loan liabilities, with HedEa2REaE
cash settlement (Note (i) (B 2E()) 1,674,562 1,065,805
Notes: f5E :

(0] As at 31 March 2025, gold loan liabilities are interest bearing
ranging from 0.75% to 4.18% (2024: 0.63% to 0.70%) per annum,
with maturity of 1 to 9 months (2024: 1 to 3 months) from date of
inception.

(i) Gold loan liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. During the year ended 31 March 2025, net
unrealised losses on gold loan liabilities of HK$59,160,000 (2024:
HK$73,541,000) have been recognised in ‘other (losses)/gains, net’ in
the consolidated income statement.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the net realised losses on gold
loan liabilities of HK$359,386,000 (2024: HK$20,188,000) have been
recognised in ‘other (losses)/gains, net’ in the consolidated income
statement.

Gold loans to be repaid by cash are designated as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss as the gold loans
form part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives. Gold loans to be repaid by physical gold are
classified as liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Gain or losses on gold loans are recognised in the
consolidated income statement. The net fair value gain or
loss recognised in the consolidated income statement does
not include any interest charged on these liabilities.

Gold loans due to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period are classified as current liabilities.

0] R20259F3A31H  E&EE&EZ0.75%
F4.18% (20244 : 0.63%F0.70%) Z EF
R fffHABHMBARESHEIEA
(20244  1E3EA) ©

(i) BEEBEEENUSREHRNVAAEST
EoHFE2025FE3A31HILEE  aREEE
&2 REIRE187F 859,160,000 7T (2024
£ 173,541,000 7T) BERGEERERAN
TELfth (B518) /Wi a > /B BB FESR o

HE2025F3A31HEFE 2B E8E
2 B &R 538 7% §8359,386,00058 7T (2024
£ 120,188,000/ 7T) ERGEB@mERAN
TEth (§518) /e /3 28 RFESR

RLUREEENESMEENEEREA
AESFABmZEREE RARES
EERNE S —RBAZTERANITET
BRNGHN—HBo -RUBYESEE
WESEEDDESRANES ARG
HaE-

HETEENRanAEEF AGSGER
Ko HRmRPEDIF AN E R
NERL A EEZFERNEFHE-

HEMERTEBREREENES
EENBERRTEaR-
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Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash

generated from operations:

Profit before income tax

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (Note 7)

Net realised losses on gold loans
(Note 8)

Net unrealised losses on gold loans
(Note 8)

Net unrealised losses on forward
exchange contract (Note 8)

Finance income (Note 9)

Finance costs (Note 9)

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 15)

Impairment losses on
property, plant and equipment
(Note 15)

Depreciation of investment properties
(Note 16)

Impairment losses on investment
properties (Note 16)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 17)

Impairment losses on
right-of-use assets (Note 17)

Inventory provision charge (Note 23)

Provision for long service payment
(Note 30)

Net provision for impairment loss on
financial assets and financial guarantee

Gain on lease modification (Included in
‘administrative expenses’ and
‘other income’)

Remeasurement gain on previously
held interests in a prior associate,
net (Note 8)

Fair value gain on settlement of a
shareholder loan due from a prior
associate (Note 8)

BRETIS AR AT ) 2
HEHER
2025
HK$’000
FERT
BREFISIR A RF] 1,379,443
HEVE - BERREBEZFHE
(FF5E7) 6,244
BoEEZESREETE
(Fizx8) 359,386
B EEZREREEFE
(FizE8) 59,160
BHSNESH 2 REIRERE
BEA (MEE8) =
BB (T59) (26,511)
HMBER (T59) 59,119
EREERY (fi5318) 32,976
M BERREITE
GEIR) 135,623
M~ B R sk R E
&8 (f3s%15)
6,805
KEYEITE (H5E16)
28,838
BREYEREHRE (T5H16)
45,747
FERAREENE (F::17)
405,511
FREEEREBEHBE
(BsE17) 6,462
FEEEMS (15E23) 17,703
EHR%SEE (5E30)
6,081
CREERVHERRE
IR P 746
BEETWE GTATTTERE
IR TE MU AL
(1,361)
ERRFE—REIME A EE
2B EWE T
(fffzE8) -

BN —KATE AT
REERZ A ERD
(Fft=8) -

UEEEE 2R

2024
HK$'000
THT
2,085,004
3,600
20,188
73,541
8
(28,977)
59,596
6,870

109,368

29,121

347,186

35,087

3,790

50,537

(275)

(186,711)

(26,756)
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Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash FRETEMATREF BAREEE 2]

generated from operations: (Continued) SHIR: (@
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#ERT FHET
Operating profit before working EEBTEEFSEHT
capital changes 2,521,972 2,581,177
Increase in rental deposits BeEEIEm (6,674) (22,364)
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,178,362) (460,383)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables, B 7 FEURBRIE 2~
deposits, prepayments and FETERIE K E M FEUR
other receivables BRIE (810 R (117,592) 26,360
(Decrease)/increase in right of BEIEEEMEEERR
return assets and sales refund 8& (R g hnEEa
liabilities, net (7,373) 5,135

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, B S ETIRIE  HfthEMERIE
other payables, accruals and contract EstHmERENE RN,

liabilities GRL) 14,598 (175,308)
Decrease in employee benefit BERNETRL
obligations (Note 30) (MF5E30) = @7)
Decrease in amount due from an associate & U — 5 B /A 5]
MIE R - 4
Net cash generated from operations EEEYVIREFE 1,226,569 1,954,594
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group B E2025%43831HIEFE>
had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and KEBEMMERELHBIFIR
lease liabilities of HK$389,104,000, in respect of lease EAhAETRAREEEKRTEEASE
arrangements for properties (2024: HK$590,602,000). #389,104,0007 7t (20244 :

590,602,000 7T) ©

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group B E2024FE3831HIEEE  KE
provided for a special interim dividend in form of a BB DI K EE24,071,422
distribution in specie of 24,071,422 issued shares of KEEE B TR P H
3DG. The distribution is included in the consolidated IR o ZPEMUIERERZ 5T AL
statement of cash flows as non-cash transactions. GREREFR BRI BHE2HM
Details refer to Note 28. 55280
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During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
has leased certain office premises to a prior
associate, and classified those office premises as
investment properties, with carrying amounts of
HK$129,467,000, on the consolidated balance sheet.
After a step acquisition of the prior associate to a
subsidiary, the Group has reclassified such investment
properties to property, plant and equipment of
HK$76,264,000 (Note 15) and right-of-use assets of
HK$53,203,000 (Note 17) due to the change of use
as owner-occupied.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group has entered into gold loan contracts with
physical settlement of HK$351,143,000 (2024:
HK$1,717,493,000), and has settled those contracts
of HK$310,072,000 (2024: HK$1,747,753,000). Such
borrowings and settlements, which are delivered
by the inventories, are included in the consolidated
statement of cash flows as non-cash transactions.

B E2024FE3A31HIEEE K&
B—EAkE AT HBEE TR
NEYE UEZEMAEYED
BAKREWME NREEEESRE
RBVRTEEA129,467,0008 7T ©
REFZTWBEEBREATDAWB R
A AEBERNERRAE
FHEAME BB ENEST D
BEYE - R K% 76,264,000
Bt (MsE15) hEREEEE
53,208,000 7T (Ff5E17) ©

B E2025F3A31HILEEE &
EEELUSYEENESEES
£ #9351,143,00078 7T (20244 :
1,717,493,0008 7t) » W 458 %
%4 49310,072,0005 75 (20244F :
1,747,753,000587T) ° B BETR
EEUGFEERMN UWIEFRERF
ARERERER
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Gold loans with cash settlement

Bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

As at 1 April 2023

Net cash flows —
financing activities

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 34)

Fair value change of
gold loans with cash
settlement

Unwinding interest

Lease modification

Exchange difference

As at 31 March 2024
and 1 April 2024
Net cash flows —
financing activities
Additions
Fair value change of
gold loans with cash
settlement
Unwinding interest
Lease modification
Exchange difference

As at 31 March 2025

IRTTER
HEas’
Gold loans
with cash
settlement
RETE
HEEfEE
HK$'000
TERT
142023%4R1H 390,627
RemeFn-

MEEH 577,222
RE -
A=Y

(M 5E34) -
ReREEREEY

NAEEE

97,956
BEF B -
HEE -
ERZEL -
12024538318 &

20245481H 1,065,805
ReREFHE—

MEEE 149,141
B -
ReREEREEZ

NABEEE

459,616
BEFE -
AEE:] -
ERE%E -
1420255 3A31H 1,674,562

ReXAEaEEE

2025
HK$’000
FAT
1,674,562
521,807
611,694

2,808,063

Liabilities from financing activities

MEZDHEENAR

Bank Other Lease
borrowings  borrowings liabilities
H7EM  HttEm HEAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER F#EnT F#ERT
115,020 - 320,067
(1,499,020) (84,500) (343,438)
- - 590,602
1,746,000 84,500 21,586
- - 23,954
- - (2,306)
- - (3,348)

362,000 - 607,117
159,807 - (411,085)

- - 389,104

- - 40,761
- - (16,519)

- - 2,312

521,807 - 611,694
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2024
HK$'000
TAET
1,065,805
362,000
607,117

2,034,922

Total

@it
HK$'000
F#7

825,714

(1,349,736)
590,602

1,862,086

97,956
23,954
(2,306)
(3,348)

2,034,922

(102,137)
389,104

459,616
40,761
(16,515)

2,312

2,808,063



On 12 January 2024 (the “Acquisition Date”), Luk
Fook 3D Management Company Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to
sale and purchase agreements and supplemental
agreements with several then shareholders of 3DG,
who are independent third parties, acquired in
aggregate of 50.49% issued shares of 3DG for a total
consideration of HK$104,306,000 (the “Acquisition”).
3DG is a listed company. Its major subsidiary, CGS,
together with its subsidiaries (the “CGS Group”) are
principally engaged in the retailing and licensing of
gold and jewellery products in Mainland China, Hong
Kong and Macau.

Prior to the Acquisition, the Group held 50% equity
interest in CGS through Luk Fook 3D Management
Company Limited. Such investment was accounted
for as an associate by equity accounting. After the
completion of the Acquisition, the Group effectively
obtained control over 3DG and therefore CGS Group.

On 9 February 2024, the Group further acquired in
aggregate of 28.96% issued shares of 3DG for a total
consideration of HK$58,472,000 as a result of the
Share Offer pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers
Code and the Option Offer pursuant to Rule 13.5
of the Takeovers Code. As at 9 February 2024, the
Group held in aggregate of 80.10% of the total issued
shares of 3DG.

2024518128 (TWEERBHR)) »
KRB 2ENBRENRIDE
EERAAREEASEEHIFH
SRR (BBIYE=ZH) T
EEWwREERBRGE S UBRE
104,306,000 TWEEEES
H50.49% B TR M (TWHESE
H)) & E8A—BLEMABH
FEWBRBPEEREEWES
NE (THESIRER) TERAF
B HE RPN EE S Mk
BEEMNEE R REER-

WHESETERT  AEEZE B/ B30
EEARABDFAETEEIR0%
BB B U R EHAIFR
BMEAD AR - WEFETHE
FEEBRESHESEGRES
%> FIL TR ERSH RS IREE
-

2024528 9H » KEBERIEWEE
TFRIFE26. IR H RN BL KRR
BUWBETEE13 5K AR
# > LIAB (858,472,000 To i —
FTREEEE S H28.96%E 1T
Be1h o 1A2024E2 890 AERE
AR AEEEEERTRMAHD
80.10%
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The following table summarises the capital injection for ZFHWRERFE BT RRWEH

the step acquisition, the fair value of assets acquired HKBEEEAABERMAENS
and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. BT
Note HK$'000
B 5% FAET
Consideration 1B
Cash consideration HBERE 162,778
Fair value of previously held interests in SR —RIATEH =2 A 5
CGS, a prior associate (Note 19) PEEIRTEAERN
~oaE (HEE19) ) 204,478
Fair value of previously held interests EHREEEBEFAEERN
in 3DG, classified as ‘financial NE DEARANE
assets at fair value through other STAEMEEWRAZ
comprehensive income’ (Note 21) SREE (sE21) 0} 1,443
368,699
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets W BB Bl 5 & EREXIEAE
acquired and liabilities assumed: ZEHEREEE
Cash and cash equivalents REMIREEEY 27,702
Pledged bank deposits BEERIRITER 887,778
Trade and other receivables and B 5 R EMEWERIBLR
deposits & (ii) 59,849
Rental deposits HeZs 6,265
Inventories =78 (i) 602,376
Intangible assets: Trademarks (Note 18) ELEE : @1Z (F5E18) (iv) 544,111
Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) #1% - R K& HE (15E15) 16,302
Right-of-use assets (Note 17) FREEE (:E17) 21,200
Right-of return assets ROEEE 3,353
Deferred tax assets (Note 29) IRERIBE E (5E29) 31,070
Bank borrowings IRITER (1,746,000)
Other borrowings Hih&Em (84,500)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 29) RIERIEEE (15E29) (84,406)
Lease liabilities HEaR (21,586)
Trade payables B 5 EMIRIE (78,608)
Contract liabilities =EV=NE (16,345)
Sales refund liabilities HERMEE (12,760)
Other payables and accruals HE [ RIB A EStRIE (233,681)
Current income tax liabilities BPERFRIEIR B1E (12)
Total identifiable net liabilities acquired SRR S B B4R EE (77,892)
Less: non-controlling interests IR R ) 8,026
Add: financial guarantee contracts to m:PEERZ MBEEREHN
CGS (Note 36) (H$5%36) (vi) 87,647
Less: fair value gain on a shareholder B WA EEIRRRER
loan due from CGS 2R EWE (vi) (26,756)
Add: a shareholder loan due to the 0 PEERFEERN
Group held by CGS REBMBERER 100,000
Add: goodwill (Note 18) e EmE (EE18) (vi) 277,674
Net assets acquired WS EFE 368,699
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Remeasurement gain on previously held

interests in CGS, net
Fair value in interests in CGS
Less: Interests in an associate (Note 19)

Less: Accumulated loss in exchange
difference attributable to CGS
(Note 28)

Remeasurement gain on previously held

interests in 3DG

Fair value in interests in 3DG

Less: Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive
income (Note 21)

Notes:

@

(ii)

Business combination achieved in stage

ERIRFESIRSERER Y
Bt EWm 0 JFER
RHEER 2 EmRRE
R —EBE AT

#m (fIEE19)
B P EIRELER R
HetE518 (F5128)

RN EESHARE Z B/
stEUWm
REESZEZmANE
B RAES AEA

2EWAZERMEE
(LE4D)
B sk
0]

Immediately before the Acquisition Date, the fair value and
carrying amount of the interest in CGS previously held by
the Group was HK$204,478,000 and nil, respectively. In the
step acquisition of CGS, the accumulated loss in exchange
difference attributable to CGS immediately before the
Acquisition Date of HK$17,767,000 was reclassified to profit
or loss. Hence, a fair value gain on the remeasurement of
previously held interest in CGS, net, of HK$186,711,000 was
recognised in profit or loss and included in ‘Other (losses)/

gains, net’ (Note 8) at the Acquisition Date.

Immediately before the Acquisition Date, the fair value of
the equity interest in 3DG previously held by the Group was
HK$1,443,000 and recognised as financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (Note 21). Hence, there
was no gain or loss on remeasurement of previously held
equity interest in 3DG recognised at the Acquisition Date,
and the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income was reclassified to retained earnings

within equity.

Acquired trade and other receivables and deposits

(ii)

The fair value of acquired trade and other receivables and
deposits is HK$59,849,000. The gross contractual amount for
trade receivables is HK$20,300,000, with an expected credit
loss allowance of HK$52,000 recognised on the Acquisition.

Note HK$'000
FEE FET

0) 204,478
(17,767)

186,711

Note HK$’000
F5E FET

0) 1,443
(1,443)

BEEM EIR I A O

BRWERHA AEBLRFS
R E SR ER A A ERREE
D RI#204,478,0008 7T K Z o K&
SUEPESIRE ZEWEEH
AIPESIREGER £ RAEE
17,767,000B T EHM D EEBE
It EFstELFRFENTEERE
w2 A EUE FEE186,711,00058
TR WS B AR B A RESR T ET A
TELfh (§518) Wz 3581 (MsE8) o

SRWEEPR AEBEERFAERN
TEGRIEANER,443,0008 7T
WHEDBBEANESF AHMEER
AZEREE (ff5521) - FHIL - EHF
STERE R ARFAN
TESREIEN@NEE Uk
A0 72 EL A 2 U D B R BT IR
DREREEMDBEEREFRHRF

BEH e

KR E B R E MR RigE
g8 5 R EtE IR R 2 &
BIA 7B #59,849,00078 7T © FE IR
BRI A #1858 420,300,000
o WERE IR EEEEEE
52,0003 7T ©
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Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Acquired inventories

The fair value of acquired inventories is HK$602,376,000,
which were measured with reference to the market price of
precious metals at the Acquisition Date, with an inventory
provision of HK$4,015,000 recognised on the Acquisition.

Trademarks

The trademarks recognised in intangible assets with definite
useful life of 16.5 years and assessed with a fair value of
HK$544,111,000, using multi-period excess earnings method
based on financial budgets covering over 10-year period
approved by senior management of 3DG. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has
based its projections:

. Discount rate of 12% is used with reference to the
current market data for comparable companies in the
relevant industry; and

. Average revenue growth rate of 13% is used based on
financial budgets of 3DG.

Accounting policy choice for non-controlling interests
The Group recognised non-controlling interests in an acquired
entity either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable
assets. The decision was made on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. For the non-controlling interests in the
Group, the Group elected to recognise the non-controlling
interests at its proportionate share of the acquired net
identifiable liabilities. See Note 40 for the Group’s accounting
policies for business combination.

Transactions recognised separately from the Acquisition
There are several transactions recognised by the Group
separately from the Acquisition representing effective
settlement of several pre-existing relationships with 3DG.

Financial guarantee contracts

Reference is made to the financial guarantee contracts
granted to CGS by the Group in Note 36. The financial
guarantee contracts were measured at fair value at the
Acquisition Date of HK$87,647,000 and were effectively
settled in the Acquisition as the financial guarantee contracts
granted changed from to a prior associate to an intercompany
and is internal to the Group. The fair value of financial
guarantee contracts approximated to the carrying amount of
it at the Acquisition Date, and hence there was nil gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss.
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Mi5E

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(&

WHEES

W EEEZ AR EA602,376,00074
o HEBSEESBPWEERZ S
BERE MR IREEERRERE
E#5#4,015,0005 7T ©

1
NEEEETHEDINERR165F2
ERERAFEH RREEESaREE
EitEREBBIOFHNMBEE
RAZHBENGETEEARE
#3544,111,000% 70 - BB TR AIFR
RIS RAREROT :

BR2ERMITETELRA
BN ER M ISEHE  FRA12%
BITIRE &

FHRAEREI3%LIRE
EEGCHHREER

FEIERRIER S B REE
REEL R R ESIFE R T IN
WEEBRNAIHFFEEREIGL
PIHE BB ERE R IF R e e o
UESRTE TH IR AE B UL BB 1B R o L
AEBIFERIEREMS > AEEE
FERHIRPrEBA# A B EFEDE
I EE BB SR IR S 1 M o o RATS A &
EEBEHNEBR F2RWF
40°

SR ERSRARENRZS

KEE RS ERIN TSRS IR
P ARESEGETRAFERMRE
AEMEE

HBREREH

LR E6 N AEE R FHE S
RN BERGH - FBRRENR
Wi B HRRY A 72 1887,647,00078 7T 5T
B URNWEFEPERGE  RA
R THHEREOBLAHE
NEEDHABEME BREEERER
BEH -MBRFSHANERAR
Wi B ARV BREEAR S > B N B
RERNETE AT -



Notes: (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

Transactions recognised separately from the Acquisition
(Continued)

A shareholder loan granted by Luk Fook 3D
Management Company Limited to CGS

Reference is made to a shareholder loan of HK$100,000,000
granted by Luk Fook 3D Management Company Limited to
CGS. The shareholder loan receivable was measured at fair
value at the Acquisition Date of HK$26,756,000 and effectively
settled in the Acquisition as the shareholder loan changed
from due from a prior associate to an intercompany and was
eliminated on the Acquisition. The carrying amount of the
shareholder loan held by the Group was nil at the Acquisition,
the difference between the fair value and carrying amount
of the shareholder loan amounting to HK$26,756,000 was
recognised in profit or loss and included in ‘Other (losses)/
gains, net’ (Note 8).

Goodwill

The goodwill arose in the Acquisition included amounts in
relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth,
future market development and the assembled workforce of
3DG. It will not be deductible for tax purposes.

Revenue and profit contribution

The acquired business contributed revenues of
HK$197,130,000 and net loss of HK$53,791,000 to the
Group for the period from 12 January to 31 March 2024.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2023, consolidated
pro-forma revenue and net profit for the year ended 31
March 2024 would have been HK$15,740,062,000 and
HK$1,410,032,000 respectively.

Deferred income tax liability

The deferred income tax liability relating to the fair value of
trademarks amounted to HK$81,617,000, calculated at the
China corporate income tax rate.

Acquisition-related costs

Acquisition-related costs of HK$5,655,000 that were
not directly attributable to the Acquisition are included in
administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement
and in operating cash flows in the consolidated statement of
cash flows.

5T

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(&

RUEREDRRENZS ()

NIEIDEEE R A B E % RE
HREE

IR NRIDEBERATBHTE
% SRR AY AR 38 & 70100,000,0007%
ToRKRRERZWERHNL
721826,756,00078 70T = 2 i 5L W
PENMEE FRAREERARIK
LRI E NS A ATBHIB TR
WHEEER T AEBEFAENRR
ERRUBEBENEREAS KR
BN ARBHEEEBEZENELE
26,756,000/ 7t B 1B m P HESY > I
stATEAh (518) Wia o $5) (¢
58) ©

[
WREEEMELENEEQEEEAN
REAE S Wi R SRR TIHERE
kEEENETROARNER &
AT BIENRARE-

WA B it FI B BR
FTUL B £ 7202451 812H
Z3B31HEBMALAEERFK
W A197,130,00038 7T &3 K18
53,791,000 75

HURBE S IE 0 2023F4 81 B #1708
E20243A31H I FENGEEE
WA R 487178 93 Bl % 15,740,062,000
75 R%1,410,032,000% 7T ©

BIEFFEH AR
HERANEBMEERSRE
67%81,617,000875 > RE & %
ERmEE.

SRR A
FNEEEEEERGNBEEER
R Bl 45,655,000 T B 5t ARG 18
TmRANTHEAZRGEGHREME
RNRERSREB
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HK$’000

FAET
Net cash outflow arising from the B E2024F3H31HIEFERN
Acquisition during the year ended AW EENIRE M 258
31 March 2024
Cash consideration RBERE 162,778
Less: cash balances acquired B PTUNEIR S AR (27,702)
Net outflow of cash — investing activities IR&FRE - EEH 135,076
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Contracted but not provided for: EETNEREHERE -
— property, plant and equipment — YRR R R 11,378 13,795
— other capital commitment —H B AR 5,953 5,992
Total capital commitments contracted B 5TAIBRIEL 2
but not provided for BRI AR 17,331 19,787

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, there are
no capital commitments which are authorised but not
contracted for.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had entered into
properties lease agreements in respect of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of HK$15,222,000 (2024:
HK$22,062,000) which are contracted but not yet
commenced.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had commitments
under short-term leases of HK$21,123,000 (2024:
HK$569,000) which will be recognised as an expense
in the forthcoming consolidated income statement.

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

7202553831 H &20245F3 531
H> WEEEEBEBRINZERK
o

R2025%E3831H » ZEBEE L (E
BB EKREESE15,222,0008
70 (20244 : 22,062,000 7T) 57 3L
MEMRERZ BRBRESITINE
EENEEREE

R2025F3831H » AEE 2 45 H
FHE & $E21,123,0005 7T (2024
F 1 569,000/ 7T) B BN T EE 2
REBEmRNER AR



For the year ended 31 March 2024, prior to a step
acquisition of a prior associate (Note 34), the maximum
amount that the Group guaranteed under the respective
contracts was HK$1,075,000,000, which represents 50% of
the aggregated amount of bank facilities granted to a prior
associate. The bank facilities utilised by the prior associate
was approximately HK$1,746,000,000, which were partially
secured by pledged bank deposits of the prior associate of
HK$858,222,000. Immediately before the Acquisition Date,
the Group recognised a loss allowance of HK$50,816,000
in the consolidated income statement in accordance with
expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9, and the total
loss allowance recognised amounted to HK$87,647,000.
Refer to Note 34 for details of settlement of financial
guarantee contracts in the Acquisition.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, there was no financial
guarantee issued by the Group to any independent third
parties.

The major shareholder of the Company is Luk Fook (Control)
Limited (“Luk Fook Control”), a company incorporated in the
BVI, which directly owns 40.39% of the Company’s shares.
The remaining shares of the Company are widely held.

Mr. WONG Wai Sheung and Ms. LUK Chui Yee are the
founders and settlors of The WS WONG Family Trust (the
“Trust”). Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Ms. LUK Chui Yee, Mr.
WONG Ho Lung, Danny and Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy
are the discretionary beneficiaries under the Trust. The Trust
was interested in 238,651,722 shares in the Company,
comprising (i) the 1,511,050 shares in the Company held by
the Trust and (i) the 237,140,672 shares in the Company
attributable to Luk Fook (Control) Limited. The Trust
indirectly controls over one-third of the voting power of Luk
Fook (Control) Limited (being approximately 46.29%) and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held by Luk
Fook (Control) Limited in the Company.

HE2024F3831HIEEE  ZF K
B—-REaE A sz (M:E34) » 2
EERBEEBEENERNES2ES
1,075,000,0008 70 ' HE N IE T RIS
NEBIEIRITRLE 48 2B50% © BT B & A B
FrEn B VIRTTRYEE 49 451,746,000,00078
o Hh IS maikE A B EEHRT
1F77858,222,00078 T YEHE 1 o EX#5 U BE
BEfRT AEBEREBESBMBHRSEL
FOR TR EEFRERENGSIE
A N SR B 18 82 /850,816,000 7T
T B B 50 5 18 15 1 AR BE 4387,647,00074
T BREENBEENEIEREN
MR 2 RIMTEE34 o

TR2025F K2024FE3H31H » ANEE 1
WMOAEABIIE = H R LA EHEFR

RRNBZEEREAEER BIR
nE (IREER) AR ABER R E
EEMmRIIZAT BEEEERAF
40.39% R 17D o KA B8R T RS 2 EIF
ﬁo

EREELRERERRLZ LT AThe WS
WONG Family Trust (M55E1) BYRIHEA
RETAN =REERE BERERLET E
ERRAERERSLEIAETINEZES
@m A o S5LHEA &N AB)238,651,722% i%
LR BREOETENEARBFEZ
1,511,050P8 B 19 K (i) 748 (EPR) BRA
B FE(L 2 Zx/AF)237,140,6 7282 B 15 < 15
SEREEERNE R BRATBB=
D2z —RERE (BN4946.29%) - AR IE#
BARNE R BRATN AL F
BRI HEE G
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Mr. WONG Wai Sheung, Mr. WONG Ho Lung, Danny and
Ms. WONG Lan Sze, Nancy are directors of the Company.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the significant related party transactions are
disclosed as follows. The transactions with related parties
were conducted in the ordinary and usual course of
business in accordance with terms agreed between the

BEREAE -BEREERERSRET

BRER S

MHBWREMBOPAIREEIN

ERHEAIRZRBUO T -HEBAZEA
TZRGDPR—BARBBEHBRETR
REEERHEBEANLTHE ZRRE

5o

Maintenance services fees

Group and its related parties.

Name Nature

%8 31

(i) GS Tech Company Limited* License fees

TEENBEBAERAF FreT e R

HERBE
Rental income
HEWA

(i)

The company is 92% owned by a family trust of which
Mr. WONG Wai Sheung and his family members are
discretionary beneficiaries. The remaining 8% is directly owned
by Mr. WONG Wai Sheung.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, a gold
loan facility equivalent to 300 kilograms (2024
Same) was made available to the Group by a
director, of which 293 kilograms (2024: 284
kilograms) was utilised and fully settled as at
31 March 2025 and 2024. The gold loans are
interest bearing ranging from 0.58% to 1.40%
(2024: 0.58%) per annum. The related interest
expense on gold loans of HK$1,004,000 (2024:
HK$811,000) is included in ‘finance costs, net’
(Note 9).

(i)

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,880 1,414
3,749 3,483
167 167

ZNABRWEEHERBAEREK
FEREREEEE A KIEEEHE
Ao F8RHRERELEEREER -

B E2025F3831HIEEFE>
—LEZTOAERREMHER
SEEMEMRZERI0AT
(20244 : #B[F) » #1293
NI (20244 2 284°AFT) 7
EEIAIL B 720254 522024
FIAIATBHEE - ZE
BEEEERENZE0LE8%E
1.40% (20244F : 0.58%) &F
E-mteEEHEENERX
1,004,000 75 (20244 :
811,0008 7t) st A TRA % &
R 388 (FI5E9) ©



2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#ET FAT
Rental deposit related to ER—REEALZ
a related party HeZs 1,050 1,050
Lease liabilities related to ER—RBEEALZ
a related party HEaR 8,426 -
Key management includes directors (executive FECEEOEAEEESE W7
and non-executive) and senior management of the KRIEHITESR) RaBREEBEAS-
Group. The compensation paid or payable to key MEERFENUENETEERE
management for employee services is shown below: ZHEIT
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Salaries, allowances and e R REYHIR
benefits-in-kinds 25,489 18,651
Performance and discretionary BRI 2 AL
bonuses 45,555 61,463
Contributions to pension plan BIREET B 712 749
71,756 80,863
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At 31 March 2025, the Company had the following principal

subsidiaries:

Name

E2t ]

Luk Fook Investment (B.V.L.) Limited

China Gems Laboratory Limited
REREETTOERAE

Fancy Trend Investment Limited
RIEREBRAT

Ice Collection (International) Limited

K& (EF) BRAR

Jewellworld.com Limited
LEtRERAR

Jewellworld.com Limited
GEMLR &E) BRAF

Luk Fook Bullions Dealers Limited
NEERERAT

Luk Fook Holdings Company Limited
NRERERAT

Luk Fook Jewellery & Goldsmith
(Australia) Pty Limited

Luk Fook Jewellery & Goldsmith (HK)
Company Limited
NEGEST (@R FRAR

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
B
e

The BVI
RBERRES

Hong Kong
£

Hong Kong
&4

Hong Kong
£

The BVI
EEEMRES

Hong Kong
g4

Hong Kong
g4

Hong Kong
&4

Australia
bl

Hong Kong
&4

Principal activities

TELH

Investment holding
RERR

Authentication of gemstones
BREE

Property holding
HEME

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products

EERHEERTERH

Investment holding, and provision
of software development and
services relating to internet

REER RESHRER
ERERERS

Investment holding, and provision
of software development and
services relating to internet

REER RESHRER
ERERERS

Gold bullion trading
BEME(F

Provision of management services
to group companies and
wholesale distribution of gold
and jewellery products

RUBEREFERLDR
HENHRERAFEER

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in Australia

RENtEEERIEER
TELH

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products

EERHEERTERH

R2025FE3H31H KRB ZEEHE

AET

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BETRE/
HEMERHE

HK$2
2BT

HK$2
28T
HK$12,100
12,1000

HK$100
1007

HK$8,000,000
8,000,000%70

HK$100
1007

HK$14,000,000
14,000,000 70

HKS2
2ETT

AUS$100,000
100,00087

HK$100
100%7T

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the Company
FARME
BERLA
Directly  Indirectly
B &

100

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests
300 4
R ERLH

49

49



Name

278

Luk Fook Jewellery & Goldsmith
(Macao) Company Limited
NEREST (2 BRAT

Luk Fook Jewellery & Goldsmith
(Canada) Limited

Luk Fook Jewellery & Goldsmith
(Singapore) Pte. Limited

Luk Fook Jewellery & Goldsmith
(USA) Company Limited

Luk Fook 3D Management
Company Limited
NEDEEERAH

Max Forum Development Limited
HEEREERAT

Maxigood Enterprises Limited

ENECEARAT

EMHBEHERAT

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
BiilAve
AT

Macau
A

Canada
MEX

Singapore
g

USA
3

The BVI
REEMRES

Hong Kong
£
Hong Kong
Y
PRC
thiE
PRC

e

PRC
el

Principal activities

IERH

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in Macau

KA ERERIEER
ZEER

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in Canada

PIEAt e RGEER
TEER

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in Singapore

RIRERE RGEER
BELH

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in USA

REEUEEERUEER
TELH

Investment holding

REER

Property holding
RENE

Manufacturing, wholesale and
distribution of jewellery products
RE MERIFEREER

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Wholesale of polished diamond in
Mainland
Rt RETE 28R

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in Beijing, Mainland
RAMtRtERERGEER

ZELH

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRTRs/
EME RS

MOP1,000,000
1,000,000 7%

CA$100
100MEX T

$$1,000,000
1,000,000%7 M3 70

UsD100
100%7T

HKS$1
1B

HK$100
1007
HK$3,000,000
3,000,000%70
HK$35,000,000
35,000,000 7%
USD200,000

200,000% 7t

HK$200,000,000
200,000,000 70

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the Company
BARFE
LiERLA
Directly  Indirectly
B itk
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests
F3000 4
s @R A
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Name

NEREEHEE () BRARN

EE/BUXKENIARA:

ERHZRHEEHBRAR:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
Bl lAve
AT

PRC
hEl

PRC
el

PRC
el

PRC
el

PRC
el

PRC
e

PRC
el

Principal activities

IERH

Trademark licensing, brand
building, promotion of quality
examination service in Mainland

KRRt EEREE AER
ERERENRRHESET
%

Trademark licensing, brand
building, promotion and
provision of quality examination
services in Mainland

NaRurET T
ﬁ?mﬁu&kmgé
FR#%

Manufacturing, wholesale of
gold and jewellery products in
Mainland

RAMEERERLEESR
GEER

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in Mainland

Rt EEERIEER
TELH

Trademark licensing, brand
building, promotion and
provision of quality examination
services in Mainland

KAt EEREE ARR
BEEREURRHESEE
it

Manufacturing of gold products in
Mainland
RAtREREER

Wholesale of jewellery products in
Mainland

RRAHEREESR

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRTRs/
EME RS

HK$60,000,000
60,000,000/ 7%

HK$8,000,000
8,000,000%70

HK$50,000,000
50,000,000 7

HK$50,000,000
50,000,000 7

HK$3,000,000
3,000,000%7%

RMB5,000,000
A #5,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
E#10,000,0007

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the Company
BARFE
LiERLA
Directly  Indirectly
B itk

- 100

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests
F3000 4
s &R A



Name

BN ERHKERRAR

AEABHREARAT+

&

EE/ BRETEBARAT+

=i

Luk Fook Prestige (Malaysia)
SDN. BHD.

Luk Fook Prestige Jewellery
Company Limited
TR EERAT

EFTRREZRRAT

EFTREBEZREAT

EETALRERERAT

EETBEERERAT:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
BiilAve
AT

PRC
hEl

PRC
thEl

PRC
e

PRC
el

Malaysia

BRAS

Hong Kong
£

PRC
thEl

PRC
el

PRC
thEl

PRC
el

PRC
thEl

Principal activities

IERH

Manufacturing, wholesale of
gold and jewellery products in
Mainland

Rt ERER ERER
HEER

Manufacturing of gold and jewellery
products in Mainland

RARERERAEER

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in Mainland

Rt ERERHEER
BELH

Electronic retailing of gold and
jewellery products in Mainland

Rt EEERHEERE
TELH

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in Malaysia

RERBLHERERGEER
ZELH

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in Hong Kong

REBUSRERAEER
ZELK

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAMEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRTRs/
EME RS

RMB65,500,000
N E#65,500,0007

RMB5,000,000
K 5,000,007

RMB5,000,000
A #5,000,0007

RMB5,000,000
5,000,007

MYR2,000,000
2,000,000
ERABELE

HK$30,000,000
30,000,000 7%

RMB1,000,000
AE 1,000,007

RMB1,000,000
AE%1,000,00070

RMB1,000,000
AE 1,000,007

RMB1,000,000
AE%1,000,00070

RMB1,000,000
AE 1,000,007

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the Company
BARFE
LiERLA
Directly  Indirectly
B itk
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests
F3000 4
s @R A
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Name

278

ERTRERERARAR

EETHBEEZARAT+

EETREERARAT

Bright Bilion Corporation Limited
{EEFTERAT

Green Rich Corporation Limited

ERRRAT

Talent Up Corporation Limited
#2BERAT

Ultra Power Corporation Limited

HBEBRAF

~EHE (B%) BRAR

BN BRRERAT:

EMEHENERRABRAR

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
Bl lAve
AT

PRC
thEl

PRC
el

PRC
thEl

Hong Kong
Y

Hong Kong
£

Hong Kong
Y

Hong Kong
£

PRC
el

PRC
hEl

PRC
el

Principal activities

IERH

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Hong Kong
REBRENE

Property holding in Hong Kong
REBRBNE

Property holding in Hong Kong
REBRENE

Property holding in Hong Kong
REBRBNE

Trademark licensing, brand
building, promotion and
provision of quality examination
services in Mainland

Rt EEREE ARk
BEREURRHESEE
%

Trademark licensing, brand
building, promotion and
provision of quality examination
service in Mainland

KRRt EEREE ARk
EREMENRRHESET
%

Trademark licensing, brand
building, promotion and
provision of quality examination
services in Mainland

NG GHESET Y e
BEERBURRHESETE
FR#%

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRTRs/

EME RS

RMB1,000,000
K 1,000,007

RMB1,000,000
AE%1,000,00070

RMB1,000,000
AE 1,000,007

HK$100
100%7T

HK$100
10087
HK$100
100%7T
HK$100
10087

RMB1,000,000
AE%1,000,00070

RMB10,000,000
E#10,000,0007

RMB1,000,000
AE1,000,0007

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the Company

BARFE
LiERLA

Directly  Indirectly

B itk

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests
F3000 4
s &R A



Name

278

Luk Fook Diamond Company Limited
NEERERAF

Green Rich (Macao) Limited
EZ (2F9) BRARF

Talent Up (Macao) Limited
2 (2P BRAF

Uttra Power (Macao) Limited
sk (RF9) BIRAR

AITREHEZARAT

RNTBEEZERAT

Max Enterprises Company Limited

BELEARAF

Luk Fook E-Commerce Company
Limited
EBTHERRAT

Luk Fook 3D Investment Holding
Company Limited
NEEEREEEBRAT

EKE (E8) BRAT

F

EETRTHERARAR

EETRENERERAT:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
BiilAve
AT

Hong Kong
A

Macau
il

Macau

ol

Macau
il

PRC
el

PRC
e

Hong Kong
£

Hong Kong
£

Hong Kong
g4

PRC
el

PRC
thEl

PRC
el

Principal activities

IERH

Provision of handling services on
diamond subcontracting

REERD BRERS

Property holding in Macau
RRMSENE

Property holding in Macau
RRMEENE

Property holding in Macau
RRMSENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
KBNS

Provision of export customs
services of diamonds in
Hong Kong

RERREEREORARE

Electronic retaiing of gold and
jewellery products in Hong Kong

REMSRERABERET
ZELR

Investment holding
REER
Property holding in Mainland

RAERNE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRTRs/
EME RS

HK$6,120,000
6,120,000%70

MOP25,000
2500027370

MOP25,000
25,0008F97%

MOP25,000
250002370

RMB1,000,000
AE1,000,0007

RMB1,000,000
1,000,007

HK$10,000
10,0007

HK$10,000,000
10,000,000 7

HK$100,000
100,000 7%

RMB70,000,000
AR 70,000,007

RMB1,000,000
AE 1,000,007

RMB1,000,000
AE%1,000,00070

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the Company
BARFE
LiERLA
Directly  Indirectly
B itk
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests
F3000 4
s @R A
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Name

278

ERTRIMEZARAT

EETREREZARA

ol

+

EFTRESEZARAT

EETREMERERAT:

ERTRENEZAR

>
]
=

3DG Holdings (International) Limited
(3DG", formerly known as
Hong Kong Resources Holdings
Company Limited) ++

SELERE @R BRAT
(£25) FIBEEER
ERERAT) ++

China Gold Silver Group Company
Limited (‘CGS")++
FEEHRERBRAT
(ThEI SR ) ++

Golden Zone International Limited++
SHEBERAR

Special Link Limited++

HRERAE++

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
Bl lAve
AT

PRC
thEl

PRC
el

PRC
thEl

PRC
el

PRC
thEl

PRC
el

PRC
thEl

Bermuda

ARE

The BVI
EEEMRES

The BVI
RBERRES

Hong Kong
&H

Principal activities

IERH

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Property holding in Mainland
RAEENE

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding
RELER

Investment holding
RERR

Investment holding

REER

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRTRs/
EME RS

RMB1,000,000
K 1,000,007

RMB1,000,000
AE%1,000,00070

RMB1,000,000
AE 1,000,007

RMB1,000,000
AE%1,000,00070

RMB1,000,000
AE 1,000,007

RMB1,000,000
AE%1,000,00070

RMB1,000,000
AE 1,000,007

HK$270,000
270,000 75

USD3,334
33%4ET

UsD1
1£7

HKS1
1B
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Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the Company
TS
LiERLA

Directly
B

Indirectly
g

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

71 (Note ()
(B3E0))

86 (Note ()
BB

86 (Note (j)
(BE()

86 (Note (i)
()

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests
F3000 4
s &R A



Name

278

China Gold Silver (JV) Company
Limited ++

HEER (RE) BRARH+

China Gold Silver (JV) HK Company
Limited++

PEERE (B8 FEERAT+

BELE BB ARAT, +

E8%E (RY) BRATH, +

EESEERERRAT, +

ERSEEEHRUBRAT. +

BEESEEMBRBRAT, +

BRLE (KB BRAT, +

BRHGE Q) BRAF ++

BRKE Obm) BRATN, ++

BRLE BB BRAT +

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
BiilAve
AT

The BVI
ZEEMRES

Hong Kong
EY

PRC
el

PRC
el

PRC
el

PRC
el

PRC
el

PRC
el

PRC
thEl

PRC
el

PRC
el

Principal activities

IERH

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding
RERR

Retailing and franchising operations
of gold and jewellery products in
Mainland

RAMEEEERHEERTE

Retailing and franchising operations
of gold and jewellery products in
Mainland

RAMEEEERHEERTE

Sale of gold and jewellery
BEERGEHE

Retailing and franchising operations
of gold and jewellery products in
Mainland

Rt EEERGEERSE

Design and wholesales of gold
and jewellery products

BERGEERRRIE

Provision of management services

RAEEERE

Provision of management services
N E

Retailing of gold and jewellery
produces in Mainland

Rt EEERIEER
ZELH

Provision of management services

RAEERE

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRTRs/

EME RS

USD100
100E 7T

HK$100
100E7T

RMB1,000,000
AE 1,000,007

RMB1,000,000
AE 1,000,007

RMB5,000,000
K 5,000,007

RMB5,000,000
5,000,007

RMB5,000,000
5,000,007

RMB500,000
A EH500,00070

RMB500,000
AR #500,0007

RMB500,000
A EH500,00070

RMB500,000
AR 500,007

Proportion of

ordinary shares

Proportion of held by

ordinary shares non-controlling

held by the Company interests

BARFE F3000 4

EiERILA s @R A
Directly  Indirectly
B itk

- 86(Note (i) 14
(Mizx0)

- 86(Note (i) 14
(Mzx0)

- 86 (Note (i) 14
()

- 86 (Note (i) 14
()

- 86 (Note (i) 14
()

- 86 (Note () 14
(BysE())

- 86 (Note () 14
(BysE())

- 86 (Note (i) 14
(pe5E()

- 86(Note (i) 14
(GE)

- 86 (Note (i) 14
(pe5E()

- 86 (Note (i) 14
()
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Name

3D-GOLD Management Services
Limited++

EEEEEREARAT+

Gold Ocean Jewellery Company
Limited++
TRKEEHERAT++

3D-GOLD International Company
Limited++
SEEERERAT+

3D-GOLD Jewellery (HK) Limited++
SEERE @B BRARH

3D-GOLD Company Limited++
SEGHRAT+

3D-GOLD Enterprises Development
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.+, ++
SEZEEEE (R BIR

Al ++

LEEEEERBRRATL, +

Goldsmith & Prestige KL SDN. BHD

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
Bl lAve
AT

PRC
hEl

PRC
el

Hong Kong
&4

Macau
il

Hong Kong
¥

Hong Kong
&H

Hong Kong
&4

PRC
el

PRC
el

Malaysia

BRASZ

Principal activities

IERH

Provision of management services
RUEEERE

Provision of management services

RUEEERE

Provision of management services
N E

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in Macau

REAMNSRERHKEERTE
2%

Holding of trademarks

BEBR

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in Hong Kong

REBREEERAEERTE
25

Investment holding

REER

Retailing and franchising operations
of gold and jewellery products in
Mainland

RAtNEEESRGEERTE
RESFEEEH

Sales of jewellery
KEHE

Retailing of gold and jewellery
products in Malaysia

RERADRERERGE
EnTEEH

Particulars of issued
share capital/
registered capital
BRTRs/
EME RS

RMB500,000
AR #500,0007

RMB500,000
A EH500,00070

HKS1
BT

MOP500,000
500,002 7

HKS2
28T

HK$100
1007

HK$100
1007

USD6?2,854,300
62,854,300% 70

RMB1,000,000
AE%1,000,00070

MYR2,000
2000ERAELE
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Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the Company
TS
LiERLA

Directly
B

Indirectly
g

86 (Note ()
(GE)

86 (Note ()
(B3E0)

86 (Note ()
(GE)

86 (Note ()
(GE)

86 (Note ()
(B3E()

86 (Note (i)
()

86 (Note ()
(GE)

86 (Note ()
(B3E0)

86 (Note ()
(B3E0)

100

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests
F3000 4
s &R A

14



Place of
incorporation/
Name establishment Principal activities
B
& FRILsHE TELH
Goldsmith & Prestige PNG Malaysia Retailing of gold and jewellery
SDN. BHD BRAED products in Malaysia
RERASHEEERAE
EnTEEH
Prestige (USA-NY) Corporated USA Retailing of gold and jewellery
Limited E= products in USA

++

Notes:

REBRERERAEER
TEXH

The subsidiaries are established as wholly foreign-owned enterprises
in Mainland.

The subsidiaries are acquired during the year ended 31 March 2024.
Details of the acquisition are set out in Note 34. As at 31 March 2024,
these subsidiaries used 30 June as their financial year-end, which was
not conterminous with that of the Company. During the year ended
31 March 2025, these subsidiaries changed their financial year-end
from 30 June to 31 March, which is conterminous with that of the
Company as at 31 March 2025.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, subsequent to the acquisition
of issued shares of 3DG (Note 34), the Group provided for a special
interim dividend in form of a distribution in specie of 8.93% of the
issued shares of 3DG, which represented 4.46% of effective capital of
CGS, and such change in ownership interest of CGS did not result in
a loss of control of CGS for the Group. Refer to Note 28 for details.

As at 31 March 2025, the shareholding of 3DG and CGS owned by
the Group, directly and indirectly, was in aggregate of 71.18% (2024:
80.10%) and 85.59% (2024: 90.06%), respectively.

Proportion of

ordinary shares
Particulars of issued Proportion of held by
share capital/ ordinary shares non-controlling
registered capital held by the Company interests
BRTRs/ BARFE F3000 4
EMEFHEE EiERILA s @R A
Directly  Indirectly
B itk
MYR2,000 - 100 -
20005 REEZLE
USD1,000,000 - 100 -
1,000,000%7¢

++

ZEMBABD RN AMMIZIIEBEE R
)

ZEWB AT E E2024F3831HILERE
Ut B o U RS BB 1B T 5534 o 1220244
3B31H > ZEMBATU6B30H A ERIK
FEAED BARQRNMBREELZEETR
— o E FE2025F3H31 AL FE » ZEWE
NEBEMBEELAEHR6A0EENRS
38318 BAQFR202543831 BB E
FEAEBR B

HE024F3/3HLEEE RIKEEES
BETRM (H5134) & NEBEUBY IR
FERRERHFRRE  LEEGEBHTR
98.93% > i PRI IR B R EA4.46% > Bf
EERAERETEH I RENAEN
REHTESRAOZESE ¥ R8s

22025538318 AEBEE KL EES
TEEGRPECREESST DR A71.18%

(20244 1 80.10%) £285.59% (20244 :
90.06%) °
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Notes: (Continued)

(i)

s o ()

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling (ii) HE2025F3A31ALFE - AEBEEE
interests for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out below: KIEIEIRE R B AR IEEYIWNT
3DG Group
EEGEME
Percentage of equity interest held by JEE R R PSR B D LE
non-controlling interests 28.82%
Loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 allocated to HE2025F3831HIEFE
non-controlling interests (HK$'000) PEFIFERERNFANESE (FET) (31,972)
Other comprehensive loss for the year ended 31 March B E2025F3831 HIEFE DAL FIFERERN
2025 allocated to non-controlling interests (HK$’000) Hith2meE (FEm) (1,956)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests RIRE HRIEERERDN
at the reporting date (HK$’000) Ket4EeR (FA&T) (60,362)
Management considers the summarised financial information of 3DG BEERAHTEEEEN2024F4818E6
Group for the period from 1 April to 30 June 2024 is not significant, AI0HHIENMBERBELFAEE > AL
and hence it is not disclosed. The following tables illustrate the AP E o FRMIMFP2025F3831H UK
summarised financial information of 3DG Group as at 31 March 2025 B2024F781H E£2025%F3831H LA &
and for the period from 1 July 2024 to 31 March 2025. The amounts FEEENMBERNBEE -FIRESREE
disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: TERA B EIKIERT 2 48 -
3DG Group
EEEEME
HK$’000
F#ET
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 2HBARRFEE
Revenue WA 711,541
Net loss FE51E (199,686)
Total comprehensive loss 2 HEEIBAREE (213,963)
Summarised balance sheet HEEBERBE
Current assets TMENEE 1,260,367
Non-current assets JERENE E 309,232
Current liabilities mEMEE (185,591)
Non-current liabilities JERBERE (2,171,506)
Summarised cash flows HERERE
Net cash outflow from operating activities RERHZIRE R $EE (379,190)
Net cash outflow from investing activities KEEH RS R F8 (29,971)
Net cash inflow from financing activities RMEEBZRERAEEE 430,518
Net increase in cash and bank balances RE& RIRITEEERZIG M 21,357
As at 31 March 2024, the Group re-assessed whether the 12024F3A31H » AEFRBIFFERER
subsidiaries with non-controlling interests are considered material to M8 A B4R E E ~ B B B R PRFTSIRAT R
the Group based on their relative size in terms of total assets, total M, (B518) BAEEIRE > EMT 2SN E
liabilities and profit/(loss) before income tax, and considered that they NEHAEEAMERETBEN URAFE
are not material, and accordingly, the summarised unaudited financial WABEKR FHIL > ZEWNB RSN REEZ
information of these subsidiaries are considered not necessary. MHBENBEERRALIENE-

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]



2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
ASSETS B'E
Non-current asset ERHEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B AT 2 Em 3,138,225 3,138,225
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR I B A B BRIE 2,334,597 1,912,609
Deposits, prepayment and other deposits %<~ FETRIE K
Hithizs 160 224
Cash and bank balances BE& KIR1T4EER 101,828 4,922
2,436,585 1,917,755
Total assets WEE 5,574,810 5,055,980
EQUITY K=
Capital and reserve attributable to the ZSAT)EEIFHE AEML
equity holders of the Company B R E#E
Share capital (&N 58,710 58,710
Share premium B i@ B 2,494,040 2,494,040
Reserves (Note (1)) R (EEE)) 1,221,729 1,225,253
3,774,479 3,778,003
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REHaE
Accruals FEETFRIA 963 2,168
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI EVNCIE S 338,198 306,194
Bank borrowings RITE® 500,000 362,000
Gold loans =2EBE 961,170 607,615
1,800,331 1,277,977
Total equity and liabilities kARt 5,574,810 5,055,980
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the KRBz EBEBBRIDAEESZN2025
Board of Directors on 26 June 2025 and was signed on its FOH26AMET KR T ESKRE
behalf by the following directors: e
Wong Wai Sheung Chan So Kuen
=HER REE
Director Director
BEFE BH
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The reserves movement of the Company is as follows:

For the year ended
31 March 2025
At 1 April 2024
Profit for the year
2023/24 final dividend paid
2024/25 interim dividend paid

At 31 March 2025

Representing:

Reserves (excluded proposed
dividend)

Proposed final dividend

At 31 March 2025

For the year ended
31 March 2024
At 1 April 2023
Profit for the year
2022/23 final dividend paid
2023/24 interim dividend paid

2023/24 special interim dividend

provided for
At 31 March 2024

Representing:

Reserves (excluded proposed
dividend)

Proposed final dividend

At 31 March 2024

#2025 3A31HILLEE

120245 481H

EREHF
B192023/24F E ARG B
B{2024/25F EFHRE

R202553831H

5.

HE (FEERKEE)
BIKRERE
12025538314

HE2024F3A31HILEE

120234 81H

EREF]

BfJ2022/23F ERHKE

B192023/24F EHHIRG B

2023/24F E45 5| PHIR 2
Bt

112024938318
5

i (FEERRRE)

BRAHRE
112024938318

Contributed
surplus
BYER
HK$’000
F#ER

298,687

298,687

298,687

298,687

298,687

298,687

298,687

298,687

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company
in exchange for all the issued ordinary shares of Luk Fook
Investment (B.V.l.) Limited and the value of net assets of the
underlying subsidiaries acquired by the Company during the
Group’s reorganisation in 1997. Under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to the
shareholders, provided that the Company would, after the payment of
dividends out of the contributed surplus, be able to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or the realisable value of the Company’s assets
would thereby not be less than the aggregate of its liabilities, its
issued share capital and its share premium. At the Group level, the
contributed surplus is reclassified into its component of reserves of
the underlying subsidiaries.

st

0] KABEEEBWT !
Capital
redemption Retained

reserve earnings Total
BXBE G REEH kel
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET F#ET FERT

200 926,366 1,225,253

- 695,134 695,134
- (375,749) (375,749)
- (322,909) (322,909)

200 922,842 1,221,729

200 599,933 898,820

- 322,909 322,909

200 922,842 1,221,729

200 807,926 1,106,813

- 892,471 892,471
- (322,909) (322,909)
- (422,718) (422,718)
- (28,404) (28,404)

200 926,366 1,225,253

200 550,617 849,504

- 375,749 375,749

200 926,366 1,225,253

RAB 2 BEEERIEAR AT ALk Fook
Investment (B.V.L) Limited% 28 2 317 Z B8
METRM ZEERERATR1997ERE
EEAHEFRRERENB AR 2 EET
BEMEZEZ BB - RIEBRECIBIFEAEE)
(BAER]) > BRRERAIRETRE AL
SEEHBRRKMRES BENES&EIE
B (IER AR ZEEAZREEER
ER G DR EER EE S TREARERMD
BEZEN -RAEEBEMS > BHRK
BIDEASERNB AR ZHEID -
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(a)

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for all business combinations,
regardless of whether equity instruments or
other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

(i) fair values of the assets transferred

(i) liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquired business

(i) equity interests issued by the Group

(iv)  fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration
arrangement, and

(v)  fair value of any pre-existing equity interest
in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

(@ HEHBEH

AEBEXBEBEGSIARAR

BRBAHAE R

EREREm TRASHEME
E-BE-—RNBLATEE

WRERLE

) FPAIEBEENLNE

iy WHBEXRFESR

ANFREEER

(iy ANEBDETRARE

==

vy HEREZHMREE
ERHEERNEB/HQ

E &

V) BB R B R F

B B A 1
&e

EEBGHTMEERNAH
BEEURIAENEER
HABE NI UEREE
HEAR R ETE (D&
SMBIERIN) - REELIZIA
BEREE BAREBERLI
EREDFTGRIREER A
s Bl B E R ER LA RESE RS
WU R B RS R (E I IR AR 1

3 °

BEMHBEREARELERX

iH o
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(a)

Business combinations (Continued)
The excess of the:

(i) consideration transferred,

(i)  amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity, and

(i)  acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those
amounts are less than the fair value of the net
identifiable assets of the business acquired, the
difference is recognised directly in consolidated
income statement as a bargain purchase.

Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts
classified as a financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in consolidated income
statement.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer's previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognised in
consolidated income statement.

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

(a)

EBEH @
BITF&E:

)  PREEEAE

i) WEBEENEMIF
EREDTER K

(i) MWW EERTARN
E o] B A 1 2 7Y UK B
BEINARE

B H PTUR BB AT Rl B E R B
NanER HEEUBE
B o fis 5% F AR L P IR
BEBHAIHNEEFEN
AnE M ERSEENER
GREmRERAZERBE-

HENESESRDmNTH
BER-DEAEREENSE
BHEHBREREARES
E HARBEEHNEEGRE
mARFERY

HEHEHIBERET R
Wi 75 SRR A BRI 5
fe A UK B B ARV BRE
ERWERRERZARE
STE-RWRZEENE
EENWHNERNGEEGE
AR



(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity
of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated income statement, consolidated
statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated balance sheet respectively.

(b) FEBAR

MEBARIEAERERES
BHOFMEER (BREERBK
B - EXEEEZSHRER
EHMAERSHEZER
R ZF P &R R #
Mo BRENBBANELRE
EHNTEREEZZRR
o QA EERIZERE - I
BABNESREEELRE
EEOEZESHFAK I
R IEESIRERRERBS

HARRe

EERBRBERZ EEAF
BIRZETFRAEF NG
JERIH RERBET G
Wi BRIFR X 7R HER
EAFTEENE E R R
E-WBARKNESHRE
ERERFHES  LIRR
B 75 £ [ P % 40 BY B SR —

e

LINEPNSIES =g S atesl LS
EREBZDHNES
R EEEEBRARE
RO RFEaEEAR

KABEFEY o
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(c)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. A change in ownership interest results
in an adjustment between the carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests
to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary.
Any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in
a separate reserve within equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss
of control, joint control or significant influence,
any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair
value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRS Accounting Standards.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture
or an associate is reduced but joint control
or significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-makers. The executive
directors and senior management, who make
strategic decisions, have been identified collectively
as the chief operating decision-makers, who are
responsible for allocating resources and assessing the
financial performance and positions of the operating
segments.

Trading licence with indefinite useful life represents
a membership in Chinese Gold and Silver Exchange
Society and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

(@) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional and Group’s presentation
currency.

it B AR K E R AN REES!
RomMABEREERBENAE-
MEARNEERAATZEW
R B iR BB

KENHRANRSEERRE
FABEHR N2 HAE2R - 1FH
REREZRTEFASREE
ANBHEREERSRSEERARE

(BENEERRTZEE DL
2 BRFEAMMR)

WHEAERAERFRZZZ IR
BPEREBHHTRE) HRAE
BMEEHRERE WA) FiKe

(@) INEEEWRIRENH
AEEBETEERZMBR
KFTPIREEHRBERER
RERMAEFECRRIEZE
RE’ (TTheEa®)) st&8-
FREMBREUETIR
BRUSTABZNEEER
FERZTIEREM -
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(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised within ‘other
(losses)/gains, net’ in the consolidated income
statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
income statement within ‘finance costs, net’.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in consolidated income statement on
a net basis within ‘other (losses)/gains, net’.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance
sheet presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the
dates of the transactions); and
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(b)

(c)
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(c)

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency
translation differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to
consolidated income statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in
consolidated income statement. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interests in associates that
do not result in the Group losing significant
influence) the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to consolidated income statement.

(c) EBEAE @)

iy PAFEEMELZER
EETEEMEE WA

thiEsE o

HU B EINBRIEEND
BRASEHAE THREZ
BIHIBENEEREER
B i mERTE -

(d) HEBMEBRIBSELE
RHEBINES BMHER
EERBINEFNZEE
m B RREHEFEIN
BB A B RIERIER
HEIY RREHBZEIN
EHFNBELATNEATE
DBHE) B A RBER
ANEEZEBRREARE
WFrEEREREEMNDER

EirGiEmke

ML EBSEBINEHH
M@ A B MRS AERE K
EHZME AT BERIE
AR RS EREZRRE
HERE I ERED > ML
ARG EBEmRAEDR N
RPRAEEME D HE (B
RAEERBELTNES
RRmIEENAERRE
ERFEN) gRLEABFR

STERERBREN D
Bm&e

Annual Report 2024/25 R



(a)

(b)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets to be
measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has
made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited 755 E (BFE) HIRAE]

(a)

(b)

S48
FEEREEHREEDES
BB At E -

DEBRANEREESRE
ERREREBGHIFNZE
BRI e

HRBAnEFEZEE
W w2 B4R P 4R 2 S HL Ath
E2EUWAS R o B0 I I
FEEBZRATAKRE H
W BURIS A B ) 2 bR
R 2 & T Pl et = LR
ANRESAEMEERRAR
RERE AR

EHEREEHEEZSEEL
EBRALLEEHF K&
BhgEmoBEH IR

B 50 Be 48 LT8R
THMEEZEMNEERN
rEEAKEEZEEZR

(B1x2 5 R) R - AEER
WERBEERMEEZRENM
ERMNERNEKEE B
FEBMEEREREZEN
BB 0 LB 2 [O] ¥R B AR LE FE SR
TRBEE-



(c)

(d)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are
expensed in consolidated income statement.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classified
its debt instruments as financial assets at
amortised cost.

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in ‘other (losses)/gains, net’, together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented in separate line
item in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.
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Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at their fair values. The
method of recognising the resulting gains or losses
depends on whether the derivative is designated
and qualified as a hedging instrument, and if so, the
nature of the item being hedged. Since the derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group do
not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in fair value
of any derivative financial instruments are recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and
other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The Group
holds the trade and other receivables with the
objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less
allowance for impairment.

See Note 22 and Note 24 for further information about
the Group’s accounting for other receivables and
trade receivables, respectively and see Note 3(a)(iv) for
a description of the Group’s impairment policies for
trade and other receivables.
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In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with financial institutions and other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities
of three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade and other
payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are carried initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
income statement over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is
no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.
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Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
balance sheet when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed,
is recognised in consolidated income statement.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.

(@) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.

(b) Bonus plans
Provisions for bonus plans are recognised when
the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made.
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(c)

Pension obligations

Hong Kong

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) which is registered under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held in a separately administered fund. The
MPF Scheme is generally funded by payments
from employees and by the Group.

The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme
are expensed as incurred and are reduced by
the employer’s voluntary contribution forfeited
from the MPF Scheme by those employees who
leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions.

Mainland

As stipulated by rules and regulations in
Mainland, the Group contributes to state-
sponsored retirement schemes for its relevant
employees in Mainland. The state-sponsored
retirement schemes are responsible for the
entire post-retirement benefit obligations payable
to the retired employees.

The Group’s contributions to the state-
sponsored retirement schemes are expensed as
incurred and are fully and immediately vested in
the employees.

Interest income from bank deposits, gold loan
receivables and other receivables is recognised on
a time proportion basis using the effective interest
method.
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Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the
end of the reporting period but not distributed at the
end of the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised
during the period of time that is required to complete
and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.
Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy
of the Group or the counterparty. The Group has
also entered into arrangements that do not meet
the criteria for offsetting but still allow for the related
amounts to be set off in certain circumstances, such
as bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.
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